
 
 

CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
GWŶS I GYFARFOD O'R CYNGOR 
 
C.Hanagan 
Y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd CBSRhCT 
2 Llys Cadwyn 
Stryd Taf 
Pontypridd 
CF37 4TH 
Dolen gyswllt: Sarah Daniel scrutiny@rctcbc.gov.uk   
 
DYMA WŶS I CHI i gyfarfod Rhithwir o PWYLLGOR CRAFFU - ADDYSG A 
CHYNHWYSIANT gynnal ar DYDD LLUN, 22AIN IONAWR, 2024 am 5.00 PM. 

 
Caiff Aelodau nad ydyn nhw'n aelodau o'r pwyllgor  ac aelodau o'r cyhoedd gyfrannu 
yn y cyfarfod ar faterion y cyfarfod er bydd y cais yn ôl doethineb y 
Cadeirydd. Gofynnwn i chi roi gwybod i Wasanaethau Democrataidd erbyn Dydd 
Iau, 18 Ionawr 2024 trwy ddefnyddio'r manylion cyswllt uchod, gan gynnwys rhoi 
gwybod a fyddwch chi'n siarad Cymraeg neu Saesneg. 

 
AGENDA  

Tudalennau 
 
YMCHWIL A CHRAFFU 
 
Mae cyfleuster ymchwil craffu ar gael yn Uned Busnes y Cyngor i 
gynorthwyo Aelodau â'u cyfrifoldebau craffu a'u rolau'n Aelodau 
Etholedig. Mae ymchwil o'r fath yn cryfhau rhaglenni gwaith y 
Pwyllgorau Craffu er mwyn sicrhau bod pynciau sy'n seiliedig ar 
ganlyniadau yn cael eu nodi. Os oes gyda chi unrhyw ymholiadau 
ynghylch gwaith ymchwil, e-bostiwch: Craffu@rhondda-cynon-
taf.gov.uk  
 

 

 
1. DATGAN BUDDIANT   
 Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau yn unol â'r 

Cod Ymddygiad. 
  
Nodwch: 
  

1.    Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr agendwm y mae eu 
buddiant yn ymwneud ag ef a mynegi natur y buddiant personol 
hwnnw; a 
  

2.    Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i ddatgelu 
buddiant sy'n rhagfarnu, rhaid iddyn nhw roi gwybod i'r Cadeirydd 

 

mailto:scrutiny@rctcbc.gov.uk
mailto:Craffu@rhondda-cynon-taf.gov.uk
mailto:Craffu@rhondda-cynon-taf.gov.uk


pan fyddan nhw'n gadael. 
  
  

    
2. COFNODION   
 Cadarnhau'r cofnodion o gyfarfod ar-lein y Pwyllgor Craffu – Addysg a 

Chynhwysiant a gynhaliwyd ar 14 Rhagfyr 2023, yn rhai cywir. 
  

 

  5 - 18  
ADRODDIADAU'R CYFARWYDDWR GWASANAETH – GWASANAETHAU 
DEMOCRATAIDD A CHYFATHREBU  

 

    
3. DOLENNI YMGYNGHORI   
 Gwybodaeth mewn perthynas ag ymgynghoriadau perthnasol i'w 

hystyried gan y Pwyllgor. 
  

 

    
4. YMGYNGHORIAD LLYWODRAETH CYMRU - STRWYTHUR Y 

FLWYDDYN YSGOL  
 

 Cyfle i Aelodau'r Pwyllgor Craffu - Addysg a Chynhwysiant ymateb yn 
ffurfiol i ymgynghoriad Llywodraeth Cymru 
  

 

  19 - 54  
ADRODDIADAU'R SWYDDOGION   
    
5. GWAITH CONSORTIWM CANOLBARTH Y DE YN Y RHANBARTH 

AC AWDURDOD LLEOL RHONDDA CYNON TAF 2022-2023  
 

 Cyfle i Aelodau'r Pwyllgor graffu ar yr Adroddiad Blynyddol a'i herio. 
  

 

  55 - 124  
6. ARGYMHELLION ESTYN   
 Cyfle i Aelodau’r Pwyllgor graffu ar y diweddariad ar argymhellion Estyn 

a'i herio. 
  

 

  125 - 142  
7. CYNLLUN STRATEGOL CYMRAEG MEWN ADDYSG – 

DIWEDDARIAD BLYNYDDOL  
 

 Cyfle i Aelodau'r Pwyllgor graffu ar yr Adroddiad Blynyddol a'i herio. 
  
  

 

  143 - 232  
8. ADOLYGIAD Y CADEIRYDD A DOD Â'R CYFARFOD I BEN   

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/CY/Council/Scrutiny/InformationReports/ConsultationInformation/ConsultationInformation.aspx


 Myfyrio ar y cyfarfod a'r camau gweithredu i'w dwyn ymlaen. 
  

 

    
9. MATERION BRYS   
 Trafod unrhyw faterion sydd, yn ôl doethineb y Cadeirydd, yn faterion 

brys yng ngoleuni amgylchiadau arbennig. 
  

 

   
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 
 
Cylchreliad:- 
 
Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol Y Cynghorydd S.Evans a Y Cynghorydd S Emanuel 
– Cadeirydd ac Is-gadeirydd, yn y drefn honno 
 
Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol: 
 
Y Cynghorydd M Ashford, Y Cynghorydd J Brencher, Y Cynghorydd J Cook, 
Y Cynghorydd J Elliott, Y Cynghorydd R Evans, Y Cynghorydd S Hickman, 
Y Cynghorydd C Lisles, Y Cynghorydd M Maohoub, Y Cynghorydd C Preedy, 
Y Cynghorydd J Smith, Y Cynghorydd K Webb and Y Cynghorydd D Wood 
 
Aelodau Cyfetholedig  
 
Mr P Booth, Cynrychiolydd Awdurdodau Esgobaethol â'r hawl i bleidlais 
Mr M Cleverley, Cynrychiolydd Cymdeithas Genedlaethol yr Ysgolfeistri ac Undeb yr 
Athrawesau a'r Panel Athrawon 
Ms A Jones, Cynrychiolydd UNITE 
Mr C Jones, Cynrychiolydd GMB 
Mrs R Lydon, Cynrychiolydd Rhiant-Lywodraethwr wedi'i ethol 
Mr L Patterson, Cynrychiolydd Rhiant-Lywodraethwr wedi'i ethol 
Mr D Price, Cynrychiolydd UNSAIN/UNISON 
Mr M Thomas, Cynrychiolydd NEU 
Mr M Veale, Cynrychiolydd Rhiant-Lywodraethwr wedi'i ethol 
 



Tudalen wag



 

 

 
PWYLLGOR CYNGOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU - ADDYSG A CHYNHWYSIANT 
Cofnodion o gyfarfod rhithwir y Pwyllgor Craffu - Addysg a Chynhwysiant a gynhaliwyd Dydd Iau, 14 

Rhagfyr 2023 am 5.00 pm. 
 

Cafodd y cyfarfod yma ei recordio, ac mae modd gweld y manylion yma 
 

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol – Roedd y Aelodau Pwyllgor Craffu - Addysg a 
Chynhwysiant canlynol yn bresennol ar-lein:- 

 
Y Cynghorydd S.Evans (Cadeirydd) 

 
Y Cynghorydd S Emanuel Y Cynghorydd M Ashford 
Y Cynghorydd J Brencher Y Cynghorydd C Lisles 

Y Cynghorydd M Maohoub Y Cynghorydd J Smith 
Y Cynghorydd D Wood  

 
  

                                              Aelodau nad ydyn nhw'n 
Aelodau o'r Pwyllgor 

 
Y Cynghorydd K Morgan 
Y Cynghorydd A Rogers 

 

 
                                                     Siaradwyr Cyhoeddus 

 
                                                           Mr J Morris 

 

 
Aelodau Cyfetholedig oedd yn bresennol:- 

 
Mr P Booth – Cynrychiolydd Awdurdodau Esgobaethol â'r hawl i bleidlais 

Mr M Thomas, Cynrychiolydd yr Undeb Addysg Cenedlaethol (NEU) 
Mr M Veale – Cynrychiolydd Rhiant-lywodraethwr wedi'i ethol â'r hawl i bleidlais 

 
Swyddogion oedd yn bresennol:- 

 
Ms G Davies, Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant 

Ms C Jones – Pennaeth Materion Mynediad a Chynhwysiant 
Mr C Hanagan, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth – Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 

Ms A Richards, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth – Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif a Materion Trawsnewid 
Ms L Howell, Rheolwr Materion Trefniadaeth a Busnes Rhaglen Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif 

Ms S Corcoran, Pennaeth Cyflawniad a Lles ar gyfer Ysgolion Uwchradd ac Ysgolion Pob Oed yn 
RhCT 

Daniel Williams, Pennaeth Gwasanaeth Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 5

Agendwm 2

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=404&Year=0&LLL=1


 

 
Ymddiheuriadu am absenoldeb 

 
Y Cynghorydd J Cook Y Cynghorydd J Elliott 

Y Cynghorydd K Webb  
 

  
33   Ymddiheuriadau am Absenoldeb  

 
 

 Daeth ymddiheuriadau am golli'r cyfarfod oddi wrth Gynghorwyr y Fwrdeistref 
Sirol K Webb, J Elliot a J Cook. 
  
 

 

 
34   DATGAN BUDDIANT  

 
 

 Yn unol â Chod Ymddygiad y Cyngor, cafodd y datganiadau o fuddiant canlynol 
eu gwneud ynglŷn â'r agenda: 
  
Eitem 4 - Rhag-graffu ar yr Adroddiad i'r Cabinet 
  
Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol M Maohoub - Buddiant Personol - "Rydw i'n 
adnabod teulu'r siaradwr cyhoeddus, Mr Morris"  
  
Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol A Rogers - Buddiant Personol - "Rydw i'n 
Llywodraethwr yn Ysgol Gynradd y Rhigos a Hirwaun" 
  
Eitem 5 - Adroddiad Blynyddol – Gwaharddiadau o'r Ysgol yn ystod y 
Flwyddyn Academaidd 2022/23 
  
Mr Veale - Buddiant Personol - "Rydw i'n Llywodraethwr yn Ysgol Uwchradd y 
Ddraenen Wen" 
  
Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol J Brencher - Buddiant Personol - "Roeddwn i 
arfer dysgu yn Ysgol Uwchradd y Ddraenen Wen" 
  
Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol C Lisles - Buddiant Personol - "Rydw i'n 
Llywodraethwr yn Ysgol Uwchradd y Ddraenen Wen" 
  
Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol S Evans - Buddiant Personol - "Mae ysgol fy 
mab wedi'i henwi yn yr adroddiad" 
  
  
Eitem 6 - Data Mynychu'r Ysgol 
  
Mr Veale - Buddiant Personol - "Rydw i'n Ynad ac yn mynychu'r Llys ar gyfer 
achosion o beidio â mynychu'r ysgol" 
  
Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol S Evans - Buddiant Personol - "Fi yw Is-
gadeirydd y Corff Llywodraethu yn un o'r ysgolion sydd wedi'u nodi yn yr 
adroddiad" 
  
 

 

 
35   COFNODION  

 
 

   PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 16 Hydref 2023 yn  

Tudalen 6



 

adlewyrchiad cywir o'r trafodaethau a gynhaliwyd, yn amodol ar nodi bod enw'r 
Cynghorydd S Emanuel wedi'i sillafu'n anghywir. 
  

  
  

36   DOLENNI YMGYNGHORI  
 

 

 Cafodd Aelodau'u hatgoffa o'r ymgynghoriadau agored sy'n cael eu cynnal gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru ar hyn o bryd. Cafodd manylion y rhain eu hanfon at Aelodau 
ar 30 Tachwedd ac mae'n bosibl y byddan nhw o ddiddordeb i Aelodau'r 
Pwyllgor Craffu - Addysg a Chynhwysiant.  
  
 

 

 
37   Trefniadau cyn y cam craffu ar adroddiad drafft o'r Cabinet  

 
 

 Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth - Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
Chyfathrebu yr adroddiad i'r Aelodau er mwyn rhoi cyfle i'r Pwyllgor gynnal 
gwaith rhag-graffu mewn perthynas ag argymhellion y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a 
Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y cafodd eu cyflwyno i Gabinet y Cyngor ar 18 
Rhagfyr 2023, mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Addysg, 
Cyfranogiad Pobl Ifainc a'r Gymraeg mewn perthynas â'r Cynnig i Gau Ysgol 
Gynradd y Rhigos, gan symud disgyblion i Ysgol Gynradd Hirwaun.   
  
Cafodd Aelodau wybod bod yr adroddiad drafft i'r Cabinet wedi'i nodi fel mater a 
fydd yn destun gwaith rhag-graffu gan Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Craffu - Addysg a 
Chynhwysiant yn unol â rheolau gweithdrefn Trosolwg a Chraffu'r Cyngor. 
Tynnodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth sylw at bwrpas gwaith rhag-graffu'r 
Aelodau, fel cyfaill beirniadol, sef dylanwadu a chraffu ar benderfyniadau'r 
Cabinet cyn gwneud y penderfyniadau yma. Manteisiodd y Cyfarwyddwr 
Gwasanaeth ar y cyfle i atgoffa'r Pwyllgor Craffu nad ydyn nhw'n gweithredu fel 
corff sy'n gwneud penderfyniad mewn perthynas â'r mater yma. 
  
Tynnodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth sylw Aelodau'r Pwyllgor Craffu - Addysg a 
Chynhwysiant at yr argymhellion sydd wedi'u nod yn ei hadroddiad. 
  
Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant ei hadroddiad 
sy'n rhoi gwybod i'r Aelodau am ganlyniad yr ymgynghoriad diweddar mewn 
perthynas â'r cynnig i gau Ysgol Gynradd y Rhigos a throsglwyddo disgyblion i 
Ysgol Gynradd Hirwaun erbyn mis Medi 2024. Rhoddodd y Cyfarwyddwr wybod 
bod yr adroddiad yn ceisio caniatâd y Cabinet i symud y cynigion ymlaen i gam 
nesaf y broses ymgynghori trwy gyhoeddi Hysbysiad Statudol priodol a fydd yn 
sbarduno dechrau'r Cyfnod Gwrthwynebu. Cyfeiriodd y Cyfarwyddwr yr Aelodau 
at adran pedwar o'r adroddiad, sy'n amlinellu canlyniad cyfarfod y Cyngor a 
gafodd ei gynnal ar 18 Medi 2023 pan roddwyd caniatâd i ddechrau proses 
ymgynghori ffurfiol mewn perthynas â'r cynnig i gau Ysgol Gynradd y Rhigos 
gan drosglwyddo Disgyblion i Ysgol Gynradd Hirwaun.   Mae'r cyfiawnhad dros 
wneud hyn wedi'i nodi yn yr adroddiad a'r ddogfen ymgynghori ynghyd â'r 
Asesiad o'r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb, yr Asesiad o'r Effaith ar y Gymraeg a'r 
Asesiad o'r Effaith ar y Gymuned. Cafodd y rhain eu llunio mewn perthynas â'r 
cynnig a'u cyhoeddi ar wefan y Cyngor yn unol â gofynion Cod Trefniadaeth 
Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru. 
  
Rhoddodd y Cyfarwyddwr amlinelliad o gynnwys yr adroddiad ymgynghori sydd 
wedi'i lunio ac sy'n cynnwys gwybodaeth am gyfarfodydd a gynhaliwyd i drafod y 
cynigion gyda chopïau o'r nodiadau a luniwyd yn ystod y cyfarfodydd yma, 

 

Tudalen 7



 

ymateb llawn Estyn i'r cynnig a'r eglurhad i'r ymateb, crynodeb o'r ymatebion a 
dderbyniwyd yn ystod y cyfnod ymgynghori a lle bo angen, yr eglurhad priodol 
mewn perthynas â materion a godwyd. 
  
Aeth y Cyfarwyddwr ati i grynhoi cyfanswm nifer yr ymatebion a deisebau a 
dderbyniwyd, gan amlinellu'r trefniadau ar gyfer dwy sesiwn galw heibio a 
gafodd eu trefnu ar gyfer Ysgol Gynradd Hirwaun ac Ysgol Gynradd y Rhigos er 
mwyn rhoi cyfle i'r cyhoedd drafod y cynigion gyda Swyddogion o Gyfadran 
Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y Cyngor. Ychwanegodd y Cyfarwyddwr 
fod pob thema allweddol sydd wedi deillio o'r broses ymgynghori wedi'u cynnwys 
yn Atodiad A yr adroddiad ymgynghori. 
  
Amlinellodd y Cyfarwyddwr y prosesau statudol ar gyfer y cynnig pe byddai'r 
cynnig yn cael ei gymeradwyo. Byddai'r Hysbysiad Statudol yn cael ei gyhoeddi 
ym mis Ionawr 2024, cyhyd â bod y cynnig ddim yn destun cais galw i mewn i'w 
drafod gan y Pwyllgorau Craffu, a byddai'r Hysbysiad yn caniatáu cyfnod o 28 
diwrnod, ar y lleiaf, ar gyfer cyflwyno gwrthwynebiadau. Os daw unrhyw 
wrthwynebiadau i law yn ystod y cyfnod yma, byddai Adroddiad Gwrthwynebu yn 
cael ei lunio a byddai'r mater yn cael ei gyflwyno yn ystod cyfarfod o'r Cabinet yn 
y dyfodol er mwyn rhoi cyfle i Aelodau ei drafod. 
  
I gloi, nododd y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant fod gan 
GBSRhCT ddyletswydd statudol yn rhan o'i ddull trefniadaeth ac arwain ysgolion 
i gynnal effeithlonrwydd ac effeithiolrwydd y ddarpariaeth a sicrhau bod pob 
ysgol mewn sefyllfa dda i ddarparu addysg o ansawdd uchel sy’n diwallu 
anghenion y gymuned ac yn gwneud y defnydd gorau o gyllid cyhoeddus. 
  
Ar ôl i'r Cyfarwyddwr gyflwyno'r adroddiad, croesawodd y Cadeirydd yr Aelodau 
nad ydyn nhw'n Aelodau o'r Pwyllgor, Cynghorwyr y Fwrdeistref Sirol K Morgan 
ac A Rogers, a rhoddwyd cyfle iddyn nhw fynegi eu pryderon ynghylch y cynnig 
i'r Pwyllgor. Yna cafodd Mr J Morris, siaradwr cyhoeddus, bum munud i annerch 
y Pwyllgor mewn perthynas â'r cynnig.  
  
Rhoddwyd diolch i bawb am eu cyfraniadau gwerthfawr a rhoddodd y Cadeirydd 
gyfle i'r Pwyllgor roi sylwadau a gofyn cwestiynau i'r swyddogion a oedd yn 
bresennol. 
  
Gofynnodd Aelod am eglurhad ynghylch sut y bydd y cynnig yn cyd-fynd â 
nodau a strategaethau addysg CBSRhCT ond roedd yn falch o glywed gan y 
Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y byddai hi, yn rhan o 
gynnig ad-drefnu ysgolion, yn sicrhau bod gan RhCT ysgolion cynaliadwy a 
hyfyw ar gyfer y tymor hwy, a bod y rhain yn cefnogi pum blaenoriaeth strategol 
hollgyffredinol yr Awdurdod Lleol (gweler y Cynllun Strategol ar gyfer 2022-25) 
ac yn cynnal safonau addysgu a dysgu uchel. 
  
Soniodd Aelod am ei brofiad personol yn yr ysgol yn trosglwyddo i ysgol 
newydd, gyfagos ar ôl i'w ysgol ef gau. Roedd ef o'r farn mai dyma oedd y 
penderfyniad cywir, un a oedd yn sicrhau bod ei gyfoedion yn mwynhau 
cyfleusterau a oedd yn addas i'r diben. Ychwanegodd y bydd Ysgol Gynradd 
Hirwaun, fel y nodir yn yr adroddiad, yn cynnig addysg dda i'r disgyblion sy'n 
trosglwyddo. 
  
Cododd yr Aelodau nifer o bryderon ynghylch trefniadau cludiant rhwng y cartref 
a’r ysgol a'r costau ychwanegol posibl y byddai'r Cyngor yn eu hwynebu pe bai'r 

Tudalen 8



 

cynigion yma'n cael eu mabwysiadu. Yn benodol, roedd nifer o'r Aelodau o'r farn 
bod diffyg gwybodaeth yn adroddiad drafft y Cabinet ynghylch y costau 
ychwanegol yma. Gofynnodd nifer o Aelodau am sicrwydd y byddai 'dulliau 
teithio sy’n briodol i oedran y plentyn’ yn cael eu blaenoriaethu pe bai'r Cabinet 
yn penderfynu cefnogi argymhellion yr adroddiad, yn enwedig yn achos 
disgyblion iau a fyddai’n gorfod teithio gyda myfyrwyr llawer hŷn. Roedd yr 
Aelodau yn teimlo y byddai’n rhaid i rieni yrru eu plant i'r ysgol os nad oedd hyn 
yn ystyriaeth.  
  
Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant fod y cynnig 
yn un amlochrog a bod angen ystyried nifer o faterion megis cynaliadwyedd yr 
ysgol o safbwynt y gostyngiad yn nifer y disgyblion sy'n mynychu lleoliad yr 
ysgol, cyflwr adeiladau'r ysgol, a'r pwysau ariannol cynyddol ar ysgolion y mae 
pob Cyngor ledled Cymru yn eu hwynebu. Ychwanegodd fod rhai disgyblion 
eisoes wedi dewis mynychu Ysgol Cyfrwng Cymraeg ac yn cael mynediad i 
ddarpariaeth trochi iaith i hwyluso'r broses yma. O ran y daith 2.8 milltir, 
dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr fod y mater yn llawer mwy cymhleth na mater ariannol 
a bod gan y Cyngor rwymedigaeth i sicrhau bod yr ysgolion cywir yn y lleoliadau 
cywir ac am y rhesymau cywir. 
  
Cadarnhaodd Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif a 
Thrawsnewid y byddai dulliau teithio sy'n briodol i oedran y plentyn yn cael eu 
darparu ar gyfer disgyblion sy'n teithio i’r ysgol a dywedodd hefyd na fyddai 
dadansoddiad o'r gost ychwanegol ynghylch disgyblion sy'n cael eu cludo i 
Ysgol Gynradd Hirwaun yn cael ei gynnal nac yn hysbys hyd nes y bydd 
niferoedd terfynol y rhai sy'n teithio i'r ysgol wedi'u sefydlu, a hynny er mwyn 
penderfynu ar y bws mwyaf addas i gludo’r disgyblion. Mewn ymateb i ymholiad, 
dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y byddai'r 2.8 milltir yn cael cludiant am 
ddim yn awtomatig oherwydd y ddeddfwriaeth sydd ar gael mewn perthynas â 
llwybrau diogel i'r ysgol. 
  
Nododd yr Aelodau'r ôl troed carbon ychwanegol posibl a fydd yn cael ei greu 
gan y cynigion. Nododd nifer o Aelodau fod angen i'r Cabinet ystyried y cynigion 
yma yng nghyd-destun ehangach Newid yn yr Hinsawdd, a'r angen i annog 
trigolion i ddefnyddio dulliau teithio llesol yn y dyfodol. Nododd Aelod y gallai'r 
arbedion cost sy'n deillio o'r penderfyniad yma fod yn fach iawn o'u cymharu â'r 
costau ar gyfer cludo'r disgyblion i'r ysgol gan ddefnyddio dull teithio sy'n achosi 
mwy o lygredd, gan nad yw'n hysbys faint o ddisgyblion fydd yn gymwys i 
ddefnyddio cludiant ysgol ar hyn o bryd. 
  
Roedd pob Aelod yn cydymdeimlo â phryderon rhieni, ond cydnabu nifer o 
Aelodau hefyd y byddai caniatáu i nifer y lleoedd dros ben parhau i fod yn uchel 
yn cael effaith andwyol ar hyfywedd ariannol Ysgol Gynradd y Rhigos yn y 
dyfodol ac yn effeithio ar addysg plant yn y dyfodol. Holodd Aelod a fyddai’n fwy 
buddiol gwneud y penderfyniad i drosglwyddo’r disgyblion nawr gan sicrhau eu 
bod nhw'n derbyn addysg sefydlog a chyson. Nododd nifer o Aelodau fod y 
rhesymau yma'n rhesymau pwysig i'w hystyried yn rhan o drafodaethau'r 
Cabinet. 
  
Gofynnodd rhai Aelodau am sicrwydd y bydd y pryderon yma'n cael eu lliniaru, 
lle bo hynny'n bosibl, a phe bai'r Cabinet o blaid bwrw ymlaen â'r cynnig hwn, 
bod yr awdurdod yn sicrhau bod cymorth digonol ar waith ar gyfer disgyblion a 

Tudalen 9



 

rhieni yn ystod y cyfnod pontio. Yn ogystal â hyn, gofynnodd Aelodau bod 
adeiladau'r ysgol, lle bo'n briodol, yn cael eu defnyddio er budd y gymuned ar 
gyfer clybiau ar ôl ysgol neu weithgareddau allgyrsiol.  
  
Nododd Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth – Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif a Materion 
Trawsnewid y byddai trosglwyddo ased cymunedol yn opsiwn ymarferol a 
byddai'r Cyngor yn cefnogi'r gymuned i ddatblygu achos busnes cadarn pe bai 
rhannau o adeilad yr ysgol yn parhau i gael eu defnyddio er budd y gymuned. 
  
Cydnabu'r Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y gall newid 
achosi pryder ond ychwanegodd fod ymrwymiad cadarn i weithio gyda’r plant a’u 
teuluoedd i hwyluso'r broses drosglwyddo i'r rhai sy'n dewis symud i Ysgol 
Gynradd Hirwaun. Yn yr un modd, roedd y Cyfarwyddwr yn rhagweld y byddai 
disgyblion Hirwaun hefyd yn croesawu'r cyfle hwn ar ôl iddyn nhw gael profiad o 
gyfnod pontio tebyg wrth symud o Ysgol Penderyn. Ychwanegodd y 
Cyfarwyddwr hefyd y byddai cymorth yn cael ei ddarparu mewn perthynas â 
throsglwyddo ased cymunedol pe bai hynny'n cael ei ddwyn ymlaen gan y 
gymuned. 

  
Holodd Aelod a oedd achos busnes wedi'i ystyried ar gyfer buddsoddi mewn 
gwaith atgyweirio a chynnal a chadw yn yr ysgol bresennol wrth gydnabod y 
buddsoddiad diweddar mewn ysgol newydd ar gyfer ardal Hirwaun a'r capasiti 
sydd ar gael. Cyfeiriodd llawer o Aelodau at y cyfleusterau gwell a’r amgylchedd 
dysgu a ddarperir gan ysgol fodern. 
  
Esboniodd y Rheolwr Materion Trefniadaeth a Busnes Rhaglen Ysgolion yr 
21ain Ganrif fod nifer o opsiynau i’w hystyried yn y ddogfen ymgynghori a bod yr 
opsiwn o adeiladu ysgol ar y safle presennol yn gofyn am ystyriaeth ofalus o ran 
cyfanswm y buddsoddiad, hyfywedd y prosiect, cyfiawnhad o gyfanswm y 
buddsoddiad i Lywodraeth Cymru a hynny gan ystyried bod yna ysgol newydd 
sbon ychydig filltiroedd i ffwrdd gyda lle i dderbyn dysgwyr ychwanegol. 
Dywedodd Rheolwr Materion Trefniadaeth a Busnes Rhaglen Ysgolion yr 21ain 
Ganrif fod yr wybodaeth wedi'i chynnwys yn y ddogfen ymgynghori, gan 
gynnwys yr anfanteision a'r manteision. 

  
Mynegodd Aelod bryder ynghylch y nifer fawr o wrthwynebiadau i’r cynnig yn 
enwedig gan drigolion Hirwaun a gofynnodd am eglurder ynghylch pa welliannau 
y mae modd eu rhoi ar waith i ffordd fynediad ac allanfa Ysgol Gynradd Hirwaun 
er mwyn sicrhau bod modd i'r llwybrau yma ymdopi â rhagor o ddisgyblion fydd 
efallai'n teithio mewn car neu fws. Soniodd yr Aelod hefyd am bwysigrwydd 
sicrhau mynediad cyfartal i ddarpariaethau megis clybiau ar ôl ysgol a 
nosweithiau rhieni ar gyfer y rhieni hynny sydd heb fynediad i gludiant neu lle 
nad yw trafnidiaeth gyhoeddus yn ddibynadwy (yn unol â’r agenda gwrthdlodi 
sy’n cael ei flaenoriaethu gan y Pwyllgor Craffu - Addysg a Chynhwysiant). 
  
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at adroddiad Estyn (sy'n ffactor pwysig yn ei farn ef) a 
gofynnodd am sicrwydd y bydd safonau addysgu a dysgu yn Ysgol Gynradd 
Hirwaun cystal â safonau Ysgol Gynradd y Rhigos. Yn ogystal, nodwyd bod 
ysgolion bach yn chwarae rhan bwysig yn eu cymunedau ac o fudd i'r gymuned 
(fel y mae'r ysgolion pob oed). 
  
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at y Rhaglen Cymunedau Dysgu Cynaliadwy a gofynnodd am 
sicrwydd y bydd carfan priffyrdd y Cyngor yn cael ei chynnwys, os cytunir ar y 

Tudalen 10



 

cynnig, a hynny er mwyn mynd i'r afael ag unrhyw faterion sy'n ymwneud â'r 
ffordd fynediad, allanfa, cyfleusterau parcio a chyrbau isel yng nghyffiniau Ysgol 
Gynradd Hirwaun. Cadarnhaodd y Rheolwr Materion Trefniadaeth a Busnes 
Rhaglen Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif fod cryn dipyn o waith wedi'i wneud i'r ardal a'r 
ffordd fynediad i'r ysgol pan gyflwynwyd y cais cynllunio ar gyfer yr ysgol 
newydd, a hynny cyn agor yr ysgol. Adeiladwyd maes parcio newydd a 
chyflawnwyd gwaith yn rhan o'r fenter llwybrau diogel a bydd gwaith pellach yn 
cael ei gynnal y flwyddyn nesaf i greu llwybrau diogel ychwanegol i'r ysgol o 
bellter pellach. 
  
Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant fod Arolygon 
Estyn, y cyfeiriwyd atyn nhw'n gynharach yn y cyfarfod, wedi'u cynnal beth 
amser yn ôl, yn 2019. Pwysleisiodd y Cyfarwyddwr fod arolygon yn cael eu 
cynnal ar adeg benodol a bod lefelau gwella ysgolion yn amrywio. Nododd y 
Cyfarwyddwr fod y ddwy ysgol bellach mewn categorïau cymorth craidd ac nid 
yw'r ysgolion yn derbyn cymorth ychwanegol gan Gonsortiwm Canolbarth y De. 
Roedd ymateb ffurfiol Estyn yn nodi bod y cynnig o leiaf yn debygol o gynnal 
safon y ddarpariaeth addysg a deilliannau i ddisgyblion yr ardal a does dim 
gwybodaeth sy'n peri pryder yn ymwneud â'r naill ysgol na'r llall wedi'i dwyn i 
sylw Cyfadran Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y Cyngor. 
  
Yn dilyn trafodaeth y Pwyllgor mewn perthynas â'r cynnig, roedd Aelodau wedi 
nodi'r heriau y byddai'r cynnig yn eu cyflwyno i unigolion a'r gymuned os yw'r 
cynnig yn cael ei fabwysiadu gan y Cabinet ac roedden nhw'n dymuno bod eu 
sylwadau'n cael eu hystyried a'u cyfleu.  
  
PENDERFYNWYD:  
  

i)               Craffu a herio'r adroddiad 'drafft' i'r Cabinet ac argymhellion y 
Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant, mewn 
ymgynghoriad â'r Aelod o'r Cabinet ar faterion Addysg, Cyfranogiad 
Pobl Ifainc a'r Gymraeg.  

  
ii)            Yn dilyn trafodaeth yr Aelodau mewn perthynas â'r adroddiad drafft i'r 

Cabinet, penderfynwyd awdurdodi’r Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth - 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu i gyflwyno sylwadau ac 
argymhellion y Pwyllgor i'r Cabinet mewn perthynas â'r cynigion cyn 
i'r Cabinet drafod y cynnig ar 18 Rhagfyr 2023. 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

38   ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL – GWAHARDDIADAU O'R YSGOL YN YSTOD Y 
FLWYDDYN ACADEMAIDD 2022/23  
 

 

 Cyflwynodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant yr adroddiad i'r Aelodau i  

Tudalen 11



 

roi dadansoddiad iddyn nhw o ddata gwaharddiadau o'r ysgol yn ystod blwyddyn 
academaidd 2022/23 a chymharu'r data gwaharddiadau yma gyda'r 5 mlynedd 
diwethaf, ble y bo'n addas. 
  
Cafodd yr Aelodau wybod bod yr adroddiad yn darparu dadansoddiad a 
gwerthusiad o ddata gwaharddiadau dros gyfnod o 5 mlynedd. Oherwydd bod 
cyfraddau gwahardd yn ystod y pandemig wedi’u heffeithio gan nifer sylweddol o 
ysgolion yn cau yn ystod y cyfnod yma, nid oes modd cymharu cyfraddau 
gwahardd yn ystod y pandemig yn uniongyrchol â blynyddoedd academaidd 
arferol, a dyna pam y penderfynwyd cynnwys cymaryddion â data cyn-Covid 
mewn perthynas â rhai setiau data penodol yn yr adroddiad. 
  
Yn dilyn y cyflwyniad, gofynnodd Aelod a oes modd cysylltu'r data sy'n ymwneud 
â gwaharddiadau â'r disgyblion hynny sydd â phresenoldeb gwael gan nodi y 
gallai gweld y gydberthynas hon fod yn ddefnyddiol wrth oresgyn problemau sy’n 
ymwneud â phresenoldeb yn y dyfodol. Cadarnhaodd Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y gellid cynnal y dadansoddiad o'r safbwynt yma i 
ddeall a oes unrhyw gydberthynas a rhannu'r dadansoddiad yma gyda'r Pwyllgor 
Craffu - Addysg a Chynhwysiant maes o law. 
  
Holodd Aelod arall a oes unrhyw dystiolaeth o faterion lles yn effeithio ar y plant 
hynny sydd ychydig yn is na’r trothwy ar gyfer gwaharddiad a pha ffactorau, os o 
gwbl, sy’n wahanol yn y fwrdeistref sirol a allai effeithio ar y data sy’n benodol i 
RhCT. Roedd yr Aelod yn arbennig o bryderus am y cyfraddau gwahardd uwch 
yn RhCT nag mewn ardaloedd eraill ac effaith yr achosion o wahardd ar les 
athrawon a’r disgyblion hynny sy’n dymuno bwrw ymlaen â’u dysgu.   
  
Dywedodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant nad yw data sy'n ymwneud 
â lles unigolion yn cael ei goladu, fodd bynnag, mae'r garfan yn cysylltu â'r holl 
ysgolion ar y materion penodol hyn ac maen nhw’n yn cael eu codi'n fwy 
rheolaidd erbyn hyn. Cyfeiriodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant at y 
cymorth sydd ar gael mewn ysgolion, megis cymorth ADY a'r cymorth sy'n 
canolbwyntio ar fynd i'r afael â materion lles emosiynol a chymdeithasol. 
Cyfeiriodd at hyfforddiant NurtureUK, dyma sefydliad sydd wedi ymroi i wella 
iechyd meddwl a lles cymdeithasol ac emosiynol plant a phobl ifanc gyda 
phwyslais ar ddeall y sbardunau ar gyfer ymddygiad a manteision rhannu data 
o'r math yma. 
  
Awgrymodd y Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant fod effaith 
Covid ar y fwrdeistref sirol yn aruthrol gyda lefelau uchel o drawma o ganlyniad 
i’r niferoedd sylweddol o farwolaethau a ddioddefwyd gan deuluoedd a 
chymunedau. Mae hyn, yn ogystal â lefelau uchel o ran tlodi ac amddifadedd yn 
y rhanbarth, yn cael effaith ar faterion lles. 
  
Dywedodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant fod y safle cenedlaethol 
cyffredinol wedi gwella. Er bod yna broblemau yn ymwneud â'r cyfryngau 
cymdeithasol o hyd (mae hyn yn gyffredin ar draws awdurdodau lleol eraill), nid 
oedd unrhyw ffactorau sylfaenol nac unigryw yn cyfrannu at y data a lefelau 
uwch o ran gwaharddiadau. 
  
Cyfeiriodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant at gymorth ychwanegol 
wedi’i ariannu gan gyllid grant sydd ar waith ar gyfer Penaethiaid, staff addysgu 
a staff nad ydynt yn addysgu. Mae'r cymorth yma'n cynnig sesiynau cwnsela a 
lles y tu allan i oriau ysgol ac ar benwythnosau, sy'n golygu ei bod hi'n hawdd 
cael mynediad atyn nhw. Mae'r cymorth yma wedi cael ei groesawu. 

Tudalen 12



 

Ychwanegodd fod gwaith yn parhau i gael ei gynnal er mwyn adolygu 
ymddygiad mewn ysgolion uwchradd, gan gynnwys o safbwynt staff ac i 
argymell bod ysgolion yn sicrhau bod pob aelod o staff yn atebol. 
  
Ymatebodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant i ymholiadau pellach, 
eglurodd y broses o ailgyflwyno disgyblion ar ôl symud o waharddiad parhaol i 
waharddiad cyfnod penodol neu o ganlyniad i benderfyniad panel apêl 
annibynnol lle gellir gwrthdroi neu fynd yn erbyn penderfyniad, gan nodi y dylai’r 
disgybl fynychu ysgol wahanol. Hefyd mae yna Athro Gwahardd, Atal ac 
Ymyrraeth effeithiol y mae'r Pennaeth yn ei ystyried yn gyfaill beirniadol ac sy'n 
gallu gwneud penderfyniad gwahanol yn dilyn adolygiad o'r wybodaeth. O ran y 
posibilrwydd o ddyblygu data, cadarnhaodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau 
Cynhwysiant fod y data ar gyfer ysgolion pob oed yn tynnu ar rywfaint o ddata o 
ysgolion cynradd ac uwchradd ond caiff y data ei gyflwyno fel carfan ar wahân. 
  
Cydnabu Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y byddai cyd-destun pellach 
ynghylch canran y dysgwyr sy'n gymwys am Brydau Ysgol am Ddim ac sy'n cael 
eu gwahardd yn cael ei ddarparu yn yr adroddiad dilynol i'r Pwyllgor (yn ogystal 
â'r hyn a nodwyd yn y trosolwg). Bydd dadansoddiad o'r hyn sy'n digwydd i'r 
disgyblion sy'n cael eu gwahardd yn barhaol hefyd yn cael ei ddarparu. 
  
Holodd Aelod a oedd gwaith yn parhau gyda’r ysgolion hynny sydd â 
thueddiadau data sy'n peri pryder o ran nifer y gwaharddiadau, ac a fydd 
hynny’n dangos unrhyw welliannau i’r ysgolion a grybwyllwyd yn benodol yn yr 
adroddiad yn 11.5. Hefyd, a fydd yr Awdurdod Lleol yn myfyrio ar yr adolygiad a 
gynhaliwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru mewn perthynas â’r Canllawiau ar gyfer 
Gwaharddiadau ac yn cyflwyno sylwadau amdano. Pan fydd ysgol yn ceisio 
cymorth penodol gan y garfan o amgylch yr ysgol, rhoddodd Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant wybod ei bod hi'n cymryd peth amser i wreiddio'r 
broses a rhoi gwybod am ddeilliannau'r cymorth sy’n cael ei ddarparu. Fodd 
bynnag, lle nad yw cynnydd yn cael ei nodi mewn modd amserol, mae modd 
dilyn proses uwchgyfeirio a chynnal adolygiad o ymddygiad gan nodi 
argymhellion y mae gofyn i'r ysgolion eu rhoi ar waith. 
  
Dywedodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y byddai unrhyw 
ganlyniadau o adolygiad Llywodraeth Cymru o'r canllawiau ar gyfer 
gwaharddiadau yn cael eu darparu maes o law. 
  
Cyfeiriodd Aelod at y Swyddog Ymgysylltu â Theuluoedd a phwysigrwydd y 
swyddog yma a gofynnodd sut y mae modd i'r awdurdod lleol gefnogi ysgolion i 
ehangu’r ddarpariaeth, a ddylai fod yn flaenoriaeth (wrth gydnabod y pwysau 
ariannol ar ysgolion). Yn ogystal â hyn, mynegwyd pryder mewn perthynas â 
thudalen 101 o'r adroddiad, gan nodi bod pedair ysgol uwchradd wedi gwrthod y 
cynnig o hyfforddiant. Gofynnwyd am ragor o wybodaeth mewn perthynas â'r 
rhesymau dros eu penderfyniad ac a oes unrhyw bryderon yn ymwneud â'r 
pedair ysgol sydd wedi'u nodi yn yr adroddiad. Codwyd ymholiad mewn 
perthynas â lefel yr ymwybyddiaeth sydd gan y Corff Llywodraethu am yr 
ymyraethau sy’n cael eu rhoi ar waith a sut maen nhw'n cyfrannu at ddatrys 
materion sy'n ymwneud â gwaharddiadau. 
  
O ran y data ADY, holodd Aelod ai hwn oedd y data mwyaf diweddar ac a yw'r 
adroddiad yn ystyried disgyblion ag ADY o dan y ddeddfwriaeth newydd a'r rhai 
sydd â ChDU.  
  
Ymatebodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant i'r ymholiadau gan egluro 

Tudalen 13



 

bod un o'r pedair ysgol yn derbyn cymorth gan y garfan o amgylch yr ysgol; 
mae'r awdurdod lleol yn parhau i weithio gyda phob ysgol er mwyn annog 
ymgysylltiad. Ers i'r adroddiad gael ei lunio, mae Ysgol Uwchradd Ioan 
Fedyddiwr yr Eglwys yng Nghymru wedi sicrhau achrediad Nurture UK yn 
ogystal â'r un ysgol gynradd sydd eisoes wedi'i rhestru yn yr adroddiad.  
Cydnabu Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant fod Ysgol Gyfun Cwm 
Rhondda wedi dechrau darpariaeth cyfran pedwar ac y bydd yn derbyn 
ymweliadau cefnogol a fydd yn cynnwys Corff Llywodraethu'r Ysgol. Dywedwyd 
y bydd gwaharddiadau a chyfraddau mynychu'r ysgol yn cael eu cynnwys fel 
eitem ar yr agenda ar gyfer pob Corff Llywodraethu'r tymor nesaf a hynny er 
mwyn rhoi'r wybodaeth briodol iddyn nhw fel bod modd iddyn nhw ddarparu 
cymorth a her mewn perthynas â'r sefyllfa. Anogir Cadeirydd y Llywodraethwyr i 
gymryd rhan lle bo modd ac os yw'r data'n peri pryder bydd cymorth yn cael ei 
ddarparu i'r ysgolion, gan gynnwys gosod targedau penodol ar gyfer yr ysgolion 
hynny. I gloi, cadarnhaodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant y bydd 
Cadeiryddion y Llywodraethwyr hefyd yn cael cyflwyniad yn nhymor y Gwanwyn 
ynghylch rolau a chyfrifoldebau arweinwyr Ysgol ac atebolrwydd. 
  
Cyn dod â'r drafodaeth i ben, cadarnhaodd Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau 
Cynhwysiant fod y data AAA ac ADY wedi'u cynnwys yn yr adroddiad. 
  
PENDERFYNWYD: 
  
(i)   Adolygu'r wybodaeth yn yr adroddiad a gwneud sylwadau amdani; a 
  
(ii) Derbyn adroddiad yn ystod y cyfarfod addas nesaf o'r pwyllgor er mwyn rhoi 

cyd-destun pellach mewn perthynas â chanran y dysgwyr sy'n derbyn Prydau 
Ysgol am Ddim ac sy'n cael eu gwahardd, dadansoddiad o ddisgyblion sydd 
wedi'u gwahardd yn barhaol a'r gydberthynas rhwng gwaharddiadau a lefelau 
presenoldeb. 

  
  

39   DATA PRESENOLDEB MEWN YSGOLION  
 

 

 Cyflwynodd y Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles adroddiad i 
Aelodau sy'n cynnwys yr wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am ddata presenoldeb mewn 
ysgolion ledled yr awdurdod lleol a chamau gweithredu'r Gwasanaeth Mynychu'r 
Ysgol a Lles a'r Gyfadran Addysg a Gwasanaethau Cynhwysiant ehangach i 
gynyddu lefelau presenoldeb. 
  
Yn yr un modd â’r adroddiad blaenorol a gyflwynwyd i’r Aelodau, nododd Aelod 
nad oedd yr adroddiad yma'n cynnwys yr un lefel o fanylder. Gofynnwyd bod y 
mater yma'n cael ei ystyried wrth lunio'r adroddiad nesaf ar gyfer y cyfarfod 
nesaf, gan holi a fyddai modd cynnwys amrywiannau lleol mewn perthynas â 
data presenoldeb. Yn ogystal, codwyd ymholiad mewn perthynas â pharagraff 
4.1 a gofynnwyd a oedd ystadegau Haf 2 ar gael ar gyfer y cyfnod uwchradd, a 
hynny oherwydd bod y tymor yma'n cynrychioli'r tymor gwaethaf o ran lefelau 
presenoldeb. 
  
Rhoddodd y Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles wybod bod 
adroddiadau hanner tymor yn cael eu cyhoeddi a'u rhannu â phob ysgol. Mae'r 
adroddiadau yma'n cynnwys data cymharol, y gall Llywodraethwyr ofyn amdano 
os ydynt yn dymuno ei weld. Cafodd yr adroddiad yma ei rannu â’r Pwyllgor 
Craffu yn dilyn yr adroddiad blaenorol ar bresenoldeb yn gynharach yn y 
flwyddyn. Fodd bynnag, yn unol â Fframwaith Estyn, nid rôl yr Awdurdod Lleol 

 

Tudalen 14



 

yw cymharu cyflawniad ysgolion yn erbyn ysgolion eraill. Eglurodd Pennaeth 
Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles yr anawsterau wrth gasglu data mewn 
perthynas â tharged cyflawniad cyffredinol yr ALl; fodd bynnag, roedd yn gallu 
cadarnhau'r ffigurau dangosol o 91.8% ar gyfer ysgolion cynradd ac 89.4% ar 
lefel uwchradd. Ychwanegodd nad oes ffigyrau cenedlaethol ar gyfer yr hanner 
tymor diwethaf ar gyfer ysgolion uwchradd (darparwyd gwybodaeth am ysgolion 
cynradd) gan fod Llywodraeth Cymru yn casglu’r data ar lefel genedlaethol ar 
ddiwedd mis Mai. Byddai casglu data Haf 2 yn cynnwys anomaleddau, gan 
ystyried bod blwyddyn 11 yn absennol yn dilyn eu harholiadau. Er gwaethaf yr 
anghysondeb a'r gostyngiad yn y ffigurau mynychu'r ysgol, roedd y Pennaeth 
Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles yn hapus i ddarparu'r data gan fod yr 
Aelodau wedi nodi bod addysg yn cwmpasu chwe hanner tymor ac y dylid 
olrhain presenoldeb hefyd ar draws y cyfnod yma. Cytunwyd y byddai hyn yn 
gam gweithredu clir ar gyfer yr adroddiad nesaf.  
  
Gofynnodd Aelod arall a oedd modd cynnwys crynodeb clir o’r materion amlwg 
allweddol sy'n deillio o'r Adroddiad Monitro Presenoldeb a dywedodd y byddai’r 
wybodaeth ychwanegol yma’n helpu’r Pwyllgor i ddeall yr heriau gwirioneddol a 
gofynnodd am ragor o fanylion am y rhan o'r adroddiad sy’n amlinellu 
triwantiaeth a hynny er mwyn deall sut mae'r Cyngor yn mynd i'r afael â'r mater 
yma ac a yw'r ymgyrch hysbysebu wedi cael ei chynnal.  
  
Esboniodd Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles fod gwaith yn cael ei 
gynnal gyda dau gwmni hysbysebu ar hyn o bryd, mae un yn canolbwyntio ar 
ysgolion cynradd gan ddefnyddio'r cymeriad 'Super Fynychwr' sydd eisoes wedi 
cael ei ddefnyddio mewn ysgolion ar ffurf gwisg. Mae'r cysyniad yma wedi 
cyflwyno heriau felly mae'r awdurdod lleol yn ystyried cynnal ymgyrch ar y 
cyfryngau cymdeithasol a chreu fideos i’w defnyddio mewn ysgolion. Bydd y 
fideos ar gyfer ysgolion uwchradd yn canolbwyntio ar rwystrau i oresgyn 
materion sy'n ymwneud â mynychu'r ysgol, ffilmio'r fideos mewn ysgolion a 
chasglu astudiaethau achos y mae modd eu rhannu.  Daeth â'i gyfraniad ef i ben 
drwy nodi bod hyn yn cyd-fynd â'r strategaeth, gydag adroddiad cynnydd yn cael 
ei gyflwyno i'r Aelodau ym mis Mawrth, sef blwyddyn ers yr adroddiad blaenorol. 
Mae'r cyfnod yma wedi rhoi digon o amser i gasglu adborth a diweddariadau. 
  
O ran Hysbysiadau Cosb Benodedig, gofynnwyd cwestiwn ynghylch a oedd yr 
un materion/plant yn codi tro ar ôl tro mewn cyfnod penodol neu a yw'r 
Hysbysiad Cosb Benodedig yn atal yr ymddygiad yma, gan fynd i'r afael â 
materion sy'n ymwneud â phresenoldeb. Gofynnwyd a oedd y 207 Hysbysiad 
Cosb Benodedig y cyfeiriwyd atyn nhw yn yr adroddiad yn cynnwys unrhyw 
wyliau heb ei awdurdodi ac ai'r fersiwn 'hawdd i'w ddarllen' sydd wedi'i chynnwys 
yn y ddolen sydd wedi'i nodi yn yr adroddiad i Ganllawiau newydd Llywodraeth 
Cymru. Croesawodd Aelod unrhyw gyngor da pellach o'r canllawiau. 
  
Esboniodd Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles y gellir cynnwys 
natur yr absenoldebau fesul cod yn yr adroddiad nesaf. Eglurodd mai salwch 
yw'r cod sy'n cael ei ddefnyddio fwyaf aml, gyda chodau eraill megis cod 'C' sy'n 
sefyll am 'absenoldeb arall wedi'i awdurdodi' ac 'O' sy'n golygu 'absenoldeb arall 
heb ei awdurdodi'. Nid yw'r Awdurdod Lleol wedi derbyn unrhyw reswm am y 
codau yma, yn syml maen nhw’n gymwys i fod yn rhan o ddiffiniad Llywodraeth 

Tudalen 15



 

Cymru ar gyfer y codau yma. Byddai Systemau Rheoli Gwybodaeth Ysgolion yn 
cynnwys rhesymau unigol dros ddefnyddio’r cod e.e. profedigaeth, dydy’r rheini 
ddim wedi rhoi rheswm am yr absenoldeb ac ati. Fodd bynnag, esboniodd 
Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles y byddai modd cyflwyno'r 
wybodaeth am yr achosion sy'n cael eu hatgyfeirio i'r Gwasanaeth Mynychu'r 
Ysgol a Lles i’r Pwyllgor. Mae'n bosibl y bydd yr wybodaeth yma'n ddefnyddiol 
gan eu bod nhw'n nodi'r rhesymau dros gynnal yr ymweliadau y gallai'r 
awdurdod lleol eu cynnal, megis materion iechyd meddwl, peidio ag ymateb i’r 
ysgol neu ddiffyg cyfathrebu. 
  
Cyfeiriodd Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles at y 466 Hysbysiad 
Cosb Benodedig a oedd  'heb ei gyflwyno yn dilyn rhybudd o ganlyniad i welliant 
o ran cyfraddau presenoldeb',   roedd y disgyblion yma'n destun cyfnod monitro 
3 wythnos ac felly heb symud ymlaen i HCB llawn. Esboniodd fod yna nifer o 
ddisgyblion sydd â chyfradd absenoldeb o 20-25% yn gyson oherwydd 
hysbysiadau cosb benodedig o ganlyniad i wyliau, ac mae'r rhain yn tueddu dod 
o ysgolion uwchradd. Roedd Gweithgor Craffu a ddaeth at ei gilydd i drafod 
Hysbysiadau Cosb Benodedig wedi darparu data a ddangosodd gyfradd 
llwyddiant o 50%, lle arweiniodd yr Hysbysiadau Cosb Benodedig at welliant 
mewn cyfraddau presenoldeb, ond roedd 50% wedi gostwng/heb newid. 
Dangosodd y dystiolaeth fod yr HCB yn cael effaith i raddau, ond nid ym mhob 
achos, tra bod yr hysbysiad monitro'n fwy effeithiol.  
  
Aeth y Pennaeth Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles ati i ymateb i ymholiadau pellach a 
dywedodd fod pedwar cam gweithredu mewn perthynas â thriwantiaeth wedi'u 
cynnal y llynedd, gan weithio ochr yn ochr â Heddlu Trafnidiaeth Prydeinig neu 
Heddlu De Cymru i gynnal patrolau, nodi triwantiaid a'u dychwelyd i'r ysgol. 
Ychwanegodd fod ffurflenni atgyfeirio plant sy'n colli addysg bellach ar gael ar-
lein i'w cwblhau ac mae gwelliannau wedi'u gwneud i'r tudalennau gwe. 
Dywedodd Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles fod meysydd pellach 
yn cael eu datblygu i ddarparu system wybodaeth y mae modd i aelodau'r 
cyhoedd gael mynediad iddi gan fod gohebiaeth gan y cyhoedd yn gyfyngedig i 
un neu ddau y mis ar hyn o bryd. 
  
Mewn ymateb i ymholiad mewn perthynas â’r adroddiad Osgoi'r Ysgol ar Sail 
Emosiwn, cadarnhaodd y Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles fod yr 
adroddiad yma wedi cael ei rannu gyda'r adroddiad hanner tymor. Dyma faes yr 
oedden nhw'n bwriadu ei ddatblygu yn rhan o’r strategaeth, gan dreialu fforymau 
Osgoi'r Ysgol ar Sail Emosiwn ar ffurf aml-asiantaeth, bydd y rhain yn cynnwys y 
Cydlynydd Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol, arweinydd presenoldeb, y 
seicolegydd addysg a’r gwasanaeth ieuenctid, gan ystyried y disgyblion hynny 
sy’n osgoi'r ysgol ar sail emosiwn. Cyfeiriodd hefyd at swyddogion cymorth 
wedi’u targedu, sy’n cael eu cyflogi drwy grantiau Llywodraeth Cymru ac sy’n 
gweithio ochr yn ochr â charfannau o ddysgwyr sydd ychydig yn uwch na 
throthwy y Gwasanaeth Mynychu’r Ysgol a Lles, gan ddefnyddio llyfrau gwaith 
am 6 wythnos i nodi pwysigrwydd mynychu'r ysgol ac amlygu’r cysylltiadau â 
chyrhaeddiad ac amcanion o ran gyrfaoedd yn y dyfodol. Ychwanegodd fod y 
prosiect Golau Gwyrdd mewn ysgolion uwchradd wedi'i ymestyn trwy grant 
Llywodraeth Cymru tan fis Awst. 

Tudalen 16



 

  
Gofynnodd Aelod am ddata pellach yn canolbwyntio ar y cysylltiadau rhwng 
lefelau presenoldeb a gwaharddiadau ar lefel ysgol ac a ddylid ystyried y rhain 
yn rhan o un adroddiad gan eu bod nhw'n cael eu trafod ar wahân ar hyn o bryd. 
Roedd Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles wedi ymateb drwy 
ddweud bod data a chroesgyfeirio data presenoldeb a gwaharddiadau eisoes yn 
cael eu hystyried yn fewnol ac yn ffurfio rhan o ddull y garfan o amgylch yr ysgol 
lle mae materion sy’n ymwneud â phresenoldeb a gwaharddiadau yn ffactor 
allweddol wrth gynnal ymweliadau ar y cyd ag ysgolion. Maes arall lle mae 
ysgolion yn cael eu herio yw lle mae’r cyfraddau gwahardd a chyfraddau 
presenoldeb wedi gostwng, o bosibl gan nad yw ysgolion bellach yn gwahardd y 
disgyblion yma gan nad ydyn nhw'n mynychu mwyach. 
  
Aeth y Cadeirydd ati i grynhoi'r trafodaethau ac awgrymodd y dylid cynnwys nifer 
o enghreifftiau o arferion gorau yn rhan o adroddiadau dilynol i ddangos y 
meysydd hynny lle mae ymyriadau a mentrau presenoldeb ar waith, gan y 
byddai'n darparu gwybodaeth werthfawr i'r Pwyllgor. Yn yr un modd, bod yr 
enghreifftiau o arfer gorau yn cael eu rhannu ag ysgolion a bod tystiolaeth o sut 
mae hyn yn cael ei gyflwyno hefyd i'w gweld mewn adroddiadau yn y dyfodol a 
hynny er mwyn rhannu ac ailadrodd yr arfer orau. 
  
Cyfeiriodd Pennaeth Gwasanaeth - Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles at ddwy astudiaeth 
achos arfer gorau sydd ar gael ar wefan Llywodraeth Cymru. Ychwanegodd fod 
enghreifftiau o arfer gorau yn cael eu rhannu'n rheolaidd gyda swyddogion 
Mynychu'r Ysgol a Lles a thrwy fforymau Penaethiaid. Soniodd am achlysur 
mynychu'r ysgol a lles a gynhaliwyd yn ddiweddar ac sydd wedi’i nodi ym 
mharagraff 5.5. Daeth dros 80 o ysgolion i'r achlysur a oedd yn cynnwys 
cyflwyniadau gan ysgolion RhCT a chyflwyniad gan ysgol ym Mhen-y-bont ar 
Ogwr yn dilyn eu hadroddiad llwyddiannus gan Estyn. 
  
Yn dilyn trafodaeth, PENDERFYNWYD:  
  
(i)   Adolygu'r wybodaeth yn yr adroddiad a gwneud sylwadau amdani; a 

  
(ii)  Derbyn adroddiad pellach yn ystod y cyfarfod addas nesaf a fydd yn cynnwys 

data pellach ac enghreifftiau o arfer da, yn unol â chais y Pwyllgor. 
  
 

 
 

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 7.35 pm Y Cynghorydd S.Evans 
Cadeirydd. 

 

Tudalen 17



Tudalen wag

Tudalen 18



 

 

 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023/24  

EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

22 JANUARY 2024 
 
 

REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & 
COMMUNICATIONS 

 
WELSH GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION – STRUCTURE OF THE SCHOOL YEAR 

 
1.        PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1      For Members of the Education and Inclusion Scrutiny Committee to formally 

respond to the Welsh Government’s consultation which sets out the proposals 
on  the principle of modifying the school year, options for implementing 
changes to the school year including being made in the 2025 to 2026 school 
year and suggested term dates for 2025 to 2026 school year 

 
 2.        RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
           It is recommended that Members: -  
 
2.1   Provide feedback on the proposals as outlined in paragraph 4, and decide 

whether they wish to make any further comments or suggestions as appropriate 
following consideration of the information before them. 

 
2.2    Authorise the Service Director Democratic Services and Communications to 

submit the feedback provided by Members to Welsh Government on behalf of 
the Committee 

  
3.        REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
3.1.    To provide Scrutiny with the opportunity to respond to the consultation so that it 

can have its say on the proposals which set out a number of objectives as set 
out below.   

    4.      BACKGROUND 
 

Tudalen 19

Agendwm 4

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year


 

 

4.1     The current consultation seeks Members views on a number of specific 
modifications (or changes) to the school calendar. Welsh Government are 
proposing working with relevant bodies to reframe the traditional parameters 
of the school calendar to create more consistent term-lengths and increase 
some half-term breaks so that each half-term is broadly the same length. 

4.2     The total number of days provided for learning, breaks, and staff training will 
not change. The proposals seek to maintain the existing provision of 190 
days/380 sessions (38 weeks) of learning, 13 weeks of school breaks, and the 
existing number of staff training (INSET) days per school year. Similarly, all 
public holidays will remain. 

 
4.3      It is proposed that implementation would begin in the 2025 to 2026 school 

year. These changes would include the following: 

• Extending the October half-term break to two weeks and shortening 
the summer break by one week. 

• The flexibility to de-couple the spring break from the Easter public 
holiday. Recognising the importance of Easter to many people, it is 
important to note that should Easter fall outside of the school break, 
the public holidays would still apply, and learning time should be re-
distributed, for example, schools would be closed on Good Friday 
and Easter Monday. Broadly, Easter and Holy Week will stand 
outside the spring break for two years in every 10-year period. 

4.4    While an approach to the school calendar which has more equal term dates is 
being proposed, there would remain room for some flexibility in response to 
particular needs. For example, there may be local, cultural, one off or national 
events which may necessitate a change to the normal pattern. 

4.5   Welsh Government are also seeking views on further potential changes which 
could be introduced at a later date. These would include the following: 

• Providing the flexibility to extend the May half-term break and/or if 
necessary, moving the break away from the public holiday with an 
associated shortening of the summer break by one week. 

• Moving GCSE results day to the same week as AS/A-level results 
day. This could have benefits, particularly for secondary school staff. 
These benefits include ‘freeing up’ more weeks within the break to 
offset a shortened summer break.  

4.6    Attached at Appendix A is a proposed set of questions of areas where Welsh 
Government are seeking feedback.  Members can find a full list of the 
proposals attached at Appendix B to the report.  

5.        EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
  
5.1  There are no equality and diversity implications as a result of the 

recommendations set out in the report.   
 

Tudalen 20



 

 

6.        FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1      There are no financial implications aligned to this report.  
 
7.        LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
  
7.1       There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this report. 
 
8.     LINKS TO THE COUNCILS CORPORATE PLAN / OTHER CORPORATE   

PRIORITIES.  
 
8.1     This is an information report presenting the Welsh Government’s consultation 

on its proposals on the structure of the school year.  No decisions are being 
taken in this report. 

 
9.        CONCLUSION  
 
9.1   The Education and Inclusion Scrutiny Committee, in line with its Terms of 

Reference, has been afforded the opportunity to respond to the consultation for 
the structure of the school year, published by Welsh Government  

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 21



 

 

 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

EDUCATION & INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 

22 JANUARY 2024  
 

REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES & 

 

COMMUNICATION 

Tudalen 22



Appendix A 

Consultation questions – Structure of the School Year  

 

1. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the school calendar could be better 
designed to support the way we live, learn and work today? 

2. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the school calendar could be better 
designed to support socio-economically disadvantaged learners? 

3. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the school calendar could be better 
designed to support learners with Additional Learning Needs (ALN)? 

4. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the school calendar could be better 
designed to support teacher and/or learner well-being and ease fatigue?  

5. To what extent do you agree or disagree with an additional break week (taken from 
the summer break), dividing the longest term (autumn)? 

6. To what extent do you agree or disagree with having the flexibility to de-couple 
(separate) the spring break from the Easter public holiday? 

7. To what extent do you agree or disagree with an additional break week in May or 
June (taken from the summer break and added to the existing May break), to even 
term lengths? 

8. To what extent do you agree or disagree with holding A level, AS level and GCSE 
results days in the same week? 
(Currently examination results are distributed on the third and fourth Thursday in 
August respectively. Aligning results days would mean that WJEC GCSE results be 
moved forward to the same week as A level and AS level results.) 

9. To what extent do you agree or disagree with Option 1: Maintaining the existing 
school calendar? 

10. To what extent do you agree or disagree with Option 2 and the proposed draft 
direction: a school calendar with a two-week October break, a spring break at 
broadly the same time each year (despite when Easter falls), and a five-week 
summer break? 

11. To what extent do you agree or disagree with Option 3: a school calendar with a two-
week October break, a spring break at broadly the same time each year (despite 
when Easter falls), a two-week May break, and a four-week summer break? 

12. For 2025 to 2026, do you agree or disagree with the proposed term dates as set out 
for Options 2 and 3? 

13. What, in your opinion, would be the likely effects of the proposals on the Welsh 
language? We are particularly interested in any likely effects on opportunities to use 
the Welsh language and on not treating the Welsh language less favourably than 
English 
Do you think that there are opportunities to promote any positive effects? 
Do you think that there are opportunities to mitigate any adverse effects? 

14. In your opinion, could the proposals be formulated or changed so as to: 
have positive effects or more positive effects on using the Welsh language and on 
not treating the Welsh language less favourably than English; or 
mitigate any negative effects on using the Welsh language and on not treating the 
Welsh language less favourably than English? 

15. We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any related issues which 
we have not specifically addressed, please use this space to report them 

 

Tudalen 23



Tudalen wag



PUBLICATION, DOCUMENT

The Structure of the School
Year
We want your views on proposals to amend school term
dates. So that terms are more equal in length, with more
evenly distributed breaks, for maintained schools in Wales.

First published: 21 November 2023

Last updated: 21 November 2023

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 25

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Contents
Overview

The current structure of the school year

Why change the school year

What change would look like

What specific changes are we proposing

What other proposals are we considering implementing later on

What changes have we ruled out

Suggested changes

Next steps

Proposed term dates for the 2025 to 2026 school year

Consultation Questions

UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR)

Footnotes

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 26

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Overview

The Programme for Government and Co-operation Agreement sets out the
Welsh Government’s commitment to consider the school year to help tackle
disadvantage and support well-being, in order to benefit learners, staff, and
parents. This is part of the Welsh Government’s national mission to achieve
high standards and aspirations for all by tackling the impact of poverty on
educational attainment to support every learner.

In 2023, we follow broadly the same school term structure or “school calendar”
as was followed in 1873, despite living, learning and working in a very different
world today compared to 150 years ago. We want the school calendar to be
better aligned with life in the 21st century and help us to address disadvantage,
reduce educational inequalities and support learner and staff well-being.

We are asking for your views on three matters:

• (a) The principle of modifying the school year.
• (b) Options for implementing any modification of the school year including

some changes being made in 2025 to 2026.
• (c) Suggested term dates for 2025 to 2026 school year implementation.

This consultation is complementary to the many recent changes and progressive
improvements we have made to education in Wales. We have a new Curriculum
for Wales, there is greater emphasis on professional learning for teachers, we
have new ways of supporting learners with additional learning needs, and, in the
coming years, we will be introducing ‘Made-for-Wales’ qualifications aligned with
the ambitions of the new Curriculum for Wales.

In this consultation, we are seeking your views on a number of specific
modifications (or changes) to the school calendar. We are proposing working
with relevant bodies to reframe the traditional parameters of the school calendar

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 27

https://www.gov.wales/our-national-mission
https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


to create more consistent term-lengths and increase some half-term breaks so
that each half-term is broadly the same length. Specific consultation questions
are set out at the end of this document.

The total number of days provided for learning, breaks, and staff training will not
change. We will maintain the existing provision of 190 days/380 sessions (38
weeks) of learning, 13 weeks of school breaks, and the existing number of staff
training (INSET) days per school year[Footnote 1]. Similarly, all public holidays will
remain.

The current structure of the school year

The school year in Wales begins in September and ends in July.

The structure of the school calendar is not set out in legislation and there is no
stipulated way of distributing the 13 weeks of school breaks.

School terms

The current school calendar typically has a longer autumn term compared with
shorter spring and summer terms. These terms are punctuated with 13 weeks of
breaks which vary in length.

School breaks

The current school calendar typically has a one-week break dividing each term
into half-terms (referred to as the “half-term break”), a two-week break at the end
of the autumn and spring terms (that currently coincide with Christmas and
Easter, respectively) and roughly a six-week break at the end of the summer

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 28

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


term.

Differences across Wales

A pattern of structuring the school calendar, as described, has emerged over the
last 150 years. However, because the school calendar is not set out in
legislation, term dates are not always the same across the UK or across Wales.
The law states that local authorities and school governing bodies must work
together to try to keep term dates as consistent as possible, but there are small
local differences.

This is how the current school calendar looks:

Autumn term (September to December)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in October/November)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in December/January)

Spring term (January to March/April)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in February)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in March/April at the same time as Easter)

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 29

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Summer term (April to July)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in May/June)
• End of term break: 6 weeks (in July/August)

Why change the school year

In Wales, children’s rights are at the heart of everything we do, which is why we
want to ensure that the school calendar is built around learners and education
first. The Welsh Government is considering changing the structure of the school
calendar for several reasons.

This is an opportunity to design a calendar intentionally to better support
learners, education systems, and families.

The current school calendar has uneven term lengths with a longer autumn and
shorter spring and summer terms. The length of each term and associated half-
terms is not intentional, term dates have traditionally been determined by the
placement of public holidays, such as Christmas and Easter. For example,
Easter Sunday does not fall on a fixed date each year.

Reason 1: A changed school calendar to better support
the needs of disadvantaged learners and their families

It is essential to consider how we structure learning and teaching so that high
standards and aspirations are achieved for all learners, particularly for learners
with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) and socio-economically disadvantaged
learners.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 30

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


When exploring the impacts of the current school calendar, these learners were
found to be most affected by the structure; similarly, they also have the most to
gain from a new structure[Footnote 2].

Research suggests there is a relationship between the structure of the school
calendar and the well-being and educational achievement of learners. For
example, learning loss which refers to learners falling behind academically
during school breaks, is more prevalent during the summer break compared to
other breaks, as summer is longer than other school break periods[Footnote 3].

Time then has to be devoted, during the autumn term, to recover the ground lost
rather than advancing learning. However, this recovery can take longer for
learners with ALN and those who are socio-economically disadvantaged.
Additionally, for learners with ALN, learning loss and disruptions to routine are
significant changes, and the school calendar is one contributory factor in
this[Footnote 4]. As a consequence, the length of the summer break could
contribute to the attainment gap between socio-economically disadvantaged
learners and their peers.

As well as this, for low-income families, school breaks can exacerbate existing
financial pressures and food insecurity, putting pressure on families as well as
learners themselves[Footnote 5].

The summer break can be a positive experience for learners who are able to
participate in activities that extends learning and promotes social and emotional
skills. However, we recognise that other learners are not afforded the same
opportunities which can contributes to an attainment gap. Additionally, significant
numbers of parents perceive that a six-week summer break is too long, citing
boredom, less physical activity and risk of isolation over the break[Footnote 6].

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 31

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Reason 2: A changed school calendar to better support
the well-being of learners and teachers and reduce fatigue

If terms are too long without a sufficient break, fatigue can negatively impact the
amount of teaching, learning and engagement taking place in classrooms. This
is particularly true during the autumn which is the longest term with the most
teaching weeks[Footnote 7]. School staff are more likely to be impacted by
instances of fatigue and illness during longer half-terms, and teachers often work
through much of the one-week break in autumn[Footnote 8] which can contribute
to fatigue. Whilst the length of the autumn term presents an opportunity to cover
large amounts of curriculum content, there is little opportunity for rest, leading to
fatigue[Footnote 9]. Learners similarly suffer a sense of fatigue by the end of long
terms, with effects particularly notable for neurodivergent learners and those
who travel long distances to school[Footnote 10].

Consequently, term length can impact the quality of learning and teaching and
potentially impact of learning experiences. When there are comparatively fewer
teaching weeks in a term, teachers have less time to cover curriculum content
and learners have less time for curriculum exploration.

We recognise the importance of school breaks in allowing learners and the
education workforce time for recreation and rest. A changed school calendar
would still provide opportunities for children and young people to rest and
potentially to benefit from the experiences that play schemes and extracurricular
camps offer during breaks from school.

More generally, impacts stemming from the summer break include instances of
boredom, isolation[Footnote 11], lack of routine and support, and less focus on
well-being and physical activity. Additionally, the summer break, as the longest
break from school, presents the biggest safeguarding concern as learners are
without face-to-face professional support from schools for six weeks or longer.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 32

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


At the same time, a one-week break during the longer autumn term may not be
sufficiently long for learners and teachers to rest and recuperate. Understanding
whether school breaks could be redistributed to better support learner and
teacher well-being is crucial, and gathering public input on this point is one
underlying reason for this consultation.

Reason 3: A changed school calendar to better support
learning and teaching

Term lengths that vary considerably can have a negative impact on learners and
the education workforce. As stated, variations in term length mean that teachers
are faced with unequal lengths of time to cover curriculum content and learners
are presented with an 'uneven playing field' from one year to the next, meaning
that one year there would be additional weeks to teach and learn a topic than in
other years. The inconsistency of spring and summer term lengths can also
impact revision for those learners in exam years[Footnote 12].

More equal term lengths, on the other hand, could have a real and practical
benefit for both teachers and learners. Terms of equal length promote consistent
opportunities for curriculum exploration across the year while also offering
flexibility to teachers regarding the point in the school year when topics/modules
are taught based on what is right for learners rather than being based on term
length constraints. Research suggests that some teachers report that they plan
content delivery in blocks and struggle to effectively fit blocks of teaching into
particularly short terms of five weeks or fewer[Footnote 13].

Redistributing break periods so that terms are more equal in length could help
schools plan curriculum delivery with even greater focus on improving learner
progression and attainment.

There is evidence to suggest that the distribution and placement of breaks can
have an impact on learner progression and attainment. Variations of term

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 33

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


lengths can have a negative impact on learners. This is a particular concern in
the longer autumn term (when learners become fatigued) and when Easter falls
later on in spring, resulting in less time in school immediately prior to external
examinations.

Learners at Welsh medium schools who speak little-to-no Welsh at home, for
example, have been found to struggle with learning loss over the six-week
summer break. Time then has to be devoted upon return to school in the autumn
to recover learning which had already been achieved at the end of the previous
term[Footnote 14]. Though most learning is recovered in autumn upon return to
school[Footnote 15], this does of course come at the cost of time to advance
learning. The same issue is true for learners in English medium schools who
speak little-to-no English at home[Footnote 16].

Reason 4: A changed school calendar to better support
modern patterns of living and working

The way we live and work, has changed vastly over recent decades and will
likely continue to change further. However, the school calendar has remained
the same. Patterns and rates of employment have altered[Footnote 17], meaning
that more women work outside the home than in the past and people are living
and working until older in age. With extended families often living farther apart,
grandparents more likely to be in formal employment, and families less likely to
have a parent or carer that remains in the home[Footnote 18], childcare during
school breaks can be very challenging for families.

The average number of annual leave days for those in full time employment is
28, equivalent to 5.6 weeks. The shortfall between average annual leave
entitlement and the 13 weeks of school breaks may mean that working parents
or carers need to source childcare for around seven weeks across the year.
Many families rely on formal childcare. However, during school breaks, families
can be under pressure in terms of increased living costs, including the need to

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 34

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


find and fund longer provision of childcare to enable them to continue in their
work or study[Footnote 19]. While redistributing breaks does not remove the need
for childcare for 13 weeks of the year, more evenly distributed breaks could
allow families to better plan informal childcare or be better able to budget for the
cost of formal childcare.

The Welsh Government understands that when looking at the structure of the
school year, consideration must be given to the subsequent impact the school
calendar has on other sectors including tourism and hospitality, transport,
childcare and play, the voluntary and public sectors (including the NHS and
social care), as well as groups with protected characteristics. Engagement has
already been undertaken with representatives from these groups to establish
views around the school calendar, and this engagement will continue throughout
the consultation.

What change would look like

In taking forward our wider education policies and reforms, it is important to
understand that the school calendar can help support learners, families and the
education workforce in terms of addressing disadvantage, supporting learning
and well-being, and reflecting how we live and work now.

We want to modernise the school calendar to achieve a more balanced structure
throughout Wales. We are proposing a different distribution of breaks throughout
the year to achieve more consistent term-lengths.

Any changes we make, are intended to bring about the following potential
benefits:

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 35

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Terms of more equal length

Would promote a more stable rhythm for continuous learning with regular down
time, enabling better spaced recuperation opportunities for both teachers and
learners. It could support learners to make more sustained progress by affording
opportunity to consolidate and build on learning over time, giving schools more
opportunity to plan progression consistently and utilise all terms fully.

The redistribution of break periods

To reduce fatigue throughout the year. Redistributed breaks to help manage
workload may also support educational outcomes; if teachers are less fatigued,
they may be better equipped to plan and teach, and similarly, well rested
learners may be better able to learn. Similarly, allocating breaks to different
times of the year may present more affordable opportunities for travel and
leisure.

A reduction in the length of the summer break

By redistributing some of this time so that breaks are spread more evenly
throughout the year. This could help to reduce the impact of learning loss over
the summer break and ensure school time is used rather than for learning
recovery, to advance learning to improve education outcomes, close the
attainment gap, and better align the school calendar with modern living, learning
and working patterns. The summer break currently uses six out of the 13-weeks
of school breaks a year.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 36

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


What specific changes are we proposing

These changes are outlined in the options below and it is proposed that
implementation would begin in the 2025 to 2026 school year. These changes
would include the following:

• Extending the October half-term break to two weeks and shortening the
summer break by one week.

• The flexibility to de-couple the spring break from the Easter public
holiday.We recognise the importance of Easter to many people, and it is
important to note that should Easter fall outside of the school break, the
public holidays would still apply, and learning time should be re-distributed,
for example, schools would be closed on Good Friday and Easter Monday.
Broadly, Easter and Holy Week will stand outside the spring break for two
years in every 10-year period.

While an approach to the school calendar which has more equal term dates is
being proposed, there would remain room for some flexibility in response to
particular needs. For example, there may be local, cultural, one off or national
events which may necessitate a change to the normal pattern.

What other proposals are we considering
implementing later on

We are also seeking views on further potential changes which could be
introduced at a later date. These would include the following:

• Providing the flexibility to extend the May half-term break and/or if
necessary, moving the break away from the public holiday with an
associated shortening of the summer break by one week.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 37

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


• Moving GCSE results day to the same week as AS/A-level results day.

This could have benefits, particularly for secondary school staff. These benefits
include ‘freeing up’ more weeks within the break to offset a shortened summer
break. if GCSE results day were to occur in the third week of August in the same
week as AS/A-Level results[Footnote 20].

What changes have we ruled out

Through stakeholder engagement, evidence and research we have considered
various alternative school calendar options that could help us to achieve the
ambitions of a more equal distribution of learning weeks.

From this, we have ruled out several alternative options. For example, we do not
intend to propose an option in which the school year would begin in January and
end in December. We have also ruled out options with a longer Christmas break,
and any with less than a four-week summer break.

We will retain the same number of schools days as present, but the proposal is
to redistribute those more evenly over the school year. In light of that, we do not
consider that the proposal would necessitate a change to School Teachers’
Pay[Footnote 21] and Conditions or to the Burgundy Book[Footnote 22].

Suggested changes

To achieve a more equitable school calendar that is designed to support
educational outcomes for all, well-being, and modern life, we therefore propose
a new school calendar for all maintained schools in Wales. All options retain the
flexibility or sometimes require the use of half-weeks to ensure 190 days of

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 38

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


provision are met.

The following tables and descriptions are approximations for illustrative
purposes only and are not intended to show exact dates.

Option 1: The existing school calendar (Status Quo)

The current structure consists of a one-week break in October, two-week
Christmas break, one-week break in February, two-week break for Easter, one-
week break in May and a six-week summer break.

Autumn term (September to December)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in October/November)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in December/January)

Spring term (January to March/April)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in February)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in March/April at the same time as Easter)

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 39

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Summer term (April to July)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in May/June)
• End of term break: 6 weeks (in July/August)

Option 2: A new school calendar (“New Option”) from
2025 to 2026

In this option, we propose a school calendar with a two-week October break, the
flexibility to de-couple the spring (“Easter”) break from Easter, and a five-week
summer break to be introduced from the 2025 to 2026 school year.

*The February, Christmas and May breaks would not change in this option.

Autumn term (September to December)

• Half-term break: 2 weeks (in October/November)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in December/January)

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 40

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Spring term (January to March/April)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in February)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in March/April which could be de-coupled from

Easter)

Summer term (April to July)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in May/June)
• End of term break: 5 weeks (in July/August)

Option 3: A New School Calendar (“New Option Plus”) in
the future

This option for a new school calendar would be rolled out in two phases.

Option 3 Phase 1

Phase 1 would be implemented from the 2025 to 2026 school year and would be
the same as Option 2. In this phase, we propose a school calendar with a two-
week October break, the flexibility to de-couple the spring (“Easter”) break from
Easter public holiday, and a five-week summer break.

Option 3 Phase 2

In addition to the changes in Phase 1, we propose additional changes to the
school calendar following implementation of Phase 1 changes. These additional
changes include a two-week May break and a four-week summer break. Further

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 41

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


changes could also include AS/A level and GCSE results days held in the same
week.

*The February and Christmas breaks would not change in either phase of this
option.

Autumn term (September to December)

• Half-term break: 2 weeks (in October/November)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in December/January)

Spring term (January to March/April)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in February)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in March/April which could be de-coupled from

Easter)

Summer term (April to July)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in May/June)
• End of term break: 5 weeks (in July/August)

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 42

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Autumn term (September to December)

• Half-term break: 2 weeks (in October/November)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in December/January)

Spring term (January to March/April)

• Half-term break: 1 week (in February)
• End of term break: 2 weeks (in March/April which could be de-coupled from

Easter)

Summer term (April to July)

• Half-term break: 2 weeks (in May/June)
• End of term break: 4 weeks (in July/August)

Next steps

The consultation exercise will run from 21 November 2023 until 12 February

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 43

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


2024. Welsh Ministers will then consider the findings and make a decision on the
school calendar for future years with a view to commence some changes in
2025 to 2026.

We recognise any changes to the school calendar will impact learners, families,
schools, and wider society. As such, significant preparation time will be given
ahead of any changes so all stakeholders can plan and adjust accordingly.
Similarly, we would look to implement any changes in line with Made-for-Wales
qualifications.

Proposed term dates for the 2025 to 2026 school
year

Should option 2 or 3 of the above be supported, we propose the following term
dates for the 2025 to 2026 school year.

Proposed term dates for the 2025 to 2026 school year

Period Start End (For the purposes of this document if a term ends on
a public holiday it is included as part of the term.)

Autumn
term 2025

Monday 1
September

Friday 19 December

Autumn Half
Term 2025

Monday
20
October

Friday 31 October

Spring Term
2026

Monday 5
January

Friday 3 April

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 44

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Period Start End (For the purposes of this document if a term ends on
a public holiday it is included as part of the term.)

Spring Half
Term 2026

Monday
16
February

Friday 20 February

Summer
Term 2026

Monday
20 April

Wednesday 29 July

Summer
Half Term
2026

Monday
25 May

Friday 29 May

These term days achieve a school calendar with:

• 190 learning days (five days of the above option will be used as INSET days
to be decided by relevant bodies at a local level).

• A two-week October break with an associated five-week summer break.
• A spring break that is de-coupled from Easter to achieve more equal term

lengths.
• All other breaks remain at the same point and the length as the current

system.

We are seeking your views on these specific dates as part of the consultation
questionnaire.

In the event that a decision is made to proceed with any changes to the school
year for the 2025 to 2026 school year then it would be necessary for the Minister
for Education and Welsh Language to issue a direction pursuant to section 32B
Education Act 2002. A draft direction based on proposals for option 2 and option
3 phase 1 are set out at Annex A.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 45

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


From the 2026 to 2027 school year, the relevant bodies who are normally
responsible for setting term dates would retain responsibility and liaise with the
Welsh Government to decide term dates taking into account the outcome of this
consultation.

Consultation Questions

Select all that apply to you from the below:

• Age 17 years and under
• Age 18 years and older
• Education workforce
• Tourism sector
• Childcare sector
• Full-time work - please specify
• Part-time work - please specify
• Parent or carer (The term ‘parent’ has been used as a shorthand to include

mothers, fathers, foster carers, adoptive parents, stepparents, ‘kinship’
parents and grandparents, guardians)

• Other

1. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the school calendar could be
better designed to support the way we live, learn and work today?

2. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the school calendar could be
better designed to support socio-economically disadvantaged learners?

3. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the school calendar could be
better designed to support learners with Additional Learning Needs (ALN)?

4. To what extent do you agree or disagree that the school calendar could be
better designed to support teacher and/or learner well-being and ease
fatigue?

5. To what extent do you agree or disagree with an additional break week

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 46

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


(taken from the summer break), dividing the longest term (autumn)?
6. To what extent do you agree or disagree with having the flexibility to de-

couple (separate) the spring break from the Easter public holiday?
7. To what extent do you agree or disagree with an additional break week in

May or June (taken from the summer break and added to the existing May
break), to even term lengths?

8. To what extent do you agree or disagree with holding A level, AS level and
GCSE results days in the same week?
(Currently examination results are distributed on the third and fourth
Thursday in August respectively. Aligning results days would mean that
WJEC GCSE results be moved forward to the same week as A level and AS
level results.)

9. To what extent do you agree or disagree with Option 1: Maintaining the
existing school calendar?

10. To what extent do you agree or disagree with Option 2 and the proposed
draft direction: a school calendar with a two-week October break, a spring
break at broadly the same time each year (despite when Easter falls), and a
five-week summer break?

11. To what extent do you agree or disagree with Option 3: a school calendar
with a two-week October break, a spring break at broadly the same time
each year (despite when Easter falls), a two-week May break, and a four-
week summer break?

12. For 2025 to 2026, do you agree or disagree with the proposed term dates as
set out for Options 2 and 3?

13. What, in your opinion, would be the likely effects of the proposals on the
Welsh language? We are particularly interested in any likely effects on
opportunities to use the Welsh language and on not treating the Welsh
language less favourably than English
Do you think that there are opportunities to promote any positive effects?
Do you think that there are opportunities to mitigate any adverse effects?

14. In your opinion, could the proposals be formulated or changed so as to:
have positive effects or more positive effects on using the Welsh language

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 47

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


and on not treating the Welsh language less favourably than English; or
mitigate any negative effects on using the Welsh language and on not
treating the Welsh language less favourably than English?

15. We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any related
issues which we have not specifically addressed, please use this space to
report them

UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK
GDPR)

The Welsh Government will be data controller for any personal data you provide
as part of your response to the consultation. Welsh Ministers have statutory
powers they will rely on to process this personal data which will enable them to
make informed decisions about how they exercise their public functions. Any
response you send us will be seen in full by Welsh Government staff dealing
with the issues which this consultation is about or planning future consultations.
Where the Welsh Government undertakes further analysis of consultation
responses then this work may be commissioned to be carried out by an
accredited third party (for example, a research organisation or a consultancy
company). Any such work will only be undertaken under contract. Welsh
Government’s standard terms and conditions for such contracts set out strict
requirements for the processing and safekeeping of personal data.

In order to show that the consultation was carried out properly, the Welsh
Government intends to publish a summary of the responses to this document.
We may also publish responses in full. Normally, the name and address (or part
of the address) of the person or organisation who sent the response are
published with the response. If you do not want your name or address published,
please tell us this in writing when you send your response. We will then redact
them before publishing.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 48

https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


You should also be aware of our responsibilities under Freedom of Information
legislation.

If your details are published as part of the consultation response, then these
published reports will be retained indefinitely. Any of your data held otherwise by
Welsh Government will be kept for no more than three years.

Your rights

Under the data protection legislation, you have the right:

• to be informed of the personal data held about you and to access it
• to require us to rectify inaccuracies in that data
• to (in certain circumstances) object to or restrict processing
• for (in certain circumstances) your data to be ‘erased’
• to (in certain circumstances) data portability
• to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) who

is our independent regulator for data protection.

For further details about the information the Welsh Government holds and its
use, or if you want to exercise your rights under the UK GDPR, please see
contact details below:

Data Protection Officer:

Welsh Government
Cathays Park
Cardiff
CF10 3NQ

Email: data.protectionofficer@gov.wales

The contact details for the Information Commissioner’s Office are:

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 49

mailto:Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales
https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


Wycliffe House
Water Lane
Wilmslow
Cheshire
SK9 5AF

Tel: 01625 545 745 or 0303 123 1113

Website: https://ico.org.uk/

Footnotes

[1] Subject to any adjustment year on year.

[2] MR report.

[3] MR report.

[4] MR report.

[5] Kelloggs (2015) Isolation and hunger: the reality of school holidays for
struggling families [Online]. [Accessed 04 October 2022].

Details: “41 per cent of parents on low household incomes say they sometimes
feel isolated in the school holiday due to being unable to afford to go out and
entertain their children” (Kelloggs, 2015).

[6] CPAG.

[7] Miller Report 2023, paragraph 5.7.

[8] MR report.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 50

https://ico.org.uk/
https://www.kelloggs.co.uk/content/dam/europe/kelloggs_gb/images/who_we_are/press_release/HOLIDAY+HUNGER+REPORT.pdf
https://www.kelloggs.co.uk/content/dam/europe/kelloggs_gb/images/who_we_are/press_release/HOLIDAY+HUNGER+REPORT.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


[9] MR report paragraph 5.7 Teacher Tapp, ‘Which half term do teachers find
the most and least enjoyable?’, July 2022; TES (2019) Autumn term is the
NQT slayer [Online]. [Accessed 29 June 2022].

Details: The Education Support Partnership, a charity that runs a helpline for
teachers suffering from mental health issues, says stress builds in teachers
during the autumn term. For Miller work to corroborate.

Teacher Tapp (July 2022) found that 39% of secondary teachers state that
autumn 2 is their least enjoyable half term, compared with 24% of primary
teachers saying this.
Some NQTs will spend the majority of autumn half-term working, with the
Christmas holiday being the biggest ‘quitting point’ (TES, 2019). Miller report.

[10] MR report.

[11] School Health Research Network (2021) Student Health and Well-being in
Wales: Report of the 2019 to 2020 School Health Research Network
Student Health and Well-being Survey [Online]. [Accessed 22 September
2022].

School Health Research Network (2022) Youth Mental Health and Well-being in
Wales: Comparing findings from the 2019 and 2021 School Health
Research Network Student Health and Well-being Survey. [Online].
[Accessed 22 September 2022].

Details: The SHRN found that in 2019, 31 per cent of secondary learners felt
lonely during the summer holidays.

[12] MR report.

[13] Miller report 2023, paragraphs 5.7 and 5.8.

[14] “Learning loss was also thought to be a problem for learners at Welsh-

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 51

https://www.tes.com/magazine/archive/autumn-term-nqt-slayer
https://www.tes.com/magazine/archive/autumn-term-nqt-slayer
https://www.shrn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/SHRN-NR-FINAL-23_03_21-en.pdf
https://www.shrn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/SHRN-NR-FINAL-23_03_21-en.pdf
https://www.shrn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/SHRN-MHW-Briefing-Report-2022-FINAL-01.08.22-en.pdf
https://www.shrn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/SHRN-MHW-Briefing-Report-2022-FINAL-01.08.22-en.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


medium school who spoke little or no Welsh at home, resulting in six weeks
without speaking the language. A few education workforce participants
explained that the long break impacted on these learners’ language
development and made it difficult for them to re-engage with the language”
(Beaufort and Cazbah, 2022).

[15] MR report.

[16] MR report.

[17] Office for National Statistics (March 2022) Families and households in
the UK: 2021 [online]. [Accessed 14 November 2022].

Office for National Statistics (July 2022) Families and the labour market, UK:
2021 [online]. [Accessed 14 November 2022].

Details: ONS (2022) reports that in 2021 71.9% of females were in employment
compared to 52.7% in 1971 whereas 78.3% of males were employed in 2021
compared to 91.4% in 1971.

[18] Office for National Statistics (July 2022) Families and the labour market,
UK: 2021 [online]. [Accessed 14 November 2022]. Details: ONS (2022) found
that “from 2020, in families where both parents are employed, it has become
more common for both parents to work full-time, rather than a man working full-
time with a partner working part-time” (ONS, July 2022).

[19] TUC (2021) Summer holiday childcare: no let up for working mums A
TUC Gender Equality Briefing [Online]. [Accessed 10 October 2022].

“Families on low incomes experience a range of challenges during holiday
periods, including financial pressures and difficulties in sourcing childcare or
holiday activities which are accessible, affordable and fit with parental
employment and the needs of the family” (CPAG, 2015).
TUC (2021) reports that “nearly two thirds (63 per cent) of mums with primary

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 52

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/bulletins/familiesandhouseholds/2021#:~:text=In%202021%2C%20there%20were%203.0,the%20North%20East%20of%20England
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/bulletins/familiesandhouseholds/2021#:~:text=In%202021%2C%20there%20were%203.0,the%20North%20East%20of%20England
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/familiesandthelabourmarketengland/2021#:~:text=Lone%20Parent%20families&text=The%20employment%20rate%20for%20lone,with%20lone%20fathers%20at%2080.1%25
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/familiesandthelabourmarketengland/2021#:~:text=Lone%20Parent%20families&text=The%20employment%20rate%20for%20lone,with%20lone%20fathers%20at%2080.1%25
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/familiesandthelabourmarketengland/2021#:~:text=Lone%20Parent%20families&text=The%20employment%20rate%20for%20lone,with%20lone%20fathers%20at%2080.1%25
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/familiesandthelabourmarketengland/2021#:~:text=Lone%20Parent%20families&text=The%20employment%20rate%20for%20lone,with%20lone%20fathers%20at%2080.1%25
https://www.tuc.org.uk/research-analysis/reports/summer-holiday-childcare-no-let-working-mums
https://www.tuc.org.uk/research-analysis/reports/summer-holiday-childcare-no-let-working-mums
https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


aged children do not have sufficient childcare for the summer holidays. This
rises to three quarters (76 per cent) for single parents” (TUC, 2021).

“Where holiday childcare is unavailable or too expensive, parents are left with
few options. Rather than looking forward to the long break, many parents dread
the juggling act between family, friends and annual leave to make sure that their
children are well looked after, and some struggle to stay in work” (Cottell,
Descateaux and Coleman, 2019).

[20] The reasons for exploring the above proposals from the 2029 to 2030
school year are that the Joint Council for Qualifications (JCQ) are responsible for
the overall examination timetable across England and Wales and include a five-
day break in May/June during the summer examination series. The expectation
is that as the Made-for-Wales qualifications are rolled out, Wales could move
away from JCQ alignment, allowing for the option of a moved or extended May
break to be taken forward. Moving GCSE results day forward would require the
overall GCSE timetable to move forward to facilitate earlier awarding. This is
dependent on a move away from JCQ alignment.

[21] The current terms and conditions are set out in the School Teachers’ Pay
and Conditions (Wales) Order 2023 (S.I. 2023/443), which was made pursuant
to s. 122 of the 2002 Act (concerning the power of the Secretary of State to
prescribe pay and conditions of schoolteachers.

[22] The Burgundy Book is an agreement between the National Employers’
Organisation for School Teachers, teachers’ unions and the English and Welsh
Local Government Associations. It is a ‘collective agreement’ under s. 178(1) of
the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

This document may not be fully accessible.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 53

https://www.gov.wales/school-teachers-pay-and-conditions-wales-document-2023
https://www.gov.wales/school-teachers-pay-and-conditions-wales-document-2023
https://neu.org.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/Burgundy%20Book%202023.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


For more information refer to our accessibility statement.

This document was downloaded from GOV.WALES and may not be the latest version.
Go to https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html for the latest version.
Get information on copyright.

Tudalen 54

https://www.gov.wales/accessibility-statement-govwales
https://www.gov.wales/structure-school-year-html
https://www.gov.wales/copyright-statement


 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023-24 

 
EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
22ND JANUARY 2024 

 
THE WORK OF THE CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM IN THE REGION 

AND RHONDDA CYNON TAF LOCAL AUTHORITY 2022 - 2023 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES 
 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members of the contribution of the 

Central South Consortium (CSC) in the region and Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Authority 2022-2023 to raising standards in schools across Rhondda Cynon 
Taf (RCT). 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that Members: 
 
2.1 Receive the content of Central South Consortium’s report provided in Appendix 

1: ‘Annual RCT Local Authority Scrutiny Report: Central South Consortium 
2022-23’. 

 
2.2 Scrutinise and comment on the information provided. 
 
2.3 Consider whether they wish to scrutinise in greater depth any matters 

contained in Central South Consortium’s report. 
 
3. BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 Since 2012, CSC has delivered aspects of school improvement services on 

behalf of the five local authorities: Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf and the Vale of Glamorgan. This covers 380 schools, around 32% 
of Wales’s children. It is a growing region with rapidly changing demographic, 
encompassing increasingly diverse communities across the economic sub 
region. It remains the region with the highest number of children living in 
poverty, with around 25% claiming free school meals. 

 
3.2 The service delivers challenge and support on behalf of the five local 

authorities, governed through a Joint Committee of Cabinet Members from 
each authority. The Joint Committee meets regularly and formally approves the 

Tudalen 55

Agendwm 5



annual business plan and budget for the service, holding the service to account 
in terms of performance and budgetary control. 

 
3.3 Scrutiny Committees in each of the five authorities invite the Principal 

Improvement Partner/s attached to the authority to report on the performance 
of the schools and the contribution of the consortium at any stage during the 
year. An annual report from the consortium relating to progress in the previous 
academic year and priorities for the year ahead is also provided. 

 
4. UPDATE / CURRENT POSITION 
 
4.1 Please refer to the report provided in Appendix 1 for further information. 
 
5. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS/SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY 
 
5.1 This is an information report. No Equality Impact Assessment screening form is 

required. 
 
6. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1 Please refer to Section 6.5.5 and Appendix B for further information.  
 
7. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT 
 
7.1 There are no consultation implications aligned to this report. 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
8.1 The cost of Central South Consortium’s service to the Council is £976,904 for 

the period 2022-23, representing 2.4% of the LA retained budget. 
 
9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 
9.1 None at present. 
 
10. LINKS TO THE COUNCILS CORPORATE PLAN/OTHER CORPORATE 

PRIORITIES / WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT 
 
10.1  Educational performance has a clear link to the Council’s priorities of ensuring 

people are independent, healthy and successful; enabling prosperity, creating 
the opportunity for people to fulfil their potential and prosper. Improved 
educational performance will have a positive impact on these priorities. 

 
11. CONCLUSION 
 
11.1 Central South Consortium’s annual report provides an overview of the school 

improvement services it has provided on behalf of Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
2022-23. 

 
 

Tudalen 56



 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

 
AS AMENDED BY 

 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
EDUCATION & INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
22ND JANUARY 2024 

 
THE WORK OF THE CENTRAL SOUTH CONSORTIUM IN THE REGION 

AND RHONDDA CYNON TAF LOCAL AUTHORITY 2022-2023 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION 
AND INCLUSION SERVICES 

 

 
 

  

Tudalen 57



 
 

Annual RCT Local Authority 
Scrutiny Report 

Central South Consortium 

  

 
2022-23 

 
(Presentation in January 2024) 

  

Tudalen 58



1.0 Purpose of the Report  3 

2.0 Background  3 

3.0 

Overview of Performance  

• National Data Collections and Published Information 
• Estyn Inspections 
• Supporting School Development Planning with 

Performance Data Discussions 
• Alps Analysis 

4 

4.0 

Support and Challenge  

• Improvement Partner Deployment 
• Work Programme of Improvement Partners 
• Framework for School Improvement 

8 

5.0 

Support for Schools 

• Schools Receiving Enhanced Support 
• Intervention Strategy for Schools Causing Concern 

10 

6.0 Professional Learning & Support: 11 

7.0 Equity (Vulnerable Learners) 27 

8.0 
CSC Contribution to Supporting LA Priorities (April 2022 – 
October 2022) 

34 

9.0 Value for Money 42 

10.0 Sharing of Practice 49 

11.0 Conclusions 51 

12.0 Next Steps 54 

 Appendices A-B 56 

 

  

Tudalen 59



1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

The purpose of the report is to provide an overview of the work of the Central South 
Consortium (CSC) and to update Members with the contribution of the CSC, working in 
partnerships with the local authority (LA) to raising standards in schools across RCT. This 
report details the work of the consortium for the academic year September 2022/2023 and 
the financial year April 2022 to April 2023.   

2.0 BACKGROUND 

Since 2012, CSC has delivered aspects of school improvement services on behalf of the five 
local authorities: Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of 
Glamorgan. This covers 380 schools, around 32% of Wales’s children. It is a growing region 
with rapidly changing demographic, encompassing increasingly diverse communities across 
the economic sub region. It remains the region with the highest number of children living in 
poverty, with around 25% claiming free school meals. 

The service delivers challenge and support on behalf of the five local authorities, governed 
through a Joint Committee of Cabinet Members from each authority.  The Joint Committee 
meets regularly and formally approves the annual business plan and budget for the service, 
holding the service to account in terms of performance and budgetary control. 

The Business plan for 2022/23 ran from 1st April 2022 until 31st March 2023 and had the 
following areas of priority: 

1. Curriculum, Teaching & Assessment 
2. Leadership 
3. Equity and Wellbeing 
4. School Improvement 
5. Effectiveness and efficiency of Central South Consortium 

The business plan sets out how CSC aims to deliver these priorities through effective school 
self-evaluation and improvement planning, underpinned by building capacity in schools to 
support other schools through the continued development of the ‘Central South Wales 
Challenge1’.   
 
Drive Teams comprising senior leaders from across the consortium ensured that the 
operational plans for each priority were implemented and that impact was measured.  Half-
termly reviews, including an impact review with the Managing Director of CSC, and LA 
Directors of Education, were held at the end of each term, and ensured that monitoring was 
robust.   

A report on the progress and impact of the Business Plan 2022 - 23 is presented to the CSC 
Management Board and Joint Committee. 

The consortium Business Plan for April 2022 to March 2025 can be found here.  

 
1 Central South Wales Challenge information can be found here 

Tudalen 60

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s43375/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery/resource/3fe01976-bb3b-48aa-b2d4-d48a35e03016/en?sort=recent&categories=a50ba81e-71f5-4cfc-9e7e-bf903f271f41&strict=0
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/self-improving-system


3.0 OVERVIEW OF PERFORMANCE 

3.1 National Data Collections and Published Information 

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, Welsh Government (WG) has cancelled most of the statutory 
data collections for 2020, 2021 and 2022. The collections suspended include: 

• Attendance: Primary 2020, 2021 and 2022 data collections 
• Attendance: Secondary 2020, 2021 and 2022 data collections  
• National Data Collections (NDC): All 2020 and 2021 data collections, and FP and KS2 

for 2022 

For 2023 however, the following collections have now been resumed: 

• Attendance: Primary data collections 
• Attendance: Secondary data collections  
• National Data Collections (NDC): KS3 only 

The majority of national publications were suspended from Summer 2020 reporting, but 
performance measures for Summer 2023 results will be reintroduced during Autumn Term 
2023. At the time of publication of this report no performance measures are available for the 
final 2023 results, with the provisional information only being made available at national 
level. 

National examination results released in August 2023 were brought back to be around 
halfway between the 2019 and 2022 results. Comparison of the results for CSC in 2023 to 
Wales results showed that CSC either matched or exceeded the national proportions for GCSE 
%A*- A, %A*- C and %A*- G. For A Level results, CSC exceeded the national proportions for 
the three measures of %A*- A, %A*- C and %A*- E, with CSC also being above the national 
proportions for AS Levels (%A, %A - C, %A - E). 

 
3.2 Estyn Inspections 
 
All Estyn inspections were suspended in March 20202; however, a new pilot framework3 was 
introduced in early spring term 2022. The new inspection framework no longer provides 
judgements for inspection areas as available in previous inspection frameworks. However, 
information on ‘Interesting or Innovative Practice Case Studies’ is still identified in the new 
reports, alongside the recording of any statutory and non-statutory follow-up inspection 
categories. Details can be found in the individual LA Scrutiny Reports. 
 
In Central South Consortium, 68 schools were inspected between September 2022 and July 
2023, with 18 of these schools being identified to produce ‘Interesting or Innovative Practice 
Case Studies’ following their inspections. Twenty-two schools were placed in Estyn follow-up 

 
2 https://www.estyn.gov.wales/news/estyn-will-not-inspect-maintained-schools-next-academic-year-
statement-meilyr-rowlands-hmci  
3 https://www.estyn.gov.wales/news/owen-evans-her-majestys-chief-inspectors-speech-17-february-2022  

Tudalen 61

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/news/estyn-will-not-inspect-maintained-schools-next-academic-year-statement-meilyr-rowlands-hmci
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/news/estyn-will-not-inspect-maintained-schools-next-academic-year-statement-meilyr-rowlands-hmci
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/news/owen-evans-her-majestys-chief-inspectors-speech-17-february-2022


categories: thirteen in Estyn Review (19.1%), two in significant improvement (2.9%) and seven 
in special measures (10.3%). 
 
In RCT, eighteen schools were inspected between September 2022 and July 2023, with eleven 
of these not requiring any form of follow-up and one of these schools being identified to 
produce “Interesting or Innovative Practice Case Studies” following their inspections.  
 
Seven schools were placed in Estyn follow-up categories: five in Estyn Review, one in 
Significant Improvement and one in Special Measures.  
 
Table 1: Number of schools inspected 2021/22 and 2022/23 

Primary Secondary Middle Special Pupil Referral 
Units 

 

21/2
2 

22/23 21/22 22/23 21/22 22/23 21/22 22/23 21/22 22/23 

Bridgend 2 11 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 
The Vale 
of 
Glamorga
n 

5 8 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Rhondda 
Cynon Taf 

8 14 0 1 1 2 0 1 0 0 

Merthyr 
Tydfil 

1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Cardiff 8 18 2 3 0 0 0 4 1 0 
CSC 24 54 4 6 1 2 0 5 1 1 

 

Estyn resumed their monitoring of schools and Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) in a statutory 
category (special measures or significant improvement) from autumn 2021. During the 
academic year 2022/23, one school was removed from Estyn Review, with a further three 
schools remaining in a follow-up category from previous academic years. The follow-up 
categories for these schools are: one in Estyn Review, one in Significant Improvement and 
one in Special Measures. 

Table 2: Progress of schools in a follow up Estyn category 

School Estyn Category 2021-22 Changes Current Position 
(Spring 2023) 

Coedpenmaen 
Primary 

Special Measures Inspected May 2022  Special Measures 

Y.G.G. Aberdar Estyn Review Inspected 
September 2022 

Estyn Review 

Maesgwyn Special Estyn Review Inspected February 
2023 

Estyn Review 

Coedylan Primary Special Measures Inspected February 
2023 

Special Measures 

Tudalen 62



Bryncelynnog 
Comprehensive 

Estyn Review Inspected March 
2023 

Estyn Review 

Llanharan Primary Estyn Review Inspected March 
2023 

Estyn Review 

Alaw Primary Estyn Review Inspected March 
2023 

Estyn Review 

Ynyshir Primary Significant 
Improvement 

Inspected June 2023 Significant 
Improvement 

 
Schools in RCT LA where Innovative Practice Case Studies following Estyn inspections have 
been requested are:  
 

• Llwydcoed Primary:  
Case Study 1 - Reducing the cost of the school day and providing additional support for 
low-income families in the community. 

 

3.3 Supporting School Development Planning with Performance Data Discussions 

The Improvement Partners (IPs) support schools through appropriate challenge to identify 
clear, manageable improvement priorities as a consequence of effective self-evaluation. The 
IPs works with school leaders to review first-hand evidence, ensuring that this is rigorous and 
accurate. In supporting schools in the review of their self-evaluation cycle, IPs work with 
school leaders to ensure there is coverage of the three overarching areas as referenced in the 
new framework for school improvement. These are: 

• Vision and Leadership 
• Curriculum, Learning, and Teaching  
• Wellbeing, Equity, and Inclusion 

This approach works in conjunction with school systems and will not generate additional work 
for school leaders. This is in line with the Welsh Government School Improvement Guidance: 
A Framework for Evaluation, Improvement and Accountability, where it is the intention that 
these priorities will, in part, replace target setting. 

Each school has a unique set of priorities, based on self-evaluation, including the analysis of 
performance data, needs and improvement journey, ultimately seeking to improve learner 
outcomes reflecting the bespoke needs of their learners and school community. Therefore, 
priorities need to ensure a focus on pupil progress. Furthermore, the IPs also support schools 
in ensuring that improvement priorities are drawn together in a single, strategic school 
development plan, helping to reduce workload, streamline schools’ strategic planning 
processes and avoid unnecessary duplication and bureaucracy. 

In 2023-24, key common focus areas that have been identified by schools include: 

• Oracy, Reading, and Writing including Welsh language skills. 
• Numeracy 
• Digital Competence Skills and learning 

Tudalen 63



• Planning for the development of skills across the curriculum 
• Whole School Approach to Mental and Emotional Well-being 
• Early Years (Physical Development in Particular) 
• Reducing gaps in progress of key groups (EAL, eFSM, MAT learning) 
• Attendance and Exclusions 
• Engagement and Readiness to Learn 
• Dealing with challenging behaviour 
• Complex needs and additional learning needs provision 
• Independence at age-appropriate levels 
• Transition 
• Impact of teaching on learning 
• Assessment and progression including baseline and mapping pre progression step 1 
• Religion, Values and Ethics 
• Accuracy of self-evaluation linked to improvement planning. 
• Leadership Development 
• Curriculum Design and Development 

 

3.4 Alps Analysis 

Alps value added performance analysis measures progress against national4, aspirational 
benchmarks for each individual student. For 2023, the analysis identified the following key 
points: 

A Level 

• Prior attainment (Centre Assessed Grades) was on average slightly higher for the 2023 
cohort than for previous cohorts in the years 2020-2022, particularly in the highest third 
(58.6% 2023 cohort compared with 44.7% 2020 cohort). 

• National results were also higher in 2023 than in 2018 or 2019. 
• Overall, the value added in 2023 was lower than in 2022, which matches the position for 

the LA, with the RCT figures in 2023 falling to below that seen in 2019.  
• There was little difference between the value added for boys and girls and for eFSM and 

non-eFSM students for the LA. 
• Replicating the same grades through exams may be challenging in 2024 as results will 

return to be set in line with 2019 results. 

AS Level 

• Prior attainment (Examinations with advanced information for some subject) was higher 
for the 2023 cohort figure than for cohorts in 2020 and 2021 but lower than the 2022 
cohort. 

• In the second year of transitional grading approaches, the national results were also 
higher than in 2018 or 2019.  

 
4 as defined by Alps for their analysis. 

Tudalen 64



• The cohort achieved higher grades in 2023 AS examinations than cohorts in 2018 and 2019 
(counting 40% towards A Level). 

• National results were also higher in 2023 than in 2018 or 2019. 
• AS value added for the LA, increased significantly between 2019 and 2021, and whilst this 

has decreased over the last two year, the value added for 2023 matches that seen in 2019. 
• Replicating the same grades at A Level in 2024 may still be challenging as results will return 

to be set in line with 2019 results. 

Key Stage 4 

• KS4 Results were higher nationally in 2023 than in 2018 or 2019. 
• Value added, decreased again in 2023 in RCT and equals that seen in 2019. 
• Value added rose for eFSM students in the LA by 2021 and whilst this has decreased over 

the last two years, it continues to exceed that seen in 2019. 
• Replicating the same grades at A Level in 2024 may still be challenging as results will return 

to be set in line with 2019 results. 

 

3.5 PISA 

PISA 2022 results information is not available at the time of drafting the report. The focus of 
PISA 2022 is mathematics, and the results for PISA 2022 are due to be released in December 
2023. 

 
 

4.0        SUPPORT AND CHALLENGE 

With the significant reform agenda that is in progress across Wales, it is important CSC 
continues to ensure the support and challenge provided by Improvement Partners (IPs) is 
holistic, efficient, and effective in line with the national principles and guidance from Welsh 
Government. 
 
 
4.1 Improvement Partner Deployment 

In 2022/2023, RCT local authority contributed £976,904 (27%) towards the core functions of 
the consortium.  In addition to the core costs of the consortium this has provided funding for 
IPs (8.08 FTE), and Principal Improvement Partners (PIPs) (2 FTE). 
 
IPs continue to have a relevant educational background and level of experience and provide 
good quality support and challenge to schools.  Many IPs are accredited or are working 
towards accreditation by Association of Education Advisers (AOEA).  They have continued to 
work well and in partnership with the local authority to provide effective monitoring, 
challenge, support, and intervention where needed. Improvement partners have continued 
to commission bespoke support and intervention from the wider support teams within the 
CSC. 
 

Tudalen 65



National Categorisation was suspended from September 2020 and a new evolving model for 
IP deployment was consulted on in the summer term 2020 and implemented from September 
2020.  It was reviewed and refined during 2021 to support implementation of the Welsh 
Government Guidance, Improvement, Evaluation and Accountability in September 20225. 
This guidance is currently (Nov 23) being reviewed and revised by Welsh Government and key 
stakeholders with the intention of statutory implementation in September 2024.  
 
 
4.2 Work Programme of Improvement Partners 

During the autumn term, IPs worked together with schools to agree appropriate 
improvement priorities, construct the school development plan (SDP) and broker support. All 
IPs gathered authentic first-hand evidence to support the school self-evaluation process. IPs 
joined school meetings and participated in self-evaluation activities as appropriate. The full 
schedule of activities is contained in the Framework for School Improvement6.  These are not 
a ‘tick list’ but provided a reminder as to key dates when activity should be completed.  IPs 
built an individual work plan with each school to ensure that these activities were built into 
the school improvement conversations.  There were ongoing themes which were a focus of 
all visits, these included progress of learners, curriculum, learning and teaching, leadership, 
well-being, equity and inclusion, effectiveness of self-evaluation and improvement planning. 
 
For example, two particular areas of leadership support are listed below:  
 
Improvement Partner Support for Governance 

• Attend at least one Governing Body meeting per year 
• Encourage Governors to attend mandatory trainings 
• Support Governors with sense making of information 
• Encourage Governing Bodies to use the self-evaluation tool 
• Support Governors to be able to critically support and challenge leaders in schools and 

them to account 
• Support the Governing Body Panel Headteachers Performance Management process for 

review, objective setting and mid-year review where appropriate. 
 
Improvement Partner Support for Self-Evaluation 

• Partnered learning walks 
• Involved in Listening to learners’ activities 
• Support school improvement planning/documentation 
• Partner with school leaders to triangulate and validate reviews of teaching and learning 
• Support Senior/middle leaders/teachers to prepare for Estyn inspections 

 
 
 
 
 

 
5 School improvement guidance: framework for evaluation, improvement and accountability - Hwb (gov.wales) 
6 https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery/resource/97df5386-f46a-4287-a766-
20eedd70db27/en?sort=recent&strict=0  

Tudalen 66

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fhwb.gov.wales%2Fevaluation-improvement-and-accountability%2Fschool-improvement-guidance-framework-for-evaluation-improvement-and-accountability%2F&data=05%7C01%7CCaryl.Stokes%40cscjes.org.uk%7Cb636fbc62c71414bbcc208dabbf7f17b%7C4f3f0e52b734416494091b601d147993%7C0%7C0%7C638028970842124919%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lhD41Hfhs8eQRMUTbgpwwKHzJ%2F2cPtUvmDRew9gNQq8%3D&reserved=0
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery/resource/97df5386-f46a-4287-a766-20eedd70db27/en?sort=recent&strict=0
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery/resource/97df5386-f46a-4287-a766-20eedd70db27/en?sort=recent&strict=0


Example: Primary Improvement Partner (IP) working with a peer IP and Headteacher. 
• The school’s IP worked with a peer IP and Headteacher on school self-evaluation 

processes, to ensure priorities and associated success criteria were bespoke to the 
needs of the learners and had a positive impact on outcomes for pupils. 

• The IPs and Headteacher undertook a number of self-evaluation activities, including 
listening to learners, work scrutiny, lesson dips, staff engagement and data analysis.   

• This evidence was captured using a ‘Google Drive’ document, allowing colleagues to 
update, share and discuss throughout the experience in real-time. 

• The outcome of this work enabled the Headteacher and senior leaders to create a 
School Development Plan for the following academic year. 

• The school’s IP continued to work with the Headteacher and Governing Body over the 
course of the year, monitoring effective delivery of the identified priorities. 

• Additional support was highlighted and accessed via the IP and CSC’s Curriculum and 
Professional Learning team, using the Bespoke Support Request system. 
 
 

4.3 Framework for School Improvement 

Support for schools will take the form of core or enhanced support that is provided in a fair 
way that is inversely proportional to needs of the school. All schools will receive a basic 
minimum allocation of days and further time will be allocated based on the support needs 
identified.  
 
This minimum is:  

• Primary/Nursery - 7 days  
• Special/PRU - 10 days  
• Secondary – 10 days  
• 3-16/19 - 16 days  

 
Enhanced support schools will receive additional time to reflect the development needs and 
monitoring requirements. All support will be agreed between the school and IP and shared 
with the LA when the school improvement priorities are agreed.  Specified days might not 
all be from the same IP but might include work of others more specialists in certain areas. 
The impact of this support will be monitored half termly and will be shared with LAs in the 
termly review meetings.  
 
The IP supports schools through appropriate challenge to identify clear, manageable 
improvement priorities as a consequence of effective self-evaluation.  The IP works with 
school leaders to review first-hand evidence and ensures processes are rigorous and accurate.  
In supporting schools in the review of their self-evaluation cycle, IPs work with leaders to 
monitor and evaluate progress against school development plan priorities.  
 
If schools are not demonstrating appropriate rates of progress towards achieving their 
improvement priorities, this information is discussed with the school, governors, LA and CSC 
and a decision will then be made as to whether the school may need enhanced support. IPs 
will then provide a detailed evaluation of progress with a judgement on the rate of progress. 
If, following discussion between the school, governors, LA, and CSC, it is agreed that progress 

Tudalen 67



is too slow or limited, then the school is moved to enhanced support. The same process exists 
if a school is making sufficient progress to move from enhanced support. 

Key improvement objectives are identified, and regular school improvement forums held for 
all enhanced schools to judge the impact of the support in enabling the school to meet its 
objectives.  A judgement is made on the extent of the progress the schools have made in 
meeting each objective.  This information is provided to Directors in termly progress reports. 

Each term CSC prepares a detailed report for Directors and then meets with them to discuss 
the aspects of the report that they select. The report contains a detailed breakdown of the 
support provided within the previous term. 
 
 
5.0 SUPPORT FOR SCHOOLS  

5.1  Schools Receiving Enhanced Support 

During 2022-23 academic year 18 schools were in enhanced support at some stage during 
the academic year. 8 schools were in enhanced support across the complete academic year. 
 
The following table analyses the progress judgements made across a wide range of the key 
priorities in the enhanced support schools.  Priorities will often cover several aspects of 
practice. Judgements are made and agreed in partnership with the school, CSC, and LA 
officers.  The data is based on the 12 schools in enhanced support across the complete year, 
covering a total of 55 priorities or recommendations.  
 
The priorities have been categorised under five broader headings of: 

• Leadership 
• Standards and Progress 
• Teaching and Learning 
• Wellbeing 
• Health and Safety. 

Table 4: Summary of Progress Against Recommendations 
% FIGURES Progress Autumn 2022 

Aspects of Practice within Priorities Limited Satisfactory Strong + 

OVERALL 55.0% 45.0% 0.0% 

Curriculum, Learning and Teaching 60.0% 40.0% 0.0% 
Standards and Progress 57.1% 42.9% 0.0% 
Leadership 66.7% 33.3% 0.0% 
Wellbeing 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 
Health and Safety - - - 

% FIGURES Progress Spring 2023 
Aspects of practice within Priorities Limited Satisfactory Strong + 

OVERALL 5.9% 85.3% 8.8% 

Tudalen 68



 
During 2022-23, RCT LA held School Improvement Progress meetings for all of the schools receiving 
enhanced monitoring. The CSC and LA set relevant agendas for these meetings with schools reporting 
on progress against their SDPs or Post Inspection Action Plans (PIAPs) and CSC and LA support for the 
schools reviewed, with any necessary additional brokering of support agreed. Many schools receiving 
enhanced monitoring during 2022-23 made good progress. 
 
5.2 Intervention Strategy for Schools Causing Concern 

The Intervention Strategy for Schools Causing Concern has been reviewed, agreed with all 
Directors and shared with schools. This has led to clear processes for intervention being 
understood and utilised by the local authorities and forms the basis of enhanced support work 
for all settings in the region.   
 
There were no schools in receipt of a LA Statutory Warning Notice and four schools received 
a pre-warning notice.  

 

6.0 PROFESSIONAL LEARNING & SUPPORT 

Professional learning (PL) is a change process to improve and develop professional 
knowledge, skills and understanding.  PL should focus on changes that impact on learners 
through a practitioner’s own learning, leading to increased understanding, and changes in 
their behaviours, i.e., policies, provision, and practice.  

In line with the National Professional Learning Entitlement, CSC is committed to equity of 
access to high quality PL for all school leaders, including governors, and practitioners in our 
region. CSC PL opportunities are guided by the eight hallmarks for well-led professional 
learning as defined by the National Academy for Education Leadership Wales (NAEL).  

The CSC Curriculum and Professional Learning (C&PL) team continue to provide a 
comprehensive range of high quality, evidence-informed PL opportunities to all schools in the 
region to support local, regional, and national improvement priorities.   

Curriculum, Learning and Teaching 0.0% 88.9% 11.1% 
Standards and Progress 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 
Leadership 0.0% 100.0% 0.0% 
Wellbeing 33.3% 50.0% 16.7% 
Health and Safety 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 

% FIGURES Progress Summer 2023 
Aspects of Practice within Priorities Limited Satisfactory Strong + 

OVERALL 11.3% 47.2% 41.2% 
Curriculum, Learning and Teaching 6.7% 53.3% 40.0% 
Standards and Progress 0.0% 50.0% 50.0% 
Leadership 15.8% 52.6% 31.6% 
Wellbeing 25.0% 25.0% 50.0% 
Health and Safety 0.0% 0.0% 100.0% 

Tudalen 69

https://hwbwave15.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/IPInformationSept2021/Shared%20Documents/General/Intervention%20Strategy%20Sept%202023.docx?d=wfa19955b194c4ca2bbc8a74a9444ae79&csf=1&web=1&e=Sr5xWX
https://hwb.gov.wales/professional-learning/leading-professional-learning/national-professional-learning-entitlement/
https://nael.cymru/en/leading-professional-learning
https://nael.cymru/en/leading-professional-learning


PL opportunities are continually considered, planned and published. They include:  
• Live or synchronous PL – includes events, programmes, networks and conferences – live 

focused on a specific area.  
• On-demand or asynchronous PL– includes assignments and on- demand recordings of PL 

focused on a specific area.  
• Resources – includes guidance documents, toolkits, poster packs, blogs, vlogs, podcasts, 

etc.  
• Regional collaboration projects – funded opportunities for school practitioners from 

across the CSC region to collaborate on a particular project focus.  

A wide variety of data and intelligence is analysed, and research undertaken to identify and 
inform PL needs in the region. This includes:  

• Analysis of improvement priorities of all schools in the region. 
• Analysis of the business plan priorities from the 5 local authorities.  
• Welsh Government policy, guidance and relevant grant terms and conditions.  
• Regional recommendations from external reports, e.g., Welsh Government, OECD, Estyn, 

Children’s Commissioner, etc.  
• Analysis of CSC PL engagement data and PL evaluations.  
• Other relevant internal information, e.g., regional reports, SIPLs, all school risk meetings, 

etc.  
• Analysis of other relevant external information, e.g., schools’ Estyn reports, etc.  
• Other educational and relevant research. 

All CSC PL and support is available at no charge to schools in the region.  Most PL opportunities 
are developed and facilitated in partnership with schools within the regional self-improving 
system, the Central South Wales Challenge (CSWC).  C&PL officers also work in partnership 
with LAs, other regional consortia and partnerships, Welsh Government (WG) and where 
appropriate, external consultants in the development and facilitation of PL. 

 

6.1  Central South Wales Challenge  

The CSWC is the partnership of all schools and settings across the CSC region working together 
to develop a self-improving system. The CSWC is evaluated annually to ensure it meets the 
current and evolving needs of schools and the wider system.   

The CSWC includes of several components that support the self-improving school system. 
Each component plays a key role in ensuring that all schools and settings in the region can 
access appropriate PL and support.  Schools and settings should engage with the components 
and PL activities that best support their school improvement priorities.  The CSWC 
components are categorised broadly into two areas, namely ‘professional learning 
collaborations’ and ‘professional learning opportunities’, (see appendix A CSWC model 2022-
2023).  

Practitioners and school leaders, including governors, can contribute to the CSWC in key roles 
to support other schools across the region, working in partnership with the CSC school 
improvement team to provide professional learning and/or bespoke support to schools across 
the region.  

Tudalen 70



Practitioners and school leaders, including governors, can contribute to the CSWC in key roles 
to support other schools across the region, working in partnership with the CSC school 
improvement team to provide professional learning and/or bespoke support to schools across 
the region. Roles include lead practitioners (LPs), leadership pathway programme 
mentors/coaches, cluster convenors, system leaders (SLs) and regional leaders of governance 
(RLGs).   

During 2022-2023 the following CSWC contributors were from RCT schools:  

• Lead Practitioners = 8 
• Leadership pathways programme mentors/coaches = 15 
• Cluster convenors = 16 
• System Leader = 5  
• Regional Leaders of Governance = 2  

 

6.2 Regional Professional Learning Collaborations 

All schools in the CSC region receive collaboration funding to support school leaders and 
practitioners to participate in collaborative school improvement activities, building capacity 
both within their school, across their cluster and networks, and within the wider system. 
These collaborative activities must be focused on the curriculum and wider reforms, and the 
desired outcome of high standards and aspiration aspirations for all.  

During 2022-2023, the total collaboration funding to schools in the region was £5.018m. Each 
school in the region received a £7,000 lump sum plus £300 per FTE teacher. The total 
collaboration funded for schools in RCT was £1,382,075. 

Headteachers in all schools were requested to complete a short multi-choice survey related 
to collaboration funding activities.  This information is used effectively for knowledge, 
development and evaluation within the region, for example:  

• To evaluate the impact of professional learning and support for schools. 
• To inform the development of further professional learning opportunities.  
• To target bespoke support to individual school, clusters and groups of schools as required.  
• To report to Welsh Government, local authorities and CSC governance groups.  
• To inform CSC self-evaluation and business planning.  

 

During autumn 2022, 99% schools in the region submitted the survey. However, the 
undertaking of the survey in the summer term 2023 was significantly affected by action short 
of strike (ASOS) and the further non-engagement of headteachers across the region due the 
ongoing discussions regarding managing workload and bureaucracy. Only 40% (151/380) of 
headteachers in the region completed the summer term survey, 38/115 (33%) from schools 
in RCT. Therefore, the following information cannot be read as a full or accurate summary of 
progress of the majority of schools in RCT, but only of those 38 schools where headteachers 
completed the survey.  

 

 

Tudalen 71



6.2.1 Clusters  

Supporting collaboration across clusters continues to be a priority. Cluster collaboration is an 
expectation from Welsh Government and the Curriculum for Wales framework places a 
strong emphasis on cluster collaborations. Leaders need to create the time and space for staff 
to work alongside others within their school and with those across cluster schools to develop 
a shared understanding of progression and to ensure high aspirations for al learners. A wide 
range of support is provided to enable school leaders and teachers to engage in regular 
professional dialogue and to identify common priorities for the learners within their locality. 
This includes bespoke PL and support available to all clusters from the CSC curriculum and PL 
team to meet their specific improvement needs.   

There are 16 clusters in RCT, excluding special schools and the pupil referral unit. Clusters are 
recommended to identify a named convenor, usually a senior leader from a school within the 
cluster, who receives £1500 to undertake this role.  Cluster convenors are required to 
complete an SLA at the start of the year stating the focus of the cluster work, and an end of 
year evaluation of the work. They also facilitate the cluster in their collaborative work. During 
2022-2023, all clusters in RCT identified a cluster convenor.  

Of the RCT schools who returned the summer term collaboration survey, all who were 
collaborating with their cluster stated this included work on Curriculum for Wales. Of these, 
nearly all were focusing on developing a shared understanding of progression to support 
their curriculum design, planning and development along the 3-16 continuum. A majority 
were collaborating on the Areas of Learning and Experience (Areas) and teaching, whilst half 
of RCT clusters stated they have further work to do in developing approaches to 
incorporating the cross-cutting themes across their respective curricula. A very few stated 
that they needed to further develop relationships and understanding between secondary 
and primary practitioners in relation to the 3- 16 learning continuum.  

Across the region, primary colleagues continued to report the challenge of secondary schools 
not being able to release subject specialists to support cluster working due to their need to 
prioritise current examination classes. Expertise to support all disciplines, subjects and Areas 
is available through the CSC curriculum and PL team and/or school-based lead practitioners.  

Examples of effective cluster working in RCT:  

The cluster INSET day facilitated by the CSC curriculum team allowed practitioners from 
across the cluster to deepen their knowledge and understanding of the Curriculum for Wales 
framework. The day provided the opportunity for practitioners across the schools to network 
and collaborate, allowing meaningful discussions to take place within and across all the 
Areas.  The cluster are continuing their collaborative work and will participate in further 
discussions to ensure practitioners can collectively plan and deliver a high-quality curriculum 
for all learners. 

 

Schools from the cluster were supported by the CSC curriculum team to help them 
consolidate their understanding of the Curriculum for Wales framework and further develop 
a shared understanding of progression amongst the practitioners across the schools.  Within 
AoLE workshops, practitioners were supported to identify concepts and big ideas within the 
Statements of What Matters and consider the non-negotiables as they began to develop 
cluster progression maps. 

Tudalen 72



 

6.2.2 School Improvement Groups (SIGs) 

A majority of schools across the region are also collaborating on Curriculum for Wales (CfW) 
with schools from their sector across local authority areas. These self-facilitating school 
improvement groups (SIGs) predominately focus on progression, teaching, leadership and 
well-being. 

During 2022-2023, 39 SIGs continued as cross LA school collaborations. Staff from the 
participating schools worked collaboratively on shared areas of school improvement.   

Of the schools who submitted the summer term collaboration survey, 58% of schools in the 
region stated that they are working within a SIG. This included 29/38 (76%) of schools in RCT.  

As with clusters, SIGs are required to identify a convenor who receives £1500 to undertake 
this role.  SIG convenors are required to complete an SLA at the start of the year stating the 
focus of the group’s work, and an end of year evaluation of the work. They also facilitate the 
group in their collaborative work.11 SIG convenors were from schools in RCT.  

 

 

SIG Focus Areas 2022-2023 

SIG focus area No of primary 
SIGs 

No of secondary/ 
all age school 

SIGs 

Total no of SIGs 

Leadership 16 1 17 

Teaching 13 3 16 

Progression 12 4 16 

Expressive Arts 3 0 3 

Health & Well-being  5 0 5 

Humanities 3 0 3 

LLC: English 1 0 1 

LLC: Cymraeg 2 0 2 

Maths and Numeracy 3 0 3 

Science & Technology 3 0 3 

CCS: Literacy 3 1 4 

CCS: Numeracy 4 1 5 

CCS: Digital Competence 1 1 2 

Whole school approach to mental 
health and well-being  

12 1 13 

Other, e.g., RSE, ALN, Diversity, RVE 10 4 14 

 

Tudalen 73



Examples of effective SIG working: 

Sharing best practice and processes related to ALN reform. Working together to establish and 
refine documentation and communication with stakeholders. SIG working has focussed on an 
important area for all schools due to new legislation. It is a small SIG but extremely useful to 
those involved as the schools represent different local authorities who have all provided 
different support and information for their schools. Therefore, all schools in the group were 
able to benefit from the support given. The work is linked to current priorities in all schools. 
Many ALNCos work in isolation within their schools so being able to discuss their role and 
difficulties with a wider group outside of their cluster / LA is very useful and highly valued. 
Learners and families are better supported within the new ALN system. ALNCos feel more 
knowledgeable and supported in their role.  

 

To develop standards in the Learning and Teaching of Welsh Second Language.  Both teachers 
and pupils worked together on this project.  The most successful part of the project was the 
Criw Cymraeg from each school working together. The SIG has five schools that have been 
committed to working together. The meetings of this small group were well attended, the 
group worked well together and were happy to share resources with each other.  The work 
was linked to the school's priorities, which for some are still ongoing.  All staff disseminated 
practice back at their own school and the Criw Cymraeg taught other pupils in their school the 
Welsh playground games. The schools are using what they have learned to develop provision 
of Welsh Second Language throughout their schools, particularly the work of the Criw 
Cymraeg.  The Criw Cymraeg were certainly more enthused in their role and aware of their 
responsibilities.  The teachers involved all felt the sharing of practice was worthwhile and 
helpful. 

 

6.2.3 School Leader and Practitioner Networks  

Networks focus on school improvement related to specific or specific roles. These include 
regional networks that are facilitated by the CSC curriculum and PL team and/or lead 
practitioners, National Networks, and self-facilitated networks.  

Participation in networks 2022-2023 

CSC RCT  

No of delegates No of schools No of delegates No of schools 

Regional networks* 1752 325 526 97 

National Networks* 220 152 56 40 

Self-facilitated 
networks**  

n/a 93 n/a 25 

*figures from attendance registers.  ** figures from summer term collaboration survey. 

CSC provides additional funding to support three focused self-facilitated networks for Welsh 
medium schools, and special schools and PRUs. During 2022-2023, each of these networks 
received £30k funding to plan and facilitate PL where their specific needs were not fully met 

Tudalen 74



through the CSC PL offer. Most Welsh medium primary schools participated in ‘Y Ffed’ and all 
Welsh medium secondary schools participated in ‘Gyda’n Gilydd’. All special schools and PRUs 
participate in their network.   

 
  

Tudalen 75



6.3 Regional and Cross-Regional Professional Learning Opportunities  

Engagement in professional learning (PL) events, networks, programmes, assignments, and 
conferences continues remains high, with school leaders and/or practitioners from nearly all 
schools in the region participating.   

Engagement in CSC and Cross-regional Professional Learning 

 CSC RCT 

Year No of delegates % of schools No of delegates % of schools 

2020-2021 12,117 
 

99.7% 3165 100% 

2021-2022 12,190 100% 3410 100% 

2022-2023  10,298 99.7% 3018 100% 

Summary of evaluations completed by delegates following participation in PL during 2022-
2023: 

• 94% stated that there would be a change to practice and that the learning would have 
an impact on pupils in their settings. 

• 97% stated that they were confident in the knowledge of the topic following the PL. 
• 98% stated that the PL would change their practice, with 95% planning to use what 

they have learned. 
• 75% stated that the PL was linked to their school improvement priorities. 
• 94% stated that the PL would impact on learners in their setting. 

 

6.3.1 Bespoke support  

Bespoke support is offered to all schools and groups/clusters/SIGs in the region to support 
priorities that are not fully met by the published PL opportunities. Requests for bespoke 
support are monitored, tracked and evaluated.  

During 2022-2023, CSC received 171 requests for bespoke support. 270 (71%) of schools in 
the region received bespoke support, either individually, or as part of a group/cluster/SIG. 
This includes 99 schools in RCT. 

Bespoke support is facilitated by the CSC curriculum and PL team and/or lead practitioners. 
Eight schools from RCT provided bespoke support to other school in the region. Schools are 
funded for providing this school-to-school support.  In all bespoke support there is evidence 
of impact on the provision at either practitioner or leadership level in the receiving school. 

 

6.3.2 Regional and National Funded Collaboration Projects   

During 2022-2023, 65 regional funded collaboration projects were available to all CSC schools 
to focus on local, regional and national priorities. These included projects relating to 
curriculum, teaching and assessment. 

 

 

Tudalen 76



Regional Collaboration Projects 2022-2023 

CSC RCT 

No of 
delegates 

No of 
schools 

% of schools Funding to 
schools 

No. 
delegates 

No of 
schools 

% of schools Funding to 
schools 

607 237 62% £723,020 186 85 74% £213,320 

 

During 2022-2023, five national funded projects were available to all schools across the region 
focused on national priorities. These included projects related to curriculum design, cross-
cutting themes, teaching and all Areas of Learning and Experience. 

 

National Funded Projects 2022-2023 

CSC RCT 

No of 
delegates 

No of 
schools 

% of schools Funding to 
schools 

No. 
delegates 

No of 
schools 

% of schools Funding to 
schools 

48 38 10% £261,500 10 9 8% £52,900 

 

6.3.3  School-led professional learning, enquiry, and research; and professional learning 
for developing practice and reflection. 

During 2022-2023, the focus of this area continued to promote enquiry, research and 
reflective practice as an integral aspect of school improvement. This supports the 
development of Schools as Learning Organisations (SLO) and builds capacity in the education 
system.   

Regional resources continue to be available to all schools to support the development and 
embedding of enquiry approaches. Promoting and developing practitioners’ experience, 
knowledge and skills in research and enquiry is also embedded within regional PL 
programmes, networks and projects, as appropriate to the specific PL opportunity.  Funding 
is provided to support schools’ engagement in the WG-led research and enquiry projects.  

During 2022-2023, 7 schools from RCT were engaged in the National Professional Enquiry 
Project (NPEP): 

• Alaw Primary School 
• Dolau Primary 
• Maesgwyn 
• St. John Baptist High School 
• Ynyshir Community Primary 
• Ysgol Garth Olwg 

Y Pant Comprehensive School was part of the Embedding Research & Enquiry in Schools 
where they worked with HEI partners to share the enquiry model in their school and generate 
learning around an identified focus area to support the system to understand developing 
sustainable whole school models to engage with research and enquiry. 

Tudalen 77



The expertise and support from Higher Education Institutions (HEIs) within these projects are 
valuable to the participating schools. In evaluations, teachers highlighted that HEIs support 
them with refining research questions, directing them to relevant literature and articles, 
methodology, data collection and analysis. However, teachers also raised concerns that 
without enough time that might not be possible, as some schools had not fully embedded 
their approaches. 

During 2022-2023, three school leaders in the region were appointed as regional SLO 
champions, including leaders from Fern Federation and Ysgol Gynradd Dolau Primary School. 
During 2023/24 the SLO champions will be funded to support participants from the leadership 
pathway programmes to further develop their schools as learning organisations.  

 

6.4 Professional Pathways  

The Professional Pathways suite of PL and support seeks to equip practitioners at all levels, 
from teaching assistants through to senior leaders and governors across the region with the 
knowledge, experiences, skills and confidence to be effective in their roles. 

 

6.4.1 Leadership Development  

Developing strong and effective school leadership continues as a key priority for CSC and is 
essential in realising Our national mission.  

Leadership Pathway Programmes 

A comprehensive programme of leadership development continues to be offered to all school 
leaders across the region, aligning to Welsh Government’s Leadership Development Pathway.  

 

These programmes are national programmes that are coordinated and delivered through the 
region. All programmes have acquired official endorsement from the National Academy for 
Educational Leadership (NAEL). Middle Leadership Development and Senior Leader 
Development Programmes have an accreditation option through ILM. They seek to develop 
the knowledge, skills, experiences and confidence of school leaders, empowering them to 
maximise their impact on the progress and well-being of all learners.  

Engagement in Leadership Pathway Programmes 2022-2023 

CSC Middle leaders Senior leaders Aspiring 
Headteacher 

New/Acting 
Headteachers 

No of practitioners 128 59 41 33 

No of schools 69 53 40 33 

 

Tudalen 78

https://hwb.gov.wales/news/articles/4b920a0e-a6bf-4cc5-ba4d-4b1eb5f55435


Engagement in Leadership Pathway Programmes 2022-2023 

RCT Middle leaders Senior leaders Aspiring 
Headteacher 

New/Acting 
Headteachers 

No of practitioners 25 15 12 6 

No of schools 15 13 12 6 

All participants in the programmes were supported by an identified mentor/coach. For the 
middle leadership programme, this is a coach from within their own school. Over 40 
headteachers and deputy headteachers from across the region act as coaches to support 
participants in the other leadership pathway programmes.  During 2022-2023, school leaders 
from 15 schools in RCT undertook this funded role. 

Regional networks are established to support middle and senior leaders who are registered 
on these programmes. Networks for both mentors/coaches and school leaders who facilitate 
these programmes take place at least termly and ensure consistency in the quality and 
support for all participants.  

The national Experienced Headteacher Programme is aimed at headteachers with five years 
or more experience in the role to support them to reflect on their leadership journey to date, 
whilst developing a clear insight into the leadership skills required to create the conditions 
for change. This programme was due to be piloted during 2020/21 but was postponed due to 
Covid-19. During 2022-2023 a condensed version of this programme was delivered as a 2-day 
residential. One headteacher from a school in RCT attended. It provided a valuable 
opportunity for CSC headteachers to engage with colleagues from across Wales. This 
programme will be evaluated in March 2024 and will inform the future PL offer for 
experienced headteachers across Wales. 

 

National Professional Qualification for Headship 

During 2022-2023, CSC continued to facilitate assessment for the National Professional 
Qualification for Headship (NPQH).  All candidates were supported by a CSC leadership 
mentor/coach, a serving headteacher within the region.  These guide candidates through 
their leadership standards review and leadership experience task, and act as a valuable 
sounding board in preparation for their assessment centre interviews.  

30 of the 44 candidates from schools across the region met the criteria and were awarded 
NPQH.  10 of the 16 candidates from schools in RCT schools met the criteria and were awarded 
the NPQH.  

 

System Leaders  

This programme has been developed by CSC to extend the leadership pathway.  Developing 
system leadership is critical to support schools in curriculum and wider education reform and 
achieve equity and excellence for all. The CSC System Leader programme is aimed at 
experienced headteachers who wish to further develop and support other schools and the 
wider education system.  

A total of 14 headteachers have participated in this pilot programme, including seven 
headteachers from RCT schools.  Upon successful completion of a comprehensive PL 

Tudalen 79



programme, the system leaders were made available for deployment across the region to 
support schools requiring improvement. Improvement Partners work closely with the system 
leader to plan, monitor and evaluate the impact of this leadership support.  In 2022-2023, 
one system leader was deployed to support leadership in an RCT schools. 

A formal evaluation to analyse the impact of this pilot programme will be completed in Spring 
2024.  

 

Other Professional Learning and Support for School Leaders 

During 2022-2023, CSC continued to provide high-quality support for school leaders, including 
governors, via a wide variety of PL events, conferences, assignments, programmes, and 
networking and collaboration opportunities.  This includes providing access to the national 
coaching and mentoring programme delivered by Results Driven Group, as well as the 
regional programme of coaching and mentoring (see section 6.4.6).   

 

6.4.2 School Governors 

Governors are a crucial part of the leadership of schools. They have an essential role in 
supporting school improvement and promoting the highest standards and aspirations for all 
learners. To undertake their strategic role in the school effectively, governors need to ensure 
they have the relevant up-to-date knowledge and skills.  

In partnership with Local Authority Governor Support Services, CSC continues to provide a 
range of high-quality, evidence-informed PL opportunities, and support and guidance for 
school governors. CSC facilitates the delivery of mandatory PL for governors. All new 
governors must attend the understanding data, and new to governors sessions.  New chairs 
of governors must also attend the new chair of governors session.  

In addition to the mandatory training, CSC also provides PL sessions for governors in relation 
to key areas. During 2022-2023, 76 regional PL sessions, 1251 governors engaged with these 
sessions, including governors from 106 (92%) schools in RCT.  

Topics covered included:  
• Enabling Equity & Excellence – 3 sessions 
• Curriculum for Wales (CfW) – 6 sessions 
• Headteacher Performance Management – 2 sessions  
• Introduction to Coaching Skills – 6 sessions 
• School as Learning Organisations – 3 sessions  
• Developing Welsh in Education – 2 sessions  
• Introduction to the Self-Evaluation Toolkit – 4 sessions  
• Religion, Values and Ethics (RVE) – 2 sessions  
• The School Evaluation, Improvement Accountability Framework – 1 session  
• Supporting Schools Through Inspection – 2 sessions 
• Well-being – 6 sessions 

 

Tudalen 80

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/resource/4bad6294-5a56-462d-9686-7de13ef86e05/en
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery?sort=recent&categories=bb157cfe-b353-4766-8b4a-2a14a5c9c918&categories2=c8f9b77d-80c2-4254-8ae6-456d543dae10&strict=0


Bespoke support is also available to governing bodies from the CSC Regional Leaders of 
Governance (RLG). Requests for bespoke support from an RLG must be discussed with the 
Headteacher, Chair of Governors and Improvement Partner.  

The CSC governor self-evaluation toolkit continues to be available to support governing 
bodies across the region.  

 

Regional Leaders of Governance (RLGs)  

Where governance works well, it strengthens school leadership and creates a culture of high 
ambition where all children and young people are expected to thrive. The best governing 
bodies have an in-depth knowledge of their schools and provide insightful challenge and 
support to help drive school performance and ensure that there is robust financial 
accountability and oversight. Where governance is ineffective, it is important that governing 
bodies access high quality support and guidance so that they can develop and improve. 

CSC RLGs are highly effective governors with extensive experience from schools within the 
region.  RLGs provide strategic and operational support for schools where governance is 
identified as an area for improvement.   

During 2022-2023, 13 RLGs continued to support school improvement across the region.  Two 
RLGs are serving governors from schools in RCT.   

CSC LA Principal Improvement Partners, in collaboration with the headteacher, the school’s 
Governing Body and the LA, are responsible for identifying and brokering support by an RLG 
for a school.  In 2022-2023, one governing body of a school in RCT was supported by an RLG.   

RLGs also support the facilitation of PL for school governors and other regional school 
improvement activities related to governors, as appropriate. 

A formal evaluation analysing the impact of RLGs will be completed in spring 2024.  

 

6.4.3 Teaching Assistant Learning Pathway (TALP)  

CSC continues to offer the three national TALP programmes, providing a learning pathway to 
support teaching assistants (TAs) throughout their career. This includes TAs who wish to gain 
Higher Level Teaching Assistant (HLTA) status. Each programme builds on the knowledge, 
understanding and skills of the TA. All programmes are offered in Welsh and English to all TAs 
across the region.  

During 2022-2023, 139 practitioners engaged in the regional TALP programmes, including 36 
TAs from schools in RCT. Of the 64 practitioners from across the region who completed the 
Aspiring HLTA programme, 50 (78%) were assessed and awarded HLTA status, 13 of these TAs 
were from schools in RCT. 

Bespoke support for TAs was made available to all schools and clusters across the region from 
summer term 2023. This support is provided by two HLTAs seconded to CSC from schools in 
the region.   

During 2022, CSC launched a TALP online community which is updated regularly with 
resources to support TAs in their role. To date 92 TAs have joined the community.  

Tudalen 81



Experienced TAs and HLTAs also have the opportunity to become trained HLTA assessors, PL 
facilitators, and TA coaches, supporting other TAs within their own school and in other schools 
in the region. There are currently 19 trained assessors, three from schools in RCT. 

 

6.4.4 Initial Teacher Education (ITE)  

During 2022-2023, 272 schools across the region, including 72 schools in RCT, supported 
student teachers in partnership with five ITE providers to deliver a range of ITE programmes 
and routes.  

Of these schools, 12 are Lead Schools across the partnerships and 14 have employer status 
with the Open University (with salaried students). The remainder are placement schools. 

The total number of students across Wales awarded Qualified Teacher Status (QTS) in 2023 
was 1,054.  Of those, 501 graduates were enrolled with Cardiff Metropolitan University.  

Between February and June 2023, a presentation on Newly Qualified Teacher (NQT) Induction 
was given by the cross-regional team to ITE students in all Welsh universities. To bridge the 
transition into employment, all QTS graduates were invited to sign up to a region for support 
and communications over the summer period. By August 2023, 319 QTS graduates joined the 
CSC QTS team increasing from 223 in 2021-22, and 150 in 2020-21.  89 QTS graduates 
attended a CSC 'Welcome to the region' session in August 2023.  

.  

6.4.5  Newly Qualified Teacher Induction  

Induction is a statutory requirement for all NQTs in Wales who have gained QTS. Schools have 
a statutory obligation to provide NQTs with induction support. CSC acts as the Appropriate 
Body (AB) for all NQTs in the region.  

CSC works in partnership with schools in the region to ensure that every NQT in the region 
has the necessary support during their induction period. NQTs work with induction mentors 
(IMs), external mentors (EMs), external verifiers (EVs) and the CSC team to undertake 
induction.  CSC, as the AB, leads the necessary verification and administrative processes with 
regards to induction.  

During 2022-2023, there were 570 NQTs in the region. The professional learning offer for 
induction included: 

• National events and programmes, facilitated by regional consortia and other 
partnerships. 

• The CSC NQT Aspire programme, developed and facilitated by the 22 Aspire schools 
across the region. 

• Networking opportunities  

• Coaching and mentoring PL for IMs, EMs and EVs 

The national induction PL programme was offered between September and December 2022. 

 

 

Tudalen 82



Engagement in the National Induction PL 2022-2023 

CSC RCT 

EVs IMs/EMs NQTs EVs IMs/EMs NQTs 

100% 81% 94% 100% 76% 84% 

 

The CSC ‘Aspire’ programme is facilitated by trained tutors in 22 host schools from across the 
region, including all phases and sectors. Six schools in RCT facilitate the Aspire programme:  

• Hawthorn High School 
• Miskin Primary School 
• Tonyrefail Community School 
• Treorchy Comprehensive school  
• Y Pant Comprehensive School 
• Ysgol Nantgwyn 

The programme consists of high-quality PL, combining discussion, research, sharing, 
observation, learning walks and time for reflection. During 2022-2023, 363 NQTs, including 
supply NQTs (88% of all new NQTs), engaged with the programme, including 79 (92%) NQTs 
from schools RCT.  

Over the 5-day programme, between 93-97% of NQTs evaluated that the sessions enhanced 
their knowledge and were relevant and appropriate for their needs. 85% of NQT profiles that 
passed assessment in July 2023 specifically referenced regional PL in their evidence and the 
positive impact the PL had on their practice (an increase from 70% the previous year).  

Three schools took part in a pilot project to explore a holistic approach to demonstrating the 
Professional Standards for Teaching and Leadership in their online profile. NQTs undertook 
one enquiry per term, rather than 10-20 professional learning experiences and feedback was 
positive. The pilot has now been adopted as a national pilot across Wales, that may lead to 
shaping a new approach for all NQTs in the future. Treorchy Comprehensive School was 
involved in this project.  

With the exception of the leadership pathway programmes, NQTs can also engage with all 
other CSC PL opportunities, support and resources.  

A number of regional PL and support activities were made available for all IMs, EMs and EVs 
throughout 2023-23. These included:  

• Monthly updates posted in the CSC online community. 
• A coaching and mentoring programme – spring 2023. 
• LA cluster meetings – 16 attended RCT cluster hosted at Ysgol Nantgwyn. 
• A ‘Mentoring Matters’ conference held in 2023 July. 15 RCT mentors attended, and 

the mentor from Ysgol Nantgwyn was invited to present their practice at the event. 

All evaluations provided positive feedback and mentors welcomed the continuation of these 
opportunities to meet and support each other to effectively undertake their role next year.   

Tudalen 83



In July 2023, 325 NQTs passed induction: 316 on contracts and 9 short term supply (STS). 
These included 57 Welsh Medium and 268 English Medium practitioners, 80 of whom were 
working in schools in RCT. There were no fails processed.   

 

6.4.6 Coaching and Mentoring 

CSC continues to embed its strategy for coaching and mentoring. The strategy aims to build a 
sustainable culture of coaching and mentoring across the region to support school 
improvement.  During 2022-2023, CSC provided a range of opportunities for schools to access 
PL in coaching and mentoring.  

 

Engagement in Coaching and Mentoring PL 2022-2023 

CSC RCT 

Regional 
programme 

National 
Programme 

ILM Awards Regional 
programme 

National 
Programme 

ILM Awards 

50 48 17 7 6 2 

 

The regional PL coaching and mentoring programme is aimed at practitioners and school 
leaders, including governors, who want to develop their knowledge and skills in effective 
coaching and mentoring. The programme is facilitated regionally by 6 lead practitioners who 
have attended the national programme, including leaders from Aberdare Town Church in 
Wales Community School, Ysgol Hen Felin and Gwauncelyn Primary School.  

The national coaching and mentoring programme continues to be facilitated by Results Driven 
Group. This a train the trainer programme and participants can then deliver the training to 
others in their school and clusters across CSC.  

Following the national programme, participants continue to have the opportunity to 
participate in an ILM L3, 5 or 7 Award in Coaching and Mentoring.  

16 clusters in RCT now have a trained facilitator in coaching and mentoring PL.   

 

6.5 Professional Learning and Support for Curriculum, Teaching and Assessment   

There are wide-ranging PL opportunities available to all schools focused on curriculum, 
teaching and assessment.  This includes regional, cross-regional and WG-led PL events, 
programmes, conferences, networks, projects, guidance and resource. 

In line with Welsh Government guidance, CSC has defined a school’s curriculum as ‘everything 
a learner experiences in pursuit of the four purposes. It is not simply what we teach, but how 
we teach and crucially, why we teach it’.  Therefore, CSC curriculum PL and support includes: 

• ‘the what’ - curriculum design and progression  
• ‘the how’ - pedagogy/teaching 
• ‘the how do you know’ - assessment  

Tudalen 84

https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/8ff00882-01d5-483f-9aad-fc1e0d7d927c/en/overview


• underpinned by ‘the why’ - Our national mission and the four purposes.  

As such, support for teaching and assessment is embedded throughout CSC’s curriculum PL 
and support, as well as through dedicated PL opportunities.   

 

Engagement in regional PL focused on curriculum, teaching assessment 2022-2023 

CSC RCT  

Regional PL 
(excl. 

networks) 

Regional 
networks  

Regional 
funded 

collaboration 
projects  

Regional PL 
(excl. 

networks) 

Regional 
networks  

Regional 
funded 

collaboration 
projects  

No of 
delegates 5416 1868 573 1233 511 173 

No of 
schools 370 324 235 108 96 83 

% of 
schools 97% 85% 62% 93.9% 83.5% 72.2% 

 

Over 80 focused regional curriculum networks were available to all schools across the region. 
These provide opportunities for practitioners and leaders to reflect, share processes and 
approaches, and critically self-evaluate and improve practice related to all areas of curriculum 
reform. These included 24 secondary subject discipline networks active across the CSC region 
to support the development of the level 2 and level 3 qualifications. 99 practitioners across 
16 (94%) secondary schools in RCT participated in these networks.  

In July 2023, the CSC Curriculum Conference focused on the ‘What, How and How Do We 
Know’. Nearly 200 practitioners from over a third of schools across the region attended this 
in-person event, including 41 school leaders from 33 (29%) schools in RCT. Eight schools and 
clusters from across the region led high-quality workshops, sharing their practice. The 
workshops focused on progression, teaching, assessment, cluster working, Welsh and the 
cross-curricular skills. Ysgol Gynradd Dolau Primary School led a workshop on ‘An approach 
to developing Relationships and Sexuality Education’. Recordings of all sessions are also 
available to all schools on the CSC website.  

CSC has also developed a CSC Design Thinking Model that provides a scaffold for schools in 
curriculum design and refinement. Schools and clusters can engage with this model 
independently or with bespoke support from the CSC team.  

Bespoke support for is available to all schools and clusters/groups of schools, tailored to meet 
the needs of school leaders and practitioners to support school improvement priorities 
related to curriculum, teaching and assessment. During 2022-2023, CSC received 171 requests 
for bespoke support related to these areas.  97 were related to schools in RCT. 

 

 

Tudalen 85

https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/search?query=networks&sort=relevance&categories=26799779-fb9f-45fb-a863-59e7149763f3&strict=0&categories2=1e6961c1-dda9-4da5-9c2d-21784cadd7e3
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/articles/fc88c340-092a-4f81-b009-02ad2711d0f3
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/resource/3edeccc1-a5ea-4996-a7e5-7363eee83385/en/overview


6.5.1  Curriculum for Wales (CFW)  

Improvement Partners (IPs) continue to support all schools in school improvement related to 
curriculum and the wider educational reforms.  This includes supporting improvement 
planning and self-evaluation activities related to CfW, signposting relevant CSC PL 
opportunities, and brokering bespoke support from the CSC curriculum and PL team.   

For all primary schools (all year groups), and special schools, the implementation of CfW 
commenced in September 2022.  Mandatory roll-out for secondary schools and PRUs 
commences with Year 7 and Year 8 in September 2023.  However, secondary schools and 
PRUs were given the option of rolling out to Year 7 in September 2022. Three of the secondary 
schools in RCT implemented CfW in Year 7 from September 2022. 

During 2022-2023, CSC provided detailed reports for each LA related to the school’s 
implementation, PL and support.  

 

Roll-out September 2022 

All nursery, primary and all-age schools region have designed, developed and implemented a 
curriculum considering the CfW framework and the needs of all learners. The curriculum in 
all these schools will be kept under review and further developed and refined through a range 
of activities within the school’s self-evaluation cycle. All these schools have published their 
curriculum summaries and nearly all have developed transition plans with their cluster.  

Two PRUs and nine secondary schools in RCT designed, developed, and implemented a 
curriculum for Year 7 considering the CfW framework and the needs of all learners. They also 
designed, planned and trialled a curriculum for Year 8, with a view to year-on-year roll-out.  

These schools continue to further develop their approaches to curriculum, teaching and 
assessment as appropriate to their school vision, ensuring they are meeting the needs of their 
pupils in supporting learner progress.  

 

Roll-out September 2023  

During the 2022-2023 academic year, seven secondary schools in RCT designed, developed 
and trialled a curriculum for Years 7 and 8 for implementation in September 2023. During the 
summer term of 2023 each of the governing bodies (management committee in the case of 
the PRU) formally adopted their respective curricula and curriculum summaries were 
published.  

The PRU and two of the non-roll-out secondary schools stated they were fully compliant with 
the mandatory elements of CfW for Years 7 and 8, whilst one secondary school acknowledged 
that they had further work to do in ensuring compliance with all mandatory elements and 
were supported in this. Two secondary schools stated they have minor work to do in further 
developing, trialling and finalising transition planning with their cluster whilst another stated 
themselves as having significant additional work to develop in this area. This school was 
further supported by their IP and the curriculum and PL team to achieve full legal compliance 
of their curriculum for autumn term 2023.  

 

Tudalen 86



 

5.2.2 Literacy / Languages, Literacy and Communications: English 

The CSC professional learning offer for Literacy/LLC: English continues to be strong. It 
supports schools to provide a curriculum that enables learners to be confident and critical 
receivers of language, through listening and reading, and effective producers of language, in 
speech and writing, which they can apply across all areas. 747 delegates from 224 (59%) 
schools in the region engaged in LLC PL programmes, events, conferences, assignments, and 
networks.  This included 198 delegates from 69 (60%) schools in RCT. 

 Engagement in CSC LLC PL opportunities 2022-2023 

RCT  Regional PL (excl. 
networks) Regional networks  Regional funded 

collaboration projects  

No of practitioners 133 65 78 

No of schools 58 37 65 

% of schools 50% 32% 57% 

Bespoke support for Literacy/LLC: English is available to all schools and clusters/groups of 
schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 33 schools in RCT 
related to this area.   

 

Whole school approach to oracy and reading. 

Engagement with the Welsh Government whole school approach to oracy and reading is 
strong. Networks and online communities provide the vehicle for sharing the national 
toolkit and effective practice. In 2018 CSC has developed strategic and comprehensive plan 
to systematically improve provision for oracy. Since 2018 CSC has funded over 200 teachers 
to engage in professional learning facilitated by Voice 21. This has meant that each cluster 
has at least one ‘oracy champion’ to support oracy development. In addition to this 
currently CSC is funding 28 schools to work towards becoming an accredited centre of 
excellence with Voice 21. This includes: 

• Ysgol Garth Olwg  
• Treorchy Comprehensive School  
• Pontypridd High School 
• Cwmclydach Primary School 
• Darren Park Primary School 
• Cwmdar Primary School 
• Penrhiwceibr Primary School 

In line with CSC’s ethos of a self-improving system these schools will be trained to support 
and develop oracy across the region.  

Support for reading has always been central to the CSC professional learning offer. The PL 
offer has breadth and depth drawing together the different strands that make for effective 
reading. It not only targets the teaching of reading from early reading through to text 
comprehension, but also addresses how building progression into a reading curriculum is vital 

Tudalen 87

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery?categories=1fc1884a-1a2c-4b65-9f8f-758a34bce3b8&categories2=c8f9b77d-80c2-4254-8ae6-456d543dae10&sort=recent&strict=0


to develop reading fluency, confidence, and resilience. Central to CSC reading support are a 
number of PL learning programmes: 

• Effective Teaching of Early Reading Skills - this PL programme supports foundation 
phase practitioners to strengthen their understanding of how to teach early reading 
skills in nursery and reception classes.  

• An Introduction to Guided Group Reading - this PL programme focuses on supporting 
the teaching of guided group reading.  

• Reading Reconsidered - this intensive PL programme comprises three full days of 
instructional and collaborative sessions to develop rigour, insight and precision in 
reading. The programme takes practitioners through evidence-informed actionable 
strategies to develop pedagogy and practice for reading. 

• Developing a Rigorous Reading Curriculum - this PL programme supports practitioners 
to develop research informed strategies for curriculum planning and the teaching of 
reading. 

• Words Matter: Supporting the Teaching of Vocabulary - this PL programme includes 
demonstration of how explicit vocabulary instruction can become part of a repertoire 
of teaching practice which produces, enhances and accelerates the learning of the 
lesson. 

Practitioner Engagement in CSC Oracy and Reading PL Programmes 2022-2023 

Synchronous 
 oracy PL 

Asynchronous 
oracy PL 

Synchronous 
 reading PL 

Asynchronous 
 reading PL 

16 17 15 15 

N.B. Synchronous PL is live and may be in-person or online. Asynchronous PL is online and on-
demand, which maybe pre-recorded sessions or assignments. 

 

In evaluations completed by practitioners upon completion of the programmes, the following 
was stated:  

• As a result of engaging with PL focused on LLC, nearly all (97%) participants considered 
that their knowledge had improved in some way.   

• 98% of practitioners intended to use learning from the programme, and over three 
quarters (79%) of practitioners reported that the learning from the programmes will result 
in a more fundamental change to practice.  (79%). 

• Most participants (96%) anticipated the PL would have an impact on learners in their 
setting, while many participants (79%) felt the PL would have a significant impact on 
learners in their setting.   

 
  

Tudalen 88

https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/47e85d20-d538-4109-8645-b34c037d5dd5
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/78914082-5b7f-4a00-8d88-33065a366f92
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/events/ac4948a8-d273-4f13-accb-e907ee044e8b
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/101493e8-dae3-4d5d-b42a-f49cfbc4c318
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/a4d05560-8f44-488f-b172-69bc96f8852e


6.5.3  Mathematics and Numeracy 

During 2022-2023, CSC continued to offer a wide range of PL for mathematics & numeracy 
for schools to engage to meet their improvement needs in this area.  PL focused on the 
developing strategies to enhance the teaching of the Area of mathematics and numeracy, and 
the cross-curricular skill of numeracy, specifically:  

• Developing numeracy through the five proficiencies.  
• Using manipulatives to support mathematical understanding.  
• Teaching strategies to enhance reasoning and problem solving.  
• Strengthening numeracy across the curriculum.  
• Enhancing whole school strategic development of numeracy.  
• Providing opportunities to share effective practice across the region. 

171 delegates from 26.8% (102) schools in the region engaged in PL programmes, events, 
conferences, assignments, and networks.  This included 55 delegates from 32 (28%) schools 
in RCT.  

Engagement in CSC Mathematics and Numeracy PL opportunities 2022-2023 

RCT  Regional PL (excl. 
networks) Regional networks  Regional funded 

collaboration projects  

No of practitioners 14 41 6 

No of schools 9 28 4 

% of schools 7.8% 24.3% 3.5% 

 
In evaluations completed by practitioners upon completion of the PL, the following was 
stated:  

• All delegates reported that PL event improved their knowledge of mathematics and 
numeracy. 

• Many delegates (88%) reported that engagement with mathematics and numeracy PL 
enhanced their knowledge and skills and agreed that it was appropriate to their needs 
and skill level.   

• Many participants (79%) anticipated the PL would have an impact on learners in their 
setting, and over half (58%) plan to meet with senior leaders to discuss the 
professional learning. 

 

Bespoke support for mathematics and numeracy is available to all schools and clusters/groups 
of schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 37 schools in 
RCT related to this Area.   

A dedicated online community for mathematics and numeracy continues to provide the 
opportunity for practitioners from across the CSC region to meet and share their practice and 
to develop their understanding of local, region and national priorities related to mathematics 
and numeracy.  

Tudalen 89

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery?sort=recent&categories=377034d2-b1df-4ed1-9310-8f6fca99d882&categories2=c8f9b77d-80c2-4254-8ae6-456d543dae10&strict=0


Cross regional working with the mathematics and numeracy teams from across Wales 
develops widescale shared understanding of progression and the five proficiencies within 
mathematics and numeracy and informs the creation of the regional PL offer.  

 

6.5.4  Digital Learning 

CSC continues to offer a comprehensive range of PL opportunities to all schools in enabling 
learners to be confident users of a range of technologies, from which they can apply and 
develop digital competence and proficiencies across all Areas.  

PL opportunities also supported practitioners to develop the effective use of technology to 
enhance learning and teaching.   

441 delegates from 143 (37%) schools in the region engaged in digital learning PL 
programmes, events, conferences, assignments, and networks.  This included 133 delegates 
from 48 (41%) of schools in RCT.  

Engagement in CSC Digital Learning PL opportunities 2022-2023 

RCT  Regional PL (excl. 
networks) Regional networks  Regional funded 

collaboration projects  

No of practitioners 103 30 12 

No of schools 35 23 8 

% of schools 30.4% 20% 7% 

 

In evaluations completed by practitioners upon completion of the PL, the following was 
stated:  

• Many practitioners (88%) intend to share their PL with colleagues, and many (84%) 
also state their intention to discuss PL with senior leaders in their schools.  

• Most participants (93%) reported the PL enhanced their knowledge of the subject 
matter. Many (86%) reported that the PL was appropriate to needs and skill level, and 
that it was relevant to their daily role.   

• Many practitioners (77%) planned to use what they had learned in their roles and most 
(93%) reported that the PL would lead to at least some change in their practice. 

 

Bespoke support for digital learning is available to all schools and clusters/groups of schools. 
During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 15 schools in RCT related 
to this area.   

There are two dedicated PL areas on the CSC website for schools to access a wide variety of 
high-quality PL opportunities, networks, resources and support in Digital Competence and 
Digital Learning.   

Leaders and practitioners are encouraged to work together through networks and funded 
projects, leading to peer-to-peer learning, sharing of best practices, resources, and innovative 
ideas for incorporating cross-curricular digital skills across the curriculum.  

Tudalen 90

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery?sort=recent&categories=ccaa08e4-b54d-4ee2-a1da-4aeca3b0a71b&categories2=c8f9b77d-80c2-4254-8ae6-456d543dae10&strict=0
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery?sort=recent&categories=7a5abe46-dcea-49ef-ac8c-be582c951b2a&categories2=c8f9b77d-80c2-4254-8ae6-456d543dae10&strict=0
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/discovery?sort=recent&categories=ccaa08e4-b54d-4ee2-a1da-4aeca3b0a71b&strict=0
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/discovery?sort=recent&categories=7a5abe46-dcea-49ef-ac8c-be582c951b2a&strict=0


Partnerships with external organisations and industry professionals provide valuable 
opportunities for real-world application of digital skills and the promotion of the Hwb 
platform.  

CSC actively supports the cross-regional digital learning team who have developed collectively 
a national resource to further support schools plan for progression in cross-curricular digital 
skills. This strengthens the regional PL offer and promotion of the Hwb platform.  

 

6.5.5  Cymraeg - Welsh in Education  

Developing Welsh continues as a key priority for CSC and is essential in realising Our national 
mission: High standards and aspirations for all; Cymraeg 2050: A Million Welsh Speakers and 
the ambitious individual Local Authority Welsh in Education Strategic Plans (WESP) for 2022-
2032.  

Since September 2022, high-quality PL and support for Welsh at CSC is provided within 3 
areas: 

• Welsh Development - Leadership of Welsh to include Welsh ethos, heritage and 
culture in both Welsh and English Medium schools, and special schools/PRUs. 
Developing the use of informal Welsh through the Siarter Iaith framework and Welsh 
across the curriculum in English medium schools.  

• Welsh Language Professional Learning – Supporting schools to plan Welsh language 
PL for practitioners strategically, and to report on practitioner Welsh language 
competence in the School Workforce Annual Census (SWAC) accurately. Developing 
the Welsh language skills of all practitioners and providing post-sabbatical support. 

• Language, Literacy and Communication (LLC): Cymraeg - PL and support for the 
teaching and learning of oracy, reading, writing along with curriculum development in 
Welsh and English medium schools. The cross-curricular skill of literacy (Welsh) in 
Welsh medium schools.  

• All Cymraeg PL, support and resources from CSC can be found in this playlist.  

 

Welsh Development 

The leadership of Cymraeg is central to the CSC vision which is anchored in the progressive 
implementation of Siarter Iaith / Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus across all schools. A variety of 
PL programmes, networks and resources were provided to support schools to implement the 
Siarter Iaith Framework in all sectors, including special schools.  Collaboration is key and 
effective practice is recognised and shared. CSC works in partnership with practitioners to 
enrich the PL opportunities, e.g., creation of resources, sharing schools’ practice, etc. 

All schools have access to bespoke support to make progress along the Siarter Iaith 
Framework. Schools work towards progressive bronze, silver and gold awards and there is a 
clear verification process which is led by CSC officers and/or trained peer verifiers. There are 
clear guidelines for the verification process and successes are celebrated in a Regional Awards 
Ceremony.   

Tudalen 91

https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/5455b827-645f-4fac-ba92-a0a5674bfdd1
https://hwb.gov.wales/siarter-iaith
https://hwb.gov.wales/api/storage/075c1fa4-4f3b-452f-9656-70abe3779804/48543_siarter_e_merged.pdf
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/playlists/view/4e222af3-225b-4ce7-b24e-f8f4d3ba5195/en/9?options=zO5PCQ7dFQsdcwS6OSKv6VeP%252FVjdQvC9xdYESFhC6MDr00us1dXy7ZEzKby6LmdKyXys6n5VrXBs6ioyWgZiWA%253D%253D
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/21b5332c-f24b-494d-a6fe-948a83af46a1
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/articles/b5ed57bc-dd7e-420b-8cb9-d3c5f521ef58
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/articles/b5ed57bc-dd7e-420b-8cb9-d3c5f521ef58


A successful Dragons’ Den project was funded with the aim of engaging Criw Cymraeg. An 
example of the impact of the project can be seen here. 

 

Siarter Iaith / Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus Awards 2022-2023 

 Bronze Silver Gold 

CSC 47 28 8 

RCT 14 8 5 

 

During 2022-2023, 257 delegates from 155 (41%) schools in the region engaged in Welsh 
development PL programmes, events, conferences, assignments, and networks.  This 
included 66 delegates from 44 (38%) schools in RCT.  

 

Engagement in CSC Welsh development PL opportunities in 2022-2023 

RCT  Regional PL (excl. 
networks) Regional networks  Regional funded 

collaboration projects  

No of practitioners 22 44 13 

No of schools 16 35 13 

% of schools 14% 30% 11% 

 

Bespoke support for Welsh development is available to all schools and clusters/groups of 
schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 20 (11%) schools 
in RCT related to this area.  In addition to this specific bespoke support, CSC provides regular 
guidance and support for schools to implement and make progress with Siarter Iaith / Siarter 
Iaith Cymraeg Campus.  

The Leadership of Welsh Programme continued to be offered during 2022-2023. It is designed 
to support senior leaders to develop the Welsh language and culture on a whole school 
strategic level.  16 schools across the region participated in this programme, four from RCT.  

In the programme evaluations,  

• Most stated that they have a clear pathway for developing the Welsh Language, 
heritage and culture appropriate to their context. 

• Most graded the degree to which the programme extended their skills and knowledge 
as 5/5. 

• Most rated the professional learning as 5/5.  
• Most stated that they have a robust understanding to lead Welsh successfully across 

their school and report that it will impact upon practice and behaviour. 

CSC funds a collaboration project between Welsh and English medium schools focused on the 
development of pupil’s oracy skills and use of incidental and informal Welsh.  During 2022-
2023, 17 schools in the region participated in this project, including five from RCT. Nearly all 
schools that participated in the project stated that it supported their PL positively as 

Tudalen 92

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/articles/2df66805-8972-4995-8811-7c86bae82b5a


practitioners and is beginning to improve pupils’ Welsh oracy skills. Many schools report that 
they plan to continue collaborating beyond this funded project.  

 

Welsh language professional learning  

During 2022-2023, CSC continued to provide a range of Welsh language PL for practitioners 
in line with the Welsh Language Competency Framework. This included PL programmes, 
events and assignments.  

783 delegates from 186 (49%) schools in the region engaged in Welsh language PL. This 
included 347 delegates from 51 (44%) schools in RCT.  

In programme evaluations, most practitioners state that Welsh language PL will improve their 
Welsh language competence and skills and will change their behaviours and classroom 
practice. 

Engagement in CSC Welsh language PL opportunities 2022-2023 

RCT  Regional PL (excl. 
networks) Regional networks  Regional funded 

collaboration projects  

No of practitioners 347 1 

No of schools 51 1 

% of schools 44% 

n/a 

1% 

 

Bespoke support for Welsh language PL is available to all schools and clusters/groups of 
schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 7 (6%) of schools 
in RCT related to this area.  

CSC works in partnership with the Sabbatical Scheme and Welsh Government to recruit 
practitioners strategically. During 2022-2023, 22 teachers from the CSC region participated in 
various sabbatical scheme courses, including nine from schools in RCT. Post sabbatical 
support is provided by CSC to maximise the impact of practitioners upon their return to school 
e.g., introduction for headteachers, network meetings, one-to-one sessions, leadership of 
Welsh programme and collaboration opportunities.   

Nearly all practitioners state that the sabbatical scheme has significantly developed their 
Welsh language competence along with their pedagogical knowledge of effective language 
teaching. 

 

Languages, Literacy and Communication (LLC): Cymraeg 
CSC PL intends to ensure that all learners in English medium schools develop their language 
skills with a view to speaking Welsh with confidence on completing statutory education.  For 
Welsh medium schools, the intention is to support schools with the provision of Welsh 
literacy, ensuring that all learners develop their listening, reading, speaking, and writing skills 
in Welsh to access the breadth of a school’s curriculum, and develop communication skills 
that enable them to adapt and thrive in a modern Wales. 

Tudalen 93

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery?categories=5701ee78-ee41-4abc-aa37-2c4d28aa0111&categories1=c8f9b77d-80c2-4254-8ae6-456d543dae10&sort=recent&strict=0


• 39 practitioners from 26 English medium schools in the region engaged in LLC: 
Cymraeg PL for English medium schools. This included 21 practitioners from 15 schools 
in RCT. Additionally, 17 schools requested bespoke support. 

• 85 practitioners from 31 Welsh medium schools in the region engaged in LLC: Cymraeg 
PL for Welsh medium schools. This included 18 practitioners from 9 schools in RCT. 
Additionally, 7 schools requested bespoke support. 

• 11 practitioners from 3 schools in the region engaged in LLC: Cymraeg PL for dual 
language schools. This included 8 practitioners from 2 schools in RCT. Additionally, 1 
school requested bespoke support. 

The CSC Continuum of Welsh Language Patterns has been developed in accordance with CfW 
guidance and offers schools a linguistic foundation for designing their school level curriculum 
for Welsh in English medium schools. This continuum is a series of progressive and 
developmental language patterns. It has been divided into Progression Steps 1 to 3 in line 
with the Curriculum for Wales. Language patterns develop within each progression step as 
well as from one step to the next. 

The continuum was piloted with six schools across the region during 2022-2023. Pontygwaith 
Primary School participated in this pilot. Feedback on the continuum was very positive, for 
example: 

“ We found it so easy to use. The hyperlinks are genius, and the appendices are so useful for 
both staff and pupil knowledge. It's going to make teaching & learning Welsh more accessible 
and improve teacher confidence. Diolch yn fawr”. 

“ Although we only used the document for a short period of time towards the end of the year, 
all staff in PS2 and PS3 were very positive about it and expressed relief, to see a layout and 
structure that worked for everyday classroom practise with more scaffold for not only children 
but staff too. A very positive initial response”. 

From September 2023, the continuum will be available to support all schools in the region 
and beyond. 

Network meetings for practitioners operate at a regional and cross regional level, designed in 
partnership with school-based lead practitioners where appropriate. In addition, CSC 
facilitates support for each local authority’s immersion centre through termly network 
meetings.  

Funded regional collaboration projects enabled schools to engage with co-construction of PL, 
which in turn forms part of the asynchronous offer to all schools in the region. A range of 
schools from CSC, including Ysgol Dolau Primary School, Pontygwaith Primary School and Y 
Pant School collaborated to produce exemplified support and guidance for the teaching of 
Welsh in an English medium school. Participating schools, indicated that they developed an 
improved understanding of effective curriculum design for pedagogy and language learning. 
Schools also fed back that the project impacted positively on both standards and engagement, 
for example:   

“The children have developed a much greater passion for learning Welsh, our culture and our 
country. The children use Welsh naturally around the school and enjoy listening to Welsh 
music artists. The whole school environment has become passionate about and promotes the 
development of the Welsh language”. 

Tudalen 94

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/resource/f9c95586-92e5-49dc-bb57-91f829263c6f/en/overview


“Confidence of teachers has grown in using the games and any barriers to playing the yard 
games have been removed, opportunities to play the games are regularly provided. Noticeable 
enjoyment of children engaging with the Welsh language through games. Criw Cymraeg 
enjoyed giving responsibility for the project and then seeing the positive impact on their peers’ 
enjoyment and Welsh language skills”. 

 

6.5.6 Other Curriculum Areas  

During 2022-2023, PL and bespoke support continued to be available from CSC to schools in 
all other areas of the curriculum, including: 

• Expressive arts. 
• Humanities. 
• Health and well-being. 
• Science and technology. 
• Relationships and sexuality education. 
• Religion, values, and ethics.  
• Careers and work-related experiences. 

 

6.5.7 Qualifications and Post-16 Education 

Secondary schools are supported to develop their curriculum for current GCSE/level 2 and A-
Level/level 3 qualifications through regional networks.  Many networks are facilitated by Lead 
practitioners from across the region and encourage the sharing of practice.  Bespoke support 
is also available to all schools in the region where qualifications improvement priorities are 
not fully met by the available networks. Qualifications reform updates, opportunities for 
school participation and consultation communications from Qualifications Wales and WJEC 
were shared to all schools and cascaded through network conversations.  CSC area leads and 
representatives from schools across the region participated in stakeholder groups to support 
the development of the new Made-For-Wales GCSEs.  This work will continue into the next 
academic year as specifications are developed. In collaboration with WJEC, CSC will support 
ongoing PL requirements for leaders and practitioners for the revised specifications. 

PL and bespoke support continued to be available to all schools with sixth forms across the 
region. During 2022-2023, CSC PL focused on a culture of enquiry and collaboration to drive 
self-improvement in post-16 settings. Key areas included curriculum offer, self-evaluation, 
transition, retention, well-being, and learner progress.  
  

Tudalen 95



Engagement in Post-16 PL 2022-2023 

RCT  Regional PL Post 
16 

Regional PL 
Welsh Bacc. 

Regional funded 
collaboration 

projects  

National 
PL/Projects    

Post-16 

No of practitioners 19 6 13 5 

No of schools 5 3 8 5 

 

Through the funded project work, collaborating schools reported successful improvements in 
relation to the implementation of VESPA (Vision, Effort, Systems, Practice, Attitude) 
approaches to improve self-regulation and metacognition strategies and support learner 
progress and attainment. Bilingual resources were also developed via the project work to 
support all schools across Wales accessing the VESPA platform. Planning for learner well-
being has been supported through the inclusion of the Mental Health UK Bloom project.  

The Post-16 leaders network continues to be well-attended and supports schools’ broader 
awareness of national and regional priorities in the sector. Schools are encouraged to share 
approaches and effective practice during the sessions. 51 delegates from 19 schools in the 
region engaged in this network. This included 14 delegates from four schools in RCT.  

The Welsh Baccalaureate/Skills Challenge Certificate network meetings were available for all 
qualification levels. 27 delegates from 13 schools in the region engaged in this network. This 
included six delegates from three schools in RCT.  WJEC regional support officers attended 
CSC meetings to share updates and resources, and support qualification reform. Bespoke 
support was available in this area through the appointed CSC Welsh Baccalaureate/Skills 
Challenge Certificate lead practitioner. 

The Post-16 Education: Newly Qualified Teacher Module (NQT) has been created cross 
regionally as an optional module for the National NQT induction programme. The module 
highlights how post-16 education differs from other phases of education, the key priorities 
for this phase of education and the importance of effective transition (post-16 and post-18) 
to support learner aspiration and destinations. This is hosted on the Welsh Consortia website. 

CSC takes a lead role in the cross-regional PL programme. The National Post-16 Leadership 
Development Programme attracts aspiring, new and established post-16 leaders from across 
Wales, where 12 CSC school leaders have enrolled for 2023-24 to date. A joint Post-16 PL 
programme has also been developed to reflect national priorities and collaboration across 
Wales which will begin in the 2023-24 academic year. 

 

7.0  Equity and Vulnerable Learners  

Central South Consortium continues to work in partnership with local authorities and other 
stakeholders to support equity in all schools across the region, with high standards and 
aspirations for all. A key driver to this work is the fostering of effective partnership with key 
stakeholders across the local authorities to support schools work on areas including 
attendance, exclusions, looked after children and well-being.  

CSC has also worked effectively with the Implementation Lead for the Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
Health Board on supporting schools in their work on the ‘Framework on embedding a whole-

Tudalen 96

https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/events/b3985e33-ab95-4d71-ba72-5216d96fc854
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/events/42a7eb09-395d-4b71-a36e-3c900b6c6d6c
https://sites.google.com/hwbcymru.net/welsh-education-consortia-eng/post-16-learning/post-16-education-newly-qualified-teacher-module?authuser=0
https://sites.google.com/hwbcymru.net/welsh-education-consortia-eng/post-16-learning/post-16-leadership-development-programme?authuser=0
https://sites.google.com/hwbcymru.net/welsh-education-consortia-eng/post-16-learning/post-16-leadership-development-programme?authuser=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk%2Frepository%2Fresource%2F5022f9af-4aca-4e03-a4e2-1d9943600de5%2Fen%2Foverview&data=05%7C01%7CEmma.Lloyd%40cscjes.org.uk%7C1b3315f1dc6f4f41102d08dbc00b4c81%7C4f3f0e52b734416494091b601d147993%7C0%7C0%7C638314927014734140%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fLhwj%2BsS4qcwSsdMPNhlfRlp2iOwXjZQgVFc4NmAgX8%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk%2Frepository%2Fresource%2F5022f9af-4aca-4e03-a4e2-1d9943600de5%2Fen%2Foverview&data=05%7C01%7CEmma.Lloyd%40cscjes.org.uk%7C1b3315f1dc6f4f41102d08dbc00b4c81%7C4f3f0e52b734416494091b601d147993%7C0%7C0%7C638314927014734140%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fLhwj%2BsS4qcwSsdMPNhlfRlp2iOwXjZQgVFc4NmAgX8%3D&reserved=0


school approach to emotional and mental wellbeing’. CSC have also delivered professional 
learning sessions for governors to support the understanding of the requirements for the 
schools in adopting the statutory framework. 46 governors from RCT attended these sessions.  

CSC has facilitated PL sessions focused on equity and vulnerable learners. This included within 
the professional pathway’s programmes, including Aspiring Headteacher and Aspiring Higher 
Level Teaching Assistant Development programmes.  

The Lead for Well-being and Vulnerable Groups continues to provide bespoke support to 
individual schools and clusters focused on equity and vulnerable learners.   

The Lead for Well-being and Vulnerable Groups continues to provide bespoke support to 
individual schools and clusters focused on equity and vulnerable learners.    

CSC receives PDG Grant funding for the following areas:   
• Looked after Children aged 3- 15     
• PDG Adviser   
• Consortia Led Funding   

Previously, CSC has provided regional PL opportunities specifically aimed to support Looked 
After Children.  However, since 2022, this funding has been allocated to the individual LAs to 
provide bespoke professional learning for schools focusing specifically on the needs of that 
LA.  This ensures local knowledge of the needs of schools in LAs is provided and removes any 
duplication of support.  

 

7.1  Enabling Equity and Excellence  

The CSC ‘Enabling Equity and Excellence’ document aims to promote thought and discussion 
amongst a school community, to ask pertinent questions as to how equitable the organisation 
is, and how effective it is in transforming policy into practice to ensure excellence for all 
learners.  All schools must ask:  
• Do we know every learner well?  
• How do we know about them?  
• What experiences, knowledge and skills do they bring? 

Over 70% of school in the region have reported engagement with the document to support 
their school improvement.  

During 2022-2023, CSC led a collaboration project involving 11 schools from across the five 
local authorities focusing on an element of enabling equity and excellence linked to their 
school improvement priorities. Treorchy Comprehensive School, Alaw Primary School and 
Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhondda participated in this structured programme which included face-
to-face PL sessions, intersessional tasks and some peer reviews. The pilot supported schools 
to manage change according to their individual contexts, draw on the expertise and support 
of CSC and the LAs, and learn from the experiences of other schools in the mission to achieve 
equity and excellence for all learners.  The work of the pilot group was also instrumental in 
supporting and informing the work of CSC in supporting equity in schools and driving 
transformational change across the organisation.  

 

 

Tudalen 97



7.2  Pupil Development Grant (PDG) 

April 2022 – March 2023, the PDG was allocated to schools at a rate of £1,150 per learner to 
support: 

• Learners who are eligible for free school meals (e-FSM) and who are educated in 
maintained schools. 

• Eligible learners aged 3 and 4 years old educated in maintained schools.   

• Eligible learners who are singly registered in pupil referral units (PRUs) and education 
other than at school (EOTAS). 

• Eligible learners in early years settings where the Foundation Phase is delivered. 
• Looked after children, and former looked after children who have been adopted from 

care or who are subject to a special guardianship or residence order aged 3-15. 

The allocations were based on Pupil Level Annual School Census (PLASC) 2021.  

 

All schools continue to be supported by their Improvement Partner (IP) to ensure that the 
PDG plan/strategy is appropriate and meets the bespoke needs of their eFSM learners and in 
accordance with the eight focus areas stated in the Welsh Government Guidance:  

• High quality learning and teaching - with a particular focus on the pedagogy used by 
teachers, the role of support staff and the professional learning provided for 
practitioners. 

• Community schools - with a particular emphasis on the role of Family Engagement 
Officers, the role of the school within the wider community and work with other 
children’s and family agencies. 

• Early childhood education and care, developing the long-term vision to ensure equity 
and quality for our youngest learners wherever they access education or care which 
supports their learning and development.  

• The health and well-being of children and young people - in line with the Framework 
on Embedding a Whole-School Approach to Emotional and Mental Well-being. 

• Developing high aspirations through strong relationships - aligned to the role of the 
Careers Service, the Youth Engagement and Progression Framework, the Young 
Person’s Guarantee, and the Seren Network. 

• The Curriculum for Wales and qualifications - focusing on the importance of language 
development, meta-cognition and self-regulation as being key enablers of success 
within the new curriculum and offering learners a wide range of qualification routes. 

• Leadership - focusing on its importance in overcoming the impact of poverty on 
attainment and the leadership of community schools. 

• Post-16 progression- through forging strong partnerships with further education 
institutions, work-based learning providers and other post-16 providers. 

 
Summary of the analysis of PDG plans/strategies of schools within RCT for 2022-2023 (not 
including schools who did not engage with their IP due to action short of strike).  

• Many schools (75%) have an appropriate PDG plan / strategy that meets the needs 
of eFSM learners across the school.  In a minority (25%), the plans are deemed as 
developing. 

Tudalen 98



• Most schools (92%) report that the PDG plan resulted in changes in practices or 
provision.  A few schools (8%) report that the grant has not resulted in any changes 
in practice or provision.   

• Many schools in (75%) report that the PDG plan has been effective in improving 
learner well-being.  A minority of schools (25%) report that this aspect is developing.   

• Over half (58%) schools report that the PDG funding has been effective in improving 
achievement of eFSM pupils.  In around half of schools (42%), this aspect is 
developing.   

• Many schools (75%) report that their self-evaluation and MER activities support 
vulnerable learner progress.  In a minority (28%) schools, this aspect is developing.   

• Many schools (71%) report that the teaching and learning of vulnerable pupils is 
effective. A minority (29%) report that the teaching and learning of vulnerable pupils 
is developing.  

• A majority of schools (63%) report that they are taking steps to be poverty aware, 
and a majority (33%) state that these aspects are developing.  Very few (4%) are in 
need of support.  

• Many schools (71%) report that they are effective in addressing the attendance and 
exclusion needs of eFSM pupils.  A few (21%) schools report that this aspect is 
developing.  In a very few schools (8%) this aspect is an area that requires support. 

 
Strong practice noted included:  

• Effective use of Family Liaison Officers to work with targeted families. 
• Graduated systems in place when attendance is below average. 
• Bespoke programmes and intervention to avoid excluding vulnerable groups. 
• Careful monitoring of pupil attendance.  
• Staff accessing professional learning.  

CSC continues to work with the LA leads for looked after children (LAC), including the virtual 
headteachers and the LAC Coordinators, to support the planning and evaluation of the PDG 
LAC grant. Looked After Children in Education (LACE) meetings have taken place regularly.  In 
response to feedback from cluster leads, amendments have been made to LAC cluster plans 
and evaluations. 

CSC facilitated LA cluster leads meetings within each LA to identify PL needs. As part of the 
quality assurance processes the CSC Lead ensured that all cluster plans had been received and 
approved. This process will continue in 2023-24.  

 

7.3  Raising the Attainment of Disadvantaged Youngsters (RADY)  

A significant number of disadvantaged learners in the region are not realising their potential 
outcomes. In 2021/22, following discussions with the local authority, CSC engaged 
Challenging Education to facilitate the RADY Programme in targeted schools. Ferndale 
Community School and Treorchy Comprehensive School have participated in this programme. 

RADY is a support programme for schools to mitigate the impact of poverty and disadvantage 
for identified learners through an equity approach. The principles of RADY support the 

Tudalen 99



regional approach to achieving equity as set out in CSC’s Enabling Equity and Excellence 
document, and links to the Equity and Well-being priority area of CSC’s business plan.  

The RADY programme has also supported RCT’s improvement priority, ‘ensuring equity and 
support for vulnerable learners and their families’.   

RADY is a long-term school improvement strategy. It facilitates cultural change, a hearts and 
minds approach. It focuses on supporting schools to become equitable in all aspects of the 
education they provide, ensuring that those learners who need it most get the extra support 
required to succeed.  

RADY consists of a range of strategies which focus on disadvantage and disadvantaged pupils 
in schools. These start with what Challenging Education term the ‘uplift’, a mechanism for 
raising the targets, and subsequently the aspirations, set for pupils from disadvantaged 
backgrounds. This catalyst is applied at the start of a phase of education, supporting long-
term strategies to ensure the ‘extra’ makes life-changing differences to these pupils.   

After applying the catalyst, schools on their RADY journey integrate the RADY principles as a 
‘golden thread’ through their school development plan. This is to ensure that equity is 
embedded in all aspects of school life, ensuring every member of staff has an understanding 
and commitment to an equitable approach.  

All participating schools have received visits from RADY consultants. The consultants work 
with senior leaders in each school to develop the conditions required for effective cultural, 
policy and practice change to affect equitable provision and outcomes for all learners.  

All schools in the RADY programme also have access to an online suite of practical resources, 
‘Thinking Differently’. These resources on the areas of pedagogy, metacognition, and family 
and community engagement aimed specifically at eFSM learners. These resources are also 
available to all schools across the authority.  

To date, impact has been recognised in the participating schools where the school leadership 
is strong and stable. In these schools, leaders have the demonstrated the vision, drive, 
commitment, and capacity to engage purposefully with RADY, and enact the RADY principles 
to provide equitable experiences for disadvantaged learners. It is reported that as a result, 
the culture and ethos of the school has been affected powerfully by the RADY programme. 

 
 

8.0 CSC CONTRIBUTION TO SUPPORTING LA PRIORITIES (APRIL 2022 – OCTOBER 2022) 

As part of CSC’s business planning process, RCT provides CSC with their priorities in the Spring 
Term 2021, and these were built into CSC’s business plan for 2022/23.  As agreed by CSC’s 
Joint Committee, CSC provide an update on progress supporting RCT’s priorities on a twice-
yearly basis.  
(See Appendix B for a detailed evaluation of the progress that has been made towards RCT’s 
priorities) 
 
 

  

Tudalen 100



9.0 VALUE FOR MONEY 

The consortium’s funding is made up of two principal sources:  

• Core LA Funding with individual LA contributions.  
• Dedicated funding for schools and school improvement activities routed through 

consortia by WG. Major WG grants, such as the Regional Consortia School 
Improvement grant (RCSIG), are administered by consortia and delegated to schools 
via LAs. Consortia retain elements of the grants (amounts set in the terms and 
conditions of each grant) on a regional basis to support local and national school 
improvement priorities. 

 

9.1  Efficient Use of Core Contributions 

In line with the legal agreement between the five local authorities making up Central South 
Consortium, LAs commission CSC to provide a school improvement service predominantly 
funding Improvement Partners to work with schools. 

In 2022-23, the consortium received £3,624,875 contributions from the five LAs across the 
region. The funding was used to support the core function of school improvement. The budget 
provided to CSC by RCT represents 0.4 % of RCT’s total education budget in 2022/23 and 2.4% 
of the budget retained by the LA. 

During 2022/23 RCT LA contributed £976,904 core funding to CSC. This core funding is 
determined using the Indicator Based Assessment for education (IBA) and agreed by Joint 
Committee.  In 2022/23, RCT contributed 27% of CSC’s core budget. 

For every £1 of core budget received from LAs, 71 pence is spent on front-line delivery. 

To realise our joint ambitions for the region’s learners, the core funding provided by LAs is 
used to provide: 

• Principal Improvement Partners (LA) 
• Improvement Partners 
• Business Intelligence Unit (BIU) 
• Information Management 
• Communications Team 
• Governor Support 
• Finance Team 
• Outdoor Education 
• SACRE (Standing Advisory Councils for Religious Education) 
• Project Management 

 
Summaries of the work provided in the areas listed above to support Cardiff and Cardiff 
schools, can be found here. 

Tudalen 101

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/resource/8dd66ad8-daf0-4bb0-87e6-d2b074096f39/en/overview


 

9.2 Local Authority Annex 

During the 2022-23 financial year, the RCT LA Annex Total Budget of £33,957 was used for the 
following priorities: 
 

• To strengthen and further consolidate CfW development across RCT schools through 
exemplification of strong practice. 
 

Evaluation of Impact 
 
The impact of this work led to strengthened collaborative working between the eight schools 
involved in the CfW project which was shared more widely at a ‘good practice’ conference for 
RCT’s Primary Headteachers. It also positively impacted upon curriculum planning, pedagogy, 
and practice and the second year of this project will give further opportunity for the 
development of assessment approaches involving both primary and secondary schools.   
 
For the 2023-24 financial year, the RCT LA Annex Total Budget of £26,117 is targeted to meet 
the following priority: 
 
‘Supporting Educational settings to deliver a transformational curriculum, high quality 
teaching and learning and improved outcomes for all for the AoLE of Health and Wellbeing.’ 
 
Outcome Measures 
 

• Strong collaboration, planning and partnership working to provide a clear evidence 
base for sharing the impact of the schools’ work more widely. 

• Models of strong emerging practice are disseminated across all schools within the 
cluster, enabling school leaders to apply principles and processes to influence, shape 
and refine their approaches to the Health and Wellbeing AOLE. 

• To develop the curriculum planning at across the schools including strengthening the 
skills of the AoLE Leads. 

• To share good practice across LA, to improve awareness and understanding that 
informs better lifestyle choices. 

• Development of a provision plan related to health literacy that compliments school 
programme and includes contributions from different health / education partners and 
agencies. 
 

9.3 Added Value: Grant Funding 

LAs fund the core budget for CSC and this represents less than 4% of the total budget available 
to CSC in 2022-2023.  Additional funding is received from Welsh Government via specific grant 
funding streams. With the launch of the national strategy, ‘Education for Wales: Our National 
Mission’, WG streamlined the grant funding processes. During 2022-2023, only three grants 
were received by consortia: Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant (RCSIG), Pupil 
Development Grant (PDG), and Siarter Iaith.  

Tudalen 102



CSC adds value to the school improvement service commissioned by LAs by using elements of 
the above grants to fund CSC’s delivery strategy of the Central South Wales Challenge as well 
as commission work and support packages for schools across the region. These funds are 
allocated according to the needs of individual schools, LAs, the region and nationally (as 
outlined in section 6.0 above) and are provided by the curriculum and professional learning 
team. 

In 2022-23, the following funding was received: 

Table 6: WG Grant Funding 
Total Delegated to 

LAs/schools 
Centrally retained Grant 

£ £ £ 

RCSIG  48,891 43,687 5,204 

Siarter Iaith 43,484 43,174 310 

PDG 78 0 78 

Total 92,453 86,861 5,592 

 

Elements of the above grants were used to commission work and support packages for schools across 
the region. These funds were allocated according to the needs of individual schools, LAs, the region 
and nationally. Initiatives have been split below across the key enabling objectives included in the WG 
‘Education in Wales: Our National Mission’ report: 
 

Table 7: Expenditure of the Regional Consortia School Improvement Grant by LA in 2022-23 
City & 
County of 
Cardiff 

Bridgend 
CBC 

Vale of 
Glam CBC 

Merthyr 
CBC 

RCT  
CBC 

£ £ £ £ £ 

Cost Category Outturn 
2022-23 

 

36.59 15.29 14.83 6.33 26.96 

 

Curriculum & assessment 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Developing a high-quality 
education profession 

38,301 12,917 4,827 5,914 4,829 9,815 

Leadership 172 

 

27 36 39 22 48 

Strong and inclusive 
schools committed to 
excellence equity & 
wellbeing 

43,174  19,795 5,889 3,350 2,071 12,069 

Tudalen 103



Supporting a self-
improving system 

5,214  1,784 826 788 344 1,471 

Total 86,861  24,524 11,578 10,090 7,266 23,403 

% spend received   39.75 13.33 11.62 8.37 26.94 

 
Bespoke Support Budget 
 
An additional bespoke support budget has been created to provide supplementary support to schools. 
Improvement Partners are able to coordinate support for schools that are most in need, examples of 
support may include a Regional Leader for Governance or a System Leader for a specific number of 
days, supply cover to release staff for professional learning or funding for a lead practitioner. 
 
During 2022/2023 a budget of just over £145k was available to support schools across the region.  
Schools within RCT LA received £67,336 of the available budgets representing 46.2% of the total 
budget available.   

The impact of the activities funded by this budget is evaluated by the school and the individual 
Improvement Partner, and, where appropriate, included within local authority information reports. 

An example of the additional support provided by CSC in this regard is the deployment of a Regional 
Leader for Governance (RLG) for one of RCT’s primary schools. An experienced chair of Governors 
acting as an RLG worked with the school’s governing body to:  

• Support an overall review of process and practice of the governing body.  
• Develop the governing body’s role in the processes of self-evaluation and improvement 

planning.  
• Support the recently appointed chair of governors.  

As part of responding to Estyn’s Inspection recommendation to, “R1 Improve the effectiveness of 
leadership at all levels, including that of the governing body”, the support provided by the RLG 
empowered the school to develop its capacity over a period of a year forming clear designated sub 
committees that rationalised and prioritised areas of the post inspection action plan. These sub 
committees and the full governing body have met across several times across the academic year. The 
structures and the impact of the governing body continues to improve and add effective challenge 
and support to the school leadership.   

As a result, the staff are now supported and challenged by a stronger governing body who have 
strengthened their own systems to allow the wider identification of members strengths to further 
support the school.  These actions at a strategic level have positively impacted on pupil outcomes 
through clear self-evaluation processes that have allowed identification and planning for the pupils 
needs.  

 
Curriculum Reform and Development 

 
CSC supports schools in all areas of curriculum reform with the aim of realising our National 
Mission of ‘strong and inclusive schools committed to excellence equity and wellbeing’.  This 
includes working with the other regional consortia and partnerships, local authorities, 

Tudalen 104



external agencies, and schools to develop national and regional events, programmes, support 
and guidance for practitioners and school, leaders, including governors.  

The PL opportunities are wide ranging and comprehensive, with Curriculum for Wales 
embedded throughout. The CSC team provide and broker specialist bespoke support to 
clusters, groups of schools and individual schools to meet their specific improvement needs. 

 

9.4 Collaborative Advantage 

This can be defined as the additional benefits of working as a region when compared to 
working at either local authority or individual school level.  By working collectively, schools 
have been able to build capacity within the system by training staff and sharing practice. 

The Central South Wales Challenge (CSWC) is a partnership of all schools in the region working 
together to develop a self-improving system. This is based on improvement being driven for 
schools by schools. It provides delivery structures and networks through which most regional 
professional learning opportunities are offered. 

Collaborative working underpins the CSWC. Cluster working has formed a significant 
workstream for all area this year in line with the requirements of the Curriculum for Wales. 
This has facilitated collaborations between schools and built significant capacity within 
those clusters that have engaged. There are multiple examples of where lead practitioners 
have been used effectively to support the system and provide additional capacity. In nearly 
all cases, projects have led to improvements for at least the practitioners/schools involved, 
and in the best cases, offered resource to the region overall. 

However, significant budgetary pressures and capacity of schools are becoming an 
increasing barrier to collaborative working.  

Specific details regarding the engagement of RCT schools with the CSWC can be found in 
section 6.0. 

 

9.5 Additional Examples of Value for Money 

In addition to how CSC provides evidence of the efficient use of resources as well as how 
added value and collaborative advantage are supported, CSC is also able to provide evidence 
of value for money in several other areas. 

In addition to how CSC provides evidence of the efficient use of resources as well as how 
added value and collaborative advantage are supported, CSC is also able to provide evidence 
of value for money in several other areas. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 105

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/self-improving-system


Equity 

CSC provides a universal service to all schools which includes: 

• A named Improvement Partner who monitors and reviews the progress of each 
individual school against their agreed evidence-based improvement criteria. 

• All schools will be identified as needing core or enhance support. Enhanced support 
offers additional monitoring and review for schools that have specific challenges. 

• IPs broker and monitor any additional support ensuring that all schools have the right 
support to address their needs as well and prevent any potential issues from impacting 
on learners. 

• Support for governors to carry out HT performance management in line with national 
guidance.  

• Governors have access to all mandatory training, and this is supported by additional 
training and support. The role of Governors across CSC has been enhanced with the 
reestablishment of the Governors Steering Group on our governance structure and 
the establishment of Regional Leaders of Governance. 

• Additional support and training is provided to IPs to ensure they can reach the 
internationally recognised AOEA standards, demonstrating that our staff have the 
skills, knowledge, and experience to support schools. 

• In addition, where further support is required (either identified by CSC, the LA or Estyn, 
a tiered package of further improvement challenge and monitoring will be provided 
depending on the level of concern registered.  This additional intervention will be 
focused on schools in most need of support irrespective of in which authority they 
reside. 

• IPs coordinate and broker the support going into schools ensuring that it is appropriate 
to need and that it is addressing a key school/departmental priority. 

• School progress is monitored termly in all schools and half termly in schools with 
additional concerns. 

 
 
Economy 

The national model of regional working was published in 2015 and recommended CSC receive 
£5.4m to fund the school improvement serviced on behalf of the five LAs.  In 2022/23 CSC 
budget was £3.6m 

CSC have worked to ensure that costs are minimised without reducing the quality of service 
provided.  Over the period since the inception of CSC, further efficiency savings have been 
identified, enabling core contributions to CSC to be reduced without affecting the quality of 
service provided. 

All curriculum & professional learning areas can offer assurance of their financial spend and 
a clear rationale for decisions. These spends are carefully monitored through CSC area 
operational plans and robust financial processes. All area leads carefully manage their 
resources to balance the needs of the system, to be as strategic and proactive as possible 
whilst ensuring the ability to be agile to respond to PL and support needs as they arise. 

Tudalen 106



Some recurrent bespoke support has been shaped into programmes demonstrating that 
evaluation is being used to shape future work and best manage human resource to create 
greater economy. 
  
There are many examples where regional collaboration projects have offered highly 
effective professional learning and provided learning and resource for the system suggesting 
effective spend of resource to provide greater economy. 
 
However, significant budgetary pressures may become a barrier to delivery of a 
comprehensive offer and funding for regional collaborative activities.    

 

Sustainability 

The definition of sustainable is something that can be continued or a practice that can be 
maintained over time once the resource from CSC (whether financial or leadership) is 
removed. CSC has developed a sustainable strategy for collaboration in the Central South 
Wales Challenge (CSWC).   

There is a significant amount of high-quality PL and support at the point of delivery, both in 
intensive and less intensive forms. All areas can detail strong examples of intensive forms of 
PL and support that have developed capacity of practitioners and groups of practitioners 
within a school or cluster.  In the bespoke support, coaching or mentoring ensures that 
action is taken as a result of the professional learning, though this is either less developed in 
the less intensive forms or less known about. When practitioners are supported to apply 
their learning, the feedback is consistently positive. 

Leadership is often the main development need and relies upon middle leaders operating in 
a wider learning organisation for changes to be realised. To ensure sustainability, a further 
focus on the development of knowledge and skills of middle leaders is required to lead 
change following their engagement in PL and support.  

 

Efficiency 

As a region, CSC is able to take advantage of economies of scale and can therefore provide a 
full and comprehensive professional learning offer across all areas of school improvement.  In 
addition, CSC is provided with Welsh Government grant funding to ensure full coverage of 
support across all AoLEs within the new curriculum. 

The website developed by CSC ensures schools have access to resources and a comprehensive 
professional learning offer in one site.  This is complemented by the website specifically for 
Curriculum for Wales which can be accesses from the main CSC website.   

A comprehensive communication strategy is also in place to ensure schools receive timely 
and appropriate communications aligned to need. 

Tudalen 107

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/
https://sites.google.com/hwbcymru.net/csc-design-thinking/home?pli=1


A strength of the PL offered to schools is the wide range of PL and support opportunities - 
programmes, projects, networks and bespoke support - available to all practitioners and 
school leaders across the region. In addition, the breadth of topics on offer receives positive 
feedback. Practitioners report that they value the range and breadth of PL that they can 
engage with which implies efficiency in terms of scope and scale. A summary of the support 
provided to the region can also be found in the professional learning compendium. 
  
All CSC areas can clearly articulate their approach to PL, and why they have selected each 
aspect they have included in the offer. Strong examples of CSC self-evaluation shaping the 
PL offer are evident. In nearly all areas, there is clear thought about how the PL is designed 
to be taken to scale, either by a practitioner within a school or regionally.  

 

Effectiveness 

Within the 2022-23 Annual Financial Year Report, CSC provided evidence to support the 
achievement of outcomes and the impact of the work.  During recent LA inspections of LAs, 
Estyn reported that:  

“The local authority has established strong working relationships with principal improvement 
partners from the regional consortium and there are robust processes for the support and 
challenge to schools causing concern.”  
 

“…improvement partners provide a sound evaluation of progress based on first-hand evidence 
of provision and leadership in these schools…”  
 
In addition, there were 592 school improvement priorities across all schools in the local 
authority for 2022-23.  
  
Progress judgements for 268 priorities were not available for the Summer term 2023, with 
232 progress judgements not available due to the impact of ASOS, and a further 36 priorities 
with no progress judgements due to these priorities no longer being applicable to the 
school.  
  
300 priorities were judged to be “On-track”, with 24 priorities judged as “Not on track”. Of 
the 324 priorities with a progress judgement, 92.6% were “On-Track”, with 7.4% of priorities 
being “Not on track”.  
 
The CSC professional learning opportunities available to all schools across the region is 
comprehensive and is consistently of good quality according to the National Academy for 
Educational Leadership (NAEL) hallmarks for professional learning. This demonstrates that 
the component parts of the PL offer are effective.  
 
Evaluation from a wide variety of feedback confirms strongly that the PL opportunities 
provide significant school improvement opportunities through a structured and 
comprehensive approach. Many PL resources developed by the team across all areas well 

Tudalen 108

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/resource/8ff00882-01d5-483f-9aad-fc1e0d7d927c/en/overview


received by schools and used to good effect, promoting efficient sharing of learning. There is 
more evidence of impact in the more intensive programmes of PL and bespoke support than 
in some of the less intensive PL opportunities (e.g. one-off events etc.). This is attributable 
to the proportional approach to support and evaluation in each activity. Overall, the quality 
of the cluster bespoke support is reported to have a significant impact on curriculum 
development. 
 
CSC offers high quality PL and support, however, for this to effect school improvement, the 
conditions of the school need to allow this learning to be implemented by practitioners.  
Also, where appropriate, the learning taken to scale across departments, phases and the 
whole school.  There is an appetite from practitioners for less intensive episodes of PL which 
are more time efficient to engage with but may lack depth of knowledge and skill 
development. This does not align to the indicators of effective professional learning. 
 

Quality 

All CSC school improvement colleagues have a depth of knowledge and expertise which is 
supplemented with extensive professional learning to ensure the highest quality of support 
to schools. 

In addition, all IPs are working towards an internationally recognised AoEA standard 
demonstrating that CSC staff have the skills, knowledge, and experience to support schools. 

To ensure the ongoing quality of this service, a comprehensive professional learning offer is 
in place to ensure school improvement professionals are well trained (as well as experienced) 
and able to support schools across the region.  This is supported by an extensive quality 
assurance programme which feeds into the performance development or probation 
arrangements for individual IPs.  

All PL and support is of high quality according to the NAEL hallmarks. All areas are able to 
demonstrate how the PL and support in their area aligns to the professional standards for 
teaching and leadership. Also, how the PL and support promotes and enables schools to 
develop as learning organisations. Academic research, coupled with organisational 
experience and expertise, underpins all decisions, aligned to national policy in their plans. 
Learning from activities is shared with practitioners who are interested and engaged in the 
focus areas. 

 

Added Value 

Curriculum areas enact their work as part of a longer-term strategic plan which may span 
multiple years as part of a coherent theory of change. For any new or innovative activity 
that has been developed, leads can explain how these fit within their vision and priorities 
for improvement. In the majority of cases there are clear examples of new strategies being 
used to accelerate school improvement. 

Tudalen 109



However, the pressures to demonstrate significant impact on school improvement within 
one year can influence the planned activities. One year is often not enough time of a 
measure of value if work is sitting in a longer-term strategic plan. 

Tudalen 110



10.0 SHARING OF PRACTICE

 

T
udalen 111



11.0 CONCLUSIONS   

 
CSC has developed a framework for self-evaluation based upon the guidance provided by 
Estyn on the Inspection of Local Authorities.   
 
As a result of extensive self-evaluation activity, including engagement with stakeholders, 
strengths and areas of development have been identified.  From this analysis, a series of focus 
areas have been identified for inclusion within the planning for 2023-24.  
 
Self-evaluation activity has continued across the organisation to ensure any areas of 
development identified because of evaluation activity, is incorporated into the planning 
cycles.  
 
 
11.1 Leadership and Safeguarding within CSC as an organisation.  
This area focused on the following themes and sources of evidence:  
 

Area  Sources of Evidence  
• Quality and effectiveness of leaders 

and manager 
• Self-Evaluation processes and 

improvement planning 
• Professional learning 
• Safeguarding 
• Use of resources  

• Suite of Reports 
• Governance Reports 
• Consortium as a Learning Organisation / 

Annual Survey 
• Analysis of data 
• HR Policies 
• CSC PL Programmes & Evaluation 
• Risk Management 
• Internal / External Audit Reports  

  
Strengths included:  

• Leaders / Managers have established a clear vision involving all stakeholders over 
time, which encompasses partnership working.  

• Local Authority priorities embedded into the CSC Business Plan.  
• Strong strategic partnerships with stakeholders.  
• Leaders incorporate feedback to improve quality of provision and processes.  
• Effective induction programme results in staff being well placed to work effectively 

with schools.  
• High expectations to engage in Professional Learning developed to support individual 

and regional priorities.  
• Transparent robust financial management (as confirmed by Audit Wales)  
• Maximisation of grant funding to schools / Regional formula for distribution of grant 

funding to schools.  
 

Areas to develop included:  
• Further developing professional relationships with elected members / officers in 

local authorities  
• Embedding the evaluation framework  
• Rationalisation of reporting  

Tudalen 112



• Embedding risk management processes  
• Promotion of equality diversity & inclusion   
• Staff wellbeing & healthy cultures  
• Embedding working practices and quality assurance programmes  
• Evaluation, outcome and impact of internal Professional Learning and Performance 

Development  
• Safer recruitment practices  

  
 
11.2 Professional Learning  
This area focused on the following themes and sources of evidence:  
 

Area  Sources of Evidence  
• Support for school improvement   
• Support for vulnerable learners   
• Design of the professional learning 

offer   
• Impact of professional learning  
• Support for Welsh in Education 

Strategic Plans  

• Professional learning offer- website  
• Engagement spreadsheet and analysis   
• Bespoke support analysis and evaluations  
• Evaluation data summary  
• LA information reports / scrutiny reports  
• Area leads evaluations / reports  
• School improvement priorities  
• LA business plan priorities  
• Welsh Government policy, guidance and 

relevant grant terms and conditions  
• Recommendations from external 

stakeholder reports, e.g., Welsh 
Government, OECD, Estyn, Children’s 
Commissioner  

  
Strengths included:  

• A broad range of relevant, evidence-informed PL opportunities responds to local, 
regional and national needs and along all milestones of the professional pathway.   

• Bespoke support opportunities for all schools in the region to supplement available 
PL opportunities.   

• Robust quality assurance of PL opportunities and bespoke support.  
• Enabling Equity and Excellence (EEE) provides a clear regional approach with 75% 

reporting the document has increased their understanding of equity and excellence 
in the school and that it was being used to support school improvement 
conversations.  

• Work with HEI partners ensures learning from the wider system add academic rigour 
to the EEE.  

• Since April 2022, over 98% of schools in the region have engaged in the professional 
learning programme for curriculum including the wider reforms.    

• CfW bespoke support for schools, clusters and individual drop-in sessions offer 
increased capacity for tailored support for schools.  

• PL evaluations strong, with 95% of delegates already using or planning to use the 
learning in their current role.   

Tudalen 113



• Evaluations from all leadership programmes demonstrates the positive impact on 
developing the leadership skills of participants and the impact on learners through 
the practical leadership experience tasks undertaken.  

• Engagement with Welsh language development PL has increased by 20% from the 
previous year.   

• Since April 2022, 101 schools have progressed levels for Siarter Iaith and Siarter Iaith 
Cymraeg Campus awards, an increase of 15% from the previous year.  Since April 
2020 there has been 301 progressive levels awarded.  

• CSC provide strong support to local authorities as a key partner to delivering Welsh 
in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) targets.  

• 93% of all eligible NQTs passed induction in the region in 2020/21, with 7% being 
given an extension and 0% failures.  

 
Areas to develop included:  

• Analysing the volume of PL available for schools and ensure effective communication 
of the offer.  

• Ensuring coherence of PL in curriculum design, teaching and assessment.  
• Developing the cluster convenor role to further support the 3 – 16 curriculum.  
• Improving participation of delegates in evaluation of PL programmes and events.  
• Redeveloping PL and support for Teaching Assistants across the region.  
• Further development of higher-level Welsh language professional learning (gloywi 

iaith).  
• Ensure PL opportunities are available to support all elements of the Enabling Equity 

and Excellence document.  
• Further develop PL and support for leadership beyond the national pathway 

programmes.  
• Develop and implement a tiered approach to governor PL that builds on knowledge, 

experiences and skills.  
• Further develop the regional approach for coaching and mentoring.  
• Continue to develop reporting on the outcomes of PL in school improvement.  

 
 
11.3 Support for School Improvement  
This area focused on the following themes and sources of evidence:  
 

Area  Sources of Evidence  
• Monitoring and reporting schools’ 

progress  
• Providing bespoke support  
• Intervention in schools causing 

concern  
• Supporting vulnerable learners  

• QA processes and feedback from schools  
• IP knowledge / SIPL entries  
• Estyn reports and case studies / LALI   
• LA reports / feedback  
• Suite of reports  
• Schools causing concern / All school risk 

reports.  
• Bespoke support plans  
• PDG / PDG LAC evaluations  
• RADY evaluation   

Tudalen 114



• EEE pilot evaluation  
  
Strengths included:  

• Skills, expertise and knowledge of CSC team. 
• IPs develop strong relationships with schools to challenge and support, in partnership 

with local authorities.   
• First-hand evidence gathering is aligned with school MER processes.  
• Strong systems and processes to monitor ‘schools causing concern’.  
• Sharing of school level intelligence and information with LA partners identifying 

significant risks, concerns by exception and agreeing actions for challenge and 
support.  

• An agile approach is used to support the needs of individual schools.   
• CSC have a clear regional approach for equity and excellence.  
• Nearly all schools have engaged in collaborations and/or PL for CfW.  
• CSC staff engagement with schools supported schools’ readiness and implementation 

of CfW.  
• Quality of CSWC strategy supports a self-improving system across the region. 

 
Areas to develop included:  

• Continue to evaluate and refine reporting arrangements.  
• Continued roll-out of the agreed EEE implementation plan.  
• Continue to support schools to develop effective cluster working arrangements.   
• Follow up aspects arising from quality assurance processes.  
• Widen the profile of CPAG to reduce the impact of poverty across more schools.   
• Further embed Welsh as part of school improvement conversations.  

  
 
12.0 NEXT STEPS  
 
As a result of all self-evaluation activity across the organisation and with stakeholders, the 
following areas were identified for inclusion within the Business Plan for 2023/24:  
 
12.1 Leadership and Safeguarding within CSC as an organisation.  

• Further develop professional relationships with elected members / officers in local 
authorities  

• Embed the CSC evaluation framework.  
• Rationalisation of reporting.  
• Embedding risk management processes.  
• Promotion of equality diversity & inclusion.   
• Staff wellbeing & healthy cultures.  
• Embedding working practices and QA programme.  
• Evaluate the outcome and impact of internal Professional Learning and Performance 

Development.  
• Further develop safe recruitment practices.  

  
  

Tudalen 115



12.2 Professional Learning  
• Analyse the volume of PL available for schools and ensure effective communication 

of the offer.  
• Ensure coherence of PL in curriculum design, teaching and assessment.  
• Develop the cluster convenor role to further support the 3 – 16 curriculums.   
• Improve participation of delegates in evaluation of PL programmes and events.  
• Redevelop PL and support for Teaching Assistants across the region.  
• Further development of higher-level Welsh language professional learning (gloywi 

iaith).  
• Ensure PL opportunities are available to support all elements of the Enabling Equity 

and Excellence document.  
• Further develop PL and support for leadership beyond the national pathway 

programmes.  
• Develop and implement a tiered approach to Governor PL that builds on knowledge, 

experiences, and skills.  
• Further develop the regional approach for coaching and mentoring.  
• Continue to develop reporting on the outcomes of PL in school improvement.  

  
12.3 Support for School Improvement  

• Continue to evaluate and refine reporting arrangements.  
• Continued roll-out of the agreed EEE implementation plan.  
• Continue to support schools to develop effective cluster working arrangements.   
• Follow up aspects arising from quality assurance processes.  
• Widen the profile of CPAG to reduce the impact of poverty across more schools.   
• Further embed Welsh as part of school improvement conversations.  

 
  

Tudalen 116



Appendix A Central South Wales Challenge 2022-2023

 

T
udalen 117



Appendix B 

RCT Strategic Priorities 2023 – 2024 (Progress against Priorities) 

Strategic Priority 1: Leadership 

Aim Delivery Requirements Evaluation of Progress of CSC activity to support LA Priorities Next Steps 

To sharpen self-evaluation and improvement planning to drive 
improvement. 

 

• During Autumn term visits, Improvement Partners (IPs) are working alongside school 
leaders to plan and undertake self-evaluation activities.  Due to the impact of ASOS, this 
is in different stages of development across RCT schools.   

Improvement Partners to continue working 
alongside school leaders and staff, carrying out 
supported self-evaluation activity to support 
schools in improving standards for all learners. 

Improve the consistency and quality of delivery plans. 
 

• IPs are working with Headteachers, SLT and governing bodies to ensure a shared 
understanding of progression exists within their own schools.  In the best cases they are 
working effectively within their clusters, collaborating with other schools to ensure a 
wider, shared understanding of progression and sharing ideas and practices with each 
other. 

• PIPs work with LA officers on RCT’s SMT to provide challenge and further evidence 
demonstrating impact in the LA’s delivery plan priorities.  

For schools to continue to review and refine their 
approaches to progression and their shared 
understanding. 

Ensure effective safeguarding arrangements. 
 

• This is a Local Authority area of responsibility.  

Delivering a high quality 
skilled educational 
workforce and excellent 
leadership at all levels 

Deliver the Strategic Priorities within the WESP. 
 

• All Welsh medium and special schools along with most English medium schools in RCT are 
engaged with the Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus Framework (Welsh Language Charter). 
Since April 2023, 18 schools have made progressive levels of progress within the Siarter Iaith 
Framework.  

• Siarter Iaith (Welsh Medium) Data – November 2023  
o Primary – 3 bronze, 9 silver and 5 gold.  
o Secondary – 1 bronze and 1 silver.  

• Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus (English Medium) Data – November 2023  
o Primary – 42 bronze, 10 silver and 2 gold.  
o Secondary – 3 bronze and 2 silver.  
o Special – 3 bronze.  

• A wide range of resources have been produced for both Welsh medium, English medium 
and special schools to support progression towards various Siarter Iaith / Siarter Iaith 
Cymraeg Campus awards. The resources include examples of best practice, case studies, 
podcasts as well as practical resources to use with pupils. An awards ceremony was held 
at The All Nations Centre in Cardiff in spring 2023 to celebrate successes of schools 
receiving awards since March 2020.  

• Llwyfan Llafar resource with associated professional learning has been produced to 
support Welsh Medium schools to develop pupil’s Welsh oracy skills from 3-16. Most 
schools state that this resource is beginning to have a positive impact on pupil’s oracy 
skills  

• Most Welsh medium schools state that the CSC Standardised Reading Test is supporting 
the school’s diagnostics and enabling practitioners to accurately plan teaching and 
interventions.  

• Rhondda Cynon Taf’s Welsh language immersion provision utilises the primary resource 
for teaching late-comers to Welsh medium education. This is proving beneficial to 
support teaching and learning of Welsh.  

• A new CSC Continuum of Welsh language patterns was launched for English-medium 
schools in autumn 2023 along with associated professional learning. The continuum has 
been very well received by schools and early feedback is very positive.  

• CSC provides a range of Welsh language development professional learning (PL) for 
practitioners at no cost to schools. The PL is mapped against the Welsh Language 
Competency Framework and can be accessed in a variety of ways e.g. on 
demand/asynchronous and face to face. Bespoke PL is also available to individual schools 
or clusters. All asynchronous assignments have been revised and updated and a higher 
level (Gloywi Iaith) introduced as an assignment and face to face event.  

Cymraeg Strategic Advisors, Improvement Partners 
and Local Authority Principal Improvement 
Partners (LA PIPs) to continue working alongside 
school leaders, governors and LA officers to 
support schools in improving standards of Cymraeg 
for all learners. T

udalen 118

https://hwb.gov.wales/siarter-iaith/
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/articles/b5ed57bc-dd7e-420b-8cb9-d3c5f521ef58
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/376782af-a1b8-44dd-afe8-0cc9b4135804/en/overview
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/api/storage/29e1dc33-07b9-47d3-b671-041c839de16e/Welsh%20Language%20Competency%20Framework.pdf?preview=true
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/api/storage/29e1dc33-07b9-47d3-b671-041c839de16e/Welsh%20Language%20Competency%20Framework.pdf?preview=true
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/repository/resource/1feac09c-5d87-4be1-b4f9-daeebf61f23f/cy/overview
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/events/d073e54f-c3e2-48ca-9e21-2e92273125a3/overview


• 205 practitioners from Rhondda Cynon Taf have engaged in Welsh language professional 
learning since April 2023.   

• Most practitioners state that the professional learning will improve their practice in the 
classroom and will make strong progress in changing their behaviours.  

• CSC has created and published a playlist incorporating an explanatory video which 
focuses on schools’ procedures for planning professional learning and accurately 
reporting on practitioner development in the SWAC. As of November 2023, the resource 
has been viewed 877 times and provides leaders with a clear understanding of the 
professional learning offer to support their staff’s language competency development. 

• 2 RCT practitioners are undertaking the two-term foundation/intermediate level Welsh 
Sabbatical Schemes course in 2023/24 (Dolau and Hendreforgan).   

• 13 schools in RCT have engaged with bespoke Welsh language professional learning for 
practitioners at various levels of the Welsh Language Competency Framework since June 
2023.  

• CSC has funded collaboration between Welsh medium secondary schools to develop 
Level 2 and 3 vocational qualifications through the medium of Welsh. Vocational 
qualifications are now available for business, uniform protected services, medical 
sciences, sports coaching, leadership though sport, preparing for public services and a 
Level 3 childcare qualification.  

• All professional learning, bespoke support and resources from CSC Cymraeg can be found 
in this playlist.  

Ensuring effective leadership and management arrangements. • IPs and LA PIPs support the recruitment of senior leaders within RCT schools, for 
example, they support governing body members and LA officers shortlist candidates, plan 
for and provide interview questions and tasks.  IPs and LA PIPs attend interviews, leading 
the professional interview elements of the process, and advise governing body members 
throughout the process.   

• IPs coach and mentor school senior leaders and signpost to relevant professional learning 
opportunities, for example, the national pathway programme for senior and middle 
leaders.   

• IPs support governing bodies undertake CSC’s ‘Self-Evaluation Toolkit for Governing 
Bodies’ and develop an action plan following, including providing bespoke PL for 
governors. 

• IPs and LA PIPs provide additional, bespoke, support for Headteachers and governing 
bodies through the recruitment of System Leaders or Regional Lead Governors through 
CSC’s Bespoke Support Request system. 

• IPs support Governing Bodies undertake the statutory Headteacher Performance 
Management process which includes establishing and reviewing targets throughout the 
year. 

Improvement Partners and Local Authority 
Principal Improvement Partners (LA PIPs) to 
continue working alongside school leaders and 
governors, carrying out supported self-evaluation 
activities to support schools in improving standards 
for all learners. 

 

  

T
udalen 119

https://www.cscjes.org.uk/repository/discovery/resource/20a95768-912a-46ec-b7c4-a903db0b0bf9/en?sort=recent&strict=0
https://www.cscjes.org.uk/articles/74c1be74-0061-4e2a-b0fc-54ebb5b0e80f


Strategic Priority 2: Teaching & Learning 

Aim Delivery Requirements Evaluation of Progress of CSC activity to support LA Priorities Next Steps 

Deliver a fully integrated cross directorate early years plan for 0–
7-year-olds that ensures that learners access the right support at 
the right time. 
 
 
 
 

• CSC’s Curriculum and Professional Learning team support the development of Foundation 
Learning in RCT via the work of the Foundation Learning Strategic Advisor and Lead 
Practitioners. 

• In addition, practitioners working within Foundation Learning are able to access additional 
professional learning via CSC’s professional learning compendium. 

• To continue liaising with the directorate 
in support of this priority. 

Improve the consistency and quality of support and information 
provided by CSC on Leadership and Progress of all learners, to 
include vulnerable groups of learners. 

• The Framework for School Improvement has been updated for September ‘23, to reflect the 
strengthening of processes and improved consistency. 

• All IPs LA PIPs are experienced, high-functioning senior leaders.  They undergo a rigorous interview 
process prior to employment. 

• CSC’s quality assurance processes have been strengthened, including: 
• CSC provide professional learning to all IPs and LA PIPs, ensuring high expectations and protocols 

are shared. 
• LA PIPs organise face to face RCT IP professional learning sessions once every half term.  This is 

used to identify and share good practice and emerging priorities identified from across RCT and the 
wider national context (including Estyn reports/findings). 

• LA PIPs monitor the School Improvement Partnership Logs (SIPLs) and undertaken joint activities 
alongside IPs throughout the year. 

• LA PIPs undertake joint visits with IPs they line manage, enabling the LA PIP to quality assure the 
work of the IP, identify good practice and strengthen performance development processes. 

• LA PIPs hold 1:1 meetings with RCT IPs every half term and undertake internal meetings with all 
members of CSC working in support of specific schools.  In turn, this information is shared with the 
Assistant Director of CSC. 

• The LA PIPs quality assure all LA pre-inspection reports before sharing with the LA’s Head of 
Achievement (HoA) and Director for Education (DoE). 

• The LA PIP regularly meetings with the HoA and DoE to discuss vulnerable schools and emerging 
priorities.  Both LA PIPs and HoA have agreed dates to meet throughout the academic year to 
share intelligence and emerging priorities for RCT schools. 

• LA PIPs quality assure progress review reports that are written by the IP and shared with relevant 
HTs, CoGB, HoA and DoE. 

• The development of the All-School Review have developed the IPs and LA PIPs knowledge of the 
work of the wider directorate in support of schools in RCT, this has strengthened the partnership. 

• All work undertaken by CSC and external partners in support of RCT schools is now feed directly 
into the SIPL, this allows SMT and LA officers direct access to the work being undertaken and its 
impact. 

 

• CSC to continue reviewing and evaluating 
the impact of the QA processes via 
established systems. 

Supporting Educational 
settings to deliver a 
transformational 
curriculum, high quality 
teaching and learning and 
improved outcomes for all 

Ensure that teaching and learning in all schools and PRUs is 
improved and aligned with the new requirements of the AOLEs 

• PL, support and guidance is available to all schools and clusters to develop curriculum, 
teaching and assessment.  

• Bespoke support is available to all schools and clusters to develop curriculum, teaching and 
assessment.  

 
RCT schools’ engagement in Curriculum, Teaching and Assessment PL opportunities April 2023- October 2023  
 

    Regional PL    
(excl. networks)    Regional Networks    Regional Funded 

Projects    
Bespoke Support 

Requests   
Practitioners   328  205  114  x  

Schools   102  77  76  70   
 

• IPs support Headteachers and senior leaders quality assure the school’s self-evaluation 
processes and its impact. 

• IPs are able to access focussed bespoke support from AOLE colleagues in the Curriculum and 
Professional learning team via the Bespoke Support Request system. 

• IPs promote collaborative work of clusters and SIGs to share good practice and moderate 
work. 

• CSC to continue reviewing and evaluating 
the impact of the QA processes via 
established systems. 

 

T
udalen 120



Strategic Priority 3: Vulnerable Learners 

Aim Delivery Requirements Evaluation of Progress of CSC activity to support LA Priorities Next Steps 

Develop the Virtual School Model for Children Looked After and 
evaluate its Impact 

• All relevant information regarding PDG LAC shared with all clusters.  Funding approved by 
directors September 2023.  PDG support plan forwarded to Welsh Government including 
relevant information regarding Looked After Children.   

• Cluster leads meetings planned in collaboration with LA staff for September 2023.  RCT Cluster 
leads meeting was scheduled on 29.9.23. 

• Share findings from cluster leads 
meetings with relevant stakeholders. 

• Work with clusters to plan 
effectively in relation to the PDG 
LAC. 

• Respond to bespoke needs of cluster 
leads. 

Provide effective support to schools to enable them to comply 
with new ALN legislation and ensure learners receive high quality 
additional learning provision. 
Ensure Alternative provision is meeting the needs of learners 
across the Local Authority 
   

• IPs support Headteachers and senior leaders quality assure the school’s self-evaluation 
processes and its impact. 

• IPs are able to access focussed bespoke support from AOLE colleagues in the Curriculum and 
Professional Learning team via the Bespoke Support Request system. 

• IPs promote collaborative work of clusters and SIGs to share good practice and moderate 
work. 

• IPs support Headteachers and senior leaders review the impact of the teaching and learning on 
ALN and vulnerable learners, this is further supported through bespoke support from CSC’s 
Curriculum Reform and Pedagogy teams. 

• Attendance at the All-School Review alongside LA colleagues, enable IPs to better understand 
the wider work being undertaken in support of schools and ALN / vulnerable learners and 
therefore complement this work 

• CSC to continue reviewing and 
evaluating the impact of the QA 
processes via established systems. 

Ensuring equity and 
support for vulnerable 
learners and their families 

To promote equality and diversity to enable vulnerable & 
disadvantaged learners to achieve improved outcomes 

• See above • CSC to continue reviewing and 
evaluating the impact of the QA 
processes via established systems. 

 

Strategic Priority 4: Well-being              

Aim Delivery Requirements Evaluation of Progress of CSC activity to support LA Priorities Next Steps 

Develop strategic approaches to supporting children and families 
in poverty. 
 

• Findings of discussions between Improvement Partners and schools on the use and impact of 
the Pupil Development Grant (PDG) collated for 2022-23.  Regional PDG evaluation presented 
to Welsh Government with a visit to a CSC school to exemplify effective practice.  One LA 
report developed and disseminated with others in draft format.   

• Bespoke support ongoing with six schools supported across the region by the CSC Lead for 
Well-being and Vulnerable Learners. Support for Cardinal Newman RC Comprehensive took 
place during summer 2023 and this resulted in a whole school twilight session planned for 
October 2023.   Connections made with other RCT secondary schools for further support visits 
to be planned. 

• Key messages about the PDG and Poverty shared at the Aspiring Headteachers Conference in 
July 2023. Attendance from 11 schools from RCT: Oaklands Primary School, Tai Educational 
Centre, Ysgol Gymraeg Evan James, Llantrisant Primary School, Caradog Primary School,  
Aberdare Community School , Hawthorn High School, Alaw Primary School, Ferndale 
Community School, Our Lady's R.C and Ysgol Nantgwyn.  

• Professional learning sessions delivered for all school facing staff on terms of conditions and 
expectations of PDG grant for 2023-24.  Comprehensive bank of resources also shared with 
school facing staff to support engagement and discussions with schools.  

• Ongoing discussions held between Improvement Partners and school leaders on progress of 
vulnerable leaders with a record of progress noted at the end of the summer term and shared 
with Rhondda Cynon Taf in September 2023. 

• Undertake twilight session with 
Cardinal Newman - October 2023 

• Establish links with other RCT 
schools to provide support. 

Ensure approaches relating to children’s rights are embedded 
across all schools 

• IPs work with schools in support of embedding UNCRC’s Rights of the Child approaches if 
applicable to their school improvement priorities. 

• IPs work with senior leaders to review and monitor impact across all elements of the school. 

 

Enhancing the wellbeing of 
our learners and the 
workforce 

Further improve attendance rates, particularly for those 
persistent absentees, learners with SEN/ALN and eFSM learners 

• Regular regional meetings continue to take place involving LA Attendance and Exclusion Leads 
with the CSC Lead for Well-being and Vulnerable Groups.  Strong focus on sharing common 
challenges and identifying common solutions.   

• Improvement Partners continue to have a regular focus on well-being, attendance and 
exclusions, regularly supported by LA PIPs for Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

• LA PIPs and IPs to continue 
attending All School Reviews, 
Progress Reviews and liaising with LA 
leads to further support in this area. 

T
udalen 121



Reduce the number of exclusions across schools within the LA •  Regular regional meetings continue to take place involving LA Attendance, Exclusion and Well-
being Leads with the CSC Lead for Well-being and Vulnerable Groups.  Strong focus on sharing 
common challenges and identifying common solutions.   

•  Improvement Partners continue to have a regular focus on well-being, attendance and 
exclusions, regularly supported by LA PIPs. 

• See above 

Ensure there are robust approaches to enhancing learner 
wellbeing 

• Regular regional meetings continue to take place involving LA Attendance, Exclusion and Well-
being Leads with the CSC Lead for Well-being and Vulnerable Groups.  Strong focus on sharing 
common challenges and identifying common solutions.   

• Improvement Partners continue to have a regular focus on well-being, attendance and 
exclusions, regularly supported by LA Principal Improvement Partners. 

• See above 

 

Strategic Priority 5: 21st Century Schools              

Aim Delivery Requirements Evaluation of Progress of CSC activity to support LA Priorities Next Steps 

Deliver Band B of the Council’s ambitious Sustainable 
Communities for Learning Programme, removing surplus places, 
delivering net zero carbon new school buildings, improving the 
quality of learning environments and school buildings, increasing 
special school capacity, and increasing access to high quality 
teaching and learning opportunities for all 

• This is a Local Authority area of responsibility.  

Develop proposals for the new primary school at Glyncoch in 
accordance with the funding terms and conditions 

  

Progress proposals for the provision of a new primary school at 
Llanillud. 

  

Evaluate and further develop our community schools to extend 
early years provision, wrap around care, sporting facilities, 
extended and family learning, family engagement and the co-
location of services on school sites right in the heart of our 
communities. 

  

Deliver capital investment to develop, extend and improve 
childcare and early years provision. 

  

Ensure we have sufficient specialist pupil places in our 
community for our children who require additional support.  
 

  

Delivering 21st Century 
learning environments and 
innovative services for our 
learners and communities 

Evaluate the impact of the school reorganisation programme on 
the school community and identify areas for learning and 
improvement 

  

 

  

T
udalen 122



RECOMMENDATIONS FROM RCT LGES INSPECTION 

 Recommendation Evaluation of progress of CSC actions to support recommendations Next Steps 

R1 
Sharpen approaches to 
self-evaluation and 
improvement planning 

For information on how CSC have supported RCT LA in this recommendation, please see strategic priority 1 and 2  

R2 

Strengthen approaches 
to Welsh-medium 
education, for example 
by improving access 
and support for 
learners with additional 
learning needs and 
providing opportunities 
for late immersion for 
learners 

For information on how CSC have supported RCT LA in this recommendation, please see strategic priority 1, 2 and 3  

R3 

Work closely with 
schools, pupil referral 
units and the regional 
consortium to build on 
the local authority’s 
work to further 
improve attendance 
and reduce exclusions 

For information on how CSC have supported RCT LA in this recommendation, please see strategic priority 1, 2, 3 and 4  

 

 

T
udalen 123



T
udalen w

ag



 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023/2024 

 
EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
22nd January 2024 

 
AN UPDATE ON ESTYN’S RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES  
 
Author: Gaynor Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide an update on the progress made against 

the recommendations for improvement identified following Estyn’s inspection of 
the education services in Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council in 
January 2023. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
It is recommended that Members: 
 

2.1 Consider the information provided. 
 
2.2 Consider whether any further information is required on any aspect of the report 

or the work of the Education and Inclusion Services Directorate.  
 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 To provide Members with information on the progress made in addressing the 

recommendations resulting from Estyn’s inspection of the Education 
Directorate in January 2023.  

 
4. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
4.1 Prior to the January 2023 inspection, Rhondda Cynon Taf Education Services 

had its last core inspection in March 2012 when Estyn judged Education to be 
‘adequate’, with ‘adequate prospects for improvement.’   

Tudalen 125

Agendwm 6

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2020-08/Inspection%2520report%2520Rhondda%2520Cynon%2520Taf%2520County%2520Borough%2520Council%2520Eng%25202012_0.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf


 
4.2 In order to improve, Rhondda Cynon Taf Council was considered to require 

improvement in a number of key areas. Six key recommendations were made, 
including:   

 
R1 Raise standards in schools particularly in key stage 4 
R2 Improve attendance rates in all schools 
R3 Improve the evaluation and analyses of data across service areas and 

partnerships to drive improvements in outcomes for learners  
R4 Use the full powers available to the authority to improve leadership and 

management in schools 
R5 Reduce surplus places  
R6 Improve the rigour and the level of scrutiny and challenge across all 

services and partnerships. 
 
4.3 As consequence of this inspection, the local authority was placed in a follow- 

up category of Estyn Monitoring. Following a series of follow-up visits from 
Estyn, the local authority was judged to have made sufficient progress. In 
August 2014, Estyn provided formal confirmation that the local authority no 
longer required further follow- up activity due to the progress made.   

 
4.4 Estyn's 2023 Inspection of Education Services in Rhondda Cynon Taf was very 

positive and no follow-up was required. Three key recommendations for 
improvement were made: 
 
R1     Sharpen approaches to self-evaluation and improvement planning 
R2     Strengthen approaches to Welsh-medium education, for example by  
          improving access and support for learners with additional learning needs 
          and providing opportunities for late immersion for learners 

           R3      Work closely with schools, pupil referral units and the regional consortium  
                     to build on the local authority’s work to further improve attendance and 
                     reduce exclusions. 
 
 4.5 Estyn’s inspection of local authorities focuses on three inspection areas, 

namely:  
 

Inspection area 1 – Outcomes 
Standards and progress overall 
Standards and progress of specific groups 
Well-being and attitudes to learning 
 
Inspection area 2 – Education Services 
Support for school improvement 
Support for vulnerable learners  
Other education support services  
 
Inspection area 3 – Leadership and management 
Quality and effectiveness of leaders and managers 
Self-evaluation and improvement planning 

Tudalen 126

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2020-08/Outcome%2520of%2520monitoring%2520visit%2520Rhondda%2520Cynon%2520Taf%2520County%2520Borough%2520Council%25202014_0.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2023-03/Inspection%20report%20Rhondda%20Cynon%20Taf%20County%20Borough%20Council%202023_0.pdf


Professional learning 
Safeguarding arrangements 
Use of resources 
 

4.6 Inspectors do not inspect or evaluate all education services during a core 
inspection and in the local authority inspection in Rhondda Cynon Taf, the 
following local inspection questions (LIQs) were highlighted for further 
exploration: 

 
LIQ1: How effective is the challenge, support and intervention in improving 

the quality of teaching and leadership in schools and PRUs? 
LIQ2: How effective is the local authority working with its communities to 

support the most vulnerable learners and what impact is this having, 
for example on improving attendance, well-being and engagement? 

LIQ3: How well does the local authority meet the needs of pupils with ALN? 
LIQ4: To what extent does the local authority consider appropriately the 

educational benefits and risks of its school organisation proposals? 
 
5. SUMMARY OF ESTYN’S FINDINGS  
 
5.1 The Estyn report provides a comprehensive overview of inspection findings, 

including the Directorate’s strengths, areas for improvement and 
recommendations.  

 
5.2 A concise summary of Estyn’s key findings is also detailed in the published 

report and is extracted in full below. Areas of strength are highlighted in bold 
and areas for development are underlined for ease of reference:   

 
‘Leaders in Rhondda Cynon Taf education services provide clear and 
purposeful leadership. They are committed to ensuring that children and 
young people achieve their very best. The leader, chief executive, cabinet 
member for education, elected members and senior staff in the education 
directorate have set high expectations for their officers, schools and 
providers. All officers have a clear understanding of their roles and 
responsibilities and are empowered to take action to provide valuable 
services to improve outcomes for children and young people across the 
authority. 
 
Leaders in the local authority make their decisions carefully, based on 
how best to serve their different communities and to meet individual 
needs. For example, the council makes effective use of a wide range of 
data and information when considering school reorganisation and 
planning. This means that school organisation proposals take good 
account of the needs of the school’s community and promote equity of 
provision for pupils. However, improving provision for Welsh, for example 
through late immersion opportunities, specialist ALN provision and improving 
the outcomes for Welsh in English-medium schools, is at an early stage of 
development. 
 

Tudalen 127



Generally, inspection outcomes over time have been sound within the 
local authority. Since we resumed inspection in February 2022, we asked 
three primary schools to provide case studies of good practice, one 
primary school requires special measures, and another primary school was 
placed into Estyn review. 
 
The director and her senior team work pro-actively in partnership with 
Central South Consortium (CSC), the school improvement service. The 
local authority shares explicitly its high expectations of the work of the 
regional consortium. For example, the local authority is clear about how 
CSC should support its strategic priorities and directs improvement 
partners to gather the first-hand evidence required by the local authority. 
Overall, the quality of support and the information provided by the CSC is too 
variable. 
 
The local authority places a high priority on supporting its most 
vulnerable children and young people to improve their outcomes, well-
being and life chances and provides helpful support for schools to 
improve these pupils’ attendance and behaviour. Over time, the attendance 
of pupils in Rhondda Cynon Taf has been lower than national figures and the 
attendance of those pupils who are eligible for free school meals has remained 
low. 
 
The local authority has provided particularly helpful support to its 
schools and settings to prepare for the additional learning needs (ALN) 
reforms. Staff have benefited from a broad range of professional learning 
to improve their understanding of how to identify individual needs. A 
particular strength has been the way in which staff have been supported 
to develop their understanding of person-centred planning and individual 
development plans. Overall, support for additional learning needs is 
strong. 
 
Across the directorate, senior officers and their staff are committed to 
continuously improving the service they provide. They strive to identify 
and support future leaders and provide a very helpful leadership 
development professional learning programme. 
 
A notable strength is the way in which this has supported succession 
planning and improvements in leadership across the local authority and 
its schools. The director and her senior team have developed a clear 
programme for evaluation and improvement, which supports all officers 
to have a suitable overview of their areas of responsibility. Despite this, 
self-evaluation and improvement planning processes often lack precision. In 
particular, officers do not always identify clear indicators of success, and this 
hinders their ability to evaluate their work precisely and to plan for future 
improvements.  
 

Tudalen 128



Leaders in the directorate support staff very well. A particular strength is 
the way they provide officers with the autonomy to make decisions about 
how best to support schools and settings. Staff feel valued and well-
informed of the direction and vision for improvement in the local 
authority. Over time, this has supported the local authority effectively to 
incrementally improve the services they provide. 
 

5.3 Estyn identified two areas of innovative and effective practice and the local 
authority was requested to write two case studies. These included  
- Use of data across the local authority to inform planning, decision making and 
support for schools  
- The development of future leaders in education through a strong professional 
learning offer and effective succession planning.  
 
The impact of the work in these two areas of provision and standards was 
considered to be very effective. Both case studies can be found in Appendix 1 
and 2 of the Estyn report.   

 
5.4   The published report provides a comprehensive review of all findings, with 

multiple references to areas of strength and considerably fewer references to 
areas for improvement. Areas identified by Estyn for improvement had in the 
main been identified through prior self-evaluation and have continued to form 
an important part of our improvement plans during 2023/24.   
 

6. PROGRESS AGAINST ESTYN’S RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
6.1   Recommendation 1: Improvement work to refine and further improve self-

evaluation processes has been ongoing and processes are now more 
streamlined and simplified. The Directorate’s Delivery Plan is now better 
informed by performance measures and success criteria and greater focus has 
been placed on aligning the service plans that sit below the Directorate’s 
Delivery Plan. In summary,    
• there is close alignment between the Council’s Corporate Plan, Education’s 

Strategy Plan for 2022-25 and Directorate Delivery Plans.  
• the Directorate Strategic Plan for 2022-25 provides a framework for all  

delivery planning and for ensures that we meet our well established vision, 
missions and over-arching strategic priorities. These include: 
o Strategic Priority 1: Developing a highly skilled educational workforce 

and excellent leadership at all levels which is essential is we are to 
create good schools.  

o Strategic Priority 2: Supporting educational settings to deliver a 
transformational curriculum, high quality teaching and learning and 
improved outcomes for all. 

o Strategic Priority 3: Ensuring equity and support for vulnerable learners 
and their families. 

Tudalen 129



o Strategic Priority 4: Enhancing the well-being of our learners and the 
workforce. 

o Strategic Priority 5: Delivering 21st Century learning environments and 
innovative services for our learners and communities. 

• Service Self Evaluation (SSE) processes have been strengthened and are 
well informed by qualitative and quantitative data, and extensive 
stakeholder feedback. Each service area has a data dashboard that 
provides extensive data for the purpose of service self-evaluation.  

• Framework for SSE has been updated and the self-evaluation process and 
report has been considerably streamlined. The SSE report is now more  
condensed and more evaluative in nature.  

• Self-evaluation in Education is cyclical and is the focus of ongoing 
discussions. This includes SMT meetings, workshops involving all staff, 
stakeholder feedback via surveys, and more planned evaluation.  
Focused monitoring, evaluation and review (MER) activities have been 
strengthened and includes: a frequent analysis of Estyn outcomes; school 
improvement processes and outcomes; data analysis; quarterly 
monitoring and review of delivery plans; and a review of Cabinet, Scrutiny 
and Audit Committee reports.  

• Stakeholder feedback has been strengthened and an engagement plan 
developed. This now needs to be fully integrated into the MER cycle and 
a calendar of activities developed.  

• Service Delivery Plan templates now adopt the same format as the  
Directorate Delivery Plan to ensure consistency. All plans require use of  
performance indictors and success criteria. Service Plans are now quality 
assured and approved by the Director of Education and Service Director 
for 21st Century Schools and Transformation. 

• Quarterly review meetings now take place to monitor and challenge 
delivery plan progress and to collate supporting evidence as the year 
progresses.  

• The Wellbeing Plan is now integrated into the Directorate Delivery Plan to 
avoid duplication and to ensure routine monitoring and evaluation. 

• There is a culture of high support and challenge. Heads of Service and 
Service Director individually present to the wider SMT on their service’s 
performance, identified areas of strength and priorities for improvement. 

• Staff and managers are clear about their roles and responsibilities and are 
well supported to ensure that they have the required expertise, knowledge 
and skills to be effective in their roles. Good access to training and 
development opportunities are provided to help the workforce to 
improve.  Performance Management is effective. The Annual Individual 
Performance Review contributes to a strong performance culture within the 
Directorate and high accountability and is successful in identifying 
development needs and supporting succession planning. Staff are held 
accountable for their performance and supported in challenging areas 

Tudalen 130



through regular one to one and team meetings where progress against 
delivery plans is monitored.   

 
6.2 Recommendation 2: Strengthen approaches to Welsh-medium education, for      

example by improving access and support for learners with additional learning  
needs and providing opportunities for late immersion for learners 

 
Delivery planning and partnership approaches to the Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP) are robust, with a member of the senior management 
team in Education leading on each of the seven strategic outcomes. Good 
feedback has been provided by Welsh Government on the WESP, and the 
approach adopted to data gathering for outcome 7 has been deemed as good 
practice and will be shared more widely with others.  

Sustainable Communities for Learning investments have resulted in 
enhanced capacity in the Welsh medium sector. Works have been completed 
on the school site of YGG Aberdar to deliver a new sessional childcare facility 
providing an additional 30 registered places, and an extension to provide 
additional facilities and an additional 72 learner places at the school. Works 
have also been completed for YG Rhydywaun to deliver an extension to 
increase capacity at the school. The brand new block on the school site opened 
to learners from September 2022 and created an additional 187 learner places 
at the school. In the Rhondda Fach area, capital funding has been secured to 
provide a brand new school for YGG Llyn y Forwyn. Work is progressing on the 
new school site to provide additional capacity, childcare facilities, and 
community use facilities to encourage the use of the language in the community. 
In the Taff Ely area of the County, the construction of the new Welsh medium 
school in Rhydyfelin has progressed successfully. The new school will be 
named Ysgol Awel Taf and is on target to open to learners from September 
2024 as planned. In addition to this development, a new Ti and Fi provision has 
been estabIished in the recently constructed school, with 7 new starters and 5 
children have registered for a nursery place in the new Welsh medium school 
 
There are some exciting developments underway to extend Welsh medium 
learning support class provision for learners with ALN. The Access and 
Inclusion team has been working closely with Ysgol Garth Olwg to facilitate the 
opening of a new Welsh medium Learning Support Class (LSC) provision for 
Key Stage 3 and 4 learners at the school. Provision was due to open to learners 
from September 2022. However, due to recruitment difficulties it was not 
possible to open the provision prior to September 2023.  
 
Proposals for the establishment of Welsh medium ALN provision in the new 
Welsh medium primary school in Rhydyfelin were previously listed as Year 2 to 
3 actions in the 10 year WESP (2022-2032). However, to ensure swifter 
progression, the proposals were brought forward. The proposals were 
presented to Cabinet for approval in May 2023 and consultation was duly 
undertaken and completed. In December 2023, Cabinet agreed to a proposal 
to establish two Welsh medium primary phase LSCs at the new Welsh medium 
primary school in Rhydyfelin, YGG Awel Taf, for pupils with significant ALN 

Tudalen 131



taking effect from September 2024. This will significantly enhance Welsh 
medium specialist ALN placement provision in RCT. 
 
The Access and Inclusion team has been working with CSC to ensure effective 
ALN provision is available for learners in mainstream education and special 
schools and classes in RCT. Improvements have been made to the self-
evaluation processes to ensure information regarding ALN forms part of each 
schools’ monitoring, evaluation and review cycle. A new process has been 
agreed to implement a joint professional development opportunity and quality 
assurance process to ensure a shared understanding between Access and 
Inclusion services, CSC Improvement Partners, Headteachers, ALN Co-
Ordinators and Governors regarding effective self-evaluation of ALN. This will 
include: 

• Guidance for mainstream schools on effective self-evaluation of ALN.  
• Training on effective self-evaluation for CSC Improvement Partners, 

Headteachers, ALNCos and Governors.  
• Support and oversight by CSC Improvement Partners as part of their 

quality assurance processes – ongoing throughout academic year. 
• Designated joint Access and Inclusion Services and CSC meetings to 

discuss good practice and concerns to inform support for individual 
schools.   

 
A Welsh language immersion team, or the ‘Taith Iaith’ team,  is now 
established and is proving to be very successful. There are currently, three 
members of staff, one teacher and two learning support assistants, delivering 
a peripatetic model of Welsh immersion support throughout the County 
Borough. The team offers one hour of face-to-face support, daily, to pupils in 
their Welsh medium school. Currently they provide support to pupils in years 2-
6 and in year 1 when capacity allows. The Taith Iaith lead has held face to face 
meetings with all Welsh medium primary headteachers in RCT and distributed 
information booklets explaining the Taith Iaith process, eligibility criteria and 
referral system.  There are currently 11 learners in 7 Welsh medium schools 
accessing the scheme. All learners wishing to transfer from  English to Welsh 
medium schools in years 2-6 are eligible for support from the Taith Iaith team.  
 
Learners are enabled to develop their Welsh language skills in a variety of 
ways, but learning through play and having fun are key to achieving effective 
teaching and progression. Progress is measured using a range of summative 
and formative assessments. Summative assessments includes learners 
completing an oracy baseline assessment at the start, mid-way and at the end 
of the programme. This ensures that progress is closely monitored and further 
developed. Once learners achieve a success rate of 80%, and both teachers 
and parents are in agreement, the daily support ceases. Formative 
assessments include self-evaluation activities, video recordings and oral 
feedback. Video recordings are a powerful tool for capturing the progress made 
by learners speaking the Welsh language.  
 
Aspects of the scheme that have been particularly appreciated, include parental 

Tudalen 132



communication through the Seesaw application, local fieldtrips and group work. 
In order to further develop the scheme, plans are afoot to further develop the 
reading scheme, literacy games and to visit further immersion centres across 
Wales.  

 
6.3 Recommendation 3:    Work closely with schools, pupil referral units and the 

regional consortium to build on the local authority’s work to further improve 
attendance and reduce exclusions. 

 
The Annual School Exclusion Performance Report for 2022-23 and School 
Attendance Data 2022-23 were the focus of scrutiny by the Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Committee in December 2023. Both reports provide a 
detailed overview of the Council’s performance in relation to attendance and 
exclusion data over the last academic year.  

 
6.4  The report on attendance data in December 2023 detailed the overall school 

attendance rates broken down by phase for the last four academic years. These 
figures are for statutory school age only across mainstream and special schools 
(pupil referral units are not included). Primary data is for the full academic year 
and secondary data is shown up to the end of Summer 1 in line with Welsh 
Government data collection dates even though these did not take place in all of 
these years during the pandemic. 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taf Primary Phase Attendance 

Academic 
Year 

All 
Pupils 

Non 
FSM FSM EAL SEN Persistent 

Absence  

Gypsy, 
Roma 

and/or 
Traveller 

Service 
Family 

2019/20 93.0% 94.0% 90.1% 92.2% 90.1% 5.4% 86.8% 93.7% 

2020/21 91.1% 93.1% 86.4% 92.1% 87.6% 11.7% 61.8% 93.3% 

2021/22 89.8% 91.2% 85.4% 91.1% 85.6% 10.8% 69.0% 92.0% 

2022/23  91.0% 92.3% 86.8% 91.2% 86.6% 9.3% 75.7% 92.8% 

 

 
 

 

 

 
      

Rhondda Cynon Taf Secondary Phase Attendance 

Academic 
Year 

All 
Pupils 

Non 
FSM FSM EAL SEN Persistent 

Absence 

Gypsy, 
Roma 

and/or 
Traveller 

Service 
Family 

Tudalen 133

https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s44593/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s44594/Report.pdf?LLL=0
https://rctcbc.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s44594/Report.pdf?LLL=0


 

All data presented above is reflective of PLASC data taken during January of the academic year. Persistent 
Absence is the % of all learners who have below 80% attendance. SEN attendance does not currently include ALN. 

The data highlights the significant impact the Covid-19 pandemic had on 
attendance levels across RCT with a drop in primary attendance of 3.2 
percentage points at primary phase between 2019/20 and 2021/22 and a 6.9 
percentage point drop at secondary phase across the same timeframe. We 
have however seen encouraging signs at primary schools last year, with a 1.2 
percentage point increase between 2021/22 and 2022/23 although still down 2 
percentage points when compared to 2019/20; secondary schools with a 0.6 
percentage point increase between 2021/22 and 2022/23 although still 
significantly below 2019/20 levels. 

 
However, the data in the first table must be taken into a wider context around 
attendance coding at this time. As a result of the pandemic, for the academic 
years 2020/21 and 2021/22 there were additional temporary attendance codes 
introduced by Welsh Government. These were for confirmed Covid cases and 
for those isolating/accessing remote learning. The confirmed case code was 
statistically an authorised absence and mapped back to illness coding. 
However, the code for isolation/remote learning was statistically a ’not required 
to attend’ mark and therefore does not appear in attendance data collection 
figures presented above. Similarly, the existing Y code usually reserved for 
partial or full closures of schools was also utilised during these years when 
cohorts were forced to isolate and again, these are also ‘not required to attend’ 
marks and do not appear in attendance data percentages as a result. Physical 
absence for these academic years is therefore higher than percentage figures 
alone would suggest, which again provides some reassurance in the rising 
attendance marks in 2022/23 which is from a lower benchmark than the 
percentage figures alone may show. 
 
From the data presented above, it is evident that improvements have been 
made across all but one group of learners in 2022/23 compared to the previous 
academic year. However, there remains considerable challenge particularly at 
secondary phase and for eligible Free School Meal learners. Secondary phase 
attendance was 1.7% below the Welsh average of 87.5% in 2022/23 (gap was 
1.0% in 2018/19), 21st position across Wales and therefore is a central focus 
for continued improvement.  
 
The Attendance and Wellbeing Service continues to be proactive in supporting 
schools to improve their rates of attendance.  
 
During the academic year 2022/23 the Council’s Attendance and Wellbeing 
Service performance includes the following: 

2019/20 92.1% 93.4% 88.0% 95.1% 88.0% 7.9% 75.2% 95.3% 

2020/21 85.5% 88.6% 76.7% 91.7% 81.8% 23.2% 53.3% 89.9% 

2021/22 85.2% 87.6% 76.8% 91.5% 81.4% 22.3% 69.9% 88.1% 

2022/23  85.8% 88.3% 77.0% 91.7% 82.4% 21.0% 67.1% 88.2% 

Tudalen 134



• 978 Education Appraisals for families in receipt of support from the 
Resilient Families Service (942 in 2021/22). 

• 773 new open case referrals received (841 in 2021/22). 
• 7,135 Wellbeing Response Visits undertaken (6,802 in 2021/22) for 3,826 

learners. 3,690 visits (51.7%) resulted in improved attendance when 
comparing the 40 days prior to visit, and 40 days afterwards.  

• Prosecuted 30 parents for non-attendance of their children following open 
case work (28 in 2021/22). 

• 18 schools received additional support for attendance via Progress 
Meetings, Team Around the School or single-agency response. 11 of the 
18 (61.1%) have improved their attendance when comparing Autumn Term 
1. 

• Convening an attendance event for Headteachers and Attendance Leads 
was in Hawthorn Leisure Centre in July 2023 with over 80 school 
representatives.  

• Continued support for Family Engagement Officers (FEOs). Additional 
support has also been provided to schools since early 2020 in the form of 
FEOs with funding provided via RCT Cabinet, and more recently  through 
Welsh Government, with match-funding in 29 schools. 

• Additional funding was received from Welsh Government for the 2022/23 
financial year for Education Welfare Services. RCT has utilised this funding 
to employ three additional temporary Attendance and Wellbeing Officers, a 
Targeted Support Officer, and Educational Psychology support for the 
service for the most difficult and entrenched cases and/or those with 
Emotionally Based School Avoidance (EBSA). This will be coupled with a 
pilot this academic year for multi-agency EBSA forums in secondary 
schools to discuss learners facing these difficulties and the support that can 
offered by schools and partners 

 
6.5  The Council’s performance in relation to exclusion continues to be a source of 

concern and the report presented to Children and Young People Scrutiny 
Committee in December 2023 provided a detailed analysis of our performance 
over 2022-23. The table below shows the number of permanent and fixed term 
exclusions and the number of days lost for the academic years 2021/22 and 
2022/23. 
 

 Summary of Exclusions within RCT in 2021/22 – 2022/23 
  

2021/22 2022/23 
Percentage 

difference between 
2021/22 & 2022/23 

Permanent Exclusions 18 31 72.22% 
Reinstated from Permanent Exclusion 3 9 200.00% 
Number of Fixed Term Exclusions 2436 2927 20.16% 
Number of Days Lost 4446.5 5516 24.05% 
Average length of exclusion (days) 1.83 1.88 3.24% 

 
 
 

Tudalen 135



 
 
 
Breakdown of Exclusion Data According to Setting for 2022/23 
 
 Primary 

Phase 
Secondary 

Phase 
PRU/Special 

School Total 

Permanent Exclusions 0 30 1 31 
Number of Fixed Term Exclusions 369 2418 140 2927 
Number of Days Lost 490 4775 251 5516 

 
          The above data demonstrates a significant increase in the number of permanent 

exclusions, fixed term exclusions and the number of days lost within RCT 
schools when comparing academic years 2021/22 and 2022/23.  

 
6.6    The graphs below highlight the fluctuating trends evident within RCT for both 

permanent and fixed term exclusions over the past 5 academic years. However, 
these must he interpreted with considerable caution due to the impact of the 
pandemic years on access to school-based education.  
 
Exclusions within RCT over 5 years 

 
The number of pupils subject to an exclusion has also fluctuated over the past 
five academic years with a dip during the Covid period. However, it is 
concerning that the number of pupils incurring a fixed term exclusion in 2022/23 
exceeded the number excluded in 2018/19 prior to the pandemic: 

 
 Summary of Exclusions within RCT in Autumn Term (1st half-term)  

 
An analysis of trends over the last 5 years Autumn term data (1st half-term) 
shows escalating trend data, although it should be noted that data over the 
pandemic years are likely to be unrepresentative due to school closures and 
high isolation rates during this period. 
 

Autumn Term 1 Number of Exclusions 
2020/21 455 
2021/22 316 
2022/23 542 
2023/24 588 

 
Access and Inclusion Services continue to implement a range of wellbeing and 
behaviour initiatives with the support of Welsh Government grant funding. 
These include 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Permanent exclusions 23 20 9 18 31 
Number of exclusions 2686 1490 1432 2439 2927 
Number of days lost 5365.5 2695 2537.5 4446.5 5516 

Tudalen 136



• Using grant funding to roll out training to schools by Nurture UK on 
diagnostic assessment of behaviour through Boxall Profiling and the 
implementation of nurture approaches in schools at both an accredited and 
non-accredited level.  

• Utilising more consistent tools to assess children’s wellbeing. The Boxall 
profile is an evidence-based assessment tool which is used to assess the 
social, emotional and mental development of pupils aged 4-18. By using a 
consistent tool across the authority, a common language for use across all 
schools and the Behaviour Support Service has been utilised and feedback 
suggests that staff felt more confident in administering the assessment, 
analysing outcomes and planning interventions for pupils. 

• The offer to all secondary and through schools to participate in a  two-year 
accredited National Nurturing Schools Programme together with those 
primary schools that host a Learning Support Class for Nurture or Social, 
Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties (SEBD). To date, one primary 
school has successfully completed accreditation, reporting positive impact 
of the nurturing approach upon the whole-school approach to behaviour 
and wellbeing.  In addition, six secondary schools, two through schools 
and two primary schools are on course to gain accreditation this academic 
year, with an additional secondary school awaiting the outcome of their 
formal assessment.  

• 26 school-based delegates accessed non-accredited Theory and Practice 
of Nurture Groups training which has resulted in nine participants setting 
up a nurture group for pupils in their schools and a further eight 
implementing nurture approaches within the wider school provision.  

• As part of the Education Directorate’s Wellbeing strategy to support the 
implementation of the Welsh Government’s statutory guidance 
‘Framework on embedding a whole-school approach to emotional and 
mental health wellbeing’, a range of projects and training opportunities to 
address issues such as healthy relationships through theatre workshops 
and R-Time group work continue to be funded via the Whole School 
Approach Funding together with further training for school staff on Trauma 
Informed Approaches so that they develop a deeper understanding of pupil 
behaviour and the implementation of supportive, non-punitive approaches 
as alternatives to exclusion. 

 
Schools are also supported  
• By making referrals to wide ranging specialist support services (Behaviour 

Support and Educational Psychology Services) for intervention at 
individual, group or whole school level. 

• With access to training from central services, including bespoke training. 
• By accessing STEP 4 financial support to establish in-house provision for 

learners with significant social, emotional and behavioural needs. Based 
on the evaluation of Tranches 1-3 of the Step 4 Programme and following 
proposals received from schools in Summer Term 2023 additional funding 
of approximately £900k has been agreed to establish a further 8 school-
based Step 4 SEBD provisions in secondary/through schools in Tranche 4 
of the Step 4 programme between September 2023 and August 2025 to 
strengthen the continuum of SEBD provision in RCT. The Step 4 
programme provides enhanced funding to mainstream schools to develop 

Tudalen 137



their own school-based wellbeing and behaviour  provisions to provide 
effective support and intervention for pupils with significant wellbeing 
needs and SEBD within their local school communities and without the 
need to access LA specialist provision. Overall, feedback from schools 
demonstrates positive outcomes for pupils accessing Step 4 provisions in 
relation to improved attendance, reduced exclusions and academic 
attainment.  

• For a minority of schools, the Team Around the School (TAS) Protocol, a 
more collaborative framework for addressing school improvement 
concerns involving schools, Central South Consortium Improvement 
Partners and LA Inclusion Officers, was established last academic year 
with the aim of providing support and challenge to schools where 
significant concerns had been identified in relation to behaviour 
management and exclusions. Despite encouraging early indications of 
improved exclusion data for some schools engaged in the TAS process, 
overall impact of this approach to date is limited and will need further 
consideration. There is, however, an escalation process built in to the TAS 
Protocol where there has been limited progress made by schools in 
reducing their exclusions and addressing behavioural concerns over time. 
From Spring Term 2024, schools will be asked to set improvement targets 
to reduce exclusions in their settings. 

• For schools causing concern and accessing enhanced support, progress 
in addressing any concerns in relation to exclusions are more formally 
monitored through progress meetings involving senior officers and CSC 
colleagues. Where there is significant concern, pre-warning notices are 
issued and more formal monitoring takes place, involving the Director of 
Education, the Cabinet Member for Education, Headteacher, Chair of 
Governors, Head of Achievement and Principal Improvement Partner.   

 
7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS / SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY 
 
7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment is not currently required - the content of the 

report is for information purposes only. 
 
8. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The report highlights specific recommendations relating to the development of 

Welsh language provision and these will be addressed as part of ongoing 
improvement planning and delivery.  

 
9. CONSULTATION  
 
9.1 There is no requirement to undertake any consultation 
 
10. FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
10.1 There are no financial implications aligned to this report. 
 
11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED  
 

Tudalen 138



11.1  The inspection of local government education services (LGES) is carried out 
under Section 38 of the Education Act 1997 which specified that His Majesty’s 
Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales (HMCI) ‘may, and, if 
requested to do so by the Secretary of State, shall, arrange for any local 
authority to be inspected’. Such an inspection ‘shall consist of a review of the 
way in which the authority are performing any function which relates to the 
provision of education for (a) persons of compulsory school age (whether at 
school or otherwise) or (b) for persons of any age above or below that age who 
are registered as pupils at schools maintained by the authority.’  

 
11.2 Other aspects of local authority provision are subject to inspection under a 

range of legislation, including the functions conferred on them under sections 
25 and 26 of the Learning and Skills Act 2000 relating to education, training or 
youth support services (within the meaning of section 123 of the Learning and 
Skills Act 2000).  
 

11.3 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and Local Government 
(Wales) Act 2015 support the approach and arrangements for the inspection of 
local authorities either by individual inspectorates or jointly between Estyn, 
Audit Wales and Care Inspectorate Wales.  

 
11.4 There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report. 
 
12. LINKS TO THE COUNCIL’S CORPORATE PLAN/OTHER CORPORATE 

PRIORITIES/SIP 
 
12.1 This is an information report presenting an overview of Estyn’s inspection of the 

local authority’s education services and the progress made in addressing the 
recommendations. There are clear links associated to the Corporate Plan 2020-
24 and the Education Strategic Plan for 2022-25 which places a clear emphasis 
on improving schools in Rhondda Cynon Taf and realising our Mission of 
Achieving Equity and Excellence in Education and Enhanced Wellbeing for All.  

 
13. STRATEGIC OR RELEVANT TO ELECTORAL WARDS 
 
13.1 This report relates to all electoral wards.  

 
14. CONCLUSION 
 
14.1 The report aims to provide an overview of Estyn’s inspection of Education 

Services in Rhondda Cynon Taf, its strengths and areas for improvement. An 
overview is provided of the progress made to date in addressing the key 
recommendations.  

 
14.2 The Directorate has ensured that Estyn’s recommendations for improvement 

have been a priority for further development in our annual delivery plans and a 
strong focus for our ongoing self-evaluation and improvement planning 
processes, and service delivery. Progress is being made in addressing all three 
recommendations. However, exclusion rates are a source of ongoing concern 

Tudalen 139



and targeted intervention continues in this post pandemic phase. Improving 
rates of attendance and exclusion is a challenge both locally and nationally, and 
this will remain an important focus for 2024 and beyond.  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 140



 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AS AMENDED BY 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

22nd JANUARY 2024 

 
AN UPDATE ON ESTYN’S RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPROVEMENT 

 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES 

 

 

Author: Gaynor Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion 

 

 

 
Background Papers 
 
Inspection report Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 2023 (gov.wales) 

Tudalen 141

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/system/files/2023-03/Inspection%20report%20Rhondda%20Cynon%20Taf%20County%20Borough%20Council%202023_0.pdf


Tudalen wag



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2023-24 
 

EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

22nd JANUARY 2024 
 

WELSH IN EDUCATION STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES 
 

Author: Lisa Howell, 21st Century School Organisation and Business Manager 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide an update on the implementation and the progress of the Council’s 

Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022–2032. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that Members: 
 
2.1 Note the progress made since the previous update. 

 
2.2 Consider the actions contained within the appended Annual Work Plan and 

note the subsequent feedback received from Welsh Government. 
 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

3.1 The WESP is a key priority for the Council and is the strategy for increasing 
and improving the planning of the provision of Welsh medium education in RCT 
to enable all learners in our communities to develop their Welsh language skills 
and assist with Welsh Government vision of 1 million Welsh speakers by 2050. 

 
3.2 The WESP underpins the Council’s approach to achieving the ambitious target 

set to increase the percentage of year one learners in Welsh medium education 
by 10% over a 10 year period.   
 

 

Tudalen 143

Agendwm 7



 
4. BACKGROUND  
 
4.1 Section 84 of The School Standards and Organisation(Wales) Act 2013 

requires a local authority to prepare a Welsh in Education Strategic Plan and 
outlines that a plan must contain: 

 
A: A local authority proposals on how it will carry out its education functions; 

 Improve the planning of the provision of education through the medium 
of Welsh in its area; and, 

 Improve the standards of Welsh medium education and of the teaching 
of Welsh in its area. 

 
B: The local authority targets for improving the planning of the provision of 
Welsh Medium education in its area and reports on the progress made to meet 
the targets contained in the previous Plan or previous revised Plan.  

 
4.2 Following Cabinet permission to consult on the WESP, the Council welcomed 

the opportunity to engage and participate with a wide range of stakeholders 
during the statutory consultation process. Following its conclusion, on 13th 
December 2021, Cabinet approved the draft WESP prior to it being submitted 
to Welsh Government for final approval in January 2022. The WESP became 
a formal and adopted strategic document in September 2022.  
 

4.3 In order to meet the ambitious overarching target of the WESP by 2032, the 
Council, along with external partnership organisations who collectively form the 
WESP Steering Group, continue to work collaboratively to ensure success.  
 

4.4 The WESP Steering Group is chaired by the Director of Education with each 
member of the Senior Management Team in the Education Directorate having 
responsibility for leading the work on each of the seven outcomes associated 
with the WESP. This is achieved through the work of the seven WESP Sub-
Groups, which has included the co-construction of the action plan and moving 
forward, its effective delivery and review. The WESP Sub-Groups have been 
established to provide an effective focus for the Directorate, in partnership with 
external groups and organisations, to deliver on the 10 year plan with the aim 
of achieving the overarching goal of significantly increasing the number of 
learners in Welsh medium education by 2032.  
 

4.5 There has been good engagement from our partners in the WESP Steering 
Group and the seven WESP Sub-Groups. This has included participation from 
a range of Directorates across the Council, external organisations, early years 
provisions, English and Welsh medium schools, and further education 
providers.    
 

4.6 Outcomes from each of the seven WESP Sub-Groups contributed to the annual 
Work Plan as well as a draft five-year Work Plan. The draft five-year Work Plan 
was submitted to Welsh Government on 17th December 2022 and positive 
feedback was received. 
 

Tudalen 144



4.7 A process for monitoring progress against the Work Plan has been established 
to ensure that we remain on target. The Annual Work Plan is intended to be a 
practical working document to ensure effective delivery of the WESP in the 
shorter term.  
 

4.8 The Council is required to review the WESP each year and submit to Welsh 
Government an Annual Review Report capturing the key achievements for that 
year. A copy of the Annual Review Report is included in Appendix 1. An Annual 
Review Report will be provided to Members annually.  

 
5. UPDATE / CURRENT POSITION 
 
5.1 The Council’s Annual Review Report for year one of the WESP was submitted 

to Welsh Government for consideration on 31st July 2023.  
 

5.2 Feedback from Welsh Government on the report was received on 14th 
November 2023. The feedback received was largely positive, a full copy of the 
response is contained within Appendix 2. 
 

5.3 There has been further notable progress made in a number of areas since the 
report was prepared and submitted to Welsh Government in July 2023, and 
these are listed below. 
 
Outcome 1 
 

5.4 Following submission of two capital funding bids to Welsh Government for 
development proposals to increase Welsh medium childcare provision for 
Penderyn and YGG Castellau, a sum of £840k has been approved by Welsh 
Government for Penderyn. The funding decision from Welsh Government for 
YGG Castellau is still awaited.  
 
As part of the Flying Start expansion, of the total number of 563 Flying Start 
places offered since April 2023, 90 (18%) have opted for Welsh medium Flying 
Start provision. This is a notable increase and a positive step forward to 
increasing the numbers accessing provision. 
 
Outcome 2 

 
5.5 The Council’s Welsh Language Immersion Service ‘Taith Iaith’ officially 

welcomed learners from September 2023. At the end of term (December 2023), 
a total of 11 learners across seven different schools were accessing support. 
The immersion team were at full capacity at the end of the Autumn term, 
however as some learners were expected to finish the bespoke programme by 
Christmas, new spaces are now available. The immersion teacher has been 
gathering feedback from those parents accessing the service, as well as from 
staff at the relevant schools. Feedback received has been incredibly positive, 
which has been echoed by some of the teachers who attend the WESP 
Steering Group during recent meetings.  

Tudalen 145



 
Outcome 3 
 

5.6 On the whole, the transition rates between Welsh medium primary and Welsh 
medium secondary education across the County Borough are positive, however 
there are certain areas where higher numbers are transitioning to the nearest 
English medium secondary school. The Head of Service Transformation and 
Data Systems has met, or is due to meet, with each separate school cluster to 
discuss the data in further detail with the respective schools. 
 
Outcome 4 
 

5.7 Contact has been made with the Hen Felin Training Centre who deliver 
childcare qualifications in the Rhondda area, to gather further information on 
the courses they offer at the centre. Although they don’t offer courses through 
the medium of Welsh, they do have a Welsh speaking assessor who can liaise 
and support students. The assessors actively support Welsh speaking students 
onto placements in Welsh medium settings with the hope of retaining work in 
this field. This is a positive step to addressing some of the concerns relating to 
difficulties recruiting Welsh medium childcare practitioners.  
 
Outcome 5 
 

5.8 All schools in RCT continue to work towards achieving the bronze, silver or gold  
Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus award, which is awarded to schools for 
increasing the use of Welsh outside of the classroom, in line with the relevant 
criteria. CSCJES lead on this programme. A total of 5 Welsh medium primary 
schools and 2 English medium primary schools have achieved the gold award 
and completed the programme. All other schools continue to work towards 
achieving their respective awards. There are 2 English medium secondary 
schools yet to engage with provision, CSCJES are targeting these schools to 
encourage uptake with provision.  
 
 
Within the Annual Review Report, there’s information relating to the first fully 
Welsh leisure club in RCT which was established during the summer. At the 
time of submitting the Annual Review Report, the club had submitted an 
application for funding and has since received confirmation that they have been 
successful in securing just over £2,000 of funding from the Sport Wales Be 
Active grant. Work around this continues and further updates will follow in due 
course.  
 
Outcome 6 
 

5.9 The new Welsh medium LSC provision for Key Stage 3 & 4 learners with ALN 
at Ysgol Garth Olwg opened to learners from September 2023. 
 
The Council have recently consulted on the establishment of two new Welsh 
medium primary phase LSCs in the new Welsh medium school YGG Awel Taf 
which will open to learners from September 2024.  

Tudalen 146



 
Marketing 
 

5.10 In October 2023, a social media marketing campaign was launched across the 
Council’s corporate social media platforms (Facebook and Twitter). The 
campaign specifically targeted promoting Welsh medium education with the 
use of videos shared by Welsh Government and Mudiad Meithrin. The 
campaign ran for 10 weeks, the statistics of the campaign will now be evaluated 
to inform future campaigns. 
 
An Eisteddfod Schools Working Party has been established. Working alongside 
officers from the Eisteddfod team, the working group will serve as an 
opportunity for schools to engage directly with the Eisteddfod through sharing 
good practice and collaborating on activities to fundraise and raise awareness 
of the Eisteddfod ahead of its arrival in August 2024. 
 
In December 2023, with the support of Ysgol Llanhari, a funding application 
was submitted to Cronfa Glyndwr to secure funding towards the creation of a 
Welsh medium education promotional video. We were successful in securing 
the funding, the Council’s WESP Officer will now work with Ysgol Llanhari, 
WESP partners and internal officers to plan and produce a video specific to 
RCT. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS/SOCIO-ECONOMIC DUTY 
 
6.1 An Equality and Diversity Impact Assessment (with Social-Economic Duty) for 

the WESP has been completed and presented to both the Review Panel and 
Cabinet, this document has been reviewed and remains valid.  
 

6.2 In summary, the Equality and Socio-Economic Impact Assessment identifies 
both positive and neutral impacts, and no negative impacts upon protected 
characteristics.  
 

7. WELSH LANGUAGE IMPLICATIONS  
 
7.1 A Welsh Language Impact Assessment for the proposed WESP has been 

developed and previously presented to both the Review Panel and Cabinet, this 
document has been reviewed and remains valid.  
 

7.2 Recognising the importance of ‘Cymraeg 2050’, and how essential the 
education system is to achieving its vision, the WESP sets out the Council’s 
ten-year plan for increasing and improving the planning of provision for Welsh 
medium and Welsh language education.  It builds on the work of the previous 
WESP for the period between 2017 to 2022 and sets out a plan demonstrating 
how the Council intends to achieve its ten-year vision.  

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 147



8. CONSULTATION / INVOLVEMENT 
 
8.1 A comprehensive public statutory consultation was undertaken between 

Monday 13th September 2021 to Monday 8th November 2021. The feedback 
provided via this consultation has been incorporated into the approved WESP 
for 2022-32. 
 

9. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
9.1 There are no financial implications aligned to this report. 
 
10. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 
10.1 The following legislation/regulations are aligned to this report: 
 

1) Section 84 of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. 
2) The WESP (Wales) Regulations 2019. 
3) The WESP (Wales) (Amendment) (Coronavirus) Regulations 2020. 

 
11. LINKS TO THE COUNCILS CORPORATE PLAN / OTHER CORPORATE 

PRIORITIES / WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS ACT 
 

11.1 The WESP links to the Council’s Corporate Plan for the period between 2020 
to 2024, specifically the priority: 

 Prosperity – Creating the opportunity for people and businesses to be 
innovative, entrepreneurial and fulfil their potential and prosper: 
O Ensuring we have good schools, so all children have access to a 

great education. 
 

11.2 The delivery of the WESP will contribute to all seven wellbeing goals listed 
within the Future Generation (Wales) Act.  In addition, due regard has been 
made to the Five Ways of Working, as contained within the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  
 

12. CONCLUSION 
 
12.1 In order to meet the target by 2032, the Council, along with external partners 

and representatives who form the WESP Steering Group and WESP Sub-
Groups, must work collectively to achieve this ambitious goal. The WESP Sub-
Groups will continue to work collaboratively to implement the actions identified 
within the Work Plan with the aim of successfully achieving the key targets.  

 
12.2 The Council remains committed to ensuring the availability of Welsh medium 

education and will continue to support and encourage transition from the initial 
early years through to primary and secondary education before progressing 
through to higher and further education, so that all learners whatever their 
learning needs are able to access Welsh medium provision. This is in line with 
Welsh Government’s vision to create one million Welsh speakers in Wales by 
2050 as set out in ‘Cymraeg 2050’ 

 

Tudalen 148



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

EDUCATION & INCLUSION SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

22 JANUARY 2024 
 

WELSH IN EDUCATION STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
Author: Lisa Howell, 21st Century School Organisation and Business Manager 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 149



Tudalen wag



 

1 
 

 

ANNUAL REVIEW 

REPORT WELSH IN 

EDUCATION STRATEGIC 

PLAN 

 

2022-2023 

 

 

 

 

Name of Local Authority 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough  

 

 

 

 

 

Author: 

Hannah Bebb, Graduate Officer, in Partnership with Senior 

Officers within the Education Directorate 

Approver: Gaynor Davies, Director of Education and Inclusion Services 

Date 31.7.23 

  

Tudalen 151



 

2 
 

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS / HIGHLIGHTS 

Flying Start Expansion  

Since the introduction of the new ‘Flying Start Approved Provider List’ model, Flying Start 

colleagues have been working with Mudiad Meithrin to increase the number of Welsh medium 

providers on this list. Since the beginning of this academic year, 7 additional providers have 

joined the ‘Approved Provider’ list. A total of 125 Welsh medium Flying Start childcare places 

were taken this year, 56 of these places were taken up following the roll out of the expansion 

areas.  

 

Development of Welsh medium education throughout the County Borough 

Works have been completed on the school site of YGG Aberdar in the Cynon area to deliver 

a new sessional childcare facility providing an additional 30 registered places, and an 

extension to provide additional facilities and an additional 72 learner places at the school. 

Works have also been completed for YG Rhydywaun in the Cynon area to deliver an extension 

to increase capacity at the school. The brand new block on the school site opened to learners 

from September 2022 and created an additional 187 learner places at the school. In the 

Rhondda Fach area, capital funding has been secured to provide a brand new school for YGG 

Llyn y Forwyn. Work is progressing on the new school site to provide additional capacity, 

childcare facilities, and community use facilities to encourage the use of the language in the 

community. In the Taff Ely area of the county, the construction of the new Welsh medium 

school in Rhydyfelin has progressed successfully. The new school will be named Ysgol Awel 

Taf and is on target to open to learners from September 2024 as planned. 

 

Welsh Language Immersion 

In the spring term, the Local Authority successfully recruited a specialist teacher plus 2 

learning support assistants to deliver Welsh language immersion to learners who are 

latecomers to Welsh medium education. The immersion teacher prepared a delivery plan for 

the roll out of the provision and successfully received funding to purchase resources. The 

team started to work with 3 learners from 3 separate schools from June 2023, this support will 

recommence from September when returning back to school for the next academic year. Two 

further learners have been recruited to commence support from September 2023.  

 

Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus programme 

CSCJES have been working closely with all schools in RCT to support them in achieving 

bronze, silver, and gold awards. There are now 5 Welsh medium primary schools who’ve 

received the gold award and 1 Welsh medium secondary school has received the silver 

award. There are 40 English medium primary schools who’ve received the bronze award with 

10 going on to receive the silver and 2 have received the gold award. A total of 5 English 

medium secondary schools have received the bronze award and 3 English medium special 

schools/units have received the bronze award.  

 

Increasing Additional Learning Needs (ALN) provision 

Following difficulties with recruiting specialist staff, we have now successfully recruited staff 
for the new Welsh medium LSC provision for Key Stage 3 and 4 learners at Ysgol Garth Olwg. 
The provision will open to learners from September 2023. Actions undertaken to review the 

Tudalen 152



 

3 
 

sufficiency of Welsh medium ALN provision in RCT have highlighted identified areas of need 
for development. As a result, the proposals for the establishment of Welsh medium ALN 
provision in the new Welsh medium primary school in Rhydyfelin have been brought forward. 
Consultation is currently underway and if successful, 2 new Welsh medium primary phase 
LSCs will be established at the new school. 

 

 

 

OVERALL PLAN SUMMARY 

The overarching target of our WESP is to increase the percentage of year one learners being 
taught through the medium of Welsh in RCT by 10% over the duration of the plan to increase 
the percentage to 30%. The data in the table below is derived from PLASC and demonstrates 
the number of year one learners attending Welsh medium primary schools over the previous 
five academic years, up to and including 2022-2023. The data demonstrates that the number 
of year one learners attending Welsh medium primary schools this year has decreased by 3 
learners which is not a cause for concern at present. The impact of the interventions we are 
and will be delivering will take time to embed, so this will continue to be monitored closely 
each year as we move through the ten year plan.  

 

Table A 

Total Number of Year One Learners Attending Welsh Medium Primary 

Schools Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Year 

Group 

Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Year One 537 506 544 524 521 

 

In order to reach our goal of increasing the percentage of learners by 10% by the year 2032, 
our targets for the next ten years are set out below. Please note, these are our projected target 
figures based off the overarching target of increasing the number of year one learners from 
524 to 795, so the increase may not always follow a linear trend as depicted in the table below.  

 

Table B 

Target Number and % of Year One Learners Receiving Their Education 
Through the Medium of Welsh 

2022 - 2023 2023 - 2024 2024 - 2025 2025 - 2026 2026 - 2027 

524 20% 556 21% 583 22% 609 23% 636 24% 

2027 - 2028 2028 - 2029 2029 - 2030 2030 - 2031 2031 - 2031 

662 25% 689 26% 715 27% 742 28% 795 30% 

 

When comparing the actual data with the projected data, although the actual number is slightly 
less than the projected number, as this is such a small difference it has not been assessed 
as a red rating. As we have not had an increase in the number if would not be appropriate to 
rate our progress as green, therefore we have determined that the rating of progress against 
our overarching target is at amber for the first year of the plan. 

 

Tudalen 153



 

4 
 

The first year of the WESP has provided the foundations for building constructive working 
relationships amongst internal and external officers, partners, groups, and organisations who 
contribute towards the WESP. We have made a good start to working towards achieving the 
targets set out in the WESP and we are progressing well across all outcomes. An increase in 
opportunities to communicate in Welsh in both Welsh and English medium schools has been 
seen during this year and we have proactively marketed the benefits of being bilingual and 
Welsh medium education through distribution of the Local Authority’s Being Bilingual booklets 
and through making amendments to the authority’s corporate website. We have facilitated 
continued investment in Welsh medium provision to deliver significant investment to improve 
and provide moder educational facilities for Welsh medium schools in RCT and we continue 
to do so as we move forward with the WESP.  

 

A self-assessment has been conducted to rate our progress against each outcome of the 
WESP. Some outcomes have had more successes than others as can be seen in the detailed 
report that follows. When taking a balanced view of the WESP, although some outcomes 
could achieve a green rating, on the whole we would give ourselves an orange rating after the 
first year of delivery. 

 

 

 

FOREWARD LOOK MILESTONES 

Implement a marketing campaign: 

During this first year, we have liaised with colleagues from the Local Authority’s Marketing 
team to identify the key officers with responsibility for different elements of marketing. A 
communications strategy has been prepared and a marketing strategy is currently in 
development, to be implemented from September 2023. This strategy will incorporate all 
elements of the WESP to ensure we are proactively marketing and promoting Welsh medium 
education. We will work closely with WESP stakeholders and the Southeast Wales Welsh 
Language Education Champion to ensure effective marketing and promotion of Welsh 
education in RCT. 

 

Develop Welsh Language Immersion provision: 

The immersion service has recently been established, working with learners since June 2023. 
Promoting this service will be a key priority during year 2 of the WESP to ensure its profile is 
widely raised so that parents/carers are aware of the support available for learners who are 
latecomers to the language. As we progress through the year, we will continually review the 
provision and its structure to ensure its fit for purpose to fully immerse learners in the 
language. The demand for the service will be monitored throughout the year to assess any 
changes in demand for the service and to evaluate the impact of the service on learners who 
have accessed support.  

 

Deliver significant investment to improve and provide modern educational facilities for 
Welsh medium schools, to include: 

 Progress with construction of a new Welsh medium school in Rhydyfelin. 

 Progress with construction of a new Welsh medium school for YGG Llyn y Forwyn. 

 Progress with development options for YG Cwm Rhondda. 

 If consultation is successful, progress with proposals for 2 new Welsh medium primary 
phase LSCs in the new Welsh medium school in Rhydyfelin. 

 If funding is received, progress with proposals for childcare and early years developments 
for YGG Castellau and YGG Penderyn.  

Tudalen 154



 

5 
 

 

Strengthen links between schools at local universities to increase the number of 
teaching staff able to teach through the medium of Welsh: 

During the first year of the WESP, we’ve collaborated with Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol to 
promote the initiatives they are running aimed at encouraging students into Welsh medium 
teaching positions. We will continue to work with the Coleg to strengthen links. A key priority 
will be to bring together representatives from the Coleg, local universities and our Welsh 
medium secondary schools to encourage school aged learners to consider teaching as a 
career pathway and to support those considering these pathways. We also aim to strengthen 
the promotion of working within education in RCT through improved information and 
signposting on our website. 

 

  

 

Tudalen 155



 

6 
 

Outcome 1 

More nursery children/ three year olds receive their education through the 

medium of Welsh 

KEY ANNUAL DATA  

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Data 

The data in the table that follows is derived from the latest CIW list of registered and 

unregistered settings known to the Family Information Service (FIS). It demonstrates the total 

number of registered and unregistered Welsh and English medium childcare and early years 

settings alongside the number of places available in RCT. 

 

Table 1.1 

 

Total Number of Welsh and English Medium Childcare and Early Years Settings 

Available in RCT 

Childcare Type 

Total No. of 

Registered 

Settings 

Total No. of 

Places 

Total No. of 

Unregistered 

Settings 

Total No. of 

Places 

Childminder 98 789 0 0 

Day Care Full Day 

Care 

64 2,283 0 0 

Sessional 

Day Care 

22 575 2 Unknown 

Crèches 0 0 0 0 

Out of 

School 

Care 

13 530 5 Unknown 

Open 

Access 

Play 

Provision 

5 290 2 Unknown 

Nanny 2 0 0 0 

Total 204 4,467 9 0 

 

The data in the table that follows, again derived from the latest CIW list of registered and 
unregistered settings known to FIS, demonstrates the total number of registered and 
unregistered Welsh medium childcare and early years settings (both Welsh medium and 
bilingual) alongside the number of places available in RCT. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 156



 

7 
 

 

 

Table 1.2 

 

Total Number of Welsh Medium Childcare and Early Years Settings Available in RCT 

Childcare Type Total No. of 
Registered 
Settings 

Total No. of 
Places 

Total No. of 
Unregistered 
Settings 

Total No. of 
Places 

Childminder 1 25 0 0 

Day Care Full Day 
Care 

20 634 0 0 

Sessional 
Day Care 

6 154 0 0 

Creches  0 0 0 0 

Out of 
School Care 

3 120 3 Unknown 

Total 30 933 3 0 

 

PLASC Data 

The data in the table below is derived from PLASC and outlines the number of pre-nursery, 
pre-nursery part-time, nursery and nursery part-time learners attending Welsh medium primary 
schools for the previous four academic years up to and including 2022-2023. The data for this 
academic year shows an increase in the numbers attending pre-nursery and pre-nursery part-
time however the numbers at nursery and nursery part-time have declined.   

 

Table 1.3 

Total Number of Pre-Nursery, Pre-Nursery Part Time, Nursery and Nursery Part 
Time Learners Attending Welsh Medium Primary Schools Over the Previous 
Four Academic Years 

 

Year Group 

Academic Year 

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Pre-Nursery 27 26 18 23 

Pre-Nursery Part 
Time 

29 39 32 49 

Nursery 406 437 366 359 

Nursery Part Time 130 95 145 138 

Total  592 597 561 569 

 

 

The data in the table below, also derived from PLASC, outlines the number of pre-nursery, pre-

nursery part-time, nursery and nursery part-time learners attending English medium primary 

schools for the previous four academic years up to and including 2022-2023.  

 

 

 

Tudalen 157



 

8 
 

 

 

 

Table 1.4 

Total Number of Pre-Nursery, Pre-Nursery Part Time, Nursery and 
Nursery Part Time Learners Attending English Medium Primary Schools 
Over the Previous Four Academic Years 

 

Year Group 

Academic Year 

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Pre-Nursery 95 206 165 160 

Pre-Nursery 
Part Time 

262 290 216 202 

Nursery 1,311 1,540 1,436 1,430 

Nursery Part 
Time 

760 359 512 460 

Total  2,428 2,395 2,329 2,252 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This data demonstrates a decline in the total number of learners in English medium primary 

schools over the five year period, however this does not correlate with an increased number of 

learners attending Welsh medium primary schools as a result. Although an additional 8 learners 

were reported in Welsh medium schools for this academic year, a loss of 77 learners were 

reported in English medium schools. This indicates that the numbers accessing pre-nursery, 

pre-nursery part-time, nursery and nursery part-time are falling in general across RCT. 

 

Mudiad Meithrin Data 

At the beginning of the academic year, there were 19 Cylchoedd Meithrin in RCT. As of July 

2023, there are now 20 Cylchoedd Meithrin in RCT following the opening of Cylch Meithrin 

Cilfynydd.  

 

The data received by Mudiad Meithrin in the Autumn term for the academic year 2021-2022 

demonstrates the total number of children who transitioned from a Cylch to primary education, 

the numbers transitioned into Welsh medium education and the numbers transitioned into 

English medium education. The data demonstrates some positives with some settings having 

majority of the children transferring into Welsh medium education, however there are some 

pockets of the County Borough where transition rates into English medium education is higher 

than the transition into Welsh medium education.  

 

Recent sub-group and steering group meetings have highlighted concerns around the accuracy 

of this data as many settings now offer both Welsh and English medium sessions. This means 

that the total number of children being accounted for includes children accessing English 

medium provision via the settings who will naturally transition into English medium primary 

education. The Local Authority’s Education Data Team are working with Mudiad Meithrin on a 

new ‘Data Sharing Agreement’ between the Local Authority and Welsh medium early years 

Tudalen 158



 

9 
 

settings in order to gather accurate data on the numbers accessing both Welsh and English 

medium sessions and the onward monitoring of where these children transition to. 

 

Table 1.5 

 

Cylch 

Total No. 
Transitioned 
into School 

No. 
Transitioned 
into Welsh 

Medium 
Education 

No. 
Transitioned 
into English 

Medium 
Education 

Aberdar 43 24 19 

Beddau 25 25 0 

Evan James 24 23 1 

Llanilltud Faerdref 9 7 2 

Penderyn 37 27 10 

Pentre’r Eglwys 29 13 16 

Rhydyfelin 17 12 5 

Seren Fach  41 21 20 

Ynysybwl  17 7 10 

Abercynon - - - 

Bronllwyn 48 38 10 

Bysedd Bach (Porth) 28 28 0 

Cwm Elai 24 17 7 

Glynrhedyn 11 10 1 

Llanhari 26 14 12 

Llantrisant 12 12 0 

Nant Dyrys 32 26 6 

Ynyshir/Wattstown 64 27 37 

Ysgol Dolau 6 6 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

There are currently 13 Cylchoedd Ti a Fi in RCT. The Headteacher of the new Welsh medium 

school in Rhydyfelin which is due to open in the next academic year, has been working with 

Mudiad Meithrin and RCT Childcare Development team to register the school to run Cylch Ti a 

Fi sessions from October 2023. This provision will continue once the new school opens to 

learners from September 2024. 

 

Flying Start Data 

Since the beginning of this academic year, the number of Welsh medium Flying Start childcare 

places taken were 125. Of this number, 56 childcare places were taken up following the roll out 

of the expansion areas. Welsh Medium places taken up also increased and 20% of the 

expansion places were in Welsh settings during Phase 2 of the expansion and this continues 

to grow. This is as a direct result of having more Welsh approved providers and a wider 

geographical spread. 

Tudalen 159



 

10 
 

OUTCOME SUMMARY 

Flying Start Expansion 

The Flying Start team have continued to work with new childcare providers including 
childminders to enable them to become Flying Start Approved Providers to increase the choice 
of provision available and the number of Welsh medium Flying Start places available. This will 
assist the Local Authority with meeting the demand for places as part of the expansion and will 
also provide parents with a wider choice of settings to meet their childcare needs and language 
choice. 

 

The Flying Start team are working closely with Mudiad Meithrin to increase Welsh medium 
provision across RCT to bring them on board the approved supplier list for Flying Start. At the 
beginning of this academic year, there were 14 Welsh medium Flying Start Approved Providers 
in RCT. As of July 2023, there are currently 21 approved providers and Welsh medium places 
taken up as part of the phase 2A expansion has increased by 20%. 

 

The Flying Start team have also designed a leaflet (Flying Start Bilingual Journey) in partnership 
with Mudiad Meithrin which is now circulated to every new family when the child is 18 months 
old via the Family Health Visitor. 

 

Information on the Availability of Welsh Medium Education Provision 

The Local Authority’s ‘Being Bilingual’ booklets is an effective way of providing parents/carers 
with information on Welsh medium education and provision as it covers a range of areas to 
include: 

 The benefits of being bilingual  

 Addresses common parental concerns around choosing Welsh medium education 

 The journey from Cymraeg i Blant through to Higher Education  

 List of Cylchoedd Meithrin in RCT along with contact details 

 List of Welsh medium schools in RCT along with contact details  

 Links through to additional support for parents/carers through partner organisations 
such as Cymraeg i Blant, Learn Welsh Cymru and Welsh4Parents. 

 

During this academic year, the contact details for RCT schools were updated and as such, 
amendments were needed to reflect the changes in our booklets. The digital version of the 
booklet has been updated and replaced on the website and leaflet inserts with updated contact 
details have been designed and printed to be placed inside the physical copies of the booklets. 
Further amendments were made to the digital booklets to include narrative around the support 
now available via the Local Authority’s newly established Welsh language immersion provision. 
The immersion teacher has worked with the Local Authority’s Design team to design and create 
promotional leaflets which have been shared with all Welsh medium schools in RCT. 
Distribution of these leaflets will be extended to Cylchoedd Meithrin, along with the Being 
Bilingual booklets.  

 

The Local Authority’s Childcare Development and Education teams have attended local events 
such as Parti Ponty and the Teddy Bears Picnic to distribute booklets and leaflets to the general 
public, taking advantage of the opportunities to directly engage with parents/carers who may 
be considering Welsh medium education as an option for their child. Wider distribution of the 
booklets will be completed over the summer period to include RCT, Merthyr Tydfil and Bridgend 
birth registration services and Health Visitors. 

 

Tudalen 160



 

11 
 

A review of the Local Authority’s corporate website has been undertaken and as a result a 
dedicated Welsh medium education page is now available to ensure options around Welsh 
medium education provision are available to parents/carers. This section of the website 
provides an overview of the benefits of being bilingual, links to finding your local Cylch Meithrin, 
links to finding schools in your catchment areas, and links through to organisations who can 
support to include Mudiad Meithrin, Learn Welsh Wales, Menter Iaith. This is the first step 
undertaken in reviewing our corporate website. During Year 2 of the WESP, further 
amendments to the website are planned to assist with the uptake of Welsh medium education. 

 

During this academic year, FIS has launched a new platform which is a standalone website to 
the corporate website. The FIS officer is working with the Childcare Development team to 
incorporate changes to the new platform to include sections relating to Welsh medium 
childcare, early years, schools and learning. FIS team ensure the Dewis platform is regularly 
reviewed to ensure information available to parents/carers is as accurate as possible. 

 

The Local Authority’s School Admissions team post admissions deadline dates via corporate 
social media platforms, along with a message promoting Welsh medium education. This is now 
being done with each school admission application window. The School Admissions team 
closely monitor any in-year transfer requests to ensure these have been completed following 
the changes made to the in-year transfer process, which is detailed under Outcome 3. School 
Admissions officers have also received information around the late immersion provision which 
is promoted to any prospective parents/carers. 

 

Partnership Working 

The Local Authority’s Childcare Development team offer support and guidance to childcare 
settings that would like to develop and expand their Welsh medium provision by offering 
business support, new/expansion of provision grants and signposting to relevant agencies, 
such as Mudiad Meithrin. Capital funding bids have recently been submitted to Welsh 
Government to expand and develop Welsh medium services in two areas of RCT. These bids 
were developed in collaboration with Mudiad Meithrin, Flying Start colleagues and the relevant 
Welsh medium schools. The outcome of these bids has not yet been decided. 

 

Representatives from Cymraeg i Blant and Mudiad Meithrin have attended events such as Parti 
Ponty and the Teddy Bears Picnic to promote Welsh medium provision and the support 
available to parents/carers. A member of the Local Authority’s Education team also attended 
the events to promote what’s available locally through distribution of the Being Bilingual 
booklets along with Cymraeg i Blant and Mudiad Meithrin’s own promotional materials. Mudiad 
Meithrin have created a compilation of promotional videos demonstrating the advantages of 
attending a Cylch Meithrin and choosing Welsh medium education. These resources, along 
with promotional resources received by Welsh Government, have been shared with the Local 
Authority’s Marketing team to be promoted via the Local Authority’s corporate social media 
platforms and with FIS to be promoted via their new website. 

 

Cymraeg i Blant have recently appointed a new officer who will be commencing the role from 
September 2023. The officer will deliver Cymraeg i Blant sessions across the County Borough 
to include story and song time and baby yoga. We will work closely with the new officer to 
ensure these sessions are widely marketed and promoted to assist with uptake. 

 

Planning of Welsh Medium Provision 

The Local Authority’s Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA) identified areas of RCT where 
future development is needed. As part of the CSA, mapping exercises were conducted which 
identified geographical gaps in Welsh medium provision across RCT. Consultations conducted 

Tudalen 161



 

12 
 

as part of the CSA identified that parents/carers in the Taf Ely area of RCT were most likely to 
require Welsh medium childcare. The Local Authority’s Childcare Development team have met 
with Mudiad Meithrin and held conversations on the findings of these exercises. Further areas 
have been identified by Mudiad Meithrin through their own exercises which has been shared 
with the Childcare Development team. The findings of these exercises have identified areas of 
RCT where new developments are needed. These areas will be prioritised for development in 
partnership with Mudiad Meithrin during Year 2 of the WESP. 

 

Promoting Access to Education Through the Medium of Welsh 

Under section 10 of the Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008, all Local Authorities have a 
statutory duty to provide learners with access to education and training through the medium of 
Welsh. The Measure outlines that free transport to their nearest suitable school is provided if 
they reside beyond safe walking distance. The law relating to safe walking distance is defined 
as two miles for learners of compulsory school age receiving primary education and three miles 
for learners of compulsory school age receiving secondary education. The Local Authority has 
exercised the discretionary powers afforded to it under the Measure to make a more generous 
provision to learners, as set out below: 

 

 The eligibility criterion for walking distance for learners receiving compulsory primary 
education at their nearest suitable school has been set at 1½ miles, instead of 2 miles.  

 Free transport to the nearest suitable school, where places are available, is provided to 
learners who meet the ½ mile eligibility criterion from the start of the Foundation Phase (the 
start of the school term after their third birthday), rather than the start of compulsory 
education (the start of the school term after their fifth birthday).  

 The eligibility criterion for walking distance for learners receiving compulsory secondary 
education at their nearest suitable school has been set at 2 miles instead of 3 miles.  

 

The current policy is that learners attending the nearest Welsh medium or dual language school 
receive free transport in accordance with its agreed policy on walking distance and safe routes. 

 

A review has been undertaken to identify the number of Welsh medium schools which do not 
currently have a Welsh medium early years setting co-located on the school site, or in close 
proximity to the school. The outcome of this review demonstrated that there are only 2 Welsh 
medium schools in RCT without a setting co-located, or in close proximity of the school. 
However, both of these schools have settings located within less than a mile of the school. We 
will continue to monitor the numbers attending these settings to ensure any notable changes in 
relation to the numbers attending and transitioning into primary education is monitored and 
actioned effectively. 

 

The Local Authority’s 21st Century Schools team continue to progress and deliver projects to 
facilitate growth for Welsh medium childcare and early years settings in RCT. During this 
academic year, work was completed on a new sessional childcare facility creating an additional 
30 registered places at YGG Aberdar. The setting opened to learners from September 2022 
and has been successful. The setting has already expanded their offer to include afternoon 
sessions due to high demand. 

 

Plans for a new dedicated childcare facility to be built co-located on the new site of the new 
Welsh medium school at YGG Llyn y Forwyn have progressed during this academic year. 
Enablement works have begun on the site with construction expected to commence over the 
summer period. The Local Authority’s Childcare Development team have already met with the 
childcare provider to explain the expectations for the new settings with regards to expanding 

Tudalen 162



 

13 
 

their provision and its promotion  to new parents/carers. This support will be ongoing over Year 
2 of the WESP.  

 

Outcome 1 Sub-Group 

A sub-group has been established to focus solely on each outcome of the WESP. The sub-
groups provide an effective focus for the Local Authority in partnership with external groups and 
organisations. The sub-group have met virtually on a termly basis to review the actions listed 
on the Outcome 1 Annual Work Plan and provide updates on any progress made and to discuss 
next steps for actions, where appropriate. The sub-group meetings have provided opportunities 
to collaborate with partners such as Mudiad Meithrin, Cymraeg i Blant, RhAG and Menter Iaith 
as well as representatives from different school cluster groups. These meetings have 
strengthened partnership working and allowed for ideas to be shared amongst key partners to 
ensure planning of Welsh medium childcare provision in RCT is effective and co-ordinated. 

 

IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

As referred to above, we have a dedicated group focussing solely on this outcome. The Service 

Director of 21st Century Schools and Transformation leads this sub-group and membership 

includes internal officers, representation from Welsh medium primary schools, Health Visitors, 

and external partners to include Mudiad Meithrin, Cymraeg i Blant, RhAG, Menter Iaith and 

Dysgu Cymraeg. 

 

The initial sub-group meetings held at the beginning of this academic year focussed on 

developing the work plan which details the overarching targets, the actions and the key 

activities required to achieve the targets. The Outcome 1 Sub-group meets on a termly basis 

to review the targets and actions listed on the work plan to provide an opportunity for 

members to provide updates on any progress made, where appropriate, and to identify ways 

to move forward with certain actions. These meetings have been held virtually and have had 

good levels of engagement. The sub-group lead will review end dates of actions on the work 

plan to ensure the group remains on targets and in situations where the end date has 

surpassed, questions will be asked as to why and follow on steps agreed upon to ensure we 

move forward and don’t miss any targets. Following each meeting, minutes of the meeting are 

shared with members of the sub-group and the ‘Progress/Evaluation’ column on the work plan 

is updated with any comments made during the meeting.  

 

OUTCOME LEVEL RISKS 

 Recruitment of qualified Welsh medium staff to work in childcare and early years settings: 

Issues being faced at present with recruiting qualified Welsh medium staff. This is preventing 

some settings from offering further sessions as they do not have the staff to do this. 

 

 Sustainability of settings: 

New and current settings need to be sustainable if we are to encourage uptake amongst 

parents/carers. We need to consider where settings are being set up and how we’re signposting 

parents/carers to Welsh medium opportunities. 

 

 Falling birth rates across RCT: 

Tudalen 163



 

14 
 

The live birth information received from the Local Health Board indicates that birth rates in 

general are falling in RCT. This will impact both Welsh and English medium settings and our 

projected targets as we progress through the WESP. 

 

 Flying Start expansion: 

Some settings are reluctant to become approved providers due to concerns around the difficulty 
of the online procurement system which must be completed to become an approved provider. 

 

 The closure of settings impacting school numbers: 

For example, in the catchment area of YGG Ynyswen, there were previously 3 Cylchoedd 
Meithrin but now there’s only 1 which is located next door to the school site. This has greatly 
impacted the numbers at the school which have halved following the closure of the other 
settings. 

 

 The location of settings: 

In line with the risk identified above, closure of other Cylchoedd within catchment areas can 

greatly impact the numbers at the school. 

 

ASSURANCE / MITIGATION ACTION 

 Recruitment of qualified Welsh medium staff to work in childcare and early years settings: 

o We need to find out where these types of jobs are being advertised the broaden the 

channels of advertising to include:  

- Education based job searching portals (for example, e-teach) 

- Social media groups – The Local Authority has a closed social media group for all 

childcare providers which can be used to promote job opportunities. 

- Schools’ social media groups – advertise to parents/carers who may potentially be 

interested. 

 

o Engage with Welsh medium secondary schools, colleges and universities to support 

students to undertake the qualifications required for these posts. 

 

o Make working in the Welsh medium childcare sector more attractive – low pay offer, 

increasing responsibility and qualification requirements are hampering this. Intervention 

is needed at a national level if we’re to make an impact. 

 

 Sustainability of settings: 

o Continue to promote financial support for settings via the Local Authority, Welsh 

Government and Mudiad Meithrin grant schemes. 

o Be more proactive in signposting settings to business support for budget planning and 

marketing. 

 

 Falling birth rates across RCT: 

o Mudiad Meithrin recently met with the Local Authority’s Education Data team and 

discussed this in more detail. This data needs to be used more strategically to plan 

Welsh medium provision across the County Borough based on areas where births are 

occurring. 

Tudalen 164



 

15 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Flying Start expansion: 
o The Flying Start team are working directly with settings to support them with going 

through the online procurement system. The team have visited various settings in RCT 

to help and have tried to make the process as straightforward as possible. The team 

are looking into the possibility of delivering workshops to settings to support them in 

becoming approved providers. 

 

 The closure of settings impacting school numbers: 
o A co-ordinated approach is needed to plan out provision between the Local Authority’s 

Childcare Development team and Mudiad Meithrin to plug the gaps in provision across 

RCT. The findings of mapping exercises to be used to inform areas of the County 

Borough where new provision is needed.  

 

 The location of settings: 
o Almost every Welsh medium primary school in RCT has a setting co-located, or in close 

proximity, to the school.  

o Findings of mapping exercises to be used to identify other areas of school catchments 

where development of provision is needed to support an increase in numbers accessing 

Welsh medium primary education to make access to Welsh medium childcare and 

education as geographically convenient as possible.  

 

Tudalen 165



 

16 
 

Outcome 2 

More reception class children/ five year olds receive their education through the 

medium of Welsh 

KEY ANNUAL DATA  

PLASC Data 

The data in the table that follows is derived from PLASC and outlines the total number of primary 
school aged learners attending primary schools in RCT, split by Welsh and English medium for the 
previous five academic years up to and including 2022-2023. The data demonstrates that the split 
between the numbers attending Welsh medium and English medium primary schools has remained 
consistent over the previous five academic years. 

 

Table 2.1 

 

Total Number of Primary School Aged Learners Attending Primary Schools Split by 
Welsh and English Medium Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Category 

Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Welsh 
Medium 
Primary 
Schools 

4,269 19% 4,220 19% 4,152 18.8% 4,097 18.9% 4,038 18.3% 

English 
Medium 
Primary 
Schools 

18,153 81% 18,078 81% 17,894 81.2% 17,627 81.1% 18,021 81.7% 

Total No. 
Primary 
Schools 

22,422 22,298 22,046 21,724 22,059 

The data in the table that follows is derived from PLASC and outlines the total number of 
reception/five year old learners attending Welsh medium primary schools for the previous five 
academic years, up to and including 2022-2023. The data demonstrates that the number of 
reception/five year old learners attending Welsh medium primary schools has slowly decreased 
over the last 3 academic years. 

 

Table 2.2 

 

Total Number of Reception/Five Year Old Learners Attending Welsh Medium Primary 
Schools Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Year Group 
Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Reception 517 565 528 523 501 

Reception 
Part Time 

1 0 0 0 0 

Total 518 565 528 523 501 

Tudalen 166



 

17 
 

 

 

     

The data in the table below, also derived from PLASC, outlines the total number of reception/five 
year old learners attending English medium primary schools for the previous five academic years, 
up to and including 2022-2023. The data demonstrates a decrease in the number of reception/five 
year old learners attending English medium schools over the last 3 years which is consistent with 
the data available on Welsh medium schools. This indicates that the number of reception/five year 
old learners attending primary schools across the board is decreasing. 

 

Table 2.3 

 

Total Number of Reception/Five Year Old Learners Attending English 
Medium Primary Schools Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Year 
Group 

Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Reception 2,136 2,049 2,087 1,943 1,993 

Reception 
Part Time 

4 26 19 4 14 

Total 2,140 2,075 2,106 1,947 2,007 

 

The data in the table below is derived from PLASC and outlines surplus capacities in Welsh medium 
and dual language primary schools in RCT for the previous four academic years, up to and including 
2022-2023. The data demonstrates that the percentage of surplus capacities in Welsh medium 
primary schools has increased to 22.8% during the last four years. 

 

Table 2.4 

 

Surplus Capacity in Welsh Medium Primary Schools in RCT 

Category 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Primary and 
Dual 
Language 
Schools 

19.6% 20.7% 21.6% 22.8% 

 

The data in the table that follows is derived from PLASC and demonstrates the number and 
percentage of Black, Asian and minority ethnic background learners attending all schools in RCT. 

The data has been broken down further to outline the number of learners attending Welsh medium 
schools in RCT for the previous five academic years, up to and including the academic year 2022-
2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 167



 

18 
 

Table 2.5 

 

Number and Percentage of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Background Learners 
Attending Welsh Medium Schools in RCT 

 Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

No. % No. % No. % No. % No. % 
Total No. 
of 
Learners 

2,103 

9.99% 

2,145 

7.69% 

2,387 

8.63% 

2,609 

7.67% 

3,004 

6.99% 
No. of 
Learners 
Attending 
Welsh 
Medium 
Schools 

210 165 206 200 210 

 

 

OUTCOME SUMMARY 

Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme 

In line with the new guidance for the Sustainable Communities for Learning rolling programme, the 

priorities of which are: 

 

 Transforming learning environments and learner experience 

 Meeting demand for school places 

 Improving condition and suitability of the education estate 

 Developing sustainable learning environments 

 Supporting the community 

 

We are currently working on our strategic outline programme for our new 9 year programme and 

will ensure the programme aligns with the WESP objectives, namely: 

 Ensuring that every child in RCT has access to Welsh medium education in a school of their 

choosing and that there is sufficient supply to meet demand. 

 

 Delivering significant investment to improve and provide modern educational facilities for 

Welsh medium schools and increase Welsh medium learner places at both primary and 

secondary school level. 

 

 Extend Welsh medium Learning Support Classes and ALN provision across primary and 

secondary school settings. 

 

Projects identified will form part of WESP sub-group discussions to ensure projects are aligned with 

our objectives. As we monitor and progress with project investment, the WESP targets will be 

reviewed to ensure identified project proposals are tailored to be consistent with the aims and 

objectives of the WESP. 

 

We continue to deliver investment in Welsh medium primary education through the Band B 

Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme. At the beginning of this academic year, we 

Tudalen 168



 

19 
 

delivered an extension to YGG Aberdar providing additional facilities and an additional 72 places at 

the school. 

 

A new Welsh medium primary school is currently being constructed in Rhydyfelin on the site of the 
current dual language school at Heol y Celyn Primary. The new school will welcome the school’s 
Welsh medium pupils and those currently attending YGG Pont Sion Norton. The school will contain 
first-class education facilities in a 21st Century building. Construction work is underway on the school 
site and is moving at speed. The school is on track to open to learners from September 2024. 

 

We have progressed with plans to deliver a brand new Welsh medium school on a new site for YGG 

Llyn y Forwyn. Enablement work has begun onsite with construction due to commence over the 

summer period. The new school will open to learners from YGG Llyn y Forwyn from September 

2024. 

 

Impact of School Organisation Proposals 

In line with the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013, school organisation proposals 

must be subject to consultation period before the proposal can be published. The consultation 

document must include information around the extent to which the proposal would support the 

targets of our WESP and how the proposal would expand or reduce Welsh language provision.  

 

There are statutory requirements for Welsh Language Impact Assessments to be completed on all 

our school organisation proposals. The Welsh Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015 

requires the Local Authority to ensure the person making, reviewing or reviewing a policy decision 

considers the effects the policy decision would have on opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 

language or treating the Welsh language no less favourably than the English language. The Welsh 

Language Impact Assessments identifies: 

 Any effect of school organisation proposals on the Welsh language (positive, negative or both). 

 Notes ways of promoting the Welsh language including the use of Welsh. 

 Any adverse effects on the Welsh language. 

 Due regard to the various effects listed in the Welsh Language Standards.  

 

To complete the impact assessment, key policy areas must be reviewed to assess the impact of the 

proposal, this includes the WESP. Impact assessments are reviewed by the Local Authority’s Welsh 

Language Services and feedback is provided on the strengths and any potential areas for 

improvement. Once amendments are made, impact assessment are reviewed by the Officer Review 

Panel who give consideration to the different impacts identified and robustly scrutinise the proposals 

being considered.  

 

Welsh Medium Provision in English Medium Schools 

The introduction of the new Curriculum of Wales has placed statutory duties on all schools to 
incorporate Welsh into their curriculum as a mandatory requirement. To gather information on 
what’s being done across English medium schools in RCT to promote the Welsh language, several 
schools were contacted and a total of 12 schools responded.  

 

From the responses received, it’s evident that the Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus programme run 
by CSCJES is having a positive impact on the increasing use of Welsh in English medium schools. 
Some of the common themes throughout the responses is the introduction of the Helpwr 
Heddiw/Helpwr y Dydd initiative and the establishment of Criw Cymraeg. The Helpwr Heddiw 
initiative is being used across all schools that responded, recognising learners use of Welsh using 
appropriate sentence patterns for their age. Each school has a Criw Cymraeg focussing on 

Tudalen 169



 

20 
 

developing and promoting the use of Welsh throughout the school. Criw Cymraeg activities across 
English medium schools include Welsh playground games, ‘Siaradwyr Gymraeg yr Wythnos’ 
certificates for learners who are chosen for their use of Welsh throughout the week and Cegin Cyw 
at lunchtimes whereby children ask for meals in Welsh. Some of the schools have linked in with 
Welsh medium schools in RCT to develop Criw Cymraeg activities and in some areas of the county, 
learners from these schools have attended English medium schools to support learners with the 
development and use of their Welsh language skills. All schools that responded provide weekly 
Welsh assemblies introducing the ‘word’, ‘phrase’ and ‘question’ of the week and focusing on 
different elements of Welsh language, culture, and heritage. 

 

Schools are also using these opportunities to engage with parents/carers and providing support on 
how to develop children’s Welsh language skills at home. Several schools reported that they have 
utilised the opportunities available with CSCJES to develop their Welsh language skills: 

 Blaengwawr Primary School: 1 teacher has undertaken the Welsh Sabbatical Scheme. 

 Llwydcoed Primary School: 1 teacher has undertaken the Welsh Sabbatical Scheme. 

 Cefn & Craig yr Hesg: 1 teacher is on the course for September 2023 cohort. 

 

It’s positive to see that a number of schools have accessed support via the professional 
development opportunities available with CSCJES and further applications have been made for 
next year’s Welsh Sabbatical Schemes in order to upskill staff and bring improvements to Welsh 
provision in our English medium schools. An increased use of incidental Welsh was reported by all 
schools both inside and outside of the classroom by both children and staff. A number of success 
stories were also shared, to include: 

 

 Pontygwaith Primary School:  

Holding a weekly parent/pupil workshop every Friday. The Welsh lead at the school spends the first 
half of the session teaching parents/carers Welsh skills with the children being invited to join their 
parents/carers during the second half of the session to show what they’ve learnt. This has proved 
to be very popular and a huge success at the school. Following on from the success of these 
sessions, the school now run a weekly Welsh class for the community led by the Welsh lead. This 
class runs after school every Thursday and have even had adults attending the sessions who aren’t 
parents/carers of children attending the school. 

 

 SS Gabriel & Raphael Primary School: 

The whole school won a heritage award for their work on the Cynefin project which focuses on 
Welsh stories, songs, famous people, landscape, local artists, song writing, and performances 
based on your local area. 

 

 Cwm Clydach Primary School: 

The Welsh lead at the school has attended Tric a Chlic training and the school have now purchased 
the resources. This will be rolled out at the school from September 2023. 

 

 Williamstown Primary School: 

The school have requested a visit from the ambassador for the National Eisteddfod and have put 
themselves forward to participate in events. 

 

 Cefn & Craig yr Hesg Primary Schools: 

Teachers at the school have set up a Welsh choir focussing on learning and performing through 
Welsh. 

 

Tudalen 170



 

21 
 

Schools Transitioning to a Different Category 

In September 2021, Penderyn Primary became solely a Welsh medium school. The Head of 
Penderyn Primary is a member of the WESP Outcome 2 Sub-group to support increasing numbers 
at the new Welsh medium school in an area of RCT where there was not a Welsh school previously.  

 

A new Welsh medium primary school is currently being constructed in Rhydyfelin on the site of the 
current dual language school at Heol y Celyn Primary. The new school will welcome the school’s 
Welsh medium pupils and those currently attending YGG Pont Sion Norton and will open to learners 
from September 2024. 

 

Late Immersion Support 

In February 2023, the Local Authority successfully recruited a specialist teacher to deliver Welsh 
language immersion provision to learners who are latecomers to Welsh medium education. Two 
Learning Support Assistants have also been recruited with the relevant skills and experience 
needed to support the delivery of immersion provision in RCT. The immersion lead has visited other 
immersion centres and networked with a range of practitioners to share best practices to identify 
the way in which provision can be rolled out in RCT. The provision will adapt a peripatetic model of 
delivery with the immersion team going out to the Welsh medium schools to support learners. The 
immersion lead has prepared a delivery plan for the roll out of provision and has successfully 
received funding to purchase resources.  

 

The immersion lead has visited all Welsh medium schools in RCT to share information and 
resources with the schools and to promote the services available. The immersion team have created 
a Seesaw account where they’ll be able to share photos of immersion sessions and learners 
progress, with permission of the parent/guardian. Immersion provision is being prioritised for a 
marketing campaign over the summer period to promote the support available to latecomers to the 
language. Changes are currently being made to the Local Authority’s corporate website for 
information and signposting purposes. The immersion lead has worked with the Local Authority’s 
Design team to create and print promotional leaflets which have been distributed to the community 
during events such as Parti Ponty and the Teddy Bears Picnic. Wider distribution of the leaflets will 
be a priority action during Year 2 of the WESP. 

 

The immersion lead also attended an open day event at the new Welsh medium school in Rhydyfelin 
whereby parents/carers of learners currently attending the dual language school at Heol y Celyn, 
were in attendance. The immersion lead spoke with parents/carers and promoted the support 
available through immersion for parents/carers who did not want to move their children to the new 
English medium school site. This was the first time many had heard of the service as it’s something 
new to the authority. The immersion lead will engage with parents/carers again closer to the time of 
the new school opening.  

 

The immersion team are currently supporting learners during the final term of this academic year 
with 3 learners accessing support:  

 1 from Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Castellau 

 1 from Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Evan James  

 1 from Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Tonyrefail 

 

The team started to support these learners from the 12th of June 2023 and will continue to support 
from September. Baseline assessments were completed in the first instance to have a clear 
understanding of each learners needs so that the service can be tailored to support these learners. 
Progress monitoring and reporting documents have been created which will be shared with the 
relevant school and parents/carers to show progress. Provision will be fully operational from 

Tudalen 171



 

22 
 

September 2023 and the team have already recruited 2 further learners to commence support from 
September. 

 

Outcome 2 Sub-Group 

A sub-group has been established to focus solely on each outcome of the WESP. The sub-groups 
provide an effective focus for the Local Authority in partnership with external groups and 
organisations. The sub-group have met both virtually and in-person on a termly basis to review the 
actions listed on the Outcome 2 Annual Work Plan and provide updates on any progress made and 
to discuss next steps for actions, where appropriate. The sub-group meetings have provided 
opportunities to collaborate and share ideas amongst different school cluster groups. 

 

IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

We have a dedicated group focussing solely on this outcome. The Head of Achievement leads this 

sub-group and membership includes internal officers and representation from Welsh medium 

primary schools. 

 

The initial sub-group meetings at the beginning of this academic year focussed on developing the 

work plan which details the overarching targets, the actions and the key activities required to 

achieve the targets. The Outcome 2 Sub-group meets on a termly basis to review the targets and 

actions listed on the work plan to provide an opportunity for members to provide updates on any 

progress made, where appropriate, and to identify ways to move forward with certain actions. These 

meetings have been held both virtually and in-person and have had good levels of engagement. 

The sub-group lead will review end dates of actions on the work plan to ensure the group remains 

on targets and in situations where the end date has surpassed, questions will be asked as to why 

and follow on steps agreed upon to ensure we move forward and don’t miss any targets. Following 

each meeting, minutes of the meeting are shared with members of the sub-group and the 

‘Progress/Evaluation’ column on the work plan is updated with any comments made during the 

meeting.  

 

OUTCOME LEVEL RISKS  

 Falling birth rates across RCT: 

The live birth information received from the Local Health Board indicates that birth rates in general 

are falling in RCT. This will impact both Welsh and English medium schools and our projected 

targets as we progress through the WESP. 

 

 Low uptake for immersion provision: 

As this is a new service to RCT, we’re not able to predict demand for the service yet. 

 

ASSURANCE / MITIGATION ACTION 

 Falling birth rates across RCT: 

The live birth data received by the Local Health Board needs to be used more to strategically plan 

Welsh medium provision in RCT based on areas where births are occurring. Wider promotion on 

the benefits of receiving education through the medium of Welsh to be implemented. 

Tudalen 172



 

23 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Low uptake for immersion provision: 

Implement a marketing campaign to promote the support available to latecomers. 

 

Tudalen 173



 

24 
 

Outcome 3 

More children continue to improve their Welsh language skills when 

transferring from one stage of their statutory education to another 

KEY ANNUAL DATA  

PLASC Data 

The data in the table below is derived from PLASC and outlines the transition rates of learners 

between each key stage for Welsh medium primary, secondary and through schools for the 

previous five academic years, up to and including 2022-2023. Please note that the transition 

rates between Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3 takes into consideration learners from Merthyr 

Tydfil County Borough attending YG Rhydywaun due to there not being a Welsh medium 

secondary school in that county. Similarly, Ysgol Llanhari in the South Taf area sees learners 

attending from Bridgend County Borough due to the geographical location of the school. 

 

Table 3.1 

 

Transition Rates of Learners Between Each Key Stage for Welsh Medium 
Primary, Secondary and Through Schools for the Previous Five Academic 
Years 

Transition 

Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Foundation 
Phase to 
Key Stage 
2 

97.4% 97.5% 96.1% 95.8% 97.9% 

Key Stage 
2 to Key 
Stage 3 

97.3% 94% 94.7% 95.4% 95.5% 

Key Stage 
3 to Key 
Stage 4 

98.2% 97.3% 98.7% 98.3% 96.1% 

Key Stage 
4 to Key 
Stage 5 

53.5% 55.9% 48.5% 48.9% 45.1% 

 

It’s positive to see the percentage of learners transitioning from Foundation Phase to Key 

Stage 2 has increased this year and is now back to pre-Covid percentages. Transition rates 

from Key Stage 2 to Key Stage 3 has remained static over the previous five academic years 

however the transition from Key Stage 3 to Key Stage 4 shows a decline in the percentages 

transition through this phase this year. The percentages of learners transitioning from Key 

Stage 4 to Key Stage 5 is concerning as the percentage has decreased by almost 10 

percentage points over the duration of the last five years.  

 

However, when comparing this data with the transition rates of learners between each Key 

Stage for English medium schools, the data is much the same. The percentages transitioning 

Tudalen 174



 

25 
 

from Foundation Phase through each Key Stage up until Key Stage 4 are consistent with the 

percentages transitioning in Welsh medium schools. The transition from Key Stage 4 to Key 

Stage 5 in English medium schools also shows a decrease of almost 10 percentage points 

over the duration of the last five years. This indicates that the transition between these key 

stages is not only an issue being faced in Welsh medium education but across the board. 

 

Table 3.2 

 

Transition Rates of Learners Between Each Key Stage for English Medium 
Primary, Secondary and All Through Schools for the Previous Five Academic 
Years 

Transition 

Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Foundation 
Phase to 
Key Stage 
2 

97.6% 97.6% 97.5% 98.5% 97.6% 

Key Stage 
2 to Key 
Stage 3 

95.9% 96.1% 96.1% 95.1% 95.8% 

Key Stage 
3 to Key 
Stage 4 

98.2% 98.0% 98.5% 97.7% 97.1% 

Key Stage 
4 to Key 
Stage 5 

42.6% 44.0% 45.4% 40.7% 33.5% 

 

 

OUTCOME SUMMARY 

Monitoring Linguistic Progression 

The linguistic progression of learners is monitored by the Local Authority’s Education Data 
team and begins from the earliest stages of statutory education. Once PLASC data is 
available, the data team analyse the data and prepare pupil projection reports which are 
shared with all Welsh medium schools in RCT. The data is further analysed to identify any 
notable data changes in relation to Welsh medium education. If any anomalies in the data are 
identified, or if any of the Headteachers request to discuss this further, the data team will 
convene meetings with the respective Headteachers.  

 

To ensure we can monitor linguistic progression from pre-statutory education phase, the Local 
Authority’s Education Data team are working with Mudiad Meithrin on a new ‘Data Sharing 
Agreement’ between the Local Authority and Welsh medium early years settings. This 
agreement will allow for accurate data to be gathered on the numbers accessing the settings 
and the numbers transitioning onwards to primary education. Through implementing this new 
data agreement, this will enable the Education Data team to monitor the transition of children 
from early years settings to Welsh medium primary education and onwards through each 
stage of their statutory education. As we move forward with the ten-year plan, this will simplify 
the process of monitoring transition through each stage of statutory education as well as 

Tudalen 175



 

26 
 

helping us to identify the stages where learners are transitioning out of Welsh medium 
education to inform future planning of targeted marketing and promotional strategies.  

 

During the first year of the WESP, changes have been made to improve the process of 
handling in-year transfer requests. This change means that in-year transfer forms can only be 
provided by the current school. The current Headteacher must have signed the form before 
the school admissions team will process the application. This change has been implemented 
and all Headteachers in both Welsh and English medium schools have been made aware of 
the change. This will improve communications between Welsh and English medium schools, 
ensuring transfers are actioned in a co-ordinated manner and providing the opportunity for 
the current Headteacher to engage with the parents/carers prior to making the move. The 
message around this change continues to be reinforced during regular Headteacher 
meetings. As this is a new change to the process, we do not have data available as of yet to 
monitor the impact of this change. 

 

Transition Arrangements from Primary to Secondary Schools 

Each Welsh medium secondary school in RCT has a Cluster Curriculum Policy in place 
between them and the primary schools within their cluster which outlines their transition 
arrangements for the academic year, in line with the new Welsh Statutory Instruments: 2022 
No.566 (W.131) Education, Wales, The Transition from Primary to Secondary School (Wales) 
Regulations 2022.  

 

There are 4 Welsh medium secondary schools in RCT, each of which has their own transition 
arrangements with the primary schools within their cluster. The examples below provide a 
brief overview of the some of the arrangements in place in line with each schools’ curriculum 
policy: 

 

Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun: 

 Transition days at the school for Year 6 learners of the cluster primary schools to 
provide opportunities to visit the school, meet other learners in their year group and 
have a feel for some of the lessons. 

 Open evenings/information evenings for parents/carers of Year 6 pupils of the cluster 
primary schools. 

 Teachers at the school to visit Year 5 learners of the cluster primary schools to host 
engagement activities. 

 Share resources and upcoming open events with parents/carers of Year 6 learners via 
the ‘Year 6’ section of the schools’ website. 

 Additional transition days for vulnerable learners/learners with ALN. 

 Cluster schools’ sports competition day in the summer term. 

 Cluster schools Year 6 residential transition weekend event at Llangrannog 
(postponed this year, recommencing in 2023-2024). 

 

Ysgol Garth Olwg: 

 Transition days at the school for Year 6 learners to visit the school and other learners 
in their year group from other cluster schools. 

 Transition days at the school for Year 5 learners. 

 Transition meetings held for parents/carers of learners in Year 5 and Year 6 of the 
cluster primary schools.  

 The transition team visits all primary schools within the cluster to host engagement 
activities. 

 

Tudalen 176



 

27 
 

Ysgol Llanhari: 

 Host an open day for Year 6 parents/carers of the cluster primary schools to visit the 
school and speak directly with the Headteacher, Deputy Headteacher and the 
Transition Lead. 

 Open evening/information evening event held for Year 6 parents/carers to of cluster 
primary schools to attend and gather information/ask any questions. 

 Teachers from the foreign languages department of the school visits Year 5 and Year 
6 learners of the cluster primary schools to provide weekly language lessons. 

 ALNCo visits each cluster primary school to discuss the needs of vulnerable 
learners/learners with ALN. 

 Additional open evening/information evening for Year 6 vulnerable learners/learners 
with ALN and parents/carers of each cluster primary school to attend and meet with 
the inclusion team. 

 

Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhondda: 

 Offer opportunities for parents/carers of vulnerable learners/learners with ALN to visit 
the school to meet the inclusion team. 

 Host information evenings for parents/carers of Year 6 learners at the school. 

 As a cluster, funding a transition teacher to support transition arrangements. 

 Arrange a trip to watch the schools’ drama production for Year 6 learners of each 
cluster primary school. 

 Cluster transition teacher spends 1 day a week in each cluster primary school to work 
directly with Year 6 learners. 

 Cluster transition teachers continues to support Year 7 learners once they’ve started 
secondary school. 

 Transition days for Year 6 learners of cluster primary schools to visit the school, meet 
other learners in their year group and experience some of the different lessons 
available. 

 Hold transition days at each cluster primary school in agreed areas of learning, 
whereby staff from the school will visit each cluster school. 

 Year 6 residential transition weekend event at Llangrannog with each cluster primary 
school. 

 Cluster schools’ sports competition day in the summer term. 

 Year 7 residential trip during the first term of school. 

 

Continuity of Arrangements for Learners Receiving Welsh Medium Education 

Work has been ongoing across the region and with partners such as Coleg y Cymoedd to 
ensure continuity of arrangements for learners receiving Welsh medium education. On a 
regional basis, CSCJES have been working with Welsh medium secondary schools across 
the region to promote the opportunities available via the E-sgol programme. E-sgol have 
visited Ysgol Llanhari to promote the opportunities available. Ysgol Llanhari have taken 
advantage of the E-sgol programme and have partnered with YG Llangynwyd, which is in 
Bridgend County Borough, for the delivery of the programme. E-sgol have also presented to 
the Headteachers who are members of the Gyda’n Gilydd group however to date only Ysgol 
Llanhari have engaged with the programme. 

 

E-sgol held a conference event on the 3rd of July to promote the programme to schools across 
the region. The conference provided schools with an opportunity to further understand what 
is available through E-sgol, looking at successful case studies and networking with other 
schools. The conference was widely advertised with secondary schools across in RCT via 
CSCJES and the Local Authority’s Education team communication channels as well as being 
promoted during WESP steering group and sub-group meetings. A total of 39 attendees 

Tudalen 177



 

28 
 

across the region attending the conference, however E-sgol have confirmed that no further 
schools have shown interest as of yet. During Year 2 of the WESP, we will continue to work 
with CSCJES and Welsh medium secondary school to promote the support available and the 
benefits of accessing the provision. Data on the number of courses being delivered via the 
Ysgol Llanhari and YG Llangynwyd partnership can be found under Outcome 4 (Table 4.8). 

 

Welsh medium secondary schools have been working Coleg y Cymoedd to explore 
opportunities for collaborative working between the schools and the college to ensure a more 
extensive Welsh medium curriculum is available for Key Stage 5 learners. Coleg y Cymoedd 
Senior Leadership team and the Recruitment and Progression Manager have met with 
representatives from YG Rhydywaun, Ysgol Garth Olwg and Ysgol Llanhari to discuss 14-16 
pathways with the aim of aiding retention of learners into Welsh medium sixth form education. 
Discussions went well and the college are now putting together a new 14-16 pathways Key 
Stage 5 collaborative offer. This will be monitored during the next academic year to ensure 
the conversations around this continue. 

 

Outcome 3 Sub-Group 

A sub-group has been established to focus solely on each outcome of the WESP. The sub-
groups provide an effective focus for the Local Authority in partnership with external groups 
and organisations. The sub-group have met both virtually and in-person on a termly basis to 
review the actions listed on the Outcome 3 Annual Work Plan and provide updates on any 
progress made and to discuss next steps for actions, where appropriate.  

 

The sub-group meetings have provided opportunities to collaborate and share ideas amongst 
different school cluster groups and partner organisations. For example, transition 
arrangements being used in Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhondda were shared with Ysgol Llanhari who 
have now adapted some of these arrangements into their own transition arrangements to 
improve their transition rates from primary to secondary, especially between the cluster 
schools which are not on the school site. During these meetings, different sets of data have 
been reviewed and analysed by the group which has provided opportunities for those on the 
group to access the data sooner. The group has looked at baseline numbers of Welsh medium 
schools at each year group, numbers transitioning from primary to secondary education and 
pupil forecasts. This has welcomed open discussions around these key areas of transition 
and provided opportunities for the Headteachers who are members of this group, to speak 
directly with the Head of Data Systems and Admissions around different areas of data. 

 

IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

We have a dedicated group focussing solely on this outcome. The Head of Service 

Transformation, Data Systems, Admissions and Governors leads this sub-group and 

membership includes internal officers, representation from Welsh medium primary schools, 

Coleg y Cymoedd and Menter Iaith RCT. 

 

The initial sub-group meetings at the beginning of this academic year focussed on developing 

the work plan which details the overarching targets, the actions and the key activities required 

to achieve the targets. The Outcome 3 Sub-group meets on a termly basis to review the 

targets and actions listed on the work plan to provide an opportunity for members to provide 

updates on any progress made, where appropriate, and to identify ways to move forward with 

certain actions. These meetings have been held both virtually and in-person and have had 

good levels of engagement. The sub-group lead will review end dates of actions on the work 

Tudalen 178



 

29 
 

plan to ensure the group remains on targets and in situations where the end date has 

surpassed, questions will be asked as to why and follow on steps agreed upon to ensure we 

move forward and don’t miss any targets. Following each meeting, minutes of the meeting are 

shared with members of the sub-group and the ‘Progress/Evaluation’ column on the work plan 

is updated with any comments made during the meeting.  

 

OUTCOME LEVEL RISKS 

 Falling birth rates across RCT: 

The live birth information received from the Local Health Board indicates that birth rates in 

general are falling across RCT. This will impact both Welsh and English medium settings and 

our projected targets as we progress through the WESP. 

 

 Transition data available on the numbers transitioning from early years settings into 

statutory education is not accurate: 

The data available on numbers transitioning from Welsh medium childcare and early years 

settings into statutory education is not accurate. The data available is gathered verbally 

through settings have discussions with parents/carers. The data also includes numbers 

accessing English medium sessions and therefore needs to be looked at in more detail. 

 

 Retention of learners from Key Stage 4 to Key Stage 5 in Welsh medium schools: 

Due to the lack of Welsh medium vocational qualifications available, learners are opting into 

English medium schools or colleges instead if they know which vocation they wish to pursue. 

 

 Workforce issues at secondary school level: 

Welsh medium secondary schools are facing issues with recruiting specialist staff for several 
subject areas meaning the Welsh medium GCSE and A Level offer may not be on parr with 
neighbouring English medium schools. This is an issue being faced pan Wales as many 
practitioners are leaving the profession. 

 

ASSURANCE / MITIGATION ACTION 

 Falling birth rates across RCT: 

The Local Authority’s Education Data team recently met with Mudiad Meithrin to discuss this 
in more detail. This data needs to be used more to strategically plan Welsh medium provision 
across the County Borough based on areas where births are occurring. 

 

 Transition data available on the numbers transitioning from early years settings into 

statutory education is not accurate: 

o The Local Authority’s Education Data team are working with Mudiad Meithin on a new 

‘Data Sharing Agreement’ between the Local Authority and Welsh medium childcare 

and early years settings in order to gather details of children attending the settings so 

that these can be mapped across into primary education, ensuring we have official 

data on the numbers transitioning. This will be in place by September 2023. 

o A meeting will be arranged for the new academic year between Flying Start 

colleagues, Childcare Development colleagues and Mudiad Meithrin to discuss further 

Tudalen 179



 

30 
 

concerns around settings offering Welsh and English medium sessions to ensure the 

data being recorded moving forward is accurate. 

 

 Retention of learners from Key Stage 4 to Key Stage 5 in Welsh medium schools: 

o The Gyda’n Gilydd group are working with the WJEC to create Welsh medium Level 

3 vocational qualifications. 

o Coleg y Cymoedd to are working with Welsh medium secondary schools to create a 

Key Stage 5 collaborative offer. This will be an action on Year 2 of the work plan to 

ensure the developments around this are monitored closely. 

 

 Workforce issues at secondary school level: 

o Work with partners such as Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol, Cardiff Metropolitan 
University and CSCJES to promote the benefits of teaching as a profession to 
encourage people to consider this as a career pathway. 

o Promote the alternative routes into teaching available via the Open University Salaried 

Route whereby Welsh Government contributes towards the student teacher’s salary 

and the ITE programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 180



 

31 
 

Outcome 4 

More learners study for assessed qualifications in Welsh (as a subject) and subjects 

through the medium of Welsh  

KEY ANNUAL DATA  

PLASC Data 

The data in the table that follows is derived from PLASC and outlines the total number of secondary 
school aged learners attending schools in RCT, split by Welsh and English medium for the previous 
five academic years up to and including 2022-2023. The percentages of learners receiving their 
education through the medium of Welsh and English has remained stable over the previous five 
academic years.  

 

Table 4.1 

 

Total Number of Secondary School Aged Learners Attending Secondary Schools Split by 
Welsh and English Medium Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Categor
y 

Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Welsh 
Medium 
Schools 

3,058 19.4% 3,141 19.6% 3,197 19.3% 3,136 19% 3,121 19% 

English 
Medium 
Schools 

12,685 80.6% 12,868 80.4% 13,346 80.7% 13,365 81% 13,317 81% 

Total 
No.  All 
Schools 

15,473 16,009 16,543 16,501 16,438 

 

The data in the table that follows is derived from PLASC and outlines the total number of year ten 
learners attending Welsh medium secondary schools for the previous five academic years, up to and 
including 2022-2023. The data demonstrates that the number of year ten learners attending Welsh 
medium secondary schools has steadily increased over the previous five academic years, with the 
most recent year showing the highest number of learners. 

 

Table 4.2 

 

Total Number of Year Ten Learners Attending Welsh Medium Secondary 
Schools Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Year 
Group 

Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Year Ten  496 513 517 533 539 

 

The data in the table below, also derived from PLASC, outlines the total number of year ten learners 
attending English medium secondary schools for the previous five academic years, up to and including 
2022-2023. The number of year ten learners in English medium schools was at its highest in 2020-

Tudalen 181



 

32 
 

2021 and has declined since then, however there is a slight increase this year when comparing with 
the previous year. 

 

Table 4.3 

 

Total Number of Year Ten Learners Attending English Medium 
Secondary Schools Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Year 
Group 

Academic Year 

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Year Ten  2,105 2,251 2,303 2,232 2,284 

 

The data in the table below is derived from PLASC and outlines surplus capacities in Welsh medium 
secondary and through schools in RCT for the previous four academic years, up to and including 2022-
2023. The data demonstrates that the percentage of surplus capacities in Welsh medium secondary 
schools has increased to 27% during the last four years. 

 

Table 4.4 

 

Surplus Capacity in Welsh Medium Secondary and Through Schools for 
the Previous Four Academic Years 

Category 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Secondary 
and Through 
Schools 

23.1% 21.% 26.6% 27% 

 

Data on the Number of Learners Registered for GCSE Welsh 

The data in the table that follows is derived from Welsh Government data and outlines the total 
percentage of year eleven learner entries for GCSEs in Welsh (first and second language) for the 
previous five academic years, up to and including the academic year 2021-2022. The data 
demonstrates a slight increase in the number of entries for Welsh Second Language GCSE however 
the entries for Welsh First Language has remained stable over this period of time. 

 

Table 4.5 

 

Total Percentage of Year Eleven Learner Entries for GCSEs in Welsh (First and 
Second Language) Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Category 

Academic Year 

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 

Welsh (First 
Language) 

17% 17% 18% 18.4% 18.2% 

Welsh 
(Second 
Language) 

45% 59% 63% 62.1% 64.2% 

 

The data in the table that follows is derived from Welsh Government data and outlines the total 
percentage of year twelve and thirteen learner entries for AS and A Level Welsh (first and second 
language) for the previous five academic years, up to and including 2021-2022. During the most recent 

Tudalen 182



 

33 
 

academic year, the number of learner entries has decreased slightly when comparing to the previous 
four years. 

 

Table 4.6 

 

Total Percentage of Year Twelve and Thirteen Learner Entries for AS and A Level in 
Welsh (First and Second Language) Over the Previous Five Academic Years 

Category 

Academic Year 

2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 

Welsh (First 
and Second 
Language) 

4.2% 3.7% 3.5% 3.7% 3.1% 

 

Coleg y Cymoedd Data 

The data in the table below is provided by Coleg y Cymoedd and demonstrates the number of learners 
at the college that completed elements of their studies through the medium of Welsh for the academic 
year 2021-2022. This is the most recent data available, the data for the current academic year will be 
released in January 2024. An explanation of the codes is provided below. 

 

Table 4.7 

 

Number of Learners Completing Bilingual 
Learning at Coleg y Cymoedd 

Code 2021-2022 

B1 13 

B3 43 

C1 592 

Total 648 

 

Code 

E1 Learning and assessment completed in English only. 

B3 A small amount of Welsh medium learning completed in Welsh, limited to verbal 
communication or a minor part of the learning activity, with the assessment being completed 
in English only. This can be used to record situations where some Welsh is used during 
learning, however minimum use of incidental Welsh is not sufficient for it to be recorded. There 
needs to be Welsh language interaction between the assessor/lecturer/teacher and learner 
for it to be a meaningful use of the language. 

B2 A significant amount of Welsh medium learning (both verbal and written) used in many, but 
not all parts, of the learning activity. Assessment completed mainly in English, but there may 
be some elements of Welsh. 

B1 Learning completed in a bilingual context with at least 50% of the available assessments within 
the learning activity being completed through the medium of Welsh. The outcome may be 
achieved using any appropriate teaching methodology.  

C1 Learning completed in a Welsh medium context with all the available assessments within the 
learning activity being completed through the medium of Welsh. 

 

Tudalen 183



 

34 
 

E-sgol Data 

At present, there is only 1 Welsh medium secondary school in RCT providing further opportunities to 
learners through the E-sgol programme. Ysgol Llanhari have a partnership with YG Llangynwyd which 
is located in Bridgend County Borough. Although this school is in a neighbouring county, this is the 
closest Welsh medium secondary school to Ysgol Llanhari geographically. 

 

The data in the table below has been provided by E-sgol and outlines the courses being delivered 
through the Llanhari/Llangynwyd partnership for the academic year 2022-2023. The data contains the 
number of learners on each course split by year group however, these figures also include learners 
accessing the programme from YG Llangynwyd so are not specific to RCT learners only. The data 
shows that there are 10 courses being delivered this academic year with 48 year 12 learners and 15 
year 13 learners accessing learning through the E-sgol programme. 

 

Table 4.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Courses Offered and Numbers on Courses for the Ysgol Llanhari/ 
Ysgol Llangynwyd E-sgol Partnership 

Subject Year 12  Year 13 

Sociology 9 1 

Health and Social Care 10 5 

Physical Education 4 0 

Music 1 0 

Sports 1 4 

Product Design 2 0 

Physics 9 1 

Protective Services 4 3 

Digital Technology 8 0 

Applied ICT 0 1 

Total 48 15 

OUTCOME SUMMARY 

Increasing the Number of Welsh Medium Qualifications Available 

A key focus of Outcome 4 of the WESP is to maintain and broaden the GCSE, AS and A Level provision 
available through the medium of Welsh. CSCJES have been working closely with the Gyda’n Gilydd 
group and WJEC to address the disparity in the number of accessible qualifications available, 
especially vocational qualifications through the medium of Welsh. Funding has been utilised for the 
creation of more accessible qualifications, mainly developing Level 2 and 3 Welsh medium vocational 
qualifications. CSCJES has provided Gyda’n Gilydd with £10,000 finding in 2021-2022 and an 
additional £10,000 in 2022-2023 to work alongside WJEC to develop Welsh medium Level 3 vocational 
qualifications. Qualifications are currently being developed for Business, Tourism, Public Services and 
Sports. The group continues to work with the WJEC on this project and strong progress is being made. 

 

Welsh medium secondary schools have been working Coleg y Cymoedd to explore opportunities for 
collaborative working between the schools and the college to ensure a more extensive Welsh medium 
curriculum is available for Key Stage 5 learners. Coleg y Cymoedd Senior Leadership team and the 

Tudalen 184



 

35 
 

Recruitment and Progression Manager have met with representatives from YG Rhydywaun, Ysgol 
Garth Olwg and Ysgol Llanhari to discuss 14-16 pathways with the aim of aiding retention of learners 
into Welsh medium sixth form education. Discussions went well and the college are now putting 
together a new 14-16 pathways Key Stage 5 collaborative offer. This will be monitored during the next 
academic year to ensure the conversations around this continue. 

 

Coleg y Cymoedd are also developing Welsh medium and bilingual provision in vocational areas in 
line with the Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol ‘Further Education and Apprenticeship Welsh Medium 
Action Plan.’ The college has employed Welsh language facilitators in the areas of Childcare, Health 
and Social Care and Public Services are currently recruiting in the areas of Creative Industries and 
Business. The Welsh language facilitators in these priority areas are working directly with tutors and 
learners to develop bilingual provision. Coleg y Cymoedd are continuing to work closely with awarding 
bodies to ensure learners are able to submit work in Welsh.  

 

Tools and resources developed by Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol and Sgiliau Iaith are used to 

encourage the use of Welsh within the college classroom. Welsh medium and bilingual opportunities 

(both in the classroom and extracurricular) are being widely advertised through college brochures, 

‘Welsh at Coleg y Cymoedd’ booklets, internal staff and student portals, social media campaigns and 

open events and fairs.  

 

Welsh Medium Learning Pathways 

In our WESP, we included our aims to further develop learning pathways for 14 to 19 year old learners 
to provide a wider range of options for learners. The Local Authority’s Gatsby Benchmark Manager is 
a member of the Outcome 4 sub-group and has been proactive in discussions around developing the 
Gatsby Benchmark Programme and Green Light Provision in our Welsh medium secondary schools. 
Amendments have been made to the Benchmark framework to support the development of further 
learning pathways in Welsh medium schools, to include:  

 

 Added to Benchmark 4 – “With an emphasis on all subject teachers to emphasise on the 
importance of succeeding in Welsh”.  

 

 Added to Benchmark 7 “Encounters with Further and Higher Education” – “Pupils understand and 
have experience of routes that transition or move into further and higher education through the 
medium of Welsh”.  

 

The Gatsby Benchmark Manager has made links with Sian Lloyd Morgan (senior lecturer at Cardiff 
University with responsibility for Welsh Language pathways) to develop further understandings of what 
is available to share with career leads and Headteachers. This will be a focus for Year 2 of the WESP.  

 

Green Light Provision is now being delivered in all Welsh medium secondary and through schools, 
linking careers using the Welsh language and how they can be achieved through Welsh qualifications. 
A Welsh speaking member of staff is now available to conduct the advice and guidance sessions and 
Green Light support through the medium of Welsh. 

 

A pilot project entitled ‘Ysbrydoli Fi/Inspire Me’ has taken place during this academic year in both Welsh 
and English medium secondary schools in RCT. The project invites inspirational speakers from a range 
of career backgrounds to speak to learners from all year groups on their career journeys and how the 
ability to communicate in Welsh has supported their career aspirations. A third pilot school, an English 
medium through school, will run the ‘Ysbrydoli Fi’ programme in January 2024 focusing on career 
pathways through and using the Welsh language. 

 

Tudalen 185



 

36 
 

E-sgol Provision in RCT 

There is currently only 1 school in RCT engaging with the E-sgol provision to provide learners with a 
wider range of subjects through the medium of Welsh. Following a visit to Ysgol Llanhari by the E-sgol 
team whereby the promoted the opportunities available, the school have taken advantage of the 
programme and have partnered with YG Llangynwyd, located in Bridgend County Borough, for the 
delivery of the programme. E-sgol have also presented to the Headteachers who are members of the 
Gyda’n Gilydd group however to date only Ysgol Llanhari have engaged with the programme. The data 
in the table above (Table 4.8) demonstrates the range of subjects being accessed by learners at Ysgol 
Llanhari through the E-sgol programme, providing a wider offer of Welsh medium qualifications to aid 
retention of learners at the school. 

 

E-sgol held a conference event on the 3rd of July to promote the programme to schools across the 
region. The conference provided schools with an opportunity to further understand what is available 
through E-sgol, looking at successful case studies and networking with other schools. The conference 
was widely advertised with secondary schools in RCT via CSCJES and the Local Authority’s Education 
team communication channels as well as being promoted during WESP steering group and sub-group 
meetings. A total of 39 attendees across the region attending the conference, however E-sgol have 
confirmed that no further schools have shown interest as of yet. We will continue to work with CSCJES 
and Welsh medium secondary schools in RCT to promote the support available via the E-sgol 
programme to widen their Welsh medium qualification offer. 

 

Promoting Welsh as a Subject and Subjects Through the Medium of Welsh 

CSCJES prepared a document linking through to a collection of resources produced by Coleg Cymraeg 
Cenedlaethol that support schools to emphasise and promote the benefits of studying Welsh as a 
subject. The resources encourage learners to continue to study Welsh as an AS/A Level subject and 
as a university degree. The collection contains various materials such as video clips and links to 
external websites. The link to these resources: https://www.porth.ac.uk/en/collection/pam-astudio-r-
gymraeg-fel-pwnc  

 

The document contained a link to the ‘Choose Lefel A Cymraeg’ campaign and resources. This 
campaign is funded by Welsh Government and aims to encourage more young learners to study Welsh 
as an A Level by providing promotional assets to raise awareness around the endless benefits the 
language has on academic, cultural and working life. The link to the campaign and resources: 
https://www.porth.ac.uk/en/collection/dewisa-lefel-a-cymraeg-ymgyrch-ac-adnoddau 

 

The document also linked through to the E-sgol website which outlines its aims to expand opportunities 
for post-14 and post-16 learners to study courses that would otherwise not be available to them. This 
document has been shared widely with both Welsh and English medium secondary schools in RCT 
via CSCJES and the Local Authority’s Education team communication channels. 

 

In order to ensure parents/carers are informed of the opportunities available, changes have been made 
to the Local Authority’s corporate website to include a section on post-16 provision for learners in RCT. 
The changes made were the first step in creating a post-16 provision section of the website. During 
Year 2 of the WESP, further changes will be made to the website to develop this further along with 
schools’ individual websites to ensure the post-16 Welsh medium offer is available for parents/carers 
to see, ensuring the opportunities which are available are widely promoted. 

 

CSCJES are also looking into funding a group to produce marketing resources aimed at increasing the 
number of learners studying Welsh as a subject, and subjects through the medium of Welsh. CSCJES 
have had discussions with Welsh Government around this and it was highlighted that the Coleg 
Cymraeg Cenedlaethol have produced a wide range of resources which have now been shared directly 
with schools via CSCJES communication channels and via their social media platforms. 

Tudalen 186

https://www.porth.ac.uk/en/collection/pam-astudio-r-gymraeg-fel-pwnc
https://www.porth.ac.uk/en/collection/pam-astudio-r-gymraeg-fel-pwnc
https://www.porth.ac.uk/en/collection/dewisa-lefel-a-cymraeg-ymgyrch-ac-adnoddau


 

37 
 

 

CSCJES have informed schools of the 2023-2024 ‘Welsh in Education Grant’ which is available from 
Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol. This grant is aimed at promoting Welsh as a subject with the aim of 
increasing the number of learners studying Welsh at A Level. CSCJES are awaiting uptake data for 
RCT from Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol: Welsh in Education Grant - Welsh in Education Fund 2022/23 

 

The benefits of studying Welsh as a subject are also being promoted in our English medium schools. 
Porth Community School, which is an English medium through school, faced challenges at the 
beginning of this academic year as they were not able to recruit a Welsh medium teacher to deliver 
Welsh lessons at the school. This had an impact on the opportunities available to offer Welsh as subject 
to the older learners as they did not have a specialist teacher who could deliver these lessons. In recent 
months, the school have successfully recruited a Welsh teacher who has already implemented positive 
changes at the school with regards to changing attitudes towards the Welsh language.  

 

A ‘Criw Cymraeg’ has been established for Years 5, 6 and 7 which allows learners to vote for staff who 
have used incidental Welsh in lessons and throughout the school. The aim of this initiative is to raise 
awareness and use of incidental Welsh across the school in an engaging and impactful way. The 'Criw 
Cymraeg’ learners have also created posters for the school based on bilingualism and the advantages 
of speaking and studying Welsh and held a competition where learners had to create a Welsh welcome 
sign to be placed in reception areas. These activities form part of a learner centred initiative where the 
school are shifting the focus from Welsh being imposed by teachers, to learners having direct 
ownership of how Welsh can become an increasingly relevant part of the everyday culture of school. 
Plans are already in place for activities for the next academic year which include: 

 Language teachers choosing a language ambassador at the end of each half term for a 
breaktime treat. 

 Promoting and celebrating language focused cultural events – European day of languages, 
Santes Dwynwen etc. 

 The school Eisteddfod will increase in prominence and scope to involve a variety of acts and 
skills in collaboration with other staff and subject areas. 

 A trip to Llangrannog currently being planned with the Urdd for Year 6 and 7 learners for March 
2024. 

 

Courses Offered and Uptake Through the Medium of Welsh 

The Local Authority’s 14-19 Strategy Officer works closely with CSCJES and local partnerships to 
monitor the number of courses offered and the uptake through the medium of Welsh, as required by 
Section 116B (4) of the Education Act 2022. 

 

The data below shows the number of courses offered through the medium of Welsh to year 10 and 
year 11 learners in RCT. This data relates to courses being delivered fully through Welsh, however it’s 
important to note that there are a small number of no more than 18 learners in this age category who 
are completing the course bilingually. The number of courses being offered through the medium of 
Welsh at post-14 qualification level has remained fairly consistent over the previous four years. It’s 
positive to see that the number of learners undertaking courses through the medium of Welsh at post-
14 qualification level has steadily increased over this time period.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 187

https://adnoddau.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/pdfs/Welsh+in+Education+Fund+2022-23+(English).pdf


 

38 
 

 

Table 4.8 

 

Post-14 Welsh Medium Offer – Number of Courses and Number of Learners 

Year 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Number of Courses 

Offered Through the 

Medium of Welsh 

32 31 31 33 

Number of learners 

taking courses through 

the medium of Welsh 

1,002 1,024 1,038 1,046 

 

The data below shows the number of courses offered through the medium of Welsh to year 12 and 
year 13 learners in RCT. This data relates to courses being delivered fully through Welsh, however as 
mentioned above, there are a small number of no more than 18 learners in this age category who are 
completing the course bilingually. The number of courses offered through the medium of Welsh at post-
16 qualification level is consistent with the post-14 offer in terms of the number of courses being offered 
is fairly consistent over the previous four academic years. However, the number of learners 
undertaking courses through the medium of Welsh at post-16 level has declined since the academic 
year 2020-2021. Although there is an increase in the number of learners during 2022-2023, this is still 
a decrease on the numbers undertaking courses prior to 2020-2021. 

 

Table 4.9 

 

Post-16 Welsh Medium Offer – Number of Courses and Number of Learners 

Year 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Number of Courses 

Offered Through the 

Medium of Welsh 

33 33 32 34 

Number of learners 

taking courses through 

the medium of Welsh  

474 484 449 465 

 

The data demonstrates the challenges currently being faced with the retention of learners in Welsh 
medium education at post-16 level as the numbers undertaking courses through the medium of Welsh 
at this level have more than halved during each academic year when comparing with the numbers 
undertaking courses at post-14 qualification level. The Local Authority will continue to work with 
partners and schools in RCT to develop Welsh medium vocational qualifications and to further promote 
the qualifications available through the medium of Welsh with the aim of increasing the numbers as we 
progress through the ten year plan. 

 

Sustainable Communities for Learning Programme 

We continue to deliver investment in Welsh medium primary education through the Band B Sustainable 
Communities for Learning Programme. At the beginning of this academic year, we delivered an 
extension to YG Rhydywaun to increase capacity at the school. The brand new block on the school 
site opened to learners from September 2022 and created an additional 187 learner places at the 
school.  

Tudalen 188



 

39 
 

 

A design team is currently being assembled to look at development options to deliver a modern, 

innovative teaching and learning environment at YG Cwm Rhondda. Proposals are currently in their 

earliest stages, these will be developed further during year 2 of the WESP in collaboration with the 

school, and officers will be working to secure funding via the Welsh Government’s Sustainable 

Communities for Learning Programme. 

 

Outcome 4 Sub-Group 

A sub-group has been established to focus solely on each outcome of the WESP. The sub-groups 
provide an effective focus for the Local Authority in partnership with external groups and organisations. 
The sub-group have met on a termly basis to review the actions listed on the Outcome 4 Annual Work 
Plan and provide updates on any progress made and to discuss next steps for actions, where 
appropriate. The establishment of this sup-group has been successful in creating constructive working 
relationships between the Local Authority, CSCJES, Welsh medium secondary schools and Coleg y 
Cymoedd who are all working towards the same goal of broadening and maintaining learning 
opportunities through the medium of Welsh. The sub-group meetings have provided opportunities to 
collaborate and share ideas amongst different school cluster groups.  

 

IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

We have a dedicated group focussing solely on this outcome. The Head of Achievement and Wellbeing 

leads this sub-group and membership includes internal officers, representation from Welsh medium 

secondary schools, local college and CSCJES. 

 

The initial sub-group meetings at the beginning of this academic year focussed on developing the work 

plan which details the overarching targets, the actions and the key activities required to achieve the 

targets. The Outcome 4 Sub-group meets on a termly basis to review the targets and actions listed on 

the work plan to provide an opportunity for members to provide updates on any progress made, where 

appropriate, and to identify ways to move forward with certain actions. The sub-group lead will review 

end dates of actions on the work plan to ensure the group remains on targets and in situations where 

the end date has surpassed, questions will be asked as to why and follow on steps agreed upon to 

ensure we move forward and don’t miss any targets. Following each meeting, minutes of the meeting 

are shared with members of the sub-group and the ‘Progress/Evaluation’ column on the work plan is 

updated with any comments made during the meeting.  

 

OUTCOME LEVEL RISKS 

 Workforce issues at secondary school level: 

Welsh medium secondary schools are facing issues with recruiting specialist staff for a number of 

subject areas meaning the Welsh medium GCSE and A Level offer may not be on parr with 

neighbouring English medium schools. This is an issue being faced pan Wales as many practitioners 

are leaving the profession. 

 

 Retention of Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 learners in Welsh medium schools: 

Due to the lack of Welsh medium vocational qualifications available, learners are opting into English 

medium schools or colleges instead if they know which vocation they wish to pursue. 

 

Tudalen 189



 

40 
 

 Funding schemes ending: 

The Local Authority received funding to roll out the Green Light Provision in Welsh medium schools 

which has proven to be successful, however this funding will end eventually and there’s no confirmation 

of further funding as of yet. 

 

 New qualifications: 

Certain qualifications have not been renewed which runs the risk of continuum of learning for some 

learners who may opt to an English medium school or college to carry out the qualification. 

 

ASSURANCE / MITIGATION ACTION 

 Workforce issues at secondary school level: 

o Work with partners such as Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol, Cardiff Metropolitan University and 

CSCJES to promote the benefits of teaching as a profession to encourage people to consider 

this as a career pathway. 

o Promote the alternative routes into teaching available via the Open University Salaried Route 

whereby Welsh Government contributes towards the student teacher’s salary and the ITE 

programme. 

 

 Retention of Key Stage 4 and Key Stage 5 learners in Welsh medium schools: 

o The Gyda’n Gilydd group are working with the WJEC to create Welsh medium Level 3 

vocational qualifications. 

o Coleg y Cymoedd to are working with Welsh medium secondary schools to create a Key 

Stage 5 collaborative offer. This will be an action on Year 2 of the work plan to ensure the 

developments around this are monitored closely. 

 

 Funding schemes ending: 

We hope that further funding will come available once this funding scheme ends as the roll out of the 

provision in Welsh medium schools has proven to be a success. 

 

 New qualifications: 

We are awaiting decisions and consultations from Welsh Government and Qualification Wales 

regarding this issue. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 190



 

41 
 

Outcome 5 

More opportunities for learners to use Welsh in different contexts in school 

KEY ANNUAL DATA   

Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus Data 

The data in the table below is provided by CSCJES and demonstrates the baseline data of the 

number of Welsh medium primary schools that had received the Siarter Iaith gold, silver and 

bronze awards as of September 2022, against the most recent data. Since the beginning of this 

academic year, 1 additional school has received the silver and 3 additional schools have received 

the gold. 

 

Table 5.1 

Welsh Medium Primary Schools – Siarter Iaith 

Bronze 

September 2022 July 2023 

17 17 

Silver 12 13 

Gold 2 5 

 

The data in the table below is provided by CSCJES and demonstrates the baseline data of the 

number of Welsh medium secondary schools that had received the Siarter Iaith gold, silver and 

bronze awards as of September 2022, against the most recent data. Since the beginning of this 

academic year, 1 additional school has received the bronze award.  

 

Table 5.2 

Welsh Medium Secondary Schools – Siarter Iaith 

Bronze 

September 2022 July 2023 

1 2 

Silver 1 1 

Gold 0 0 

 

The data in the table below is provided by CSCJES and demonstrates the baseline data of the 

number of English medium primary schools that had received the Cymraeg Campus gold, silver 

and bronze awards as of September 2022, against the most recent data. Since the beginning of 

this academic year, 8 additional schools have achieved the bronze award, 10 schools have 

achieved the silver award and 2 schools have achieved the gold award.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 191



 

42 
 

Table 5.3 

English Medium Primary Schools – Cymraeg Campus 

Bronze 

September 2022 July 2023 

32 40 

Silver 0 10 

Gold 0 2 

 

The data in the table below is provided by CSCJES and demonstrates the baseline data of the 

number of English medium secondary schools that had received the Cymraeg Campus gold, 

silver and bronze awards as of September 2022, against the most recent data. Since the 

beginning of this academic year, 4 additional schools have received the bronze award. 

 

Table 5.4 

English Medium Secondary Schools – Cymraeg Campus 

Bronze 

September 2022 July 2023 

1 5 

Silver 0 0 

Gold 0 0 

 

During the first year of the WESP, the Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus provision was extended to 

include special schools and units in RCT. CSCJES Improvement Partners have worked with 

schools and units to support the roll out of the programme. The data in the table below 

demonstrates the baseline data of the number of special schools/units that had received the 

Cymraeg Campus gold, silver and bronze awards as of September 2022, against the most recent 

data. Since the beginning of this academic year, 3 schools have received the bronze award.  

 

Table 5.5 

English Medium Special Schools/Units – Cymraeg Campus 

Bronze 

September 2022 July 2023 

0 3 

Silver 0 0 

Gold 0 0 

 

There are 17 Welsh medium primary schools in RCT. All Welsh medium primary schools in RCT 

have now engaged with the Siarter Iaith programme and all have received the bronze award. 

There are 4 Welsh medium secondary schools in RCT, all of which have now engaged with the 

Siarter Iaith programme. 

 

There are a total of 82 English medium primary schools in RCT. Of these 82 schools, there are 

6 English medium primary schools yet to engage with provision. There are 13 English medium 

secondary/although schools in RCT. Of these 13 schools, 4 are yet to engage with provision. 

 

Tudalen 192



 

43 
 

The schools yet to engage were invited to an ‘Introduction to Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus’ 

session hosted by CSCJES in the spring term, whereby the schools were encouraged to engage 

with the programme. These schools will be targeted again during the 2023-2024 academic year. 

There are 6 special schools/units in RCT. Of the 6 settings, only 1 has yet to engage. CSCJES 

Improvement Partners are continuing to work closely with the relevant officers to support 

engagement and roll out of provision. 

 

OUTCOME SUMMARY 

Youth Services  

In November 2022, the Youth Engagement and Participation Service (YEPS) launched its ‘Your 
Voice/Eich Llais’ survey to capture the views of young people aged 11 – 25. Young people were 
given the opportunity to complete a series of interactive questions asked on a range of thematic 
areas using an online survey platform. Almost 5,000 people responded to the survey across 
schools, colleges, youth clubs and other community settings across the Local Authority.  Part of 
the survey explored respondents’ use of the Welsh language and asked the question: Would you 
welcome more opportunities to learn, or use, the Welsh language outside of school/in you free 
time in any of these places? The options of places included: online, libraries, art clubs, sports 
clubs, during school holidays, youth clubs, after school clubs. 

 

The outcome of this survey shows that respondents would like more opportunities to learn and 
use the language online, at sport clubs and at after school clubs. This data will be used by YEPS 
to inform future planning of Welsh medium opportunities in RCT and to improve the way YEPS 
and partner organisations deliver services for young people in the area. 

 

The YEPS team, Menter Iaith and the Urdd have met regularly throughout this academic year to 
co-produce opportunities for learners to use Welsh in different contexts. YEPS received funding 
via the Youth Support Grant to support a range of activities which was commissioned out to the 
Urdd and Menter Iaith. The additional funding remaining has been used to increase the number 
of trips YEPS are able to run which also includes mixed trips to develop conversations in Welsh 
with learners from English medium schools. These trips will run throughout the school summer 
holidays. 

 

Partnership Working 

The Urdd and Menter Iaith have been working in partnership with Welsh medium secondary 
schools in RCT to establish Welsh language youth forums in each school. During Year 2 of the 
WESP, the Urdd and Menter Iaith will build relationships with English medium schools in RCT in 
order to establish Welsh language forums if there’s funding remaining. The Urdd and Menter 
Iaith have also been working with Coleg y Cymoedd’s Bilingual Development Officer to establish 
Welsh language youth forums at the college which has now been done. The officer has been 
building a bank of Welsh speakers at the college who are now members of the forum. 

 

The college’s Bilingual Development Officer is currently working with the Welsh Language team 
of each college campus in RCT to create a ‘Cwtsh Cymraeg’ on each campus. This will be a 
Welsh language area with a visual focal point for Welsh related activities for learners attending 
Coleg y Cymoedd campuses. During Year 2 of the WESP, the officer will be recruiting 3 Welsh 
Language Learner Ambassadors to support with the promotion of Welsh related activities. The 
college continue to ensure a range of activities and experiences are provided for learners 
attending the college, these activities include: 

 Regular challenges related to the Welsh language for staff and learners on each campus. 

 Social activities for Welsh speaking learners. 

Tudalen 193



 

44 
 

 Sessions for learners wanting to learn basic level of Welsh. 

 

In our WESP, we committed to strengthening links between the Local Authority and the Urdd to 
provide learners with a wide range of activities to use the Welsh language in different contexts. 
The Local Authority’s Leisure Services team have been working with the Urdd to deliver sport 
activities for Welsh medium schools in RCT. Leisure Services now have a Service Level 
Agreement in place with the Urdd to deliver sporting sessions through the medium of Welsh. 
Swimming lessons through the medium of Welsh are currently being delivered on a weekly basis 
every Monday at Llantrisant Leisure Centre and every Tuesday at Rhondda Sports Centre. There 
are currently over 130 children per week undertaking their swimming lessons through the 
medium of Welsh at these centres and lessons will also be starting at Aberdare Sobell Leisure 
Centre soon. 

 

The Urdd host a range of multi-sport activities through the medium of Welsh at the following 
schools: 

- YGG Bodringallt 
- YGG Bronllwyn 
- YGG Castellau 
- Dolau Primary School (dual language) 
- Ysgol Garth Olwg 
- Ysgol Llanhari 
- YGG Llwyncelyn 
- YGG Llyn y Forwyn 
- YGG Pont Sion Norton 
- YGG Tonyrefail 
- YGG Ynyswen 

 

The Urdd offer support to every Welsh medium school in RCT to run provision such as 
Dinnertime Club and School Club. The schools listed below are currently working with the Urdd 
to deliver this type of provision. The Urdd are prioritising engaging with all Welsh medium schools 
during the next academic year in order to provide further Welsh medium opportunities across 
RCT. 

 

List of schools currently engaged with the Urdd: 

- YGG Bodringallt 
- YGG Bronllwyn 
- YGG Castellau 
- Dolau Primary School (dual language) 
- YGG Evan James 
- Ysgol Garth Olwg 
- Gwauncelyn Primary (English medium) 
- Heol Y Celyn Primary (dual language) 
- Ysgol Llanhari 
- YGGG Llantrisant  
- YGG Llwyncelyn 
- YGG Llyn y Forwyn 
- YGG Pont Sion Norton 
- YGG Tonyrefail 
- Tŷ Coch (Special School/Learning Support) 
- YGG Ynyswen 

 

The Urdd also provide sport activities outside of the classroom through the delivery of Welsh 
medium community clubs across RCT. The data in the table below has been provided by the 

Tudalen 194



 

45 
 

Urdd and demonstrates the type of classes available and the number of children attending these 
sessions per week: 

 

Table 5.6 

Sport Activity Numbers Attending 

Gymnasteg Garth Olwg 19 

Gymnasteg Canolfan Hamdden Rhondda 31 

Gymnasteg Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhondda 16 

Nofio Llantrisant 83 

Nofio Rhondda 55 

Pel-rwyd #FelMerch 6 

Rygbi Cwm Rhondda 8 

Tenis Taffs Well  10 

 

Evaluation of Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus 

Formal evaluation of the Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus programme has not been conducted 
during year 1 of the WESP. The data available above shows high levels of engagement with the 
provision demonstrating that all sectors of education are accessing further opportunities to use 
Welsh in different contexts. A number of English medium primary schools in RCT were contacted 
to gather information on what the schools are doing to promote the use of the Welsh language. 
From the responses received, it’s evident that the Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus programme is 
having a positive impact on the increasing use of Welsh in English medium schools. Some of the 
common themes throughout the responses was the introduction of the Helpwr Heddiw/Helpwr y 
Dydd initiative and the establishment of Criw Cymraeg. The Helpwr Heddiw initiative is being 
used across all schools that responded, recognising learners use of Welsh using appropriate 
sentence patterns for their age. Each school has a Criw Cymraeg focussing on developing and 
promoting the use of Welsh throughout the school. Criw Cymraeg activities across English 
medium schools include Welsh playground games, ‘Siaradwyr Gymraeg yr Wythnos’ certificates 
for learners who are chosen for their use of Welsh throughout the week and Cegin Cyw at 
lunchtimes whereby children ask for meals in Welsh. Some of the schools have linked in with 
Welsh medium schools in RCT to develop Criw Cymraeg activities and in some areas of the 
county, learners from these schools have attended English medium schools to support learners 
with the development and use of their Welsh language skills. All schools that responded provide 
weekly Welsh assemblies introducing the ‘word’, ‘phrase’ and ‘question’ of the week and focusing 
on different elements of Welsh language, culture and heritage. During year 2 of the WESP, we 
will evaluate the impact of the programme across all schools in RCT. 

 

Further Opportunities to use Welsh Outside of the Classroom 

The Local Authority’s Musical Services team have been identifying different ways to promote 
bilingual opportunities through using musical services. Since the beginning of this academic year, 
they’ve had an increase in the number of harp lessons being provided in both Welsh and English 
medium schools and are currently looking into the feasibility of delivering jazz sessions through 
the medium of Welsh outside of the school day. Musical Services are engaging with both Welsh 
and English medium schools to encourage learners who show an aptitude towards playing 
instruments to take part in the Urdd Eisteddfod and are also looking into establishing a Welsh 
folk group with the possibility of a performance at the National Eisteddfod which is being held in 
RCT in 2024. 

 

The Local Authority’s Leisure Services have continued to work closely with partners to develop 
opportunities to introduce the Welsh language into leisure sessions. Menter Iaith have supported 

Tudalen 195



 

46 
 

Leisure Services to develop and deliver a bilingual training programme for physical activity. 
Through partnership working, they have delivered workshops to staff on how the Welsh language 
can be introduced into traditionally English sporting activities. The programme includes 
consultation, mentoring, development of new resources and further development of workshops 
for future rollout. This initiative is in its early stages and will be further developed during Year 2 
of the WESP.  

 

Leisure Services have also engaged with community sporting groups across RCT to encourage 
an uptake in Welsh language community clubs for children. We are pleased to report that Leisure 
Services have successfully established the first fully Welsh leisure club in RCT and are 
continuing to work closely with ‘Dregiau Dar Football Club’ to develop Welsh medium training 
sessions. The club are developing an under 10s mixed section with 5 volunteers and coaches 
supporting this. The club have received Sport RCT Accreditation and have an application 
pending with Sport Wales for the Be Active Wales Fund. As this is the first club of its type in RCT, 
a case study will be completed in due course with the aim of promoting this wider to encourage 
more clubs to develop Welsh medium provision. 

 

The Local Authority’s Welsh Language Services have been identifying ways in which non-
teaching, education based staff can train or upskill themselves so that they can engage with 
learners through the medium of Welsh. The first area being targeted for support is the Local 
Authority’s Catering Services. The Welsh Language Services team have liaised with Catering 
Services to identify practical ways of rolling out Welsh lessons to all school-based catering staff. 
Several challenges were faced with this due to catering staff working shorter hours and the 
difficulty of finding cover for staff to be released for Welsh lessons. The team have been working 
closely with the Local Authority’s ICT department and have successfully arranged for all school 
kitchens to be distributed with dedicated tablets. Work is ongoing to explore suitable applications 
for unique log on, so that the tables can be shared amongst colleagues for the lessons. The 
Local Authority tutor who will be delivering these lessons has prepared bilingual materials to 
provide to Catering Services to support them with their Welsh language skills. 

 

The Local Authority’s Arts, Culture and Library Services team have been exploring options to 
develop further opportunities for learners to use Welsh in different contexts in community 
settings. An issue they’re currently facing is a lack of providers available who are able to deliver 
sessions through the medium of Welsh. The team have been promoting the Arts Council of 
Wales’ initiatives to upskill the cultural sector to create more providers who are able to deliver 
sessions through the medium of Welsh. The Level 1 Welsh e-module which is available to Local 
Authority employees is being looked into in order to utilise the training available and encourage 
the freelance artists and organisations that the team work closely with, to undertake the module 
so that they have an introduction to the Welsh language. Work around these actions are ongoing 
and will carry on into Year 2 of the WESP. 

 

The National Eisteddfod is being held in RCT in 2024. The Local Authority’s Eisteddfod Project 
team have created a marketing campaign which is currently being implemented in partnership 
with the National Eisteddfod team. The Eisteddfod launch event was held in the spring term 
where performers, artists and community groups came together to create a taster session. 
Further community meetings have been held to engage with the general public. The Local 
Authority’s Eisteddfod team will be consulting with schools in RCT in September 2023 for their 
input to help shape the Eisteddfod’s own school strategy. Promotion and marketing of the 
National Eisteddfod will be a priority action for Year 2 of the WESP, ensuring all schools across 
RCT are involved with the activities despite their language category. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 196



 

47 
 

Outcome 5 Sub-Group 

A sub-group has been established to focus solely on each outcome of the WESP. The sub-
groups provide an effective focus for the Local Authority in partnership with external groups and 
organisations. The sub-group have met virtually on a termly basis to review the actions listed on 
the Outcome 5 Annual Work Plan and provide updates on any progress made and to discuss 
next steps for actions, where appropriate. Strong working relationships have been established 
between partners who are members of the Outcome 5 sub-group which has enabled information, 
opportunities and best practices to be shared amongst partners. 

IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

We have a dedicated group focussing solely on this outcome. The Head of Attendance and 

Wellbeing leads this sub-group and membership includes internal representation from Youth 

Services, Welsh Language Services, Arts and Culture Services along with external 

representation from partners to include Menter Iaith, Urdd, CSCJES and Coleg y Cymoedd.  

The initial sub-group meetings at the beginning of this academic year focussed on developing 

the work plan which details the overarching targets, the actions and the key activities required to 

achieve the targets. The Outcome 5 Sub-group meets on a termly basis to review the targets 

and actions listed on the work plan to provide an opportunity for members to provide updates on 

any progress made, where appropriate, and to identify ways to move forward with certain actions. 

These meetings have been held virtually and have had good attendance at each meeting. Many 

important points have been raised and actioned accordingly. The sub-group lead will review end 

dates of actions on the work plan to ensure the group remains on targets and in situations where 

the end date has surpassed, questions will be asked as to why and follow on steps agreed upon 

to ensure we move forward and don’t miss any targets. Following each meeting, minutes of the 

meeting are shared with members of the sub-group and the ‘Progress/Evaluation’ column on the 

work plan is updated with any comments made during the meeting.  

 

OUTCOME LEVEL RISKS 

 Lack of qualified Welsh medium staff available to deliver Youth services: 

YEPS and partner organisations such as Menter Iaith and the Urdd are facing challenges with 

recruiting qualified Welsh medium staff to support their services. Members of the sub-group have 

raised that funding is an issue, as the English medium positions typically offer a higher pay and 

are therefore more desirable. 

 

 Arts, Culture and Library Services teams initiatives to upskill the cultural sector: 

These initiatives are being introduced to create more providers who are able to deliver sessions 

through the medium of Welsh but are reliant on freelance artists and organisations taking up the 

offer of Level 1 Welsh e-modules which they may not choose to do. Arts Council Wales 

information is currently being awaited and this information will impact the likelihood of this target. 

 

 Indicative funding: 

The funding received via the Youth Support Grant is indicative and usually runs per annum. This 

poses a risk as it doesn’t provide job security for staff and the quality of candidates may be 

compromised when only offering time-limited posts due to funding. 

 

Tudalen 197



 

48 
 

 Schools yet to engage with Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus provision: 

There are a group of schools who have yet to engage and are reluctant to do so. 

 

 Action short of strike in schools: 

This has created some challenges in some school settings for CSCJES Improvement Partners. 

 

 Catering Services upskilling: 

Current difficulties and challenges in staff accessing Welsh lessons due to their shorter working 

hours and the ability to find cover during their working hours for release. 

 

ASSURANCE / MITIGATION ACTION 

 Lack of qualified Welsh medium staff available to deliver Youth services: 

Partners such as Menter Iaith, YEPS, Coleg y Cymoedd are working collaboratively to try to 

address the challenges faced with recruitment. 

 

 Arts, Culture and Library Services teams initiatives to upskill the cultural sector: 

Arts Council Wales information is currently being awaited and this information will impact the 

likelihood of this target being achieved. 

 

 Indicative funding: 

Partners are sharing resources where possible however this is not fixing the issues. Consider 

funding streams that last longer than a year to aid retention of staff in these types of positions.  

 

 Schools yet to engage with Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus provision: 

CSCJES are targeting these specific schools during the next academic year to get them onboard 

following attempts this year via the ‘Introduction to Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus’ sessions. 

 

 Action short of strike in schools: 

The impact of ASOS on developments will continue to be monitored.  

 

 Catering Services upskilling: 

Work ongoing to find practical ways to introduce sessions for these staff without financial 
implications that the Local Authority cannot commit to.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 198



 

49 
 

Outcome 6 

An increase in the provision of Welsh-medium education for pupils with additional 

learning needs (ALN) in accordance with the duties imposed by the Additional 

Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 

KEY ANNUAL DATA  

PLASC Data 

The data in the table that follows is derived from PLASC and demonstrates the number and percentage 

of learners with ALN in English medium schools in RCT for the previous five academic years, up to 

and including the academic year 2022-2023. The data demonstrates a decrease in the number of 

learners with ALN in English medium education between the academic years 2020-2021 and 2021-

2022. The percentage of learners for this academic year has increased slightly, however still remains 

significantly lower than previous years. 

 

Table 6.1 

Number and Percentage of Learners in English Medium Education with ALN 

Academic Year 

Year 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Total 
No. 
with 
ALN 

7,494 24.3% 6,283 20.3% 5,310 17% 1,508 4.87% 1,926 6.28% 

 

The data in the table that follows is derived from PLASC and demonstrates the number and percentage 

of learners with ALN in Welsh medium schools across the RCT for the previous five academic years, 

up to and including the academic year 2022-2023. The data demonstrates the same trend within both 

Welsh and English medium education whereby the percentage of learners with ALN in Welsh medium 

education has decreased between the academic years 2020-2021 and 2021-2022. The percentage of 

learners for this academic year has increased slightly, however still remains significantly lower than 

previous years. 

 

Table 6.2 

Number and Percentage of Learners in Welsh Medium Education with ALN 

Academic Year 

Year 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Total 
No. 
with 
ALN 

1,478 20.17% 1,367 18.57% 1,090 14.83% 200 2.77% 256 3.58% 

 

 

 

Tudalen 199



 

50 
 

OUTCOME SUMMARY 

The Sufficiency of Welsh Medium Additional Learning Provision in our Locality 

In line with the duties placed upon us section 63 of the Additional Learning Needs Act and the 
Education Tribunal (Wales) 2018 Act, the Local Authority’s Access and Inclusion team have carried 
out a review of the additional learning provision currently available in Welsh medium early years 
settings in RCT. To complete these reviews, the team engaged with 15 Welsh medium registered 
education providers and asked for surveys to be completed. Out of the 15 settings, 13 settings engaged 
with the survey. The surveys demonstrated the following strengths: 

 100% of settings have a designated ALNCo. 

 12/13 settings have an agreed graduated response with clear areas of good practice in relation 
to multi-agency collaboration, use of assessment data and PCP. 
 

The barriers reported by settings were similar across all responses received: 

 Lack of available resources in Welsh. 

 Recruiting Welsh speaking staff. 

 Limited Welsh language abilities of parents/carers to support at home. 

 

Of the 13 settings which engaged with the survey, 12 agreed that support available to them was good 
from a range of professionals. However, the support provided to settings is delivered predominantly by 
non-Welsh speaking specialist staff within ALN services. 

 

Potential areas for development: 

 Review service delivery within education ALN services with the aim of increasing the Welsh 
medium specialist support available to Welsh medium early years settings. 

 Identify key resources that are not available in Welsh for early years settings on a local basis 
and in collaboration with other Local Authorities in the region. 
 

Please see report below ‘Review of Welsh Medium Early Years ALP – Registered Education Providers’ 
for more detail. 

 

Review of Welsh 

medium Early Years ALP  - Registered Education Providers.docx
 

 

The Access and Inclusion team have carried out reviews of the sufficiency of Welsh medium ALN 
provision in education settings across RCT to support learners with ALN. The first step was to review 
the additional learning needs of Welsh medium learners with ALN who access support via the Local 
Authority’s Access and Inclusion Services. 

 

At the current time, there is sufficient coverage as each team has Welsh speakers, however not all 
teams have permanent Welsh essential posts. To safeguard provision, there is a need to ensure that 
all teams have Welsh essential posts going forward. Over the last three years referrals to the Local 
Authority’s Learner Support Service have doubled in number. Further analysis is required to analyse 
whether the increase in the number of referrals are from Welsh medium schools as this would 
demonstrate an increased demand for Welsh medium ALN specialist services. Current data indicates 
that some learners with significant and complex ALN who were previously attending Welsh medium 
education in RCT are now accessing specialist education provision. 

 

 

Tudalen 200



 

51 
 

Potential areas for development: 

 Ensure all teams in each service area have Welsh essential posts. 

 Analyse demand for Welsh medium support from Access and Inclusion Service areas to 
increase the number of Welsh essential posts where there is the highest demand. 

 To bring forward proposals to Cabinet to establish primary Welsh medium learning support 
class provision to encourage pupils with significant and complex ALN to continue their 
education though the medium of Welsh. 

 

An audit of the additional learning needs of learners in Welsh medium mainstream education has been 
conducted to analyse the different types of additional learning needs learners have in each National 
Curriculum year. The findings of the audit have informed initial planning of provision in terms of the 
main focus being on the opening of a new Welsh medium learning support class which will open to 
learners from September 2024.  

 

Proposed action moving forward: 

A further audit is needed to include analysis of severity of need – e.g., eligibility criteria for specialist 
placement to inform short to medium term planning for development of Welsh medium specialist 
provision. A detailed Audit of ALN data within the WM sector has been undertaken.  

 

A further audit has been carried out focussing on the provision maps of Welsh medium schools in order 
to evaluate the range of additional learning provision available and the impact of this. The audit 
highlighted areas of good practice and areas for development in relation to the quality of schools’ 
additional learning provision and the impact of this for learners. 

 

Potential areas for development: 

 Identify key evidence-based interventions/resources that are not available in Welsh that would 
improve the additional learning provision offer in Welsh medium schools on a local basis in 
RCT and with other Local Authorities in the region. 

 Explore opportunities for the development and adaptation of Welsh medium ALN 
interventions/resources on an all Wales basis, involving Welsh Government. 

 Identify support for Welsh medium schools to ensure effective provision mapping to meet 
individual pupils’ needs. 

 

Please see report below ‘Welsh Medium Provision Map Report’ for full detail. 

Welsh Medium 

Provision Map report July 2023.docx
 

 

The Access and Inclusion team have been working collaboratively with Coleg y Cymoedd to carry out 
a scoping exercise of the post-16 Welsh medium provision currently being offered to learners at the 
college. This scoping exercise identified current Welsh medium/bilingual courses on offer and 
highlighted potential areas for development. 

 

Potential areas for development: 

 Work collaboratively with Coleg y Cymoedd to keep the Welsh medium ALN curriculum offer 

under review and informed by the needs of Welsh medium ALN learners identified through the 

transition process. 

 Establish an agreed graduated response to meeting the needs of post-16 Welsh medium ALN 

learners and thresholds for support from the Local Authority. 

Tudalen 201



 

52 
 

 Ensure that the development of post-16 processes for accessing Welsh medium additional 

learning provision at Coleg y Cymoedd is included in the RCT post-16 steering group Year 1 

Action Plan. 

 Develop consistent approaches and protocols in relation to securing additional learning 

provision for Welsh medium post-16 further education learners with Coleg Merthyr. 

 

Please see report below ‘Scoping Exercise of post-16 Welsh medium provision Coleg y Cymoedd’ for 
further detail. 

 

Scoping exercise of 

post-16 Welsh medium provision Coleg y Cymoedd.docx 
 

The Access and Inclusion team work provide Welsh medium Educational Psychology Services 
provided to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. Processes are being developed for post-16 ALN 
provision in further education in collaborating with the psychology service. 

 

The Access and Inclusion team have been working with CSCJES to ensure effective ALN provision is 
available for learners in mainstream education and special schools and classes in RCT. Improvements 
have been made to the self-evaluation processes to ensure information regarding ALN forms part of 
each schools’ monitoring, evaluation and review cycle. A new process has been agreed to implement 
a joint professional development opportunity and quality assurance process to ensure a shared 
understanding between Access and Inclusion services, CSCJES Improvement Partners, 
Headteachers, ALN Co-Ordinators and Governors regarding effective self-evaluation of ALN. This will 
include: 

 Guidance for mainstream schools on effective self -evaluation of ALN (from September 2023). 

 Training on effective self-evaluation for CSCJES Improvement Partners, Headteachers, 
ALNCos and Governors (from September 2023). 

 Support and oversight by CSCJES Improvement Partners as part of their quality assurance 
processes – ongoing throughout academic year. 

 Designated joint Access and Inclusion services and CSCJES meetings to discuss good practice 
and concerns to inform support for individual schools.   

 

These audits and reviews which have been conducted during the first year of the WESP will be used 
to inform future planning of additional learning provision across RCT.  

 

Development of Welsh Medium ALN Provision in our Locality 

The Access and Inclusion team have been working closely with Ysgol Garth Olwg for the opening of a 
new Welsh medium Learning Support Class (LSC) provision for Key Stage 3 and 4 learners at the 
school. Provision was due to open to learners from September 2022 however, there have been many 
barriers due to not being able to recruit a specialist teacher. Recruitment for this post has been 
advertised numerous times throughout the academic year however the number of applicants and 
quality of the applications has been low. In recent months, appointment has been successful following 
readvertisement of the post as a secondment. Due to the delay in the appointment, a high level of ALN 
specific training and mentoring will be provided to the staff on an ongoing basis and evaluated through 
the Learning Support Class Quality Assurance protocol. This provision will open to learners from 
September 2023. 

 

Proposals for the establishment of Welsh medium ALN provision in the new Welsh medium primary 
school in Rhydyfelin were previously listed as Year 2 to 3 actions however, to ensure we work at 
greater pace in response to identified need, the proposals have been brought forward. The proposals 

Tudalen 202



 

53 
 

were presented to Cabinet for approval in May 2023 and consultation is now underway. If the 
consultation is successful, 2 new Welsh medium primary phase LSCs will be established in the new 
Welsh medium primary school in Rhydyfelin which will open to learners in 2024, enhancing its Welsh 
medium specialist ALN placement provision. 

 

The Sufficiency of Welsh Medium ALN Workforce Available  

A review has been carried out on the size and capability of the workforce available to deliver Welsh 
medium early years ALN provision, analysing ALNCo training for this age group to identify what training 
is available and whether it’s being accessed. The analysis highlighted that a wide range of training is 
provided for settings through formal training sessions, drop-in sessions and forum sessions. Training 
is available for specific interventions in relation to individual learners. The analysis showed that 
attendance at training is variable with less than 50% of settings attending training opportunities relation 
to the new ALN system and inclusive practices. It also highlighted that the training and resources 
available are only available in English due to a lack of Welsh medium ALN specialist staff available to 
support early years settings.  

 

Potential areas for development: 

 Prioritise training opportunities that can be delivered though the medium of Welsh. 

 Offer Welsh medium training to settings and analyse potential uptake.  

 Explore establishing cross-border Welsh medium early years ALNCo forums and training 
opportunities with neighbouring Local Authorities. 

 

The Access and Inclusion team consulted with Welsh medium ALNCos and Welsh medium staff within 
the Local Authority’s Access and Inclusion services to gather information on the barriers to providing 
effective Welsh medium additional learning needs provision. The consultation was held through focus 
groups which had 17 participants: 8 Welsh medium ALNCos, 2 Welsh medium educational 
psychologists, 1 assistant Educational Psychologist, 6 members of the Learner Support Service and 
the additional learning provision team who work through the medium of Welsh in Welsh medium 
schools. 

 

The consultation focussed on two main areas: 

1) Perceived barriers to providing effective Welsh medium additional learning provision in RCT. 
2) Possible solutions to overcoming barriers to providing effective Welsh medium ALP in RCT. 

 

The focus group identified the following barriers: 

 Lack of Welsh medium resources. 

 Lack of appropriately trained/skilled staff. 

 Limited opportunities for Welsh medium continuous professional development. 

 Lack of Welsh medium specialist placement provision – e.g., Learning Support Classes in RCT. 

 Parents having difficulty providing support. 

 Lack of value placed upon the Welsh language – lack of equity. 
 

Possible solutions identified included: 

 Increase in the number of Welsh medium staff in Access and Inclusion services. 

 Recognition of the value of the language. 

 Increased funding and more Welsh medium resources. 

 Provision of Welsh medium continuous professional development opportunities. 

 Increased Welsh medium Learning Support Classes provision. 

 Welsh language parent support groups. 

 

Tudalen 203



 

54 
 

Further consultation was carried out to identify barriers ALNCos and other school-based staff face with 
providing effective Welsh medium additional learnings needs provision. To conduct the consultation, a 
focus group was held online with 40 participants in attendance from specialist teams.  

 

The consultation focussed on two main areas:  

1) Perceived barriers to providing effective Welsh medium additional learning provision in RCT. 
2) Possible solutions to overcoming barriers to providing effective Welsh medium ALP in RCT. 

 

The focus group identified the following barriers: 

 Recruitment of Welsh medium ALN staff. 

 Skillset of existing school staff in mainstream Welsh medium schools. 

 Lack of specialist Welsh medium placement provision – e.g., Learning Support Classes. 

 Budget restraints restricting ability of staff to improve their Welsh language skills. 

 SEBD dual placement model – Welsh medium learners having to attend part-time English 
medium specialist placement. 

 Lack of Welsh medium ALN resources. 
 

Possible solutions identified included: 

 Recognition of increase in central Welsh speaking ALN staff. 

 Equity of provision – increasing specialist provision. 

 Provision mapping and skills audit of Welsh medium schools regarding ALN. 

 Development of Welsh medium resources. 

 

The outcomes of both consultations, in particular the suggested solutions, will be used to identify 
specific actions to be progressed during year 2 of the WESP. 

 

Audits have been undertaken to identify the Welsh language competency of staff working in all 
specialist ALN settings in RCT, this includes Learning Support Classes, Pupil Referral Units and 
special schools. Please see below for an overview of the outcome of the audits and potential follow up 
actions: 

 

Central Access and Inclusion Services:  

 70% of the staff are at Welsh Language Competency Level 1. 

 10% of staff of the staff are currently at Welsh Language Competency Levels 2-4. 

 20% of the staff are currently at Welsh Language Competency Level 5. 
 

All service areas have Welsh language staff at Level 5 and are able to provide a Welsh medium service 
with the exception of the early years team and additional learning needs administrative service 
(ALNAS), which does not work directly with pupils to provide specialist ALN assessment or provision. 
Despite nearly all service areas/teams within Access and Inclusion having Welsh medium staff, there 
is a need to ensure all teams have sufficient Welsh essential posts within their structure. Currently not 
all service areas have Welsh essential posts. 

 

Initial potential areas for development:  

 Ensure that all service areas have a Welsh essential post in their structure. 

 Analyse demand for Welsh medium support from all service areas to increase the number of 
Welsh essential posts in specific service areas with the highest demand. 

 

Please see report below ‘RCT AI Staff Competency Levels’ for full analysis. 

Tudalen 204



 

55 
 

RCT AI Staff 

Competency Levels.docx
 

 

Learning Support Class Staff: 

 Of the 50 LSC teacher responses, 60% are currently at Welsh Language Competency Level 1. 
This contrasts with the teaching assistants where 89% of the responses indicate that the 
teaching assistants are currently at Welsh Language Competency Level 1. 

 6% of the teachers indicate a Welsh language Competency Level of 4 with 3% of the teaching 
assistants reporting the same. 

 There are no teachers currently at Welsh Language Competency Level 5 although 1 teaching 
assistant has identified that they are at this competency level. 
 

Due to no LSC teachers identifying themselves as Level 5, it is not currently possible to develop a 
succession plan in relation to current LSC teachers taking up Welsh medium posts in our new Welsh 
medium LSCs and external advertisements will need to be made. It’s also apparent that a review of 
the provision of Welsh language in the curriculum needs to be undertaken in LSCs to ensure 
compliance with the new curriculum due to the barriers identified by LSC staff. 

 

Initial potential areas for development: 

 Explore the feasibility of developing the Welsh language skills of the Level 4 teaching and non-
teaching staff to provide enhanced Welsh medium capacity for LSC provision. 

 Review delivery of Welsh in the Curriculum for Wales in LSCs to ensure pupils with ALN in 
English medium LSCs have access to their statutory entitlement for Welsh in line with statutory 
requirements. 
 

Please see report below ‘LSC Staff Competency Levels Summary’ for a more detailed breakdown. 

LSC Staff 

Competency Level Summary.docx
  

 

Special Schools and PRU Welsh Language Competency Levels: 

 75% of Special School/PRU teachers are at Welsh Language Competency Level 1 or 2. 

 7% of Special School/PRU teachers are at Welsh Language Competency Level 5. 

 87% of Special School/PRU teaching assistants are at Welsh Language Competency Level 1 
or 2. 

 3% of Special School/PRU teaching assistants are at Welsh Language Competency Level 5. 
 

An increase in the number of Welsh speaking staff at Level 5 in special schools/PRUs is needed to 
enable pupils to access Welsh medium education in these specialist settings with the aim of providing 
full time access to Welsh medium special school and PRU provision within the special schools/PRUs 
over time. 

 

Initial potential areas for development:  

 Discuss with relevant Local Authority departments on how to incorporate Welsh essential posts 
into the structure of special schools and PRUs. 

 Consider the feasibility of establishing Welsh medium special school hub provision in 
designated special schools. 

 

Tudalen 205



 

56 
 

Please see report below ‘Special School PRUs Competency Levels’ for full breakdown. 

Special Schools  

PRU's Competency Levels.docx
 

 

The Sufficiency of Welsh Medium ALN Workforce in Other Service Areas 

A key target of Outcome 6 of the WESP is to review and monitor the size and capability of the workforce 
available in other service areas to ensure there’s sufficient workforce available to support Welsh 
medium ALN provision. We have started to strengthen connections between the Local Authority and 
the Local Health Board to support us achieving these targets. The Local Health Board created their 
own Strategic Delivery Plan to identify gaps in Welsh medium provision within the service. This is 
currently being delivered and a Welsh Language Steering Group has recently been established which 
is chaired by a board member as the core governance to ensure progress with all aspects of bilingual 
provision. Summary of the actions carried out during this academic year will be available via the Local 
Health Board’s Annual Welsh Language Standards report which will be available from September 
2023.  

 

As part of their internal recruitment and workforce planning to support staff to learn or develop their 
Welsh language skills, an application has been submitted to the National Centre for Learning Welsh 
for support. If the application is successful, the Local Health Board will have dedicated support for its 
staff who wish to improve their skill or confidence in Welsh. Discussions are ongoing with Learn Welsh 
Glamorgan to provide support opportunities for members of staff who are beginners. 

 

The Local Health Board are implementing changes around their recruitment process. A key change 
that is being worked on is the introduction of job advertisements being advertised in Welsh for positions 
where Welsh language skills are required. They have been creating a new job description template 
which will be used for all future job advertisement. This will include the need for all new members of 
staff to learn Welsh to Level 1. An assessment tool is now in place to assess the level of Welsh skill 
needed for all posts. A working group will be established in Year 2 of the WESP to move forward with 
these actions in line with their action plan. 

 

Outcome 6 Sub-Group 

A sub-group has been established to focus solely on each outcome of the WESP. The sub-groups 
provide an effective focus for the Local Authority in partnership with external groups and organisations. 
The sub-group have met virtually on a termly basis to review the actions listed on the Outcome 6 
Annual Work Plan and provide updates on any progress made and to discuss next steps for actions, 
where appropriate. The sub-group meetings have provided opportunities for the Local Authority’s 
Access and Inclusion team to work collaboratively with partners such as CSCJES, Coleg y Cymoedd 
and the Local Health Board to ensure effective Welsh medium ALN provision is available to learners 
in RCT. 

 

IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

We have a dedicated group focussing solely on this outcome. The Head of Inclusion Services leads 

this sub-group and membership includes internal officers from the Access and Inclusion team, 

representation from the Local Health Board and representation from Welsh medium schools. 

 

The initial sub-group meetings at the beginning of this academic year focussed on developing the work 

plan which details the overarching targets, the actions and the key activities required to achieve the 

targets. The Outcome 6 Sub-group meets on a termly basis to review the targets and actions listed on 

Tudalen 206



 

57 
 

the work plan to provide an opportunity for members to provide updates on any progress made, where 

appropriate, and to identify ways to move forward with certain actions. The sub-group lead will review 

end dates of actions on the work plan to ensure the group remains on targets and in situations where 

the end date has surpassed, questions will be asked as to why and follow on steps agreed upon to 

ensure we move forward and don’t miss any targets. Following each meeting, minutes of the meeting 

are shared with members of the sub-group and the ‘Progress/Evaluation’ column on the work plan is 

updated with any comments made during the meeting.  

 

OUTCOME LEVEL RISKS 

 Recruitment of specialist Welsh medium staff: 

This is a risk which is evident at all stages of education from early years through to post-16. The 
experience we’ve had of not being able to recruit from the new LSC class at Ysgol Garth Olwg is 
evidence that this is a serious risk to the ongoing development of Welsh medium ALN provision in 
RCT. 

 

 Early years ALN staff not sufficiently trained: 

The analysis conducted whilst reviewing the sufficiency of the early years ALN workforce highlighted 
that less than 50% of settings have attended training opportunities in relation to the new ALN system 
and inclusive practices which demonstrates potential issues with engagement. We can provide the 
opportunities but cannot force staff to uptake.  

 

 Lack of Welsh medium resources to support services and learners: 

This is a common barrier which was identified through the focus groups. 

 

ASSURANCE / MITIGATION ACTION 

 Recruitment of specialist Welsh medium staff: 

Intervention is needed at a national level to address the challenges being faced with lack of specialist 
staff available to support ALN services. 

 

 Early years ALN staff not sufficiently trained: 

Access and Inclusion services will work more closely with Welsh medium early years settings to 
promote the training opportunities available and encourage uptake of these opportunities. 

 

 Lack of Welsh medium resources to support services and learners: 

Increased funding is needed to create and develop more Welsh medium resources.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 207



 

58 
 

Outcome 7 

Increase the number of teaching staff able to teach Welsh (as a subject) and teach 

through the medium of Welsh    

KEY ANNUAL DATA  

Welsh Language Unit Data 

The data in the table that follows is provided by the Local Authority’s Welsh Language Unit and outlines 
the total number and percentage of school-based staff who identified themselves as fluent or fairly 
fluent in the Welsh language. 

 

Table 7.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PLASC DATA 

The data in the table that follows is derived from PLASC and outlines the total percentage of teachers 
employed by the Local Authority who are able to teach through the medium of Welsh for the previous 
five academic years, up to and including this academic year. The data for 2022-23 demonstrates a 
drop in the percentage of qualified teachers teaching Welsh as a first language in comparison with 
2021-2022, however the data also demonstrates an increase in the number of qualified teachers 
teaching other subjects through the medium of Welsh and the number of teachers who are able to 
teach through the medium of Welsh but are not doing so in their current post. 

 

Table 7.2 

 

Total Percentage of Teachers who are able to Teach through the Medium of Welsh 

 Academic Year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

Qualified Teachers Teaching 
Welsh as a First Language 

10.9% 9.7% 8.8% 14.1% 10.9% 

Qualified Teachers Teaching 
Welsh as a Second Language 
(Only) 

38.6% 39.6% 36.3% 36.3% 36% 

Total Number of Staff who Identified Themselves as Fluent or Fairly Fluent in 
Welsh 

 

No. of Staff with 
Welsh Language 

Skills 

Fluent (Welsh 
Language Level 4 

and 5) 

Fairly Fluent 
(Welsh Language 

Level 3) 

Total (Welsh 
Language Level 

3, 4 and 5) 

Category 
Total 
No. of 
Staff 

Number % Number % Number % 

Non-
School 
Based 
Staff 

7,352 660 8.9% 146 2.0% 806 10.9% 

Total 12,896 1,530 11.8% 347 2.7% 1,877 14.5% 

Tudalen 208



 

59 
 

Qualified Teachers Teaching 
Other Subjects through the 
Medium of Welsh 

8.4% 9.7% 11.2% 5.5% 8.7% 

Qualified Teachers Able to 
Teach through the Medium of 
Welsh, but not doing so 

6.3% 3.8% 3.4% 2.9% 4.2% 

Not Qualified to Teach through 
the Medium of Welsh 

35.9% 37.2% 40.3% 41.2% 40.2% 

 

SWAC data 

Please see Appendix A for SWAC data 2022. Key themes emerging from the data is summarised as 
follows: 

 

 Table A.1 outlines the Welsh language ability of practitioners by school phase across all schools 
in RCT. The highest levels of proficiency in Welsh language was evident in the 40-49 age range 
with 150 staff members displaying this level of skill. A total of 433 of teachers had no skills in the 
Welsh language which is a clear area for improvement.  

 Table A.2 identifies teacher Welsh language proficiency by phase. A total of 318 out of the 433 
teachers identified as having no Welsh language skills were in the secondary sector, with a further 
90 in the all through school sector. This clearly requires targeting.  

 Table A.3 shows the Welsh language abilities of practitioners teaching Welsh as a subject only at 
primary level. Data for 2022 demonstrates that 155 out of 598 of teachers in English medium 
primary schools teaching Welsh as a subject had only entry level skills, suggesting that this is an 
area for further development.  

 Table A.4 identifies the Welsh language ability of teachers in English medium schools (years 7-
14) by main subject. 15.2% had intermediate level skills (W4), 20.6% had advanced skills (W5) 
and 44.7% were proficient (W6).  

 Table A.5 identifies the Welsh language ability of teachers in English medium schools (years 7-
14) by all subjects taught.17% has intermediate skills (W4), 24% had advanced skills and 52% 
were proficient (W6).  

 Table A.6 contains data on the Welsh language ability of teachers teaching through the medium 
of Welsh across all schools in RCT, split by school phase. A total of 5 had foundation level skills (4 
primary, 1 PRU) and had 4 intermediate skills (3 primary and 1 secondary). A total of 68 had 
advanced skills, and 368 were deemed to be proficient (114 in primary, 117 in through/middle 
schools and 136 in secondary schools).  

 Table A.7 illustrates the Welsh language ability of those teaching through the medium of Welsh by 
their main subject. A total of 21 teachers of science and 25 in mathematics were deemed to be 
proficient in Welsh which is relatively low. A further teacher of mathematics teaching through the 
medium of Welsh was deemed to have advanced level skills.  

 Table A.8 identifies the Welsh language ability of those teaching through the medium of Welsh in 
all subjects taught. The data highlights that there are 532 teachers teaching through the medium 
of Welsh in all subjects taught (3 with intermediate, 28 with advanced and 501 with proficient level 
skills).  

 Table A.9 outlines the Welsh language ability of ALN Co-ordinators across all schools in RCT, split 
by school phase. Of the 16 ALNCos, 2 have advanced skills and 14 have proficient skills. 

 Table A:10 outlines the Welsh language ability of ALN support staff across all schools in RCT, split 
by school phase. Of these support staff, 36 have no skills and 44 have entry level skills suggesting 
that there is potential scope for supporting these staff to further improve their Welsh language skills. 

 Table A.11 demonstrates the Welsh language ability of the Local Authority’s school-based 
workforce for the academic year 2020/21 – 2021/222. Data suggests that there has been a 

Tudalen 209



 

60 
 

reduction in the number of staff with no Welsh language skills (from 21.2% in 2020-2021 to 20.7 in 
2021-2022) and a slight growth of 0.6% and 1.9% in staff with entry level and foundation level skills 
respectively during the same period. Small gains were evident in advanced level skills (0.2%) but 
a small reduction was evident in the percentage of staff deemed to be proficient in the Welsh 
language during the same period (reduction of 1.6%).  

 Table A.12 outlines the total number of school-based workforce (including headteachers, school 
teachers and school learning support workers) employed by the Local Authority, teaching/working 
through the medium of Welsh for the academic year 2020-2021 and 2021-2022. Data highlights a 
small reduction in the percentage working through the medium of Welsh in their current post (a 
drop of 0.4%) and a slight reduction of 0.3% in the percentage being able to teach and work through 
the medium of Welsh but were not doing so. 

 

ITRENT data  

The datasets below are derived from the Local Authority’s internal HR systems and demonstrate 
movement of teachers in Welsh medium education in terms of recruitment and retention. Data 
demonstrates that 43 Welsh medium practitioners were recruited in RCT during the academic year 
2022-2023.  

 

Table 7.3 

Starters Total 

Headteacher 0 

Assistant/Deputy Headteacher 0 

Teacher Threshold 9 

Teacher Main Scale 32 

Instructor/Unqualified Teacher 2 

Total 43 

 

When comparing this against the total number of Welsh medium practitioners who terminated their 
employment during the academic year 2022-2023, data demonstrates a net loss of 2 practitioners 
across RCT. 

 

Table 7.4 

 

Leavers Number % 

Headteacher 3 10.0% 

Assistant/Deputy Headteacher 1 2.9% 

Teacher - Threshold 18 8.5% 

Teacher - Main Scale 23 23.0% 

Instructor/Unqualified Teacher 0 0.0% 

Total 45 11.8% 

 

The data gathered on the reasons for leaving teaching posts (Table 7.5) demonstrates that the over 
50% of practitioners left voluntarily, 17.8% reached the end of their contract, 13.3% left through mutual 
agreement and 8.9% transferred to another local authority.  

 

 

Tudalen 210



 

61 
 

Table 7.5 

 

Reasons for Leaving Number  % 

Age Retirement 1 2.2% 

Compulsory Redundancy and Pension Access 1 2.2% 

Compulsory Redundancy No Pension Access 1 2.2% 

Death in Service 1 2.2% 

End of Contract 8 17.8% 

Mutual Agreement 6 13.3% 

Transfer To Another Local Authority 4 8.9% 

Voluntary 23 51.1% 

Total 45  

 

The data available can also be broken down to age profiles of practitioners starting and leaving posts. 
The data in the tables below demonstrates that the 25-34 age category had the highest percentage of 
starters and the highest percentage of leavers, leaving a net loss of 3 practitioners within this age 
category for the academic year 2022-2023. Further improvement in retaining staff is required if we are 
to satisfactorily grow the education workforce.   

 

Table 7.6 

 

Age Profile/Breakdown of 

Starters 
21-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ 

Number of Starters 14 20 6 3 0 0 

Percentage of Starters 32.6% 46.5% 14.0% 7.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

 

Table 7.7 

 

Age Profile/Breakdown of 

Leavers 
16-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+ 

Number of Leavers 2 23 7 4 9 0 

Percentage of Leavers 4.4% 51.1% 15.6% 8.9% 20.0% 0.0% 

 

Welsh Development Programmes Data  

The data in the table below is provided by CSCJES and demonstrates the number of RCT practitioners 

undertaking the Welsh in a Year Sabbatical Scheme for the previous four academic years, up to and 

including 2022-2023.  

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 211



 

62 
 

Table 7.8 

Welsh in a Year Sabbatical Scheme 

Year 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Number 5 3 1 2 

 

The Welsh in a Year Sabbatical Scheme will end this academic year and will be replaced with the new 

Two Term and One Term Sabbatical Schemes. The data in the table below shows the number of RCT 

practitioners that have undertaken these courses this year.  

 

Table 7.9 

Number of RCT Practitioners Undertaking the One and Two 

Term Sabbatical Scheme 

Scheme Two Term 2022-2023 One Term 2022-2023 

Number 4 4 

 

The data in the table that follows demonstrates the number of RCT practitioners undertaking Welsh 

language professional learning courses to develop their Welsh language skills, linked to the Welsh 

Language Competency Framework. 

 

Table 7.10 

 

Number of Practitioners Undertaking Welsh Language 

Professional Learning Course 

Number 7 

 

The data in the table that follows is provided by CSCJES and outlines the number of senior leaders 

who attended the Consortium’s ‘Leading Welsh Strategically in School’ programme for the previous 

three academic years, up to and including the academic year 2022-2023.  

 

Table 7.11 

 

Leadership of Welsh in English Medium Schools 

Year 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Number 8 6 5 

 

The data in the table below has been provided by CSCJES and outlines the number of Welsh medium 

candidates receiving NPQH for the previous four academic years, up to and including the academic 

year 2022-2023. 

 

 

Tudalen 212



 

63 
 

Table 7.12 

 

Number of Welsh Medium Candidates Achieving NPQH 

Year 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

Number 0 0 2 2 

 

The data in the table below is gathered by CSCJES and demonstrates the number of Welsh medium 

RCT practitioners undertaking the Aspiring Headteachers Programme for the previous four academic 

years, up to and including 2022-2023.  

 

Table 7.13 

 

Numbers on the Aspiring Headteachers Programme 

Year 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

No. of Primary Schools 1 No 
course. 

3 1 

No. of Middle Schools 2 0 0 

No. of Secondary Schools 0 1 1 

 

The data in the table that follows is provided by CSCJES and outlines the number of Welsh medium 

practitioners undertaking the Middle Leaders Development Programme for the previous four academic 

years, up to and including the academic year 2022-2023. 

 

Table 7.14 

 

Numbers Undertaking Middle Leaders Development Programme 

Year 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

No. of Primary Schools 11 0 2 1 

No. of Secondary Schools 0 0 1 7 

No. of All Through Schools 1 2 1 0 

Total 12 2 4 8 

 

The data in the table below is provided by CSCJES and outlines the number of Welsh medium 

practitioners undertaking the Senior Leaders Development Programme for the previous three 

academic years, up to and including the academic year 2022-2023. This programme did not begin until 

the year 2020-2021 therefore this is the only data available. 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 213



 

64 
 

Table 7.15 

Numbers Undertaking Senior Leaders Development Programme 

Year 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 

No. of Primary Schools 1 0 0 

No. of Secondary Schools 1 2 1 

No. of All Through Schools 2 2 1 

Total 4 4 2 

 

Open University Data 

The data in the table below has been provided by the Open University and demonstrates the number 

of Welsh medium schools in RCT supporting students into teaching positions through alternative routes 

(ITE partnerships, Open University salaried route). The date input into the ‘Qualifying’ column is the 

expected date that each student will be qualified by. 

 

Table 7.16 

 

Number of Welsh Medium Schools in RCT Supporting Students into Teaching 
Roles via Alternative Routes into Teaching 

School Numbers Qualifying 

Ysgol Gyfun Rhydywaun 1 July 2024 

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Evan James 1 July 2023 

Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhondda 1 July 2024 

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Bronllwyn 1 Awaiting outcome 

 

 

OUTCOME SUMMARY 

Data Returns 

To ensure accurate data is collected on the number of vacancies in the Local Authority across primary, 

secondary, special and ability, CSCJES and RCT Education Data team have been working with 

schools and practitioners to support accurate return of the SWAC through activities such as: 

 CSC have created and published a playlist incorporating an explanatory video which focuses on 

schools’ procedures for planning professional learning and accurately reporting on practitioner 

development in the SWAC.  

 RCT Education Data team have provided workshops to support schools in completing their SWAC 

returns. 

 

We will continue to work in partnership with CSCJES to ensure that schools’ SWAC data accurately 

reflects practitioners’ Welsh language skills and reflects the true skills of staff. Revised guidance on 

SWAC data has been devised and CSCJES and the Local Authority’s Education Data team will 

actively engage with schools in RCT to ensure accurate completion on the SWAC to inform future 

planning. 

 

Tudalen 214



 

65 
 

In addition to SWAC datasets, further analysis of key datasets has been undertaken to inform strategic 
planning. For example, the Council’s Human Resources information management system has been 
used to inform strategic planning. Data from the iTrent System, PLASC and SWAC have been used to 
identify staffing pressures across the education workforce and the data has been shared and presented 
to the Education and Inclusion Service Scrutiny Committee.  

 

The data highlights the staffing pressures across the system and potential areas for further 
development. These include: 

 Growing the number of central staff who identify themselves are fluent and fairly fluent Welsh 
speakers;  

 Strengthening a range of partnerships and strategic interventions to grow the number of 
qualified teachers who are able to teach Welsh as a first language; 

 Providing effective support and professional learning opportunities for qualified teachers who 
are able to teach through the medium of Welsh but are not doing so currently; 

 Targeting the workforce who have ‘no skills’ or ‘entry level skills’ in the Welsh language and 
ensuring that they are supported to develop their Welsh language skills; 

 Ensuring that teachers who teach in the English medium sector and have intermediate or 
advanced Welsh language skills have opportunities to access the necessary professional 
learning and support to become proficient so that they are able to teach through the medium of 
Welsh should they wish to do so; 

 Ensuring that there are sufficient opportunities for staff with Welsh language skills to access 
the right leadership pathways to progress in their careers; and  

 Promoting and growing the numbers of staff accessing alternative routes into teaching.  

 Investing in careers advice and guidance for young people so that they see working within 
education as a potential and rewarding career choice.     

 

Progress Made Against Increasing the Workforce 

All four Welsh medium secondary schools in RCT have partnerships with local universities to provide 
opportunities for students. Strategic initiatives aimed at encouraging the development of alternative 
routes into teaching in the Welsh medium sector will continue using effective promotion and marketing 
opportunities. Current successful partnerships includes the: 

 

 Ysgol Garth Olwg and YG Rhydywaun partnership with Cardiff Metropolitan University to support 
delivery of the ITE programme. 
 

 Ysgol Llanhari and YG Cwm Rhondda partnership with University of Wales Trinity Saint David to 
support delivery of teaching programmes for students. 
 

There have been some successes relating to the Open University salaried route into teaching but 
this requires further development and expansion.  

 

The Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol have several projects ongoing aimed at teacher training such as 
the ‘Dysgu’r Dyfodol’ project which is targeted at Welsh speaking undergraduate students at any 
University studying any subject and in any year of their studies. Students on this programme will be 
matched with an early career teacher for mentoring and work experience opportunities. The Coleg are 
tracking progression of these students once they’ve completed their studies to identify whether they 
transfer into teaching positions. The project started in January 2023 and 50 applications were received 
for this academic year.  

 
CSCJES and regional Headteachers have been working with Cardiff Metropolitan University and 
Welsh Government to explore potential new routes to achieving qualified teacher status (QTS) for 
practitioners with experience in an education setting (high level teaching assistants, FE lecturers). 

Tudalen 215



 

66 
 

Welsh Government have agreed in principle a new fast track route to QTS for Welsh medium 
practitioners. The programme is currently being developed by Cardiff Metropolitan University with the 
aim of launching during 2023-2024. 

 
The Local Authority’s Workforce Development team are currently working on a targeted campaign to 
promote teaching as a profession. The team are creating a ‘Teaching as a Profession’ section on the 
Local Authority’s new careers portal which will include information on the profession, the different 
routes available, support available for current practitioners looking to be supported into Welsh medium 
education, video clips of RCT practitioners talking about their experiences working in the profession. 
The Workforce Development team have been out to Welsh medium schools to hold video sessions, 
engaging with Welsh medium practitioners to promote the benefits of teaching as a profession and 
specifically through the medium of Welsh. Once completed, further marketing strategies will be 
deployed to ensure that it reaches the right target audience.   

 

There are 2 schools in RCT which have supported students at Cardiff Metropolitan University on the 
PGCE Pontio group. This group is a short course aimed at developing confidence and use of Welsh 
to encourage student teachers to transfer into job opportunities in Welsh medium education. One 
further school has worked with Cardiff Metropolitan University to place a student on the ‘Blas ar 
Ddysgu’ programme which is a week taster in a Welsh medium school, aimed at undergraduate 
students from Cardiff Metropolitan University and Cardiff University. 

 

The Sufficiency of Welsh Medium ALN Workforce Available  

A review has been carried out on the size and capability of the workforce available to deliver Welsh 
medium early years ALN provision. A full and comprehensive analysis of this work is provided in 
Outcome 6.  

 

Leadership Development 

The Local Authority is proactive in developing its leadership capacity by running an annual Aspiring 
Leaders Programme. This programme is highly effective and is commissioned by the Local Authority 
as part of its succession planning strategy and was identified by Estyn as innovative practice in the 
Local Authority inspection in January 2023 and a best practice case study was requested and written. 
This annual programme includes aspiring leaders from the Welsh medium sector and every effort is 
made to encourage and secure good representation from the sector to involve senior leaders with 
Welsh language skills. There are currently 2 Welsh Medium practitioners enrolled on the 2023-2024 
programme. Consideration is now being given to developing a Local Authority course for middle 
leaders to ensure earlier identification of potential future leaders, and funding has been secured to pilot 
this programme for a 12 month period.   

 

CSCJES have widely promoted the NPQH and Aspiring Headteacher Programme via all 
communication channels and through Improvement Partner conversations with schools. Data on the 
numbers undertaking these programmes is detailed in Table 7.12 and 7.13 respectively. The numbers 
accessing these leadership programmes will require further growth during 2023/24 if we are to ensure 
sufficient future leadership capacity within RCT.  

 

The Gyda’n Gilydd programme, which is a leadership programme made up of Welsh medium 
practitioners across the region, has 3 RCT practitioners on the current programme for 2022-2023. 

 

The National Programme for Senior Leaders is delivered by Ysgol Llanhari on behalf of CSCJES. Data 
on the numbers undertaking leadership development programmes are referred to above in Table 7.15. 
A dip was evident in 2022-23 and further promotional work will be required in future to ensure a growth 
in numbers in the Welsh medium sector.  

Tudalen 216



 

67 
 

 
CSCJES held Governor training sessions during the summer term 2022 and the spring term 2023, 
focussing on enhancing awareness on the responsibility around the Welsh language. 14 governors 
attended and are now equipped to support school leaders. Further awareness raising on the WESP 
for governing bodies will be provided during 2023/24 academic year through chair of governors 
meetings with the Director of Education and her leadership team and via Director reports to governing 
bodies during the academic year.  

 
Partnership Working to Upskill Staff 

The Local Authority has been working with internal service areas and external partners to support 
school-based staff in improving their Welsh language skills. 

 

CSCJES have been planning Welsh language development for practitioners strategically using the 
Welsh language competency framework and linking it to the SWAC. CSCJES have widely promoted 
their professional learning opportunities for the Welsh language via all communication channels and 
via Improvement Partner conversations with schools. During the academic year 2022-2023, 7 Welsh 
medium practitioners undertook Welsh language professional learning courses through CSCJES to 
develop their Welsh language skills, linked to the Welsh Language Competency Framework. 

 
The Local Authority’s Welsh Language Services are working with the Local Authority’s ICT department 
for the secure roll out of different electronic applications to support the linguistic skill development of 
staff. If the roll out is successful, the applications will be placed on the devices of all Local Authority 
based staff in the first instance. Further work is needed to identify ways to successfully roll out the 
applications to school-based staff as not all members of staff use Local Authority devices. The Local 
Authority’s Catering Services are the first cohort of school-based staff which will pilot the roll out of 
support. 

 

Welsh Government’s Hwb portal has been promoted with RCT schools and WESP partners via general 
communication channels. The portal includes a range of professional learning opportunities available 
for practitioners to develop their Welsh language skills. 

 

The free resources available via Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol to support staff with upskilling their 
Welsh language skills, have been shared with RCT schools and WESP partners via general 
communication channels: 

 To enhance language skills - Gloywi Iaith (porth.ac.uk)  

 Interactive learning resources for developing Welsh language skills in the context of the 
classroom - Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol : Adnoddau Iaith i Athrawon 

 Support material for teaching Welsh as a second language - Blackboard Learn (porth.ac.uk) 
(need to register to access the resource) 

 App Sgiliau Iaith - Search for ‘Sgiliaith’ on App store or Playstore. 

 

CSCJES have been proactive in rolling out and promoting the support available to practitioners via the 
Welsh Sabbatical Schemes. Data on the numbers undertaking the sabbatical schemes for this 
academic year and previous years is referred to above in Table 7.8 and Table 7.9. The Welsh in a 
Year Sabbatical scheme will end this year and be replaced with the new One Term and Two Term 
Sabbatical schemes. CSCJES are currently recruiting for the following sabbatical courses which will 
take place in summer 2024: 

 5 week entry level course for teaching assistants 

 8 week foundation level course for teachers 
 

Tudalen 217

https://www.porth.ac.uk/en/collection/gloywi-iaith
http://colegcc-we.adnodd.co.uk/
https://adnoddau.porth.ac.uk/webapps/login/?action=login


 

68 
 

The opportunities available have been widely promoted by CSCJES and the Local Authority’s 
Education team. 
 

CSCJES provide post-sabbatical scheme support which includes network meetings, sharing of good 
practice and resources, leadership of Welsh short course, bespoke 1:1 session with development 
officers and support to share their knowledge and skills with other practitioners. This will continue in 
2023-2024 for practitioners returning to school from September 2023. 

 

Outcome 7 Sub-Group 

A sub-group has been established to focus solely on each outcome of the WESP. The sub-groups 
provide an effective focus for the Local Authority in partnership with external groups and organisations. 
The sub-group have met virtually on a termly basis to review the actions listed on the Outcome 7 
Annual Work Plan and provide updates on any progress made and to discuss next steps for actions, 
where appropriate. Throughout the first year of this plan, as discussions have broadened membership 
has grown to include key partners such as Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol. There has been regional 
work underway to support the activities in relation to this outcome which has been widely promoted by 
CSCJES and the Local Authority’s Education team. An action for Year 2 of the plan will be to link with 
the National Centre for Learning Welsh to further enhance our actions around this outcome.  

 

IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

We have a dedicated group focussing solely on this outcome. The Director of Education and Inclusion 

Services leads this sub-group and membership includes internal officers, CSCJES, representation 

from both Welsh and English medium schools and Coleg y Cymoedd and representation from external 

partners to include Mudiad Meithrin, Welsh Government and Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol. 

 

The initial sub-group meetings at the beginning of this academic year focussed on developing the work 

plan which details the overarching targets, the actions and the key activities required to achieve the 

targets. The Outcome 7 Sub-group meets on a termly basis to review the targets and actions listed on 

the work plan to provide an opportunity for members to provide updates on any progress made, where 

appropriate, and to identify ways to move forward with certain actions. These meetings have been held 

virtually and have had good attendance at each meeting. Many important points have been raised and 

actioned accordingly. The sub-group lead will review end dates of actions on the work plan to ensure 

the group remains on targets and in situations where the end date has surpassed, questions will be 

asked as to why and follow on steps agreed upon to ensure we move forward and don’t miss any 

targets. Following each meeting, minutes of the meeting are shared with members of the sub-group 

and the ‘Progress/Evaluation’ column on the work plan is updated with any comments made during 

the meeting.  

 

OUTCOME LEVEL RISKS 

 Inaccurate SWAC returns: 

Schools not completing the SWAC return accurately, providing inaccurate data to inform future 
education planning. 

 

 Lack of Welsh medium teachers and support staff: 

There’s a lack of Welsh speaking teachers and support staff available to fill posts in schools across 
RCT, especially in certain subject areas. This is national issue but geographically we have additional 
challenges.   

Tudalen 218



 

69 
 

 

 Low number of applicants for teaching courses at universities: 

It’s been reported that the numbers applying for teaching courses at Cardiff Metropolitan University 
are lower than previous years. 

 

 High numbers of practitioners leaving the profession: 

Data trends demonstrate a number of teachers and support staff are leaving the profession completely. 
We do however appear to have some success in recruiting but due to the number of staff leaving the 
our employment, the net gain is negligible.  RCT experienced very high covid rates and death rates 
were the highest in Wale and the impact on the wider community and on the resilience of the workforce 
could be an issue. Retaining young professionals in the sector appear to be a particular challenge.  

 

 Geographical location of RCT: 

Due to where the county is situated geographically, this prevents some qualified practitioners who 
reside in neighbouring counties to travel to our schools for work due to greater employment 
opportunities being closer to home. Retention of staff therefore is an important consideration. 

 

 Succession Planning: 

Age profiles of the school-based workforce needs to be analysed at regular intervals in order to assist 

with strategic planning.  

 

ASSURANCE / MITIGATION ACTION 

 Inaccurate SWAC returns: 
o CSCJES have created and published a playlist incorporating an explanatory video which 

focuses on schools’ procedures for planning professional learning and accurately reporting on 

practitioner development in the SWAC.  

o RCT Education Data team have provided workshops to support schools in completing their 

SWAC returns.  

o Support will be ongoing into Year 2 of the plan whilst schools are preparing their SWAC returns 

for 2023. 

 

 Lack of Welsh medium teachers and support staff: 

o Implementing a workforce development campaign focusing specifically on the benefits of 

teaching or working within education in RCT.   

o Links between local Welsh medium schools, local Universities and Coleg Cymraeg 

Cenedlaethol to be strengthened to ensure students transfer into teaching opportunities once 

they’ve completed their studies.  

o Stronger links have been established with careers initiatives and more is being done to highlight 

the benefits of working within education and the different routes into teaching.  

o More high potential staff to be encouraged to engage with leadership programmes so that we 

have sufficient supply of high calibre leaders to meet future demand.  

 

 Low number of applicants for teaching courses at Universities: 

Links between local Welsh medium schools, local Universities and Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol to be 
strengthened to promote the benefits of teaching as a profession and the routes available into teaching 
to school learners who are considering their future career pathways. 

 

Tudalen 219



 

70 
 

 High numbers of practitioners leaving the profession: 

o Effective wellbeing support is put in place for those who are experiencing challenges.  

o It is important that exit interviews are undertaken to understand the reasons for leaving our 

employment as a Local Authority.  

o iTrent reports enable us to gather intelligence and to routinely scrutinise data to identify any 

trends.  

 

 Geographical location of RCT: 

Implement a targeted recruitment campaign to promote teaching as a profession in RCT and the 
benefits of working in our community and for RCTCBC as an employer.  

 

 Succession Planning: 

o Continued delivery of the Local Authority’s highly successful Aspiring Leaders Programme and 

implementation of plans to deliver a Middle Leaders Programme.  

o Proactive steps to be taken to ensure good engagement levels with the wide range of 

leadership programmes available with CSC. 

o Ensure that the professional learning provided is targeted and effectively upskills the language 

abilities of the workforce.  

 

 

 

Tudalen 220



Appendix 1A 

 

SWAC data 

The datasets in the tables below are derived from SWAC 2022. 

 

The table below outlines the Welsh language ability of teachers against their age profile. 

 

Table A.1 

 

 

The table below outlines the Welsh language ability of practitioners by school phase across 
all schools in RCT. 

 

Table A.2 

 

Teacher Welsh proficiency by Phase (All Schools) 

Phase No skills Entry Foundation Intermediate Advanced Proficiency No info 

Middle 
school 

90 50 16 11 9 124 5 

PRU 6 19 3 0 1 0 0 

Primary 
School 

7 202 293 118 98 185 13 

Special 12 45 15 6 3 5 0 

Secondary 318 185 37 17 27 167 2 

Total 433 501 364 152 138 481 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Teacher Age Profile by Welsh Language Ability 

Age No skills Entry Foundation Intermediate Advanced Proficient No info Total 

Under 
25 

24 30 17 8 8 43 1 131 

25-29 50 65 54 16 13 76 2 276 

30-39 130 170 117 53 51 142 6 669 

40-49 151 150 120 44 40 150 8 663 

50-59 72 80 55 31 25 68 2 333 

60 
and 
over 

6 6 1 - 1 2 1 17 

Total  433 501 364 152 138 481 20 2,089 

Tudalen 221



The table below shows the Welsh language abilities of practitioners teaching Welsh as a 
subject only at primary level. 

 

Table A.3 

 

Teacher Teaching Welsh as a Subject Only (Primary) 

Medium 
Type 

No 
skills Entry Foundation Intermediate Advanced Proficiency No info Total 

Dual 0 4 6 2 1 2 0 15 

English 
Medium 

0 155 243 104 35 48 13 598 

Welsh 
Medium 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 0 159 245 106 36 49 13 608 

 

The table below identifies the Welsh language ability of teachers in English medium schools 
by main subject. 

 

Table A.4 

 

Teachers Full-Person Equivalence (FPE) With Intermediate or Above Welsh Skills Teaching 
Years 7-14 In English Medium Schools by Main Subject  

W4 W5 W6 
 

Subject Full Name  Intermediate Advanced Proficiency Total 

Total  15.2 20.6 44.7 80.5 

Art - - 0.5 0.5 

Biology 0.9 - - 0.9 

Business Studies - - - - 

Chemistry - 0.7 - 0.7 

Drama/Theatre - - - - 

Design & Technology - - - - 

English 3.0 0.5 5.4 8.9 

Engineering - - - - 

Geography 1.0 - 0.8 1.8 

History 1.0 1.0 - 2.0 

ICT 0.5 0.8 - 1.3 

Mathematics 3.0 1.0 3.0 7.0 

Modern Foreign 
Language 

0.5 - 1.3 1.8 

Music 1.8 0.8 1.2 3.8 

Physical Education - 1.7 2.7 4.4 

Physics - - - - 

Personal & Social 
Education 

- - - - 

Tudalen 222



Religious Education 1.7 2.4 2.1 6.2 

Science - 0.5 2.5 3.0 

Social Sciences - - - - 

Vocational Subject - - - - 

Welsh Baccalaureate 1.0 - 0.9 1.9 

Welsh - 11.1 23.3 34.4 

Other Humanities 0.8 - - 0.8 

Other Subject - - 1.0 1.0 

 

The table below identifies the Welsh language ability of teachers in English medium schools 
by all subjects taught. 

 

Table A.5 

 

Teachers Full-Person Equivalence (FPE) With Intermediate or Above Welsh Skills 
Teaching Years 7-14 (Secondary Schools) In English Medium Schools by All Subjects 

Taught  
W4 W5 W6 

 

Subject Full Name  Intermediate Advanced Proficiency Total 

Total  17.0 24.0 52.0 93.0 

Art - - 1.0 1.0 

Biology 0.9 0.2 0.1 1.1 

Business Studies - - 0.1 0.1 

Chemistry - 0.8 0.5 1.2 

Drama/Theatre - 0.1 0.5 0.6 

Design & Technology - 0.1 0.2 0.3 

English 3.0 0.5 5.5 9.0 

Engineering - - - - 

Geography 1.0 - 0.9 1.9 

History 1.2 1.0 0.2 2.4 

ICT 1.0 1.2 - 2.2 

Mathematics 3.0 1.2 3.3 7.5 

Modern Foreign Language 0.5 - 1.6 2.1 

Music 1.8 1.0 1.4 4.2 

Physical Education - 1.9 3.2 5.0 

Physics - 0.0 - 0.0 

Personal & Social Education 0.0 0.3 0.5 0.8 

Religious Education 1.7 3.0 2.2 6.9 

Science 0.1 1.1 2.9 4.1 

Social Sciences - - - - 

Vocational Subject - 0.3 0.3 0.6 

Welsh Baccalaureate 1.3 - 1.6 2.8 

Tudalen 223



Welsh 0.5 11.5 25.1 37.1 

Other Humanities 0.8 - - 0.8 

Other Subject 0.3 - 1.0 1.3 

 

The table below contains data on the Welsh language ability of teachers teaching through 
the medium of Welsh across all schools in RCT, split by school phase. 

 

Table A.6 

 

Teaching Through Medium of Welsh in Current Post (All Schools) 

School Phase 
No 

skills Entry Foundation Intermediate Advanced Proficiency No info 

Middle 0 0 0 0 7 117 0 

PRU 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 

Primary 0 0 4 3 49 114 0 

Special 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 

Secondary 0 0 0 1 11 136 0 

Grand Total 0 0 5 4 68 368 0 

 

The table below illustrates the Welsh language ability of those teaching through the medium 
of Welsh by their main subject. 

 

Table A.7 

 

Teaching Through Medium of Welsh in Current Post by Subject (Main Subject)  
W1 W2 W3 W4 W5 W6 W7 

 

Subject Full 
Name  

No 
skills Entry Foundation Intermediate Advanced Proficiency No info Total  

Total  - - - 1 16 224 - 241 

Art - - - - - 8 - 8 

Biology - - - - - 2 - 2 

Business 
Studies 

- - - - - 3 - 3 

Chemistry - - - - - 4 - 4 

Drama/Theatre - - - - - 3 - 3 

Design & 
Technology 

- - - - - 10 - 10 

English - - - - - 19 - 19 

Engineering - - - - - - - - 

Geography - - - - - 7 - 7 

History - - - - - 7 - 7 

ICT - - - - - 8 - 8 

Mathematics - - - - 1 25 - 26 

Tudalen 224



Modern 
Foreign 
Language 

- - - 1 1 7 - 9 

Music - - - - 1 7 - 8 

Physical 
Education 

- - - - - 19 - 19 

Physics - - - - - 1 - 1 

Personal & 
Social 
Education 

- - - - - 3 - 3 

Religious 
Education 

- - - - 2 4 - 6 

Science - - - - - 21 - 21 

Social 
Sciences 

- - - - - 7 - 7 

Vocational 
Subject 

- - - - - 6 - 6 

Welsh 
Baccalaureate 

- - - - - 6 - 6 

Welsh - - - - 11 43 - 54 

Other 
Humanities 

- - - - - 4 - 4 

Other Subject - - - - - - - - 

 

The table below identifies the Welsh language ability of those teaching through the medium 
of Welsh in all subjects taught. 

 

Table A.8 

 

Teaching Through Medium of Welsh in All Subjects Taught (Teaching Years and Above)  
W1 W2 W3 W4 W5 W6 W7 

 

Subject Full 
Name  

No 
skills Entry Foundation Intermediate Advanced Proficiency No info Total  

Total  - - - 3 28 501 - 532 

Art - - - - - 11 - 11 

Biology - - - - - 10 - 10 

Business 
Studies 

- - - - - 7 - 7 

Chemistry - - - - - 8 - 8 

Drama/Theatre - - - - 2 12 - 14 

Design & 
Technology 

- - - - - 24 - 24 

English - - - - - 24 - 24 

Engineering - - - - - - - - 

Tudalen 225



Geography - - - - 2 9 - 11 

History - - - - - 15 - 15 

ICT - - - - - 14 - 14 

Mathematics - - - - 1 32 - 33 

Modern 
Foreign 
Language 

- - - 1 2 11 - 14 

Music - - - - 2 10 - 12 

Physical 
Education 

- - - - - 24 - 24 

Physics - - - - - 9 - 9 

Personal & 
Social 
Education 

- - - 1 1 35 - 37 

Religious 
Education 

- - - - 3 8 - 11 

Science - - - - - 35 - 35 

Social 
Sciences 

- - - - - 12 - 12 

Vocational 
Subject 

- - - - - 27 - 27 

Welsh 
Baccalaureate 

- - - - - 47 - 47 

Welsh - - - 1 13 53 - 67 

Other 
Humanities 

- - - - 1 26 - 27 

Other Subject - - - - 1 38 - 39 

 

 

The table below outlines the Welsh language ability of ALN Co-ordinators across all schools 
in RCT, split by school phase. 

 

Table A.9 

 

Number of Additional Learning Needs Co-Ordinators (ALNCo) By Welsh Language Ability 
 

No. of 
Schools 

No. of 
Schools 
with an 
ALNCo 

No 
skills 

Entry Foundation Intermediate Advanced Proficiency No 
info 

All 
schools 

115 115 11 24 37 15 12 20 3 

Welsh 
Medium 
schools 

16 16 - - - - 4 12 - 

 

Tudalen 226



The table below outlines the Welsh language ability of ALN support staff across all schools 
in RCT, split by school phase. 

 

Table A.10 

 

Number of Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Support Staff by Welsh Language Ability 

School 
Medium No skills Entry Foundation Intermediate Higher Proficiency No info 

Dual 2 1 0 0 0 1 0 

English 
Medium 

34 43 26 9 5 5 3 

Welsh 
Medium  

0 0 0 0 4 11 0 

Total 36 44 26 9 9 17 3 

 

The table below demonstrates the Welsh language ability of the Local Authority’s school-
based workforce for the academic year 2020-2021 and 2021-2022. 

 

Table A.11 

 

Welsh Language Ability of Total Teachers (Including Headteachers, School Teachers 
and School Learning Support Workers) Employed by the Local Authority 

 

Skill Level 

Academic Year 

2020–2021 

Academic Year 

2021-2022 

Number % Number % 

No Skills (NS) 450 21.2% 433 20.7 

Entry Level (EL) 499 23.4% 501 24.0 

Foundation Level (FL) 329 15.5% 364 17.4 

Intermediate Level (IL) 167 7.9% 152 7.3 

Advanced Level (AL) 137 6.4% 138 6.6 

Proficient Level (PL) 523 24.6% 481 23.0 

Information Not 
Obtained (INO) 

21 1% 20 1.0 

Total 2,126 100% 2,089 100% 

 

The data in the table that follows outlines the total number of school-based workforce 
(including headteachers, school teachers and school learning support workers) employed by 
the Local Authority, teaching/working through the medium of Welsh for the academic year 
2020-2021 and 2021-2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 227



Table A.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total Teachers Employed by the Local Authority Teaching/Working Through the Medium 
of Welsh 

 

Category 

Academic Year 

2020–2021 

Academic Year  
2021-2022 

Number % Number % 

Teaching/Working Through the 
Medium of Welsh in Current 
Post 

462 21.7% 445 21.3% 

Able to Teach/Work Through 
the Medium of Welsh but not 
doing so in Current Post 

144 6.8% 135 6.5% 

Unable to Teach/Work Through 
the Medium of Welsh 

859 40.4% 874 41.8% 

Teaching Welsh as a Subject 
Only 

661 31.1% 635 30.4% 

Total 2,126 100% 2,089 100% 

Tudalen 228



WESP annual review report feedback           

 

Outcomes 
 

Feedback Action for LA 

Outcome 1 The increase in Welsh-medium Flying Start providers (from 14 – 21) during 
2022-23 is positive and has enabled you to increase the number of Welsh-
medium places as part of your phase 2 expansion. Hopefully your efforts in 
reviewing your information for parents/carers, collaboration with Mudiad Meithrin 
and others will lead to those places, and Cylchoedd Meithrin places more 
broadly, being filled.  
 
Whilst there are fewer children accessing Welsh-medium nursery that you 
projected, there are fewer children across both sectors overall. Nevertheless, it’s 
clear that you recognise this as one of your key priority areas during this initial 
period of WESP delivery and it’s encouraging to see how many of the actions 
set out in your 5-year action plan you’ve implemented and/or progressing.  
 
We are currently working with our childcare and capital funding colleagues with 
regard to your Cylch Meithin Beddau proposal. You will receive an update very 
shortly. 
 

We’ve received confirmation that we’ll be able to share annual Mudiad Meithrin 

data for 2022/23 with you by the end of the week. 

Discussion with WG. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Outcome 2 As with Outcome 1 data, the number of 5-year old learners accessing Welsh-
medium education during 2022-23 is less that projected. We recognise the 

 
 

T
udalen 229



potential impact the fall in birthrates may have and will be monitoring the 
situation to identify future trends.  
 
We’re pleased to hear your Ysgol Llwyn y Forwyn and Ysgol Awel Taf 
developments are progressing well. 
 
It’s reassuring to hear time has been invested in reviewing the information 
available to parents/carers on your website. We know that this has been 
achieved by working closely with your sub-group stakeholders and is an 
excellent example of partnership working.  
 
We’re pleased you’ve been able to appoint your late immersion lead during 
2022-23 and are already supporting learners transferring to Welsh-medium 
schools. Do you see there is an opportunity to attract learners from the English-
medium stream of Ysgol Heol y Celyn with the establishment of Ysgol Awel Taf? 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Discussion with WG. 

Outcome 3 Your transition rates have always been consistently strong, particularly between 
foundation phase to reception and year 6 to year 7. With regard to key stage 4 
to 5 transition, which is much lower, it’s good to have the comparative data with 
the English-medium sector to give perspective. The increase in secondary 
school surplus places (from 21% in 2020-21 to 27% in 2022-23) will need 
monitoring. 
 
We’d be interested to hear over the coming year what impact the changes 
implemented this year with regard to in-year transfers is/may be having on 
reducing the number of learners leaving the Welsh-medium sector. 
 

Discussion with WG. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Outcome 4 Progress made between CSCJES, Gyda’n Gilydd Partnership and the WJEC in 
developing vocational courses sounds very positive. The lack of available Welsh 
language vocational courses has been raised by your Welsh-medium Secondary 
Heads over several years and is obviously impacting learner decisions with 
regard to their post-16 education.  

Discussion with WG.  
 
 
 
 

T
udalen 230



Is the work undertaken by Coleg y Cymoedd to develop its bilingual offer 
welcomed by Welsh-medium schools or are there tensions? 
 

 
 

Outcome 5 It’s great to hear that your Welsh-medium and English-medium schools continue 
to engage in the Siarter Iaith and Cymraeg Campus Programme. Its particularly 
encouraging to hear that your special schools and units will also soon be 
included. 
 
Evidence provided of progress made against the actions in your action plan and 
good evidence of an effective partnership with the Urdd and Menter Iaith in 
preparation to the Eisteddfod coming to the area in 2024.    
 

Discussion with WG. 
 
 
 

Outcome 6 Whereas just under half of local authorities across Wales continue to review 
their provision for learners with additional needs, its pleasing to hear that you’ve 
concluded your review and can now proceed to act on its findings. Evidence 
provided is comprehensive. 
 
The lack of specialist staff to support the early years sector has been highlighted 
in other areas too and the ALN team have been updated. A task and finish 
group focusing on ALN, and the Welsh language was established by the Welsh 
Government before the end of the Summer term and a representative from 
Mudiad Meithrin is a member. Research is being commissioned to identify, 
review, and bring consistency to the data available on Welsh-language ALN 
provision. This will commence in January, and we’ll keep you updated of its 
progress. 
 

Discussion with WG. 
 
 
 

Outcome 7 Evidence is provided of the extensive work carried out during 2022-23 to collate 
and test a number of workforce datasets including SWAC, PLASC and internal 
data collections.  
 
There are no quick wins as we know, however, the in-depth analysis undertaken 
by yourselves during this past reporting year has provided valuable insights into 

Discussion with WG.  

T
udalen 231



teacher recruitment, retention, and promotional trends. With your permission, 
we’d like to use your approach to Outcome 7 as an example of good practice to 
present to the External Workforce Board, established last year to implement the 
Welsh Government’s 10-year workforce plan. 
 
Revised SWAC guidelines were introduced during the summer term to 
encourage better use of the census by schools and local authorities as a tool for 
planning and analysing local education workforce needs. The SWAC reporting 
period will open soon and we are keen to hear about your experience of using it 
and where it needs to be further strengthened. 
 

 
 

 

T
udalen 232


	Agenda
	GWŶS I GYFARFOD O'R CYNGOR

	2 COFNODION
	Cofnodion

	4 YMGYNGHORIAD LLYWODRAETH CYMRU - STRWYTHUR Y FLWYDDYN YSGOL
	Atodiad a
	Atodiad b
	The Structure of the School Year
	Contents
	Overview
	The current structure of the school year
	School terms
	School breaks
	Differences across Wales
	Autumn term (September to December)
	Spring term (January to March/April)
	Summer term (April to July)

	Why change the school year
	Reason 1: A changed school calendar to better support the needs of disadvantaged learners and their families
	Reason 2: A changed school calendar to better support the well-being of learners and teachers and reduce fatigue
	Reason 3: A changed school calendar to better support learning and teaching
	Reason 4: A changed school calendar to better support modern patterns of living and working

	What change would look like
	Terms of more equal length
	The redistribution of break periods
	A reduction in the length of the summer break

	What specific changes are we proposing
	What other proposals are we considering implementing later on
	What changes have we ruled out
	Suggested changes
	Option 1: The existing school calendar (Status Quo)
	Autumn term (September to December)
	Spring term (January to March/April)
	Summer term (April to July)

	Option 2: A new school calendar (“New Option”) from 2025 to 2026
	Autumn term (September to December)
	Spring term (January to March/April)
	Summer term (April to July)

	Option 3: A New School Calendar (“New Option Plus”) in the future
	Option 3 Phase 1
	Option 3 Phase 2
	Autumn term (September to December)
	Spring term (January to March/April)
	Summer term (April to July)
	Autumn term (September to December)
	Spring term (January to March/April)
	Summer term (April to July)


	Next steps
	Proposed term dates for the 2025 to 2026 school year
	Consultation Questions
	UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK GDPR)
	Footnotes



	5 GWAITH CONSORTIWM CANOLBARTH Y DE YN Y RHANBARTH AC AWDURDOD LLEOL RHONDDA CYNON TAF 2022-2023
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	6.4.5 	Newly Qualified Teacher Induction
	Bespoke support for Literacy/LLC: English is available to all schools and clusters/groups of schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 33 schools in RCT related to this area.
	Whole school approach to oracy and reading.
	In line with CSC’s ethos of a self-improving system these schools will be trained to support and develop oracy across the region.

		Effective Teaching of Early Reading Skills - this PL programme supports foundation phase practitioners to strengthen their understanding of how to teach early reading skills in nursery and reception classes.
		An Introduction to Guided Group Reading - this PL programme focuses on supporting the teaching of guided group reading.
		Reading Reconsidered - this intensive PL programme comprises three full days of instructional and collaborative sessions to develop rigour, insight and precision in reading. The programme takes practitioners through evidence-informed actionable strategies to develop pedagogy and practice for reading.
		Developing a Rigorous Reading Curriculum - this PL programme supports practitioners to develop research informed strategies for curriculum planning and the teaching of reading.
		Words Matter: Supporting the Teaching of Vocabulary - this PL programme includes demonstration of how explicit vocabulary instruction can become part of a repertoire of teaching practice which produces, enhances and accelerates the learning of the lesson.
	Bespoke support for mathematics and numeracy is available to all schools and clusters/groups of schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 37 schools in RCT related to this Area.
	Bespoke support for digital learning is available to all schools and clusters/groups of schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 15 schools in RCT related to this area.
	Bespoke support for Welsh development is available to all schools and clusters/groups of schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 20 (11%) schools in RCT related to this area.  In addition to this specific bespoke support, CSC provides regular guidance and support for schools to implement and make progress with Siarter Iaith / Siarter Iaith Cymraeg Campus.
	Bespoke support for Welsh language PL is available to all schools and clusters/groups of schools. During 2022-2023, CSC received requests for bespoke support from 7 (6%) of schools in RCT related to this area.

	During 2022-2023, CSC led a collaboration project involving 11 schools from across the five local authorities focusing on an element of enabling equity and excellence linked to their school improvement priorities. Treorchy Comprehensive School, Alaw Primary School and Ysgol Gyfun Cwm Rhondda participated in this structured programme which included face-to-face PL sessions, intersessional tasks and some peer reviews. The pilot supported schools to manage change according to their individual contexts, draw on the expertise and support of CSC and the LAs, and learn from the experiences of other schools in the mission to achieve equity and excellence for all learners.  The work of the pilot group was also instrumental in supporting and informing the work of CSC in supporting equity in schools and driving transformational change across the organisation.

	6 ARGYMHELLION ESTYN
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

	7 CYNLLUN STRATEGOL CYMRAEG MEWN ADDYSG – DIWEDDARIAD BLYNYDDOL
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 1a
	Atodiad 2


